A

SERIES

O F

SERMONS,

UPON THE MOST

IMPORTANT PRINCIPLES

OF OUR

HOLY RELIGION,

IN TWO VOLUMES.

BY ALEXANDER MACWHORTER, D. D. SENIOR PASTOR OF THE FIRST PRESEVERIAN CHURCH IN NEWARE, NEW-JERSEY.

VOLUME II.

Christ the Power of God and the Wisdom of God. PAUL.

COPY RIGHT SECURED.

-NEWARK-

1803.

ANIUVEN-Hantanii Anii Total Terany Cambridge, Mass.

H77,119

ins to reten

(1, , , ;) Digitized by Google

CONTENTS.

Rev i. 10.

Tames v. 16.

Matt. vi. 6. closet, and

SERMON I.	PAGI
The fanctification of the Lord's day.	
Rev i. 10. I was in the Spirit on the Lord's day.	16
SERMON II.	
A general contemplation on the nature and duty of prayer.	
fames v. 16. The effectual fervent prayer of a righteous man availeth much.	2 9
SERMON III.	
The duty of secret prayer.	
Matt. vi. 6. But thou when thou prayest enter into thy closet, and when thou hast shut the door, pray to thy Father which is in secret, and thy Father which seeth in	

41

SERMON IV.

fecret shall reward thee openly.

The duty of family prayer.

Johna xxiv. 15. As for me and my house we will serve the Lord. 54

SERMON V.

The great importance of family government.

1 Sam. iii. 13. For I have told him, that I will judge his house forever for the iniquity which he knoweth, because his sons made themselves vile, and he restrained them not.

CONTENTS.

SERMON VI.

Some duties of parents to their children.

Ephe. vi. 4. And ye fathers provoke not your children to wrath, but bring them up in the nurture and admonition of the Lord.

75

SERMON VII.

The duty of children to parents.

Col. iii. 20. Children obey your parents in all things, for this is well pleasing to the Lord.

86

SERMON VIII.

Some duties incumbent upon youth.

Ecles. xii. 1. 2. Remember now thy Creator in the days of thy youth, while the evil days come not, nor the years draw nigh, when thou shalt say, I have no pleasure in them; while the sun, or the light, or the moon, or the stars be not darkened, nor the clouds return after the rain.

96

SERMON IX.

How youth may become holy and happy.

Pfalms exix. 9. Wherewith shall a young man cleanse his way? By taking heed thereto according to thy word. 106

SERMON X.

Sobermindedness recommended to those who are young.

Titus ii. 6. Young men likewise exhort to be sober mind ed.

CONTENTS

SERMON XI.

The glory of God the chief end of med.

1 Cor. x. 31. Whether therefore ye eat or drink, or whatsoever ye do, do all to the glory of God. 124

SERMON XII.

Self examination a necessary preparative to the holy communion.

I Cor. xi. 20. But let a man examine himself, and so let him eat of that bread and drink of that cup. 135

SERMON XIII.

Remembering Christ at his table.

Luke xxii. 19. This do in remembrance of me.

146

SERMON XIV.

The evil of prefun: swearing.

James v. 12. But above all things, my brethren, fwear not, neither by heaven, neither by the earth, neither by any other oath, but let your yea be yea, and your nay, nay, lest you fall into condemnation.

SERMON XV.

The nature and coil of lying.

Ephe. iv. 25. Wherefore putting away lying, fpeak every man truth with his neighbour, for we are members one of another.

CONTENTS.

SERMON XVI.

The horrid evil of a backbiting tongue.

Pfalms xv. 3. He that backbiteth not with his tongue, nor doth evil to his neighbour, nor taketh up a reproach against his neighbour.

SERMON XVII.

The excellencies and evils of the tongue.

James iii. 6. And the tongue is a fire, a world of iniquity; so is the tongue amongst the members, that it defileth the whole body, and setteth on fire the course of nature, and it is set on fire of hell.

SERMON XVIII.

The symptoms of the day of grace being past.

Jer. viii. 20. The harvest is past, the summer is ended, and we are not saved.

SERMON XIX.

God the author of all afflictions and troubles.

Job v. 6, 7. Although affliction cometh not forth of the dust, neither doth trouble spring out of the ground; yet man is born unto trouble as the sparks sly upwards.

SERMON XX.

Gal pleasure is not the afficient of his people.

Sam Hi 53. For he doth not afflich willingly, or grieve the children of men. 22

CONTENTS.

SERMON XXI.

The preciousness of the soul.

Pfalms xlix. 8. For the redemption of their foul is precious, and it ceafeth forever.

232

SERMON XXII.

The duty of declining christians.

Rev. i. 4, 5. Nevertheless I have somewhat against thee, because thou hast left thy first love. Remember therefore from whence thou art fallen, and repent and do thy first works, or else I will come unto thee quickly, and will remove thy candlestick out of his place, except thou repent.

244

SERMON XXIII.

Jesus Christ the good shepherd.

John x. 11. I am the good shepherd.

254

SERMON XXIV.

Some marks of Christ's flock.

Isaiah xl. 11. He shall feed his flock like a shepherd, he shall gather the lambs with his arm, and carry them in his bosom, and shall gently lead those that are with young.

265

SERMON XXV.

The pleasuntness of Peligion.

Prov. iii. 17. Her ways are ways of pleafantness, and all ber paths are peace. 277

SERMON XXVI.

The ways of religion are pleafant.

Prov. iii. 17. Her ways are ways of pleafantnefs, and all her paths are peace. 2

288

SERMON XXVII.

Faith flruggling with difficulties.

Matt. xv. from the 21ft to the 28th verse inclusive. Then Jefus went thence and departed into the coasts of Tyre and Sidon. And behold a woman of Canaan came out of the same coalts, and cried unto him, saying, Have mercy on me, O Lord, thou fon of David, my daughter is grievously vexed with a devil: But he answered her not a word. And his disciples came and befought him faying, fend her away for the crieth after But he answered and faid, I am not sent, but unto the loft sheep of the house of Israel. Then came she and worshipped him, faying, Lord, help me. But he answered and faid, it is not meet to take the children's bread and cast it unto dogs. And she faid, truth, Lord, yet the dogs eat of the crumbs which fall from their master's table. Then Jesus answered and faid unto her, O woman, great is thy faith; be it unto thee even as thou wilt. And her daughter was made whole, from that very hour.

299

SERMON XXVIII.

The advantages and some of the proporties of faith.

Matt. xv. 28. Then Jesus answered and said unto her,
O woman, great is thy faith.

CONTENTS.

SERMON XXIX.

The way of falvation eafy.

John i. 9. If we confess our fins, he is faithful and just to forgive us our fins.

SERMON XXX

The savours and patronage of God, the support of man in affic-

Psalms xlv1. i. God is our refuge and strength, a very present help in trouble.

SERMON XXXI.

The covenant of grace ratified and confirmed by the blood of Christ.

Luke xxii. 12. This cup is the new testament in my blood, which is shed for you.

345

. SERMON XXXII.

The nature of sainting in afflictions and cautions against it.

Heb. xii. 5. Nor faint when thou art rebuked of him. 357

SERMON XXXIII.

How death is the wages of fin.

Rom. vi. 23. For the wages of fin is death.

369

SERMON XXXIV.

Eternal life the freest gift imaginable.

Rom. vi. 23. But the gift of God is eternal life through

Jefus Christ our Lord.

CONTENTS

SERMON XXXV.

Death wearing a fiing.

1. Cor. xv. 56. The sting of Death is sin.

393

SERMON XXXVI.

The last enemy destroyed.

I Cor: xv. 26. The last enemy that shall be destroyed is death.

SERMON XXXVII.

The doctrine of the resurrection slated and proved.

Daniel xii. 2. And many of them that sleep in the dust of the earth shall awake, some to everlasting life, and some to shame and everlasting contempt.

415

SERMON XXXVIII.

A general and future judgment proved.

2. Cor. v. 10. For we must all appear before the judgment seat of Christ.

SERMON XXXIX.

The difference of appearance before God here and hereafter.

Matt. xxv. 33. And he shall set the sheep on his right hand, but the goats on his left.

439.

SERMON XL.

Every one in the general judgment rewarded according to his works.

Rev. xx. 12. And the dead shall be judged out of those

CONTENTS.

things which were written in the books, according to their works.

SERMON XLI.

The eternal terments of the damned proved.

Matt. xxv. 46. And these shall go away into everlasting punishment. 462.

SERMON XLII.

The nature and felicity of the celestial state.

Matt. xxv. 34. Then shall the King say unto them on his right hand, Come, ye blessed of my father, inherit the kingdom prepared for you from the soundation of the world.

SERMON L

The Sanctification of the Lord's Day.

Rev. i. 10. I was in the spirit on the Lord's Day.

IT is allowed by all who believe there is a God, that he ought to be worshipped. If he is to be worshipped, there must, from the nature of things, be some time appropriated for this purpose. To grant that a duty must be done, and no time allotted for its performance, involves in it an impossibility: Wherefore it is absolutely certain that God must be worshipped by all his rational creatures, and they must have a due proportion of time for this high and important end. And can time be better employed than by prayer, homage, adoration and praise to our Creator, preserver and benefactor. The question is not, whether there be a God, whether divine worship should be given to him, and whether a portion of time should be allowed for this purpose, but what is that season or portion of time, which ought to be designated or set apart for this solemn or grand design. Here the reason and investigation of man must be nonplussed. Whether a fifth, sixth, or eighth, or any other division of time would be a proper proportion must far transcend his enquiries. Here where the light of nature must fail, divine revelation has given us infallible direction. God has been pleased to correct all the wandering conjectures of men, and appoint one day in seven to be separated for his special service and to be kept holy to himsels; and this has the honor confered upon it in our text of being stiled the Lord's day. It is also said St. John was in the Spirit on this day. This may be predicated of him both in an extraordinary, and in an ordinary manner. He was in the Spirit as he was under the influence of a divine essatus, or a supernatural inspiration, affording him all the glorious truths and grand visions recorded in this facred book. Or he was in the Spirit in an ordinary way, as is common with christians, who have pleasure in God, delight in his worship; who have holy exercises of heart, and are in proper frames of mind.

All that can be attended to at present on this subject will be briefly to show,

First, that God has appointed a seventh part of time for the high and important duties of religious worship, of publicadoration, homage and praise.

Secondly, confider the manner in which this appropriated and fanctified time ought to be employed.

As to the first, it is abundently apparent from the whole of divine revelation. This world may with propriety be divided into two epochs or grand periods. The one from creation to a still more wonderful and greater event, to wit, The completion of the redemption of man in the humiliation and resurrection of the Son of God. That person of the Trinity, who was the distinguished agent in causing the existence of this world, was and will forever be the most pre-eminently dis-

tinguished personage in its recovery from the most persect and absolute rain. The persections of Godhead were conspicuously displayed in the stupendous works of creation. Here almighty power, inconceiveable wisdom, and incomprehensible goodness shone forth with infinite lustre; but when the work of redemption was performed, all these persections burst forth with superior splendor, and a multitude of others which never could have been conceived but by its glories. In the former exhibition the angels of God sang together for joy, the latter they look into with an assonishment at the wonders of God far transcending their conceptions and their praise. In this display of the extension and plenitude of divine attributes the great minds of cherubic and seraphic millions are lost and absorbed. All heaven is struck mute at the exhibited Godhead in the salvation of man.

Both these great periods are illustrated by an appropriation of a seventh portion of time, for the worship of this great Creator, and this glorious Redeemer. For the first, the seventh day from the creation was appointed for the commemoration of the same, and other adventitious circumstances which arose in the church throughout that grand era of more than four thousand years; for the second, the first day of the week has been assigned as a memorial of Christ and his resurrection for the recovery of ruined man, and which will be continued till worlds and time shall be no more.

First, the Sabbath from the creation to the Resurrection of Christ was the seventh day of the week. Thus we read, "on "the seventh day God ended his work which he had made "and God blessed the seventh day and sanctified it." Here the day after God had sinished all his works, and the first day of man's existence was set apart for holy purposes. It is pronounced, blessed and sanctified. Not that there was any more

holiness insused into this portion of time than any other. Noirrational creature is capable of inherent holiness. This is the exclusive property of beings intellectual and immortal. Yet common existences have been appointed, blessed and consecrated of God to promote the holiness and happiness of the rational system. Thus the tabernacle was holy, the temple holy, all their utensels holy, &c. that is, they were set apart for religious purposes; so the seventh portion of time from the beginning was fanctified and blessed by God for the purpose of special, divine and public worship.

This was the usage from the creation to Noah, and from that period to Moses by the slender intimations we have in these patriarchal ages. We read, that in process of time, Cain and Abel brought their offerings to the Lord. The translation is here vague and uncertain. The original is clear and distinct, "In the end of the days, or on the last of the days," that is on the last day of the week, or on the Sabbath, they brought their respective offerings, and worshipped God. This assures us that a Sabbath was observed among the children of Adam.

It is evident that in the days of Noah one reckoning of time was by weeks. In his long and dark confinement in the Ark, he fent out a Dove which returned and after feven days fent her forth again, and she returned with an olive leaf in her mouth; and after seven days he fent her out again and she returned no more. This history instructs us, that in Noah's time, days were numbered by sevens, or there were then weeks. And the awful solemnity of the circumstances in which Noah and his family were, must point out to us a patient waiting for the sacred days, which could be none other than the Sabbaths they had been accustomed to observe.

Before I proceed further on this subject, allow me to remark, that some learned names have contended, that the first day of the week from man's creation was the Sabbath till the giving of the law from mount Sinai. Folio pages of Bedford and others have been expended upon this subject, but their great labours have had only a feeble influence in the conviction of christians, and the great end designed by these good men, has been rather injured than aided by their toils. The undoubted fact is that the seventh day of the week was the Sabbath from the creation to the promulgation of the Sinai law; and from that period to the resurrection of the Saviour there has been no dispute about the day.

It is evident the seventh day of the week was observed for sacred purposes as a standing usage in the church previous to the awful solemnities of the communications from the Arabian mountains.

When the church of God was wandering in the wilderness, between Egyptian flavery and the promised land, and were miraculously fed with Manna from heaven, they were appointed twice as much bread on the fixth day of the week as any Notwithstanding this, some despilers of the Sabbath, which has been the case in all ages, went out on the seventh day to look for the usual bread, and not finding it, received a fevere rebuke for their disobedience and profanity, and the injunction for the observation of the Sabbath was repeated to "God gave you on the fixth day the bread of two "days: abide ye every man in his place. Let no man go "out of his place on the feventh day; so the people rested on "the seventh day." Thus it is certain it was to be sanclified and kept holy before the giving of the law. When this grand event took place, the observation of the Sabbath was inserted in the decalogue with a peculiar description. From that time to the commencement of the next great era of the world, it is allowed by all to be attended to by the church. This appears from the numerous directions respecting it, throughout the writings of Moses and the Prophets, a detail of which would far exceed our present limits.

When Christ arose from the dead the same proportion of time was still continued for the private and public exercises of religion, but the day was changed from the seventh to the first, which will and must be observed in commemoration of his resurrection, the most assonishing event that ever took place in this world, or can to the end of time.

.This change is demonstrated from the following considerations.

First, on the very day our Lord had arisen, the disciples assembled together in the evening, and it is said with a peculiar emphases, "It was the first day of the week," and both to sanctify that time, and this solemn assembly, Jesus appeared in the 'midst of them, and pronounced this blessing, "Peace be unto you." Their hearts were filled with gladness, and he reiterated the benediction. Then he confirmed their commission to go forth and preach salvation to a ruined world, and that all their sins should be remitted upon the terms proposed in the gospel. Thus the first christian sabbath received a glorious sanctification.

Secondly, just eight days after this folemnity, the disciples again met, and Christ met with them, and repeated the same blessing, "Peace be unto you," again sanctifying the time and their assembly as before. Something very remarkable took place on this Lord's day evening, to wit, removing the unbelief of Thomas, and affording him all the evidence he desired and filling his heart with joy, so that his soul burst forth in raptures, crying out, "My Lord and my God."

- Thirdly, the day of Pentecost was also a great day among the followers of Christ, and this was on the first day of the Pentecost was always fifty days from the passover, therefore as our Lord arose the day after the passover, this distinguished period fell out on the first day of the week. Christ by his Spirit was present in this great assembly when three thousand were converted by the preaching of St. Peter, and initiated into the christian church by the holy ordinance of baptism. This was a great sabbath, and perhaps shere will never be fuch another, till the time will come that a nation will be new born at once. But the argument is the first day of the week was in an effectual manner the sabbath of christians or the great day of the Lord. And allow this addition that Peter's converts, ever after continued in his doctrine: one of which must evidently be, their observance of this day as holy time, in commemoration of Christ and for the purposes of religion.

Fourthly, in St. Paul's history we have a remarkable instance of his celebration of the first day of the week as the christian sabbath. In his journeying, he came unto Troas and waited for the assembling of the disciples. They had met seven days before, no doubt for their usual worship, but he tarried for their facramental occasion, therefore thus we read, "On the first day of the week, when the disciples came together to break bread, Paul preached unto them, and continued his speech until midnight." This shows us, the first day of the week was their sabbath and the season of their holy communion. I will make no other remarks from this, and all the preceding observations on the first day of the week as the christian sabbath, only that the evening was a solemn and most important portion of holy time.

Fifthly, an argument of great force to show the first day of the week is the christian fabbath, is derived from St. Paul's direction to the Corinthian and other churches, refreshing an important duty, which must be performed in their solema meetings for public worthip. Thus he speaks, "Now for "the collection of the faints, as I have given order to the " churches of Galatia, even so do ve. Upon the first day of "the week, let every one of you lay by him in store, as God " hath prospered him." It is here a granted case, that all the christian churches assembled on the first day of the week as their fabbath to perform public worship; hence he enjoined this as a duty incumbent on them at that season. From these things it is evident that the first day of the week was the christian fabbath, and that it was a standing usage among the christians, and placing all these things in one view, it is evident the first day of the week ought firmly to be held by christians, and duly fanctified as their fabbath.

Passing by a multitude of arguments employed by christian writers in favor of the sirst day of the week to be observed as a common and public day for religious worship, the whole is fully established in

The first place from our text, wherein it is in striking languagedenominated the Lord's day. That is, it was instituted by our Lord for holy purposes; as we say the Lord's supper, the Lord's table, the cup of the Lord, the Lord's prayer, &c. all which show, these things were peculiar to him and matters of his special divine institution, and therefore obligatory upon all christians.

Agreeably to our Lord's appropriation of the first day of the week for religious service, and the practice of the apostle's from the very day of his resurrection, this day has been observed by christians as the sabbath throughout all ages from the beginning of christianity down to the present time, and will continue to be sanctimed to the end of the world. Having laid before you these few considerations for the refreshment of your minds, the confirmation of your faith, and the encouragement of your practice, in the observance of the day of our Lord's resurrection as the holy sabbath, I proceed

Secondly, to consider the manner in which this appropriated and fanclified time ought to be employed.

Let it be here observed, we are allowed as great a portion of the twenty four hours of the Lord's day for rest by sleep, refreshment by food, taking care of our cattle, &c. as on other days. We are allowed also all the works of necessity, such as desending ourselves against thieves, robbers and enemies, extinguishing sires, failing in the open seas, keeping surnaces in blast, &c. Besides these, the works justly implied in the term mercy ought to be performed on this day, such as visiting the sick, administering to their comfort, and relieving the distresses of the poor. All these and more than can be enumerated are works of mercy. It is the duty of Physicians, Surgeons, and all the train of that line to visit their patients and go when called, but I apprehend they ought not to tarry from public worship more than what evident necessity requires.

These allowances being made, which could be easily established from scripture and reason, but I presume they are perfectly obvious to the judgment, conscience, and feelings of every christian. Therefore I pass on to the plain duties of sanctifying the Lord's day.

St. John was in the Spirit on this day. We shall understand it at present, a spiritual and holy frame of mind, in which all christians ought to be, so as in the tempers of their heart, to be prepared for the duties thereof. A very brief description of their frame and duties must suffice at present.—Remember, was the great intro duction to the sabbath under the law, and no word can be more properly introduced to awaken our attention to the solemnities of the Lord's day under the gospel.

In the morning when we awake, the first thought which should strike the soul of the christian, is this is the morning my Lord and precious Saviour arose from the dead and compleated the grand work of the redemption of sinners. With the putting on of my cloaths, I wish to put on the immaculate robes of Christ's righteousness. Now I bow my kace before him to confess my sins, and praise him for all the wonders and benefits of his redeeming love.—I arise to bless his name, to worship with my samily and prepare for the public service of the sanctuary.—I have worshipped my God and my Saviour with my whole heart in the church.—I return so meditare on the instructions of his house, to feed upon his word, to examine, chatechise instruct, and exhert my samily, to pray with them, and thus I conclude the day of my Lord.

This is a fummary view of a fabbath day's duty and exercife. This is making it a delight, this is being in the Spirit on the Lord's day. This is the duty of all. It is a frame and practice preparatory for heaven, and for the evernal fabbatism which remains for the people of God.

A few counsels and directions shall close this discourse.

As I have been very concile and summary on the observation of the Lord's day, I he pe an indulgence will be granted me in the advisory part of this full just.

My first advice is, that you bless God for the institution of a Lord's day. It is a happiness to man and beast, to all creation, saints and sinners. Therefore all ought to praise the Lord. Wherefore all these who unnecessarily travel on the sabbath, do any common work, post their books secretly in their shops, look over their bills of laden, all these, they are excluded from eternal selicity, without a gospel repentance, which is fixed by an eternal and irreversable decree of heaven, must perish. And whatever they may think in the transitory moment of satanical delusion, death will immediately step their journeys, close their ledgers, settle all their accounts, finish their business, raise the curtain, and close the whole scene.

A fecond advice to christians is, when the Lord's day returns; that they apply to the business of the facred season as reason informed by revelation directs. This in the christian system is of wide extension; private meditation, self-restion, self-consideration, self-examination of the past life, especially of the past week, this is near to the religion that leads to heaven.

Allow me here to mention the practice of the primitive christians, the reformers, and our fathers. Besides personal and family devotions, it was usual with parents to take their children alone, urge them to an attention to the things of religion, dehort them from vice and every thing of that nature, impress upon their tender minds the love of God and the duty of prayer, and thus exhort and pray with each of their lambs alone. When this was the case, there was order, so briety and religion in samilies and societies.

A third counsel is, to all who acknowledge a Lord's day, carefully to remember, and in this remembrance, it shall be left to your own judgments, to regulate yourselves ac-

cording to the word of God. From the education and instruction of this congregation, I fear not to leave this reference to your own consciences. If the Lord's day is not
properly observed in this town, is conscience inattentive to
its office? Is it neglected, profaned by idleness, the omission
of private, family, and public worship? Have you not always had an abundance of instruction on this head? Let conscience decide, and God will surely be our judge. Numerous
are the doctrines and exhortations you have had on this subject,
and it is probable this will be the last from your aged minister. All things are drawing the curtain, the course of my
terrestrial sabbaths are finishing, and thro' the most unmerited
grace ever conferred upon any sinner, I hope soon to enter
upon an eternal sabbatism where there will be no six day's
intervention.

The subject I leave wish you, with your children, with God and your own consciences, in the recollection of that commandment, which you have heard ever since you were capable of distinguishing sounds, and which you have all learned and believe. "Remember the sabbath day to keep it holy, six days shalt thou labor and do all thy work, but the sewenth day is the sabbath of the Lord thy God, in it thou shalt not do any work, thou, nor thy son, nor thy daughter, nor thy man-servant, nor thy maid-servant, nor thy cattle, on or the stranger that is within thy gates; for in six days the Lord made heaven and earth, the sea, and all that in them is, and rested the seventh day, wherefore the Lord besided the sabbath day and hallowed it." O that God might always endue us with his Spirit, that we might ever be in the same on the Lord's day!

SERMON IL

A General Contemplation on the Nature and Duty of Prayer.

James v. 16. The effectual fervent prayer of a righteous man, availeth much.

PRAYER is a folemn and important duty incumbent upon all the children of men. It is of such a nature, that all who neglect it, surely live without God in the world. It is not merely a positive institution of heaven, such as many of the ceremonial rights of the law, and baptism and the Lord's supper underthe gosple. But it is perfectly of a moral kind arising from the eternal nature, reason and propriety of things. If there be a God and rational creatures, there originates from such astate, a relation of things and duties, which it seems impossible to be superfeded. God forbid, that any conception of poor limited and ignorant sinners should attempt the circumscription of the omnipotent, omniscent, and infinitely perfect supreme. Yet all nature declares there is a God and he must be worshipped. A praying homage, a dependent spirit, a grateful mind, and a submissive soul is the whole of his adoration, and adding hereto the

practical performance of relative duties between one reasonable creature and another, completes the whole sum of natural religion.

The relation of a rational creature, capable of feeling its existence and dependence upon its Creator, upholder, and benefactor, must furely acknowledge this dependent existence, and be under obligations of gratitude, supplication and praise.

But divine revelation far surpasses all that natural religion can dictate, and herein we have not only erjoined the obligating nature of prayer, but infallible directions respecting in and its object, the manner in which it ought to be performed, and, the motives and encouragements to the same.

It is not only a duty, but an high honor conferred upon the creature by politive inflitution, and it is an altonishing priviledge, in the wondrous condescention of heaven, granted to sinners. To bow before the majesty of God, to acknowledge our dependence upon him, to make known our wants, and offer up the desires of our hearts to him, is an honor, dignity and glory conferred upon the human race, transcending their conception and their praise.

However wonderful it may be, as all that flows from God is wonders, the commandment ought to be embraced with profound adoration; "Pray without ceasing, pray always with all prayer and supplication." The import of these precepts will hereafter be explained.

The best desination or description of prayer is in beautiful simplicity given in our chatechism, "The offering up our defires to God, for things agreeable to his will, in the name

"of Christ." In other words, prayer is an expression of the heart, sensible of our wants, acknowledging our dependence upon God, and in faith of his infinite sufficiency, through Christ Jesus to supply the same.

In these days of gospel light, no christian will dare to object against the duty of prayer, because God is emnission and immutable. Prayer was never designed to inform God of any thing of which he was ignorant. The thought disrobes the divine character, mutilates his omnisciency, and such a depressiation implicates blassphemy. Neither is prayer intended to move God to change. He is the Lord who changeth nota But its intention is to encrease our own knowledge in various respects, and that we ourselves should be moved and changed; brought near to God, humbled in his sight, conformed to this pleasure, and thus rendered meet for the reception of blessings. Wherefore the whole effect of prayer is to be on ourselves; and its nature is to declare the glory of God, to show forth his persections, and to raise the creature to become an object of blessings.

God has fixed a special constitution and rule for the conduct of his rational creatures in this world, and given a sure tevelation of the same. A part of this establishment is; that his people should feel his sulness, be sensible of their own wants, and apply to him in sincerity of heart, agreeably to the manner of his direction, by servent prayer and supplication for all things necessary for them. Bosore God delivered the children of Israel out of Egypt, they were brought to feel their evil case, and to cry unto him because of their hard bondage. In the same manner previous to that great deliverance brought for them at the red sea, when the sea was in front and the Egyptian army on their rear, and all things portended their immediate destruction in this tremendious situation, they prayed

and cried unto the Lord, and God quickly sent them relief, and they soon saw their enemies overwhelmed in the sea. Thus the desciples of Jesus when in a dreadful storm, the ship covered with waves and just ready to sink, in this distress, they prayed saying, "Lord, save us, we perish." The winds and waves were checked and there was a great calm. The woman of Canaan before she obtained healing for her daughter, came to the seet of Jesus, and in earnest supplication cried, "Lord help me." The prpdigal son becomes sensible of his wants, bows before his sather, confesses his misconduct and requests the lowest station benath his roof, in orderto his obtaining mercy.

Hezekiah when the sentence of death had been passed upon him, turned his face towards the wall, wept and prayed unto the Lord; his prayers were heard, his life spared and sisteen years were added to his days.

Innumerable are the instances to shew that prayer is the constitution of God in respect to sinful men, for their obtaining favours and blessings. The Psalmist so strongly illustrates this point, that he declares its origin is in the nature of God, and he enters it in his book as a part of the divine character. "He is a prayer hearing God, and to him all sless shall come,"

In our text, every motive, argument, and encouragement are combined to impress upon the hearts of christians the high importance and absolute necessity of this duty. "The effectual fervent prayer of a righteous man availeth much." In these words the apostle not only exhorts to prayer in general, but to extraordinary prayers in special cases. "Is any among you afflicted, let him pray: Is any sick among you, let him send for the elders, (or presbyters) of the church, and "let them pray over him." After this he gives them a dif-

tinguishing commandment, "To pray one for another that they might be healed." Thus let persons seel a due sensibility of their wants, a proper dependence upon God, and offer up the desires of their hearts in the way of his ordination, and they have certain grounds of assured hope that their believing wishes will not be disappointed.

In this apostolic affertion respecting prayer, three things ought to command the attention of christians.

First, the nature of prayer, it ought to be effectual, fervent.

Secondly, the qualification of the person, " a righteous man."

Thirdly, the effect of the addresses, they avail much.

A few observations on each member of the text will terminate the subject.

The first observation in the text, regards the nature of prayer, it is to be effectual, fervent. In the original there is but one word expressing this quality. It is too strong to be expressed by any English term, hence our translators chose two. The word effectual was rather an unhappy selection, because it seems to impose a tautology on the sentence. What is effectual availeth much. No other idea can be communicated hereby, than that which is effectual is prevalent. The only English term expressive of the original, long since introduced for the enrichment of our language is derived from it, the word energetical. "The energetical prayer of a righteous man availeth much." The term signifies that which is in-wrought, importing the esseator or influence of the Holy Ghost powerfully exciting such a prayer in the heart. Hence a right and active

ceptable prayer is pouring out the defires of the foul in faith before God. There is no proper prayer, only what is of this nature and complexion. All prayers of this nature will furely be heard and answered. That is, they will be answered directly in the things prayed for or perfectly fulfilled in bleffings, which are most for God's glory and the creature's good. This lies at the foundation, and is the effence of every true prayer, that God may glorify himself, promote the happiness of the moral system, and every individual composing the same. Our fuccess in prayer may be always known by the views of the mind, the fensibility of the heart, the submission of the will, and fervor of the affections. When God intends bleffings to his people, whether temporal or spiritual, it is his usual method to raise in them, a sense of their necessities, create in them, earnest desires, and in consequence of their feelings and fervent supplications, their minds are calmed, or the favours are bestowed. Let us then always pray with a proper fensibility of our wants, and a fuitable dependence upon the divine all-sufficiency, power and goodness through Christ, and disappointments will not take place. Let us especially cultivate that powerful in-wrought prayer of the Holy Spirit, which maketh intercession with groanings that cannot be uttered. We must command our souls to attention in this duty. Pfalmist says, " I lift up my heart to thee." The heart which rises in energetic prayer to God by faith in Jesus Christ makes a most acceptable offering. It is like the ascension of the sweet perfumes from the ancient censors of incense: to which Solomon alluded when he faid, "Who is this that cometh " in pillars of smoke persumed with myrrh and frankincense?" Therefore whatever we lack, whether wisdom or any thing else, let us in faithful humility present our requests to God, in full affurance, "He gives liberally and upbraids not." The more earnest and fervent any foul is in prayer to God, the more will he love him. Thus faith the Pfalmift in all the glow

of animated affection. "I love the Lord because he hath " heard my voice and my supplications; because he hath " inclined his ear unto me, therefore will I call upon him as long "as I live." Whatever our wants are let us alk of God fervently and not doubt a denial. "Whatfoever things ve defire, when "ye pray, believe that ye shall receive them, and ye shall have " them. This is the confidence that we have concerning him. "that if we ask any thing according to his will, he hear-"eth us." If we want temporal comforts, let us in prayer believe, he feeds the ravens and clothes the lilies of the field. If spiritual blessings, " Let us come boldly to the throne of "grace, that we may obtain mercy, and find help in time of "need." When we pray, let our faith be in exercise and our confidence firm. "Ask in faith nothing wavering; for he " that wavereth is like a wave of the fea driven with the wind "and toffed."

Unbelief may be said to be the canker worm of prayers. Its misgiving language is, "Can the Lord prepare a table in this "wilderness? If the Lord should open the windows of heaven "can this thing be?" Unbelief in prayer has its soundation in scruples, hesitations and corruptions, which cannot now be attended to. Some suture time when the heart of unbelief will be considered, these things will come into review. To illustrate the form, fervency, and sensibility of prayer, all which is placed before us, in the lives of the scripture saints, such as Jacob, Moses, Noah, David, Daniel, and Job, must at present be omitted, to make room for a

Second, confideration in our text, to wit, the qualification of the praying person, "a righteous man."

By righteous man is evidently not to be understood, one who is perfectly righteous, but a person just similar to ourselves. This he instances in the case of Elias, "A man sub-

"jest to like passions as we are." He was a good man, yet subject to fins and infirmities like others. Wherefore by righteous man here must be understood, one who is evangelically righteous, one who is renewed by the power of divine grace, united to Christ by faith, cloathed by his righteousness, and entered into the way of fanctification. The person who is thus righteous in a Gospel view of this term, tho' far from perfection, his prayers offered by faith thro' the mediation of Christ, will furely find acceptance. Abel received the divine tellimony in favour of his offerings and prayers, while his brother was rejected, and his presents of gratitude and praise from an infidel heart. Allow me to make this remark, that Cain believed not in a facrifice for his fin. Hence his offering was an imaginary gratitude to God, without any sense of his finfulness and unworthiness. And the reception of his brother's offering, which was of the facrifical and bloody nature, which exhibited his belief of the atoning blood of a mediator, filled his whole foul with indignation and purposes of revenge. The spirit of Abel is in all believers, and the spirit of Cain would still murder all the friends of God. "Abel offered unto God, a more excellent facrifice than Cain "by which he obtained witness that he was righteous, God " testifying his gifts." If we would expect our prayers to be heard, let us fee to it, that we be righteous persons. None other will prevail or find acceptance with God.

A question here arises whether God hath made any promifes to the prayers of the unregenerate? This is impossible in the very nature of things. If threatenings may be considered as promises, the whole bible is filled with these against all who entertain evil in their heart. For God to grant good to those, the ebullitions and feelings of whose hearts are perfectly at enmity against him, common sense and all nature rise against the supposition. And the wicked themselves possess the convictions of their own consciences, however stupid and secured they may be, that they cannot be heard. They know amidst all the pains and anguish of their bodies, whatever their wishes and tormenting anxiety may be for relief, the desires of their hearts are not raised to God, in love, saith or a dependence on him in the forms of his appointment, through Jesus Christ. The old and new testament declare, "God will not take sin"ners by the hand; he will not hear sinners. Those who
"regard iniquity is their hearts, the Lord will not hear. God
"will not hear the cry of the hypocrite when trouble cometh
"upon him. The Lord is far from the wicked, but heareth
"the prayer of the righteous."

Thirdly, we proceed to lead your confideration of the effects of addresses made to heaven, they avail much.

Effectual fervent prayer is powerful and prevaileth with God. The foul in this praying frame, is brought to that state, on which God will surely bestow his blessings. prayer properly offered will never fail of a proper effect. Before God grants his favors, it is his usual method, to bring his people into a fensible, fervent, and praying condition, and to open wide their mouths, that in this way they may be prepared for the reception of the defired supplies. Prayer, says one, is the key, by which the righteous open and lock heaven at pleasure. This is beautifully exemplified in the character of Elijah in our context. He prayed and it rained not, he prayed again and the rains descended. Astonishing is the power attributed to prayer in the holy scriptures. God condescends to speak as if his hands were confined hereby. In the case of the angel wreftling with Jacob, He said, " Let me " go for the day breaketh." Jacob replied, " I will not let thee " go, except thou bless me. And thus he had strength and " power with God and prevailed." The efficacy of the prayer of Moses is very remarkable. God intreats him to let him alone by solomn and great promises. Thus saith the Lord, "Let me alone that my wrath may wax hot against "them, and that I may consume them, and I will make of thee a great nation." The expression by which God enjoins it upon his people in the prophet Isaiah is very strong, when he says, "Command ye me." Such phrases, while they encourage, must be admired with a holy reverence, and not strained too far, lest the spirit of prayer degenerate into ungodly sudeness. These things are wonders of condescension on the part of the Most High, and point to us, how highly he honors the duty of prayer. Its importance, prevalency and essiency would be easy to expatiate upon.

But these general meditations upon prayer will be closed at present with a sew words of exhortation.

... We here see the great influence of this duty when rightly performed, and how highly it is respected by God himself. This therefore should be a sufficient motive to engage us in the diligent practice of it. It becomes fuch guilty, empty, and necessitous creatures as we are, to bow with all humility, and yet with holy confidence before God, as knowing that he is both able and willing to fatisfy all our just defires, and to eatife his grace to abound toward his people. Whatever we want let us ask it of him in faith, and we shall not be denied. We may always be importunate, when we are fure the things we wish are agreeable to his wilk. There is no want, no possible want or desire of a right kind can arise in our breasts or is felt there, to which there is not a promifed fupply, if the petition be believingly presented. "Godliness has the " promise of the life that now is and of that which is to come." Whatever our necessities are, let us with fervent, sensible addresses make them known to God. What is your petition, and what is your request, and they shall not be rejected. Is it temporal blessings that you want, seek the Lord and sear before him, "He will bless your basket and your store. He "will open unto thee his good treasure; the heaven to give the rain unto thy land in his season, and to bless all the "work of thy hand. The mercy of the Lord is from ever-"lasting to everlasting upon them that fear him, and his righteousness unto children's children. Wealth and riches "shall be in his house, and his righteousness endureth forever."

Is it spiritual blessings that we need? God knows of these we are extremely destitute. And what is still worse, we are not duly sensible of our lamentable condition; neither are servently petitioning the throne of grace for ourselves, our families, our children, or others. How many among us are living under the load of all their guilt, and absolutely insensible that they carry a weight sufficient to sink them to utter destruction. Let all such after so long, a time hear the word of the Lord, lay your sins to heart, and repent and pray that your sins may be forgiven you. "Awake thou that sleepeth and arise from the dead, and Christ shall give you light. Call upon me saith the Lord, and I will answer and shew thee great and mighty things which thou knowest not."

How many doubting christians are there among us, suspended between hopes and sears with regard to their immortal interest. Let all such be more diligent, faithful and servent in prayer, and if you are the children of grace, you shall surely be comforted, "Ye shall seek me and sind me, saith the Lord, when you search for me with all your heart. Call upon me in the day of trouble, and I will deliver you, and thou shalt glorify me."

Finally, all who have any regard for the prosperity of Zion,

who defire a revival of practical and experimental religion in this day of small things, let them be exhorted to be earnest and abundent in prayer to God, with whom the residue of the spirit is. Be assured if ever there be a revival of vital piety, it will be ushered in by an outpouring of a spirit of prayer and supplication. "Therefore, for Zion's sake, let us not hold our peace, and for Jerusalem's sake, let us not rest, until the righteousness thereof go forth as brightness, and the salvation thereof as a lamp that burneth." And may our hearts ever be directed into the love of God and the patient waiting of Christ Jesus.

SERMON III.

The Duty of Secret Prayer,

Matt. vi. 6. But thou, when thou prayes, enter into thy closet, and when thou bast shut thy door, pray to thy Father which is in secret, and thy Father which seth in secret shall reward thee openly.

WHEN Jesus Christ, the Saviour of the world, evered upon his public ministry, the Saviour of the world, evered upon his public ministry, the Saviour of the Pharifees were the most distinguished characters in the Jewish church. They were considered by the mass of the people as persons of extraordinary piety and goodness. They were admired for the orthodoxy of their principles, the strictures of their morals, and the zeal and servency of their devotions. But all that for which men highly esteemed them was an abomination in the sight of an heart searching God. Thus our Lord views them in these very points for which they were held in admiration, and on which their reputation was established. He assures his hearers

"the kingdom of heaven." In the preceding chapter he exposes and resutes both their doctrines and morals, clearly pointing out the dangerous fallacy of the one and the base hypocrify of the other.

In this he considers their conduct and the ostentatious ends they acted from, in religious duties. When they gave alms, it was not from love to God, or charity to the poor, but merely to be feen and catch the empty applause of men. When they prayed it was for the same purpose; they stood in the Synagogues or in the corners of the streets, but all was for mere show and to obtain a name as persons of high distinction in religion. Christ declares his abhorrence of all such abominations and commands his disciples to perform their alms without oftentation, and their fecret prayers in a private manner. secret personal prayer made publicly before spectators, that our Lord here condemns in these Pharisees, and enjoins both the duty and the mode of performing the same in the words of our text; "But thou, when thou prayest, enter into thy closet, " and when thou hast shut thy door, pray to thy Father which " is in fecret, and thy Father which feeth in fecret shall reward thee openly. How beautiful is this divine direction, it charms the pious heart, and gives pleasure to the foul of fincerity.

Prayer may be contemplated as of two kinds, public or focial, and personal or secret. The former will be attended to in its proper place, the latter is to be the subject of our present consideration.

Personal or socret prayer is that wherein none joins or is present. The person is alone by himself, separated from the view and society of others. None is present but the omniscient, and omnipresent God to whom he offers his addresses. He

represents what are his personal feelings, views, wants and desires. And this is the kind of prayer taught us in our text. In this duty we are to be as secret and as much unobserved as may be. By closet and shutting our door, is evidently intended any place of privacy or retirement, whether it be the house, chamber or barn, the field or woods. The direction to us is to be alone. To affect observation in this service is sinful and edious in the fight of God, and an evidence of gross hypocrify. This was the condemnation of the Pharisees, and the commandment of our Lord is to his disciples, "Be not ye as the hypogrites."

This discourse of Christ about prayer, plainly implies that it is the indispensable duty of all to pray to God, and that it is particularly incumbent upon every one to pray by himself. The Pharisees are no where blamed for praying, but for their estentation or affecting observation in their personal devotions. When the manner of personning a duty is directed and enjoined, surely the duty itself is commanded.

Prayer in general whether private or public is a most folemm act of adoration, in which we represent to God our absolute dependence upon him, a sense of our wants and necessities, a belief of his all-sufficiency to supply them, and wherein we humbly implore him for this purpose. In some of these particulars, prayer differs from praise which is an act of adoration also. Praise is an act of adoration in which we ascribe to God, his names, titles, attributes and works, and all his glory; but prayer is a representation of our wants before God, and offering up in faith the desires of our souls for a supply of the same.

The fense and feeling of our wants at best is but very weak and imperfect, both in regard to the things we need and the greatness of our necessity. Our real conceptions of these matters, alas! how seeble in comparison of what they ought to be! but God perfectly understands and knows what is most proper and expedient to be bestowed upon us. And blessed be his name, he confers not according to our contracted supplications but he gives liberally and upbraids not.

We shall here make a few observations.

First, to impress upon every conscience, the importance of prayer, keeping in view the effect it has upon this secret duty.

Secondly, place before you, from reason and revelation, the frest agable obligation every person is under to perform secret prayer, or to pray by and for himself.

First, to impress upon the conscience, the necessity of this duty. Is it not a thing exceedingly rational, he and suitable, arising from the relation of creatures to their God? Whether we consider our own state and condition, or the character of our Creator, Preserver and Benefactor, nothing can be brought into view of superior suitablesses and propriety.

Our own flate and condition manifelts the fieness with facili a glate of light, that to neglect it, exhibits an awfully wielded spirit and a reproduct temper.

First, are we not poor, indigent and dependent creatures? Have we any fund in our nature either of subsistence or happiness? Are we not in ourselves absolute weakness and insufficiency? Is it not then meet, that we should acknowledge truth that things are with us as they really stand? Is not God in reason the first and most proper being to whom it becomes us to make such an acknowledgement? It is only by prayer, by an humble declaration of our true state, and a representation

of our dependent circumstances, with all our wants and deplorable necessities we can open the same to the only fountain of relief. Wherefore to restrain prayer is to spurn at the acknowledge, ment of our being indigent, desolate and dependent creatures. It is despiting a confession of facts required by infinite authority, and is not only unbecoming, but profane and very absurd.

Secondly, prayer is the duty of every individual, originating from the nature and character of God. Let reason answer this question, " Is it not in God, we live, move and have one "being." Can any creature breather exerce a single movement, supply his wants, or furnish himself a support, comfort and happiness. God is the fountain, from whence every good flows, acknowledged or not. It is rational then, that a sufficiently in this source for a supply of the wants of all creation should be confessed, which is the great employment of prayer.

If there be two things certain, our dependence upon God, and his sufficiency to answer all our sensibilities, does not reason dictate the suitable statement of this whole situation before him? This only can be done by a praying representation. God knows whether there is a feeling of these things previous to the acknowledgment, but even the absence of it, cannot take away the propriety and condecency of such a consession. If we have any respect to God, we shall from the nature and manner of its operation, adore him by prayer, and wish for grace, support, peace, consolation and selicity from him.

Thirdly, prayer disposes and prepares the heart for the reception of mercies. We are often indisposed and unprepared for blessings. If in this temper, they could be conferred, how could they be accepted, but with all the indecency of an unsecting and ungrateful heart? A great cause of persons not making proper returns for favours is, they were neither disposed or

prepared by a sensibility of their state or wants to receive them. Hence innumerable mercies of God are lost upon us, because of the absence of a prepared heart.

This preparation of heart originates from a fense of our dependence, our wants and necessities. Mercies bestowed in consequence of these impressions are entertained with propriety and gratitude, and the soul exhalts the glory of God. The frame of mind forms the soul to be a recipient of savours designed. It reduces the person to the state and circumstances in which he ought to be. He feels as he ought; feels his unworthiness; and that it would be just in God to frown on his requests and spurn him from his presence.

Thus prayer fits the heart for the receipt of mercies, quickens and revives it, and prepares for their reception. It tends to our comfort and refreshment, to direct our hearts and eyes to God, and in this way to bring in a world of hope and confidence to the foul.—I proceed,—

Secondly, to place before you, the great design of our Saviour's instruction, the irrefragable obligation every person is under to persorm secret prayer, or to pray for and by himself.

Will any suppose themselves acquitted from this obligation by being present in the prayers of the samily or church. They may ignorantly impose on themselves, that nothing more in the way of prayer is requisite. But let them remember our Lord here requires something different, and that there is such an emphasis laid upon it that it would seem to exalt it in some respects above all the variations of social and public prayer. Let every thing be done in order. The one is to be done, and the other not left undone. Family, social and congregational prayer is to be performed, but private and personal prayer is perhaps of greater consequence. One thing is certain, in neglect of the latter, the former will be of no avail. To show that personal prayer is of essential consequence to our salvation, let the following things be observed.

First, personal religion is of the highest concern to every individual. The first attention of each one ought to be about and for himself. He ought to be concerned for his children, family and fociety, to feek and pray for their peace, prosperity, and falvation. Yet in religion every one must attend to his own case, whether he is parent or child, master or servant, or whatever distinction may be attributed to his individual cha-, racter, this is a first thing obligatory upon him, to take care of his own foul. Would every individual attend to his own falvarion, the whole world would be happy. If the foul of any other were more precious and important than a persons own, this might change the complexion of his anxiety; but there is no fuch thing in nature, reason or revelation. Although God hath ordained the falvation of others every man's concern. yet he hath enjoined upon each, that his own foul should require his primary attention. If he loses that, a world, and a thousand worlds cannot make compensation one remember the care of his own foul is committed to him.

Now if a man's concern with God and religion be in the first place of personal moment, it must surely follow, that personal religion is of the highest consequence. Hence secret prayer as an essential branch of piety must be attended to by every individual. Whatever may be his devotion in the prayers of the family, church or society, it cannot plead an apology for the neglect of this duty. An attention to this secret duty prepares him for this public service. And if this be disregarded, all his public exhibitions of adoration, however splendid and showy in the eyes of men, will be nothing before God.

"Secondly, all the reasons which can be adduced for public and focial worship, apply with irrefistable force, to inculcate the duty of secret prayer. Are we to pray with and for others, absurdity itself cannot say, we are not to pray for ourselves-The reasonableness of the duty of prayer arises from the nature and state of man; from his necessities wants and dependence. Is there any fountain in ourfelves, either of being, comfort, Support or felicity? All nature arises, and the decision is, there is none. This shows it to be a most meet and rational procedure, that we should, by, prayer and supplication make applicarlon to God, who is the only fource from which supplies can he had. Is every individual wanting, needy and dependent, hence it is evident to demonstration, that every individual ought to pray. Young and old, male and female, bond and free, from the highest to the lowest ranks of mankind, all are under this indispensable obligation.

Thirdly, every man's case in innumerable instances is peculiar. There may be a similitude in the cases of others, to our own, yet it can hardly be found that the circumstances of even any two persons can for any time continue the same. Every person has a peculiarity of difficulties, temptations, doubts and distresses, which can be expressed to no one but God. They ought to be opened to none other. Therefore it is the duty of every person to pray secretly and by himself.

Fourthly. Secret prayer is especially a persons own act, and is more, expressive of duty and obedience in some respects, than family, social or public prayer. When we unite with others, whether we lead or follow, we ought to make the duty our own. We may afford our presence in social adorations, and not a single exercise of prayer in our hearts. Social prayers become our own, when the seelings of our souls go forth with the offered petitions.

But secret and personal prayer is more in the nature of it our wan act. The conceptions, words, fentiments and operations of our minds are in an unrestrained manner our ownfore this kind of prayer manifests a distinguishing respect and obedience to God. Persons may and do attend public worship in the church from a thousand finister motives; from political confiderations, from a love of decency and applause, from edueation, from fear of fingularity, diffequention, &c. But none of these reasons can influence in the present case. It cannot he performed for the fake of fashion or show, but from a feeling of duty. If this be our constant practice some higher motive must sway the mind than those mentioned. And thus it is a greater proof of obedience and regard to the commandments of Christ. The stated consciencious practice of this duty, either shows a personal love to God supremely or a fear and tenderness of heart, which probibits disobedience. The latter may not be deemed perhaps a motive of the most exalted kind, yet however this may be, it manifests a state and temper of mind vally superior to that, by which a person casts off sear and restrains prayer before God. The conclusion in the latter ease is, the person is given over of God, and is preparing for fwift destruction.

Fifthly, a species of hypocrify will attend us in all our services in this imperfect and corrupted state, but peradventure less hypocrify can enter into this duty than others. He must be a hypocrite of an enormous size, who can be a hypocrite alone when there is no motive or inducement to it, none to applaud, or praise his devotions: none but God is present, and all know that sincerity is with him the only acceptable offering.—In private the soul as it were undresses, lays aside all the pomp of public homage, and unreservedly pours out his whole heart, in all its wants, distresses, and desires. It is here freed from the

restraint of the public eye, and all critical observation. he enjoys perfect liberty to unbosom and unburden himself. He may here pray and pause, meditate a while, and pray Secret prayer is not only a duty, but it is a high and eminent privilege. How precious is it to retire from every ege, how sweet to tell his whole heart, and to converse with God.—The gospel minister, who has prayed a whole day, and led the devotions of his congregation, twenty minutes retires ment has often given him more spiritual pleasure, joy and de. light than all his public performances. In the former he has done his duty, the imperfections, hypocrify and meannels of which causes birn to weep in fecret, but in private converse with God, where he can open his whole foul, and foread all that is in it before heaven, here is pleasure and consolation that the world cannot know. And this which is the experience of Godly ministers, it may often be the case with pions christians. You have prayed, you have heard, your fouls have been instructed and refreshed by the ordinances of the church. but have you not felt more extatic pleasure in a few moments retirement than in all these public offices. Wherefore secret prayer and holy meditation is a duty of the highest importance, for all who wish for holiness and happiness.

Having attended to this matter on common and rational confiderations, let us review what the scriptures declare both in precept and example. Our Lord's injunction in the text is nothing more than a correction of foolish oftentation, and a reduction of this duty to its proper place in the system of religion. Secret prayer was not a new institution, but in sorce from the nature of things, and by revelation from Adam to Moses, from Moses to Christ, and its obligation must continue with the existence of the world. Let us cast our minds to the ancient scriptures on this head, and we will find it neither a novel nor merely a christian doctrine. It was always a duty, and asways in practice by the people of God. Did not Abra-

ham's fervant pray alone, when he came to the place where he was to find a wife for his master's on? Did not Isaac go out toxpray and meditate in the field? Lid nor Jacob weep and make supplication in solitude, on his way to Bethel? Time would fail me to mention Môles, Aaron, Samuel, Noah Daniel and Job, who in fecret were powerful intercessors with God. Hannah prayed alone at the time of offering incense. David arose at midnight to perform this secret service. Cornelius was a devout person and a man of prayer. Peter to be in private went up to the house top to pray. But of all the inflances of fecret prayer our Lord's example, as in all other things shines forth with brilliant lustre. We read of his going to a mountain, to the wilderness, to a garden and other private places to pray and converse with his Father. He rose before day, retired at night for this purpose. He was fervent in his devotions, and sometimes offered up his supplications with strong cries and tears. All pious people, in all ages, have made conscience of this duty. To this we have a beautiful allusion in the revelation, of an Angel, " Standing at the altar " of incense before the throne that he should offer it with the prayers of all faints." If we respect the commandments of God the conduct of the wife and good, throughout all 'ages, it must be allowed that fecret prayer is an inditpenfible duty; and the neglect of it involves the highest degree of criminality.

A word or two must close the subject.

All will acknowledge every thing said upon this obvious duty to be just, rational, scriptural and proper. Are there any who neglect it, their misconduct cannot be proved by men, but all is open to the all seeing God. Such negligence is reproached by the brutal creation. The most stupid animals seel their wants and their dependence upon the hand of their supplier. "The Ox knows his owner and the As his master's

2

" crib," but dreadful is the thought, God's people, neighber consider, pray, nor are they thankful. Those who have lived a multitude of years in the non-performance of this duty is scarcely worth while to address them; but this exhortation shall be particularly directed to the children and youth of this flock. I am, my precious young friends, going off the stage of life, and you are coming on to take the place of your Fathers in Church and State; remember you are God's and absolutely dependent upon him. In him you live, move and have your being. You are not your own, you are God's by creation, Christ's by baptism, and you belong to the Holy Trinity for your preservation. God bears you on his hand, if he withdraws it for a moment, you fink and perish forever. Have you ever had a feeling fentiment of your dependence? If you have Godly parents, they have taught you to pray; they have prayed with you alone, and put praying words into your tender mouths. My counsel is when you pray, to consider what the words import and mean. What do you ask, when you pray that God would preferve and blefs you? Does it not import that you are poor helpless and needy creatures, and that God, alone is the only fource of supplies? When you ask the forgiveness of your fins. This implies a knowledge and sensibility of your guilt, that you deserve to be rejected of him forever. When you cry for the fanctification of your natures, you must be sensible this is a blessing which Godonly can bestow.

My dear youth, my hope, the hope of your parents and the hope of the world, allow me to entreat you to pray. The task is not hard. When you awake in the morning, let your thoughts be turned to God in praise and gratitude for his watchful care of your preservation in your sumbering and unguarded hours. Without his guardian protection, sleep would have been your death, and your beds your grave. In, the evening, you should recollect the mercies of heaven through the day, and by prayer and gratitude offer up your evening

martice. I think I could pass belief the curtain with thore pleasure, if I left my dear people and their children all at prayer. Should I arrive at Heaven to make the report, that all my congregation, parents and children were a praying people, the celestial arches would in with songs of praise.

SERMON IV

The Duty of Family Prayer.

Joshua xxiv. 15. As for me and my House, we will serve the Lord.

RELIGION in all its doctrines, commandments and deties, is a most reasonable thing. Nothing is required of mankind, but what right reason supports. Family worship is that branch of our holy religion to which your serious attention with all friendliness and tenderness is at present invited. If this can be a duty demonstrated from the reason of things, and the state of society, and the same confirmed by the practice of pious people, and all revelation pours in its influence, for its componential, then I trust, christians will no longer treat it with neglect. We enter upon this duty, with high expectation, and propose nothing less, than to collect all reason and revelation in its savour.

Consider the determination of Joshua in our text. He was the greatest character in military, civil and religious respects of that age. He was the immediate successor of Moses, exalted

above all the children of men, to converse with God face to face, as a friend. This Jothua commanded three million of the best people, that ever constituted the Israelitish nation, which were dignified with the title of being the peculiar people of God. Was this extraordinary man, pre-eminent in all his relations? He stands thus distinguished in religion. And among all the duties of piety, his family service shines with a brilliant lustre. He comes forth before the whole nation, which he had long directed, instructed, comforted and led to the possession of the promised land, with this divine resolution. As for me and my house, we will serve the Lord." Ot that the great men of the earth could be induced to imitate this great example.

This chapter is the conclusion of the life and administration of Joshua. He recapitulates to them in brief narration, the wonders God had performed for them and their fathers. He leaves his last charge with them, to serve the Lord: Religion he resigns to their choice. All religion must be a free and voluntary election. He states to them his own purpose in the words of our text, both with respect to his personal and family Godliness.

We shall confider,

First, the duty of family prayer.

Secondly, show the consequences arising from the personn. ance of this service, and the neglect of it. As to the

First, in such an assembly as this, there can be no necessity of describing what a family is, or whose business it is to lead in the worship of it. Every one knows that the head of the samily or some person deputed by him, is to be the mouth in this service.

T 191

First, if families are societies dependent upon God, and one ginating from his institution in the nature of things, and enjoy apportunities and advantages to unite in social adoration, then samily worship is a duty of divine ordination. That families are societies arising from the nature of things, and from the superintending providence of heaven, none can deny; then the heads of those families have great authority and advantages, each one has power to restrain and direct all under his roof; to instict penalties upon children and servants, who refuse his authority, and to eject the refractory from his household. He possesses an absolute interest in the affections of his family; hence he enjoys the most perfect advantage, to engage them willingly and freely in this pleasing duty. A duty happy to him and a blessing to all in his house. Blessed is the house where God is acknowledged and dwells.

It will be granted by all who profess the christian name, that all the gists of God and all talents received from him, ought to be improved in obedience to his will; but are not the advantages and opportunities of divine homage in a family capacity, distinguishing talents. I commit this argument to the head of every family. You love your dear families and wish their prosperity; O! that God would persuade you to the pleasure of praying with them.

Secondly, all who have fit opportunities for the worship of God, ought carefully to improve the same. Families have these opportunities in persection. Hear the word of God in the matter. "I will that men pray every where, lifting up holy hands without wrath and doubting. Continue in prayer and watch in the same, with thanksgiving, and whatever ye do in word or deed, do all in the name of the Lord Jesus, giving thanks anto God and the Father by him; continue in instant in prayer, praying always with all prayer and sup-

"plication in the spirit, and watching thereunto with all perfe"verance, and supplication for all saints; pray without ceasing, in every thing give thanks, for this is the will of God
in Christ Jesus concerning you." To this tide of revelation,
many streams will be added in the sequel which I hope will
bear down all opposition to this doctrine.

If it be the duty of christians to pray every where proper and convenient, to continue in prayer, be instant therein, and to pray always with all prayer, and that without ceasing, these things clearly show, that at all times we should possess a praying frame of heart, and be ready on all fit occasions to perform devotional service. Then it evidently follows that they ought to worship God in their families.

Thirdly, families are the subjects of many mercies, guilty of many fins, and have innumemerable wants; hence it is obligatory upon them to acknowledge the favours of heaven in the most grateful praises, mourn over and confess their fins, and in all humility and earnestness implore the supply of their necessi-Reason and the common feelings of mankind dictate these matters. And all heads of families who live under the light of divine revelation, under proper gospel instruction, and yet habitually neglect this important branch of religion, they live under the condemnation of their own judgments, and the frequent reproaches of their consciences. Well might God by the Prophet Isaiah, exclaim against a wicked and prayerless people faying, "Hear, O! Heavens, and give ear, O! Earth, " for the Lord hath spoken, I have nourished and brought up st children, and they have rebelled against me. The Ox know-" eth his owner and the Ass his masters Crib, but Israel doth " not know, my people do not confider."

Fourthly, heads of families are commanded to teach their

children to pray, to bring them up in the nurture and admesition of the Lord, to inftrust them in the fear of God and to train them up in the way wherein they should go. Therefore they must furely gray with and for them. It is the duty of families to took to Heaven, that all the good things of providence may be fandlified to them, and prayer is the special appointment of heaven for this purpose. Husbands and wives are enjoined to dwell together as heirs of the grace of life, "That "their prayers may not be hind red." This folly proves that they are to pray together. No man omits this duty for conscience take.

The scripture saints were shining examples of this devotional Service both in the Old Testament and in the New. We read that Abraham, the father of the faithful, built an Altar at Shechem, and when he removed to Bithel, he built another there, and called upon the name of the Lord. And this was done with his family. He there worshipped God with his household. His pious care of the religious interests of his family is spoken of in the highest terms of recommendation. 44 I know him, faith the Lord, that he will command his chilet dren, and his household after him, and they shall keep the "way of the Lord." What is it to keep the way of the Lord? It is walking with him in the practice of every duty. For families to keep his ways, must intend the faithful maintenance of religion in them and this cannot be done, without family devotion and prayer. Isaac and Jacob, had their refpective altars, at which they worshipped with their families .-Tothua in our text, is a diffinguishing example, whose resolution was, that the all Ifraelshould depart from the adoration of God. yet he and his house would serve the Lord.—David is a remarkable instance to our purpose; he had brought the Ark to its place, and spent the day in public Lomage, then he returned horre, "To bless his household." This can admit of no other construction, only to pray and worship with his family.

Queen Esther and her maidens, "Fasted and prayed together."—Job continually offered up facrifices with, or according to the number of his children.—Daniel went into his
knowle, "And kneeled upon his knees three times a day and
"prayed and gave thanks to his God, as he did aforetime."—
Cornelius feared the Lord with all his house, & he prayed in the
same.—But above all examples to inforce this duty, the conduct of our precious Saviour, holds a pre eminent rank. His
disciples were his family, and we often find him praying with
them.

Now a duty thus enjoined by reason and revelation, and by the examples of Godly men, cannot be neglected, but at the certain displeasure of the most High. "God will pour out his fury upon the families, that call not on his name."

Let prayerless samilies hear this threatening, tremble, repent and resorm.

I proceed-

Secondly, to direct your attention to the confequences of performing or neglecting this fervice. The bleffed confequences and great benefits flowing from the fineere and confciencious performance of this family fervice, can now only be hinted at, and the enlargement left to the contemplations of your own minds. It is beneficial in every point of view. It tends to promote the temporal interest of families, to restrain from vice and extravagance, to encourage industry, frugality, sobriety, and to excite integrity prudence and good order.—It promotes the moral virtues, affection between parents and children, prevents innumerable broils and much unhappiness, it calms the tumultuous passions, creates composure of mind, and sheds abroad through the house, peace, harmony and tranquility

It will firengthen in reftraining temptations to dishonesty,

idleness and excess, will encrease humanity, tenderness, charity and every virtue. With respect to all the parts of a family the advantages of social worship are exceeding great, to husbands, wives, children and other domestics. Where is no fear of God, there can be no happiness.

A special benefit of family prayer, is its tendency to revive and promote vital and practical religion. Families are the fountains of all other societies, of congregations, towns and nations. Of what infinite importance is it then to the interests of piety in the world, that religion should be cultivated and practised in them? If neglected here, it must vanish from the earth. Therefore, for God's sake, for the sake of religion, for the sake of the happiness of mankind, as we value the salvation of our families and our own souls, let us attend to the morning and evening sacrifice, to the daily offering of prayer and thanksgiving.

An eminent benefit of this domestic worship, is its tendency to form our families for the better understanding, and improving the public or congregational exercises of religion. They will hereby be led to reverence and fanctify the sabbath, to condust with decency and gravity in the house of God, to give a serious attention to the preaching of the word, and thus divine service is likely to become useful to them. It has been often remarked that the children of praying families behave better in church than others. It is well observed by a certain author, "That a holy well governed family, is a preparative for a holy and well governed church." Family worship, is like the prophet's "Casting salt into the sountain," it sweetens all the streams, and renders them salutary and useful.

A composed attention to daily prayer, will greatly tend to impress a sense of God and divine things upon the soul, to raise in the mind high and exalted thoughts of the glorious persections and excellencies of the great Supreme, and to have an influence upon the whole of our daily walk and conversation. When we begin the day with God, there is ground to hope we will "Be in his fear all the day long." Thus I have briefly stated before very some of the benefits flowing from the Godly practice of family worship. It is beneficial for our temporal and spiritual interest, for this world and the next, for time and eternity. It is profitable to our own souls, to the souls of our families, and the church of Christ. Now a duty of such high consequence must surely be incumbent upon all governors of households.

But let us also consider for a moment, the unhappy confequences of neglecting this divine service.

They are furely without the special favour of God in this life. They can hope for no blessings from heaven, seeing they desire them not. Their state may be declared in the language of Bildad the Shuhite, "Surely such are the dwellings "of the wicked, and this is the place of him that knoweth not "God."—If God be not worshipped in a house, there is danger of its becoming the residence of Satan. Vice and iniquity, security and sin will probably prevail in it. The common mercies they enjoy, frequently prove a snare, and are often given them in a way of judgment, and contribute to the hardening of their hearts, and the blinding their eyes.—Children are trained up without religious instruction, without the knowledge, reverence and fear of God.

What will be the deplorable condition of such families, when they shall have entered into eternity, passed trial before the grand tribunal, and their eternal dessiny irreversably fixed? Will not prayerless parents curse the day they were constituted heads of households? Will not children curse the parents who had been

the instruments of their existence? Thus they shall sink downunder the pressure of Almighty wrath, dwell in devouring slames, blaspheming God and cursing one another throughout the unwasting ages of eternity. Hear this all ye neglecters of God and your duty. When his wrath kindied but a little, ye shall perish from the way. What will, you do when his fury shall be poured out upon you to the uttermost? At his presence the hills fall down, and before him the rocks are melted away. Who then can sustain the storms of his wrath? "I will cut off them that turned from the Lord, and thefe " that have not fought the Lord, nor enquired after him. "The wicked fay, what is the Almighty that we should serve "him, and what profit shall we have, if we wray unto him. "Thou hast not called upon me, C! J.cob, thou hait been "weary of me, O! Ifrael, but thou hast made me to serve with "thy fins, thou hast wearied me with thine iniquities."

Let us relinquish the gloomy ideas respecting the unhappy houses where the voice of prayer is not heard. And O! that all heads of families would immediately adopt the resolution of the Psalmist and say, "My voice shalt thou hear in the "morning, O! Lord, in the morning will I direct my prayer "to thee, and will look up." Or the determination of Joshua, that aged general, who, if his whole not should depart, would stand singular and alone for God; "But as for me and my "house we will serve the Lord."

Two addresses to two different heads of families shall close this discourse.

First, to those who practise this duty. Those of you whe are consciencious and faithful in this precious service, I cordially congratulate you, that God has disposed your hearts to a due attention to the same. Praise the Lord for all his favours

and grace. Every bleffing and every good and perfect gift comes down from above, therefore let your hearts be filled with gratitude to God who bath thus formed your judgements and disposed your minds to this exalted and holy duty.-Plead carneftly for an increase of grace to be more fervent and diligent. Think not you have performed the whole fervice, when you have bowed the knee, and pronounced the round of praying words, buche careful that your addresses arise from a Confibility of heart and from a feeling of foul. If your family devotions are a dull formality, what can be expected from the rest? They kneel, they hear, they rife, and are still the same Not a devout fentiment of praver or thankfulness, confession of fin or praise have been awakened in their minds. Because no such thing was in your own. If you would have your families devout, be devout yourfelves. If you wish them to feel love, humiliation, and gratitude, feel these graces in your own fouls. A feeling heart will cause feeling lips, these will create a devotional spirit all around. When you have performed your best prayers, beware of a dependence on them. Guard against feifrighteousness. Substitute them not in the room of Christ. But when you have done your best, fill feel and acknowledge yourfelves upprofitable fervants.-The end of all things is at hand; be ye therefore fober and 46 and watch unto prayer." -- Let not your prayers be long and tedious, but weighty, feeling and folemn. Mun.ble not over your family prayers in a low and indiffinct voice, like a popifh pater nofter, but confider yourselves leading the devotion of. others, and raife your voices to a decent pitch that all may hear. Remember our Lord's declaration, "Where two or " three are gathered together in my name, there am I in the " midst of them, to bless them."

A fecond address must be directed to those heads of families who have hitherto omitted this duty. This shall be short. Valuare the words of map. They are as straws cast against a

brazen wall, which can be of no avail unless accompanied by the Almighty power of God. "A Paul may plant and an "Apollos water, but it is God who must give the increase." My dear fellow mortals, I know you cannot deny the obligation of the duty, you cannot by all the exertion of genius offer any excuse approbated by your own minds and satisfying to your own consciences. The advantages of this homage, and the dangers of neglecting it have been stated before you : I shall bring forward no more encouragements, nor terrors upon the subject. The whole matter is left with God and your own fouls, the blood of which I pray may not be found in my kirts. Yet I cannot refrain from recommending to your fezious consideration our text with its connection, " If it seem evil to you to serve the Lord, after all the reasons and in-"ducements laid before you, chuse this day whom you will . " ferve. but as for me and my house, we will serve the Lord." Bear in mind the words of the Prophet. "If God be God. " follow him, but if Baal be God then follow him."

SERMON V.

The Great Importance of Family Government.

Sam. W. 13. For I have told him, that I will judge his bough forever, for the iniquity which be knoweth, because his sons made themselves wile, and he restrained them not.

were I asked, what is the greatest blessing or the greatest curse to mankind? My answer would be, the proper or improper government of families. Where samilies are wisely and kilfully governed, it is a superior blessing to the world. It canes heavenly dews to descend like rain upon the mown grass. Celestial favours are showered down upon governors and governed; the love and promises of God will dwell in that house. And it is blessed individuals, that form a blessed church, town or common wealth. As the well government of families tends to the prosperity and happiness of the world, so the reverse is the most deadly curse. A host of the evils which insess the human race derive their origin from the detangement, ill-government and mismanagement, of families.

These become schools of Satan, where ignorance, brutishness, sensuality and every vice prevail. Here envy, strife, contention, pride, covetousness, revenge, with all the abominations, which have contaminated human nature, continually reside. From the wickedness of families, the wickedness of society both in church and state proceeds. How important and necessary a work is it, to cast salt into these corrupted sountains? If these sources of evil could be purified, and the viciousness of families aured, it would prevent many of the calamities of the earth. Multitudes of the judgments which fall upon the world are caused by the ill-government of households. Of which we have an awful instance in the mel ancholy story before us.

Eli seems upon the whole to have been a man of some degree of piety, but was gross'y deficient and finful in one point. to wit, in the government of his family. And his evil conduct here, brought the judgement of God upon himself and his posterity. Hence the Lord appears in vision to young Samuel, and makes known to him the things that were quick. ly to come to pass, respecting Israel in general and the family of Eli in particular. "Behold, faith the Lord, I will do 2 "thingia [frael, at which both the ears of every one that " heareth it shall tingle." This tremendous judgement we have upon record in the next chapter, when the army of Ifrael was defeated by the Philistines, and the Ark of God taken. But all the remaining part of the vision is against Eli and his house. From this our text is taken. " For I have told him. " that I will judge his house forever, for the iniquity which he " knoweth, because his sons made themselves vile, and he re-" strained them not." This is the denunciation of heaven against this wicked and ungoverned family. The Lord had heretofore informed him by a prophet, and pre-admonished him of the privileges, favours and honors which he enjoyed, of the base conduct of his children, his indulgence and allowance

of them in their iniquitous courses, and that the just punishment set divine vengeance should be inflicted upon him and them. He was not punished without due warning, and he had time given for repentance and reformation. God had faid to him by the prophet. "Wherefore kick ye at my facrifice, and at my 44 offering, which I have commanded in my habitation, and " honorest thy sons above me. Behold the day is come that " I will cut off thy arm and the arm of thy fathers house, and there shall not be an old man in thy house forever, and the man of thine, whom I shall not cut off from my altar, shall "be to consume thise eyes, and to grieve thy heart, and all et the encrease of thy house shall die in the flower of their age." Thus he was previously and fully acquainted with his fins for which he was to fuffer. He knew that he had not governed his family, according to reason, nor according to the power in his hands, nor agreeably to the commandments of God. Therefore it was determined, that he should be made a public example to all future generations, that rulers of families mightfear and tremble, and avoid his unhappy conduct.

But here enquiry may arise, did not Eli govern his samily? Did he not reprove his sons for their ill behaviour? And what more could be required? It is true he rebuked his sons, but it was in a manner altogether unbecoming a parent vested with his authority. He treated his wicked children, as many careless heads of samilies in our day treat theirs. Perhaps they say to their children guilty of the blackest crime, "These things that ye do, my children are not right, they arenot of good report therefore be advised to refrain." What fort of reproofs did Eli administer, when his sons had been guilty of such attrocious abominations, that decency prohibits the repetition. He spoke in soft and timid language "Why do ye such things? For "I hear of your evil doings by all the people. Nay, my "sons, for it is no good report, that I hear; ye make the Lord's

" people to tradictels." Obferve the tenderheis anti lenier of every word, as the' he fe ared and reverenced his children, fir ther than they him. Some may be ready to fay, what could he have done more? They were arrived to the age of men, and past that correction which might be proper for children. The answer in this ease shall be a reference to God himself. He is an infinitely fit and wife judge, and his judgement was auite otherwife. It appears exceedingly probable, from Eli's temper and character, that when they were shildren, he was finfully careless and indulgent, and did not even then instruct correct and govern them as he ought. But God is not displeased, because he reproved them, but because he did not rebuke them sharply, and exert his authority in referaining or punishing them according to their deferts. "His fons made " themselves vile, and he restrained them not." It is more than probable had they been ruled by a proper discipline, when young, and not been allowed in an excessive license or left to their own heads, when they became men, they would not have acted the flagitious part they did. Attend to the declarations of heaven, God will pour out his judgments, because they were not now restrained, even in their state of manhood. it in his power as a father, as an veclefialitical and vivil officer, if he could not reclaim them, to have depoted them from the priesthood, banished them from his family, or to have executed upon them the laws of the land; to have brought them before the elders of the city, and there accused them of their crimes, disobedience and rebellion, and they would have been stoned to death, and thus he would have averted evil from his house, and the bleffing of God would still have attended him and his family, and it might have suspended the awful judgments which fell on the nation. But he granted them all indulgence in their childhood, and restrained them not when they grew up, therefore for this iniquity will the Lord "Judge his house for-" ever." O! how dreadful a curse is this, to be inflicted, not

coaly upon himfelf, but likewife upon his nairippy pollerity continually? Should not this alarm the attention of all heads of families, left being defective in point of government, we should procure the angry resentments of heaven, not merely to ourselves, but also to our milerable offspring. This was evidente by Eli's unhappy case, that God was incensed against him for got governing his house with that holy discipline which was his duty. This easy man when his children offended, seems to have taken no notice thereof; when their heinons conduct was fuch, that they ought to have been expelled from his family or put to death, all he faid to these miscreants, who were the wilest of the vile, was, " Nay, my fons, this is no good report et that I hear." And perhaps, he would not have faid fo much as this, only that the people kept dunning in his ears the enormous wickedness of his sons. Wherefore, my brothren, let us all be folemnly exhorted from this melancholy example to govern our households according to reason and the word of God.

In order to the well governing of any family, three things appear to be absolutely necessary; authority, wisdom and religion. Those who have entered into the office of governors of families, whether they have undertaken it from rational or passionate motives, their duty now, is to seek after and cultivate those qualifications, which may enable them to fill their office with propriety and usefulness.

First, those who are governors, let them maintain a just, tender and dignified authority in their houses. This was Eli's sin, he had a family, but no authority therein. Where there is a destitution of this, you will be lightly esteemed by those whom you ought to rule. When your authority is lost, you possess no longer the power of government. If you desire the smiles and blessings of heaven upon yourselves and families, endeavour to keep, maintain and support a proper authori-

ty in them. Let your household knew your authority is notan assumed power, but that it arises from the nature and relation of things, that it is an ordinance of God, and he is the God of order and not of confusion, and therefore it is neceffary, that order and decency should be preserved in the whole house, and that every one should know his place and cheerfully perform his duty. At fit feafons play and recreation is as necessary for children, as care, industry, sobriety and attention in more advanced life. The superintendence of the parent is only to see that propriety be respected in all these matters. When it is expedient to manifest your authority to your children and other domestics, let them know as far as you are capable, that you are influenced by reason, and from obedience to God. Nothing can better support your authority than a due observance of this rule. The more carefully you are governed by reason and the fear of God yourselves, the greater will be your influence over those entrusted to your inspection. Guard against that too general weakness of our nature, a bursting forth of intemperate passions, and indiscreet words before your children. Nothing has a greater tendency to depreciate our authority than this. Children begin to reason, sooner than we are often apt to imagine, and they be. holding us transgretting reason by foolish passion, it not only teaches them to be passionate and irrational, but too often brings upon ourselves a reduction of our power. And it is a humiliating circumstance to a parent, when he must ask pardon of his child. This does not appear to be the feeble fpirited Eli's crime; and he was not a man destiute of passions. for the last exertion of them has always been produced as the highest symptom of his religion, that when he heard of the capture of the Ark of God, his passions of a pious complexion arose so high, that he fainted, fell backward from his seat, and the fall ended his days .- Wherefore watch over your passions. They are like the waves of the sea, useful in the soul, but too

eften become like boisterous winds, that overwhelm it in deftruction. Wherefore a rational and moderate course in this business lies between a haughty rigour, a supercilious frown, and a domineering aspect on the one hand, and angry heats, fond indulgences, and easy weakness on the other. I readily grant it is difficu't for our corrupt natures to maintain at all times that dignified equanimity of soul, which reason, common sense and the holy scriptures direct, but this is what we always ought to be aiming at, praying for, and making our polar star.

Secondly, would we wish for orderly and well governed families, wisdom is of leading importance. Wisdom is of the atmost moment in all things to direct. Hence we should labour for prudence and skillsulness in this matter. The person who undertakes to be the head of a family, undertakes to govern the same. In order wisely to perform our duty herein we ought to acquaint ourselves with the different tempers and dispositions of those who are under our care, not to treat every one just in the same way, but as prudence and discretion may Some are more intelligent, and some more dull, some more forward and impertinent, some backward and bashful; some of tender, and others of stubborn dispositions. in various respects requires a different treatment. Some are best managed by love, and gentleness, while others have need of sharpness and severity. - We must also observe a due distinction between di Terent faults, and proportion our rebukes and reprehensions to the same; and not act according to the cultom of too many, be rigidly severe for a small offence, and scarcely take notice of one which is much greater. It is an affecting maxim, " That our minds, spirits and tempers, are " not always at our right hand." There is a family justice which ought to be maintained, as well as public justice in the common wealth. And when an equity of dispensation in cenfures is not kept up, family government fuffers injury and is

endangered. Let us be eareful that we flow ourselves wife parents, and that love holds the dominion in all our exercises of government. Where our families see that their good is our limbitual end, they will be the more readily induced to yield a ready obedience. If we would have others reverence propriety and good order, let us be eareful to respect them ourselves. It he sit to restrain others from passion, drunkeness, and unseemly conduct, who cannot restrain himself? Will not inferiora despite reproof for crimes, of which, they see the superiors notoriously guilty?

Thirdly, would you maintain a right and christian Government in your houses, religion is an effential requisite. actions generally follow the prevailing bent of their dispositions. If we are governed by true piety ourfelves, it will have a mighty influence upon the good order of those under our inspection. Let our own souls be in subjection to God and Jesus Christ, and show a more steady obedience to the divine precepts, than we can expect any should yield to If we venture to disobey Jehovah why should others fear to disobey us? Are we more capable of punishing misconduct, or bountifully rewarding obedience than the most High? Take heed then that the honor and authority of God be supported in your families, and be more tender in your rebukes for faults against yourselves, than those which are against the Majesty of Heaven and Earth. This was the iniquity of Eli, that his children greatly dishonored God, and he restrained them not. Let us be earnest for the salvation of the immortal fouls of our families, and be more careful to provide for them, an interest in heaven, than an inheritance upon earth. Let us not only pray with and exhort them, but also teach them to pray. Let us frequently be dropping things in their presence, which may have a tendency to awaken their attention to God, their fouls and eternity.

I know, my dear brethren, by long experience, that it is easier to preach than practife. A man can with facility form an excellent essay in his study, from which in practical life his deviations are numerous. However this may be, it is useful to have a good copy before us. Tho' we may never be able perfectly to imitate the masters line, yet it may be of the highest improvement and advantage to the learner, often to be casting his eye upon it.

I shall now conclude this discourse with some motives to impress the observation of this subject upon every head of a household that we may be all induced to practise it as far as in our power.

If there were a proper government of families maintained what bleffings might we not expect would redound from it to fociety, to church, and state, to families themselves and the world? Nature itself should deeply engage us in the careful and diligent education and government of our households. Tour children are as it were parts of yourselves, your understanding and feelings, dispose you to love and provide for them as yourselves. Can you then be negligent of their greatest concerns, their usefulness and comfort in this world, and their felicity in the next. Can you bear the thought of manifesting to your children mere animal affection? This the brutes of the field and the birds of the air exhibit to an higher degree in refoect to their offspring, but as foon as they are able to shift for their own fustenance, the appearance is, they are remembered no more! Consider my brethren, it is not mere animals we have, to tame and govern, but to educate and train rational and immortal beings for the service of God, and the happiness of fociety. Nature teaches children some things without our assistance, but the God of Nature hath intrusted the most esCential things to our care. It is government, discipline, and education, that forms the man. If we only instruct them how to get a living for a few days or years in the world, and they are not taught the knowledge of themselves, of God and Jesus Christ, and the way to heaven, can they feel any sentiments of gratitude to you in eternity for their existence, yea, perhaps, they will rather curse the day of their birth forever. It is in the power of parents to do their families the greatest kindness or injury. Aid them to an holy acquaintance with God, and to an interest in the precious Saviour, and you do more for them than if you made them presidents of nations or kings of the earth. If you only instruct them for worldly and ungodly purposes, they are as likely to perish as if you had fold them to Satan. Many in ancient times facrificed their children in the burning brass of Molock's image, what do they better in modern times, who neglect the religious government, and rational and christian education of their children? The way to manage and bring up our offspring for God and happiness, and the way to bring them up for destruction are clearly represented unto us in the oracles of truth. When we indulge them in licencious courses, wink at their vices, teach them the first principles of gambling, and indulge them in infernal orgies, and bachanalian routs, what could we do more for their everlasting ruin, if we had studied their destruction? Can it be probable that such children will be found in heaven, more than that Hophni and Phineas, those two vile sons of Eli are there? Let us be exhorted to take warning and learn every one to govern his own house. If he be worse than an infidel who provides not food and raiment for his household, what must the monster be. who allows his children in all manner of wickedness? Nay, it would take the pencil of a Seraph, to draw the picture of fuch awful, inhuman, and barbarous parents. I entreat you, my dear fellow immortals, by the mercies of God, by the precious fouls of your dear children, that you be not found fuch fathers as Eli, or fuch unnatural monsters as destroy their offspring.

Exert the authority in your families which God hath invested you with, restrain your children from vice, set before them examples of piety and virtue, bring them up in the nurture and admonition of the Lord, so that if they perish, ther blood may not be found in your skints. Let the counsel of Solomon be engraven upon every parental heart, "Train up a child in the way he should go, and when he becomes old, he will not depart therefrom."

SERMON VI.

Some Duties of Parents to their Little Children.

Ephc. vi. 4. And ye fathers provoke not your children to wrath, but bring them up in the nurture and admonition of the Lord.

RELIGION is of fuch a nature, that it extends to every age and every character. Not only does it command the attention of the mature in age, but younger years are to be directed by it. And little ones, the sweet lambs of the church, before they can appear to us to think, or reason, are to be taken into its guardianship. O! how precious is the church of Christ! It spreads its wings over the whole body of the faithful, but in the softest and tenderest manner broads the young. A great trust is committed to parents; every infant, thrown into their fond embraces by heaven, is ever attended with this pleasing commission, "Bring up this babe, and nourish it for mimmortality; you feel it in your arms a precious creature, and it is given to you to render it useful in the world and to form it for eternal selicity." The tender charge is solems,

and the christian heart glows with affectionate gratitude, and says, "Lord, with pleasure I undertake the business, it shall be my delight, to do all in my power to answer the gift, and sulfil my trust."

Allow me here to make one remark arising from long experience and much observation. That a people accustomed to hear the doctrines of grace, to be taught the first principles and experimental views and exercises of internal and vital religion, all which are invilible to their fellow men, they will bear in this respect, the most close and searching preaching; but when the visible parts of religion and external duties are explained and inculcated, none more grated and offended than these. Their hearts are among the first to pronounce it carnal and legal preaching. Multitudes in all our congregations, wish their ministers to dwell more upon the moral duties, and visible virtues of piety than they generally do. This has its finister origin in two motives: the one is, that in this, they will be equal to their neighbours; and in the other, they will stand on apparent and visible ground in certain respects superior to many blazing and experimental professors. The subtilties, and tortuous windings of the human heart are exceeding hard to unfold; some are all for invisible exercises, and for experimental preaching, and others for morality, and the exterior duties of religion. Both in certain respects are right, and both wrong. What God has joined together ought not to be put asunder. The separation is dangerous and ruinous. The one cannot secure the glory of God and the happiness of the treature without the other. No internal experiences, be they what they may, can introduce to heaven, without the visible works of righteoufness, where there is time for their manifestation; and no outward exhibitions of morality, however splended, without holiness of heart, will ever bring the soul to the fruition of God.

I fear these remarks, however just and proper in themselves. are estraying me from my subject, one design of which is to show that the nature and evidences of true religion consists much in the faithful performance of relative duties. And ministers are not only to warn against personal and relative, but also against every inquity which is a transgression of the law of Christ. Let ministers ever have the solemn charge given by God to Ezekiel upon their minds, "O! "Son of man, I have fet thee a watchman unto the house of Israel, therefore thou shalt hear the word from my mouth, " and warn them from me; when I say unto the wicked, O! " wicked man, thou shalt surely die : If thou dost not speak to warn the wicked from his way, that wicked man shall die "in his iniquity, but his blood will I require at thy hand : " nevertheless, if thou warn the wicked of his way to turn " from it : if he do not turn from his way, he shell die in his "iniquity, but thou hast delivered thy foul." O! that God would impress these sentiments upon my heart, and that I might fee them engraven upon my hands, that they may be ever before me, while I treat of the relative and moral duties of our holy religion .- One of these duties must engross your attention for the present. The words of our text evidently contain a comprehensive and compleat exhortation to parents. respecting the education of their offspring. The proper and wife education of children, in all the extension of usefulness. arises far beyond our conception. They are hereby formed to be bleffings in this world, and often to be flars of glory in the next. The evil and unhappy confequences of omission or negligeace in this bufiness are beyond the powers of imagination to describe.

The divine counsel given, is addressed to parents in general, who are here designated by the term fathers. Although fathers are only expressed, yet undoubtedly mothers are herein included. The superior parent often involves the inserior.

Perhaps the Holy Spirit selected the word fathers, because it is probable they are most apt to deviate from, and neglect the counsel here administered. The matter of this exhortation wholly refrects the education of children. "They are not to 46 provoke their children to wrath." This cannot be understood as the practice of some would seem to expound it, that parents ought by no means to do those things which may displease their children, and rather than their children should be crossed or distatisfied, they neglect their duty. When they do evil they must not be chided, and when guilty of mischief, they must not be corrected. The apostles meaning is evidently this, and it is the construction of common sense. We are not by paffionate, unreasonable, morose, and humorsome commands, improperly on our part, to irritate their tempers or provoke them to wrath. We ought to watch against their ill humours as well as against our own.—" But bring them up " in the nurture and admonition of the Lord." The word surture fignifies nourishment in its utmost extent, both with regard to their bodies and minds. Nature directs that we should feed and cloath their bodies, reason dictates that we should nousish and instruct their minds, and the holy scriptures command that we should furnish their immortal souls with divine knowledge and train them up in the fear of God. The words, " Of the Lord," ought to have a powerful influence upon christians in the extensive circle of the education of their offspring, both in respect to their minds and bodies, and in regard to their moral, civil and religious instruction. The word admonition intends to express the counsel, advice, and direction, which it behoves us to afford them, in all the relations which they do or may fustain in life, especially in regard to spritual duties towards God and Jesus Christ with a view to their acquisition of eternal falvation. This is not merely on occasional business. but ought to be a habitual practice as far as in our power, confiftent with other duties and avocations, that we give our children all suitable instruction for time and eternity.—The word rendered bring up, signifies to softer or nourish them up, and intimates that rational and religious nourishment ought to be administered to their minds, as well as common provisions to their bodies. The latter shall not be much attended to, being a natural duty, and generally well observed and in some cases perhaps even to excess, but the former shall employ the sew observations that will be made on the subject.

First, one of the primary duties of christian parents is openly to acknowledge Gods right unto their children, early dedicating them by faith to him in the holy ordinance of baptism, hoping and trufting in Christ, that he will bestow upon them the faving bleffings of the covenant of grace. Was the ordinance of circumcission profitable to the Jewish church in every way? So also is baptism which was instituted in the room thereof. Hereby they are initiated into the visible church, brought into a covenant relation with God, are placed under the bleffings granted to his people, and are by parents, under the watch of the church, to be educated for God. Children are now as capable of a covenant relation to God as when in ancient times they were circumcifed. Neither the facrament nor the subject of it has been abrogated to this day, only the form of it has been changed from a typical and bloody rite, to a moderate use of pure water. Children are surely as capable of this relation now, as they were when that covenant was made in the twenty ninth chapter of Deuteronomy, "Ye hand this day, "all of you before the Lord your God, your little ones, your " wives &c. that thou shoulds enter into covenant with the "Lord thy God, and into his oath." These little ones were entered into the covenant, and no reason can be advanced, why they are not still as capable of that blessing as they were then; especially as Christ commanded little children to be brought to him and sharply rebuked those who forbade it. And in testimony of his approbation of the dedication of children to him, "He took them into his arms, and bleifed them, "and declared, of fuch is the Kingdom of God." Are little ones capable subjects of the bleffings of Heaven. Surely this was the opinion of our Lord. Do they pertain to the Kingdom of God? Whether by this phrase may be meant the Kingdom of the Church on earth, or the Kingdom of Heaven, it amounts to the same thing. I apprehend the declaration of our Lord, ought to be taken in the most extensive latitude as comprehending both. This lays a confolotary foundation for all believing parents, who have dedicated their infant seed to God, to enjoy a satisfying hope, that if they die in infancy, they are sanctified and translated to glory. It is probable, heaven is much more peopled with little ones, with the lambs of the slock, than we are ready to imagine.

Secondly, seeing children very early begin to manisest an evil temper, and the corruption of their nature, it is the part of parents by all possible means to restrain and guard against it. The habits of sia are of an encreasing nature, and are to be suppressed as far as possible. It is easiest to bend the tree while it is young. But if after parents have done in wisdom and prudence what was in their power, the children should turn out froward and evilly disposed, they may have much consolation and peace in their minds that they have performed their duty. Alas! how far from right is the conduct of many parents, who, before the little ones can well walk, will learn them to beat the floor that burt them, and teach them to torment and mutilate slies and other insects, and a train of such improprieties, hereby nourishing in them, a spirit of revenge, malice, and cruelty, while they know not what they do.

As foon as children are capable of any instruction, or when they begin to take in the knowledge of common things, parents should begin to instill into their tender minds, a difference be-

tween right and wrong, some rudiments of moral and religious import. A heathen could once say, "A vessel will long retain a savor of that liquor with which it is first seasoned." Hence it is of high importance that their infant understandings should be early tinctured with wholesome and virtuous principles, which may have a happy influence upon them throughout the whole of their after lives. "Train up a child," says the wise man, "In the way he should go, and when he becomes dold he will not depart therefrom." This not mere by expresses a commandment to employ proper means to promote their temporal interest, but also to use every rational and scriptural method of instruction to advance their spiritual and eternal interest. "Bring them up in the nurture and admonition of the Lord."

Thirdly, parents ought, neither to act nor speak before their children, things which would be of dangerous confequence for them to follow. Example has generally a greater influence upon persons than precept, and more especially upon the minds of youth. That is the age of imitation. And as they are naturally prone to evil, so any thing bad presented before them, catches like fire on superadded suel. Wherefore parents ought to be pleasant and circumspect in all their walk and conversation before them, not giving an undue loose to their tongues, nor indulging themselves in any base or wicked frivolity in their presence. How awful is the conduct of such who can curfe and swear and issue forth the spume of hell in torrents of obscenity before their children. Can they expect any thing else, but that they will learn and imitate their abominations? Beware of backbiting, reviling, and flandering wherethey are, or you will teach them to be talebearers, tailers and flunderers, and form them to be the plagues of society.

Fourthly, parents must take heed that they do not exercise

Everity for trifles, and show themselves too much offended'as childish inadvertencies, lest they should disgust and provoke sheir children to wrath, weaken their own influence and martheir authority over them. Rarely will they receive useful instruction from those for whom they have no proper regard-Wherefore as parents tender the weal of their children both in this world and in that which is to come, they ought to concilinte their affections, and ingratiate themselves into their favour and esteem, convince them of wrong, and induce them to that which is right, rather by rational and persuasive considerations, than by the furious or gloomy authority of authority. However young, they must be ruled as creatures possessed of reason. If they perceive that your advice, counsels and exhortions flow from a just affection and esteem, for they become earlier fond of esteem than we are apt to conceive, then they will be more ready to give a listening ear, imbibe, and heartily yield obedience to your instructions. How unhappy, and how much to blame are those, who never manifest any gowernment, only when it is accompanied with anger, corruption and illnature?

Fifthly, parents should guard against an allowance of their children in an excessive boldness and impudent familiarity with them; neither on the other hand, should they estrange themselves from them, nor keep them at too great or a fearful distance. Extremes in all things, are to be avoided as much as possible. Meekness, tenderness and kindness, ought ever to preside on their lips. All restraints, commands and rational indulgencies, should appear to proceed from love and for their good. This is a likely course to render themselves amiable and respectable in the eyes of their children, and so to educate them in the ways of righteousness and in an abhorrence of iniquity. This tends to render them upright and sincere in your psessence, as well as faithful and diligent in your absence. Pa-

sents, who conduct with prepriety towards their children, may fafely show their authority when they commit faults worthy of correction. They will feel the conviction, that it is the fault which causes displeasure, and that the parents treatment of them is designed for their amendment, improvement and good.

Sixthly, parents ought to endeavour to bring up their offforing in obedience to themselves, to bow their wills by times, so reclaim their deviations from propriety, and implant in their little souls the seeds of every virtue. Parents fould Rudy to know the will of God, and be conscienciously persuaded, that they urge nothing upon them, but what is agreeable thereto, and warranted by the dictates of reason. Alas f many children are allowed so long their own head, and to have their own will, that when it becomes absolutely necessary that authority should be exerted, it is an arduous task either to restrain or subdue them. Yea, at length, some wax so refractory and ungovernable, that they escape beyond the power of discipline, and had they have been duly managed in season, might have been formed to be useful members of society; but an over and too long indulgence has been their ruin. fore parents should early begin in tender affection, and in the wifest manner, to show them the excellencies of obedience, how pleasing to God, and their parents, and how comfortable and happy it will be to themselves, as also the great evil of Rubbornness, wilfulness and disobedience.

Seventhly, parents should as much as possible separate their children from bad company. Evil communication corrupts good manners. Young persons insensibly slide into an imitation of those they make their companions. Hence it is of great consequence in the education of children that they should be preserved from hearing profamity, and have no opportunities

of beholding the external copies of view. But mad thefire of fellowship and society is connectived to us from our cradice, it is incumbent upon parents, to have an eye upon the company of their children, and see that it be such, from which they learn not evil, but rather that they may imbibe from it the principles of decency and virtue, and which may be likely to recommend to them the pledsure, beauty and advantages of piety.

Eighthly, parents ought frequently to inculeate upon the minds of their children the examples of early religion recorded in the scriptures, such as the histories of young Samuel, Josiah, Obadiah, Timothy, and others. This would have an excellent effect in restraining from vice, rendering their conscience tender, and inducing them to seek after piety in their youth. Children should have their hearts deeply impressed with a great reverence for the holy scriptures; and when the doctrines, truths and duties of religion are spoken of, it ought always to be with solemnity, gravity and seriousness; so that even before children can understand holy things, they may have a reverence of them upon their minds.

Lastly, parents ought to pray with and for their children, to teach them to pray, and as soon as expedient cause them to attend public worship, to respect God's sanctuaries and sabbaths. They should hear their parents recommending frequently good people and persons eminent for piety and Godliness of their acquaintance. These recommendations they will easily receive. Before they can understand doctrines, they can learn in general what kind of persons are most happy or most miserable. If you posses them of good and honorable thoughts of such as sear God, they will be usually afterwards disposed to think respectfully of them. They will wish to hear pious ministers and to be such christians.

It afficies me, my brethren, that time commands me abrupting to break off this important subject, and leave it with scarcely the outlines of it drawn. May the sew observations which have been now made, sink deep into the hearts and influence the practice of all. We should hereby distinguishingly serve our country and our God, we should have orderly families and pious congregations. It would exceedingly tend to promote morality, and virtue, and practical religion. "Ye fathers provoke not your children to wrath, but bring them up in the nurture and admonition of the Lord."

SERMON-VIL

The Duty of Children to Parents.

Col. iii. 20. Children obey your parents in all things, for this to well pleafing to the Lord.

AMONG all the branches which spring from religious root, none produces flowers more amiable and beautiful than docile and obedient children. The effects of religion wherefoever they appear, are always charming in the view of the pious mind, but in youth they shine with a peculiar lustre. The fruits most lovely to the fight frequently grow upon small trees; so piety affords a most pleasing aspect, when it appears in tender years. How melancholy the thought to behold multitudes of amiable youth adorned with every agreeable qualification of mind and body, so that did Jesus look upon them as he cid upon the young man in the gospel, he would love them, yet in them there is one thing lacking? A well proportioned body and a beautiful fet of features, what are they? Like the flowers of the field they foon vanish away. A well accomplished mind, what is it without religion? The former will quickly be too

load forms for the fight, and the prey of worms, and the latter must be thrust down into eternal burnings, and be united with the accurfed company of devils and damned spirits, where the smoke of their torment shall ascend forever and ever. In few congregations can these be observed a more levely and beautiful class of youth than in this, but alas! how many are deflitute of the one thing needful? O! why, my precious children, will you act fuch a part against yourselves, and cast a gloomy cloud over all your excellencies, by neglecting to put on the attire of pure and undefiled religion, which would be the richest ornament of the whole? As the head is the ornament of the body, so religion would be a crown more excellent than gold to all your other qualities, of which you are the subjects. that many could be perfuaded to give up their names to Christ, to join themselves unto the Lord, and bring forth the fruits of piety in their hearts and lives. Could you be prevailed upon from the principles of love to God and faith in Jesus to perform all the focial duties incumbent upon you, especially the exalted duty of obedience to parents, for this will be truly well pleasing to God.

The duty enjoined in our text is one of the first perhaps, of which human nature is capable. "Children obey your parents in all things, for this is well pleasing or he Lord." Parents are among the earliest objects of a child's knowledge and attention; he becomes somest acquainted with them, looks to them with a fond affection, and seems to espect support and protection from them, leans upon and reposts confidence in them. Thus nature distates the first lines of filial duty, even before a due sense of the connection is formed. When a child is somewhat grown, acquired a few ideas, and arrived at some measure of understanding, he must begin to be lensible of the obligations he is under to his parents. When he can consider their tender and disinterested affection, their incessant care and labour, is

nursing, educating, and providing for them, during that state in which he had neither discretion or strength to provide for himself, the feelings of his own heart will declare to him, that he owes to them many peculiar duties. The facred oracles of God dwell much upon the dutifulness of children to parents, and greatly exhibit in strong colourings the angry displeasure of heaven against the refractory and disobedient. Peradventure no text more comprehensive of this relative obligation, than the one selected for the subject of this discourse. the Holy Spirit expresses summarily the duties of children to their parents, the term obedience is generally employed. "Children obey your parents in the Lord for this is right." The word shedience must be taken in the most extensive latitude. comprising every thing contained in the term dutifulness. " Children be dutiful to your parents in all things, for this is " well pleafing to God." They must in all things be dutiful : not merely in some things or such as they please, which is the unhappy case with too many froward children, but in every matter commanded by the parent, which is not plainly contrary to the will of God. When parents are so foolish or wicked, as to issue orders of this nature, then God is to be obeyed rather than man. No other filial disobedience is excusable from sin but this. But when the child sweetly and readily performs his duty in all things, it is well pleafing unto the Lord. Not only pleafing, but well pleafing unto him. It is a thing agreeable to the mind of heaven, and most acceptable to the Most High.

When God commands children to be dutiful to their parents, and they comply with the requisition, they not only obey their parents, but God; not only are they pleasing to their fathers according to the flesh, but well pleasing to the Father of their immortal spirits. Hence this dutifulness hath a peculiar promise annexed to it. "Honor thy father and thy mo"ther, which is the first commandment with promise, that it

" may be well with thee, and thou mayest live long on the

All that shall be attended to at present, will only be a few observations upon some of the branches of silial dutifulness. And O! that the children and youth of this slock may receive and understand the same, lay them up in their hearts and continually practise them in their lives.

The first branch I shall mention, is that children should unrfeignedly love their parents. Next to the Supreme God, none flould possess a superior share of their esteem and affection. Remember what love you owe them in reason and justice for all their love, care and renderness to you. How great has been their anxiety and trouble in your nurfing and education? How many have been the wakeful nights they have watched your fick pillow with tearful eyes and bleeding hearts, left you should die, and not live? They take your happiness or mise. ry to be in a great measure the happiness and misery of their own lives. Let not children therefore deprive their parents of comfort, by their misconduct-let them not render them miserable, by ruining themselves. Tho' they should chide, restrain from, and even correct you for doing amis, let not any of these things abate your affection to them. These are duties which God requires of them, and they are performed for your good, in order to form you for ulefulness in the world, and to promote your happiness. It is an evidence of a froward child, that loves his parents the less, because he is rebuked for doing wrong, or restrained from having his own perverse will. Even though you should perceive many faults and infirmities in your parents, you must manifest your dutiful affection by bearing with, and covering these failings and weaknesses. Children who act this part are a bleffing to their parents, and comfort and rejoice their hearts. Let children remark the awful judgements of heaven upon these who have

conducted themselves basely and wickedly. What was the dreadful fate of those unhappy children, who ran forth and ridiculed. and mocked the aged prophet as he passed by, crying out upon him, "Go up, bald head, go up, bald head." Bears from the woods rushed forth and destroyed forty and two of them. An, awful punishment for an awful crime.-Wicked ones who difregard and hate their parents, to what shameful and untimely, deaths are they often brought? Did not Absolem perish by an unufual death for this fin ? Let monsters of ungrateful children. who hate their parents, and wish them dead for the sake of their honors and property, tremble when they read his history, and the bleedings of his fathers heart. What was the conduct of the wicked fons of Jacob? What was the unnatural disposition they showed towards their brother and aged father? Their want of natural affection, and indulgence of the odious passion of hatred, had well nigh destroyed Joseph, and brought down the grey hairs of their unhappy father with forrow to the grave. How should such ingrates of children stand aghast and shudder, when they hear such words as these issuing in a voice of thunder from the mouth of Jehovah, "Curfed be he that fetteth light by his father or mother, and " all the people shall say, amen."

Secondly, the next particular branch of dutifulness is honor. Children must honor their parents in thought, word and behaviour. They must not even think dishonorably or contemptuously of them in their hearts. They must not speak rudely or irreverently to them, or respecting them. They must by no means behave themselves in an impudent or unbecoming manner before them. Yea, tho' your parents be never so poor in the world, seeble in their understandings, and even ungodly, notwithstanding you cannot honor them, as rich, and wise, and pious, yet you must still honor and respect them as parents, would you desire to be found well pleasing to the Lord. Remember, that the whole will of heaven for the direction of man

when comprised in ten commandments, this is one, and a very distinguishing one too, for it has a promise annexed. "Hon-64 or thy father and thy mother, that thy days may be long in "the land." "A fon," fays God, by the prophet, "Hon-" oreth his father." The words feem to have a peculiar emphasis, as if he could be no son, who did it not. And surely those who refuse to give honor to their parents, are unworthy of the filial character. Tremendous was the curse which fell upon Ham for dishonoring his father, that a servant of servants should he be, and his children after him. - Good children will rife'up and call their mother bleffed. The good breeding, politeness, and dutifulness of Solomon to his mother, is recorded for our instruction and imitation. "Bathsheba went in 46 unto king Solomon, and the king rose up to meet ker, and "bowed himself unto her, and sat down on his throne, and " caused a seat to be fat for the kings mother, and she sat " on his right hand." Here is an example for children to teach them how they should treat and honor their parents. Let this copy be constantly imitated by all. Then you will acquire the character of wife children, that make glad your parents. "A wife fon maketh a glad father, but a foolish son "is the heaviness of his mother." The strongest images in nature are portrayed to view in the condemnation of children difrespectful to their parents. "The eye that mocketh at his "father and despiseth to obey his mother, the ravens of the " valley shall pick it out, and the young eagles shall eat it."

Thirdly, the text in our extended contemplations is reduced to a particular place in the enumeration. Obedience is an universal term, and inclusive of every thing, yet at present, we will treat it in a more limited situation. "Obey your pa"rents in all things, for this is well pleasing unto the Lord."
When we are introduced into this world, it is in a state of weakness beyond other animals, and absolutely unfit to nourish, provide for, or govern ourselves; hence God in the constitution of nature hath made provision for these circum-

stances of feeble man. From this situation originates in a great measure the propriety, reason and necessity of obedience to parents. In order to obey their commands and refrain from what they forbid, nothing more is requisite than a natu. ral and predominant Jesire to please them. One would funpose this was the easiest thing in the world. To take pleasure to please, and to feel it grievous to give them offence, can any thing possibly be easier than this? The yoke of Christ is easy and his burden is light. And of all the parts of the yoke furely none can be more foft and pleafant than for children cheerfully to obey their parents. To good children it is delight and happiness. To be deprived of this privilege they could have neither comfort nor pleasure. They feel this counsel the joy of their hearts. "Hearken to thy father that begat thee, and despise not thy mother when she is old." An heathen philosopher could fay, "To pay honor to parents" and make them the returns of obedience, is only to discharge the oldest, best, and greatest of debts." This obedience is so interwoven in the constitution, that not to conduct accordingly, seems to be a contradiction to instinctive nature. Nothing strange then that an awful doom is pronounced upon disobedient children. They are always inrolled with the most heinous In the catalogue formed by St. Paul they are ranked with the most atrocious transgressors. The disobedient to parents, are classed with murderers, haters of God, covenant breakers, &c. This same apostle in another epistle makes up another lift, like an involment of hell, but alas, it is drawn from life in this wretched world. Look into the black return. "Blasphemers, traitors, truce-breakers, and disobedient to " parents" This one fin will croud evil children amongst the worst orders in the infernal regions. Wherefore, my precious immortal youth, guard against disobedience as a most damna. ble crime, and tarry not on the fulphurious plains of Sodom. If you have ever been guilty of this dreadful offence, repent, and fly to the blood of purification or you perish forever.

mediately bow your hearts to the order of heaven. "Fear " every man his father, and every man his mother." will be enquired, must children obey their parents when they are come to full maturity of age? The answer here is plain. God hath placed parents over you, and without an exempted. case, enjoined your obedience; and are you wifer than Jehovah? Some will be ready to rife on tip-toe to ask, how long are children under the command and government of parents? The answer here cannot be reduced to perfect definition, more than the colours of the rainbow can be exactly discriminated. Let it be observed, they are never free from love, honor and reverence till death dissolves the relation, but there are various degrees of parental overfight, which prudence must adjust to the varying circumstances of children. Some are to teach them to go and speak; some to teach them to read, labour and good manners; some to teach them the fear of God, and the principles of religion; fome to fettle them in the world, and to put them into a state of making a livelihood for themselves. When things are thus far advanced, parental duty appears tobe closing, their obligations of strict obedience ceasing, and they take the place of an independent reference to God. let ehildren, who have rifen into honor, wifdom, learning and power above their parents, recollect the conduct of the greatest mere man that ever appeared in our world. With all the favours of heaven and wonders he wrought, he did not feel himself exalted above the voice of reason, the counsel and advice of a father. "Moses hearkened to his father-in-law-" and did all that he faid."

Fourthly, another branch of filial dutifulness, is a willingness and pleasure to receive instruction from parents. Blessed are the parents disposed to give religious instruction to their offspring, and blessed are the children who are ready to receive it. These are matters of the highest command to parents, and of the last importance to children. Let every child hearken to the voice of heaven in the advice of Solomon, which is

a counsel to all children, "My son hear the instruction of the " father, and forfake not the law of thy mother, for they shall we be an ornament of grace unto thine head and chains about "thy neck." What an encouragement to parents, to feel their children willing to learn how they should acquire knowledge common, civil and divine. If they depart before them, how cheerfully should they with sweet resignation commit them to the arms of Jesus. If parents should die first, with what hopes may they leave them behind, in the comfortable expectation, that after they have ferved their generation according to the will of God they will meet with them in glory. But whether they live or die, or their parents live or die, how pleafing the thought, that all are and will be with God. Wherefore, my dearly beloved children and youth, the hope of the church and the hope of the world, allow me to entreat you by the love of your parents and by the mercies of God, that you listen "to the instruction of your father, and give heed to the law " of thy mother."

Fifthly, another part of dutifulness is, patiently to submit to the correction of your parents. This is one of the most reluctant and painful duties of children. But, my dear little ones, it is necessary for your comfort, usefulness and happiness. The directions of heaven are wildom. God enjoins the meafure, and often the recipient of the scourge is less afflicted than the administrator. O that it could be impressed upon your infant minds, that the parents must hate you who correct you not for your faults. This is nature, reason and scripture, and riper years will bless God for the severity. Can there be a child so lost in unnatural affection as to wish his parents should hate and abhor him. But the father who correcteth not his child is considered by infinite wisdom as a hater of him. Hearken to the heavenly adjudication. "He that spareth the rod " hateth his fon, but he that loveth him chasteneth him by-Foolishness is bound up in the heart of a child, but

* the rod of correction will drive it far from him. Withhold "not correction from the child, for if thou beatest him with a rod, he shall not die; thou shalt beat him with a rod and deliver his soul from hell. Chasten thy son while there is hope, and let not thy soul spare for his crying." O that children could be induced to consider, that correction appointed by God, however painful to themselves and parents, is for their highest use and benefit.

Sixthly, another branch of this dutifulness is, that children should only afficiate, and make intimates and companions of those, who are agreeable to their parents choice. Bad compamy to youth is the greatest evil in society. All the confessions of criminals brought to a shameful end, principally confist of three articles, disobedience to parents, wicked company, and Sabbath breaking. Evil company is the destruction of youth. Other things flay their thousands, but this its ten thousands. Rust corrodes the most polished steel, so evil communication corrupts good manners. Let not children enter into the fecrets of the wick I, and let not their honor be united with them. It is impossible to detail all the duties of the filial relation; let this close the collection. Imitate your parents in all that is good, avoid every thing in them wrong, pray for them, pray for yourselves, dedicate yourselves to God in Christ, renounce fin, and engage to walk in faith and holinefs, then you will be useful in the world and happy forever.

The subject closs with the last advice of ministerial and the whole soul of parental counsel. "Be ye followers of God as dear children, and walk in love, as Christ hath also loved you." Remember and imitate the character of the child Samuel, who grew up in favor with God and man.

SERMON VIIL

Some Duties Incumbent upon Youth.

Ecclesi. 1ii. 1. 2. Remember now thy Creator in the days of thy Youth, while the evil days come not, nor the years draw nigh, when then shalt say, I have no pleasure in them; while the sun, or the light, or the moon, or the stars be not darkened, nor the clouds return after the rain.

NO address in facred writ is more directly pointed, or more solemnly made to the rising generation, than the words before us. It was the last counsel of an old man, and this, and a few following discourses, are the last perhaps, you will ever hear from your aged pastor. Allow me to take for my copy at present, the last address of one of the oldest and wisest preachers. This counsel is directed to those in the morning and bloom of life, whose active and volitile spirits bear them on to the gratification of every desire.

This address in our text, bursts forth in a very abrupt form, delivers a strong interference with the views and pleasures of

yours. In this fudden impulse, consists much of its strength, beauty, and vigor. It seems intended to storm the attention, and command the most thoughtless to take notice. Young people must surely feel the spirit and power of this address. It is pointed like a dagger to the sinful pleasures of the hearts of youth. It strikes death into their carnal delights, and raises their hearts, contrary to their native bent, from earth to heaven, sheds darkness on terrestrial things, and elevates their souls to God.

Solomon had described every worldly wish and carnal desire of his, as fully gratified. He had enjoyed the full round of riches, pleasures and honors, as far as this narrow life could afford indulgence. He was the person singled out and designated by God, for this wonderful scene. No ma nmarked out for the full extension of earthly pleasures, but himself; none in this line ever preceded him, nor will there be fuch another instance to '- the end of time. Every thing that can be comprehended in the term pleasure, Solomon enjoyed in the utmost extent. Peace, health, riches, honors, and the utmok gratification of liuman defires were all his own. No earnal man can possibly with for more than Solomon possessed. When he became old. and was glutted with enjoyment, what was his account of the whole? A fum which he might have cast up long before. Hearken to the footing of his account. " Vanity of vanities all is vanity and vexation of spirit." Vanity and vexation. what can form a more bitter and detestable composition for life than this? This was Solomon's portion, when he drunk in pleasure in all its sulness, what then must be the misery of those who only sip at the rills, and never had a single draft of his delight. And all the pleasurable taking world may be affured they never will. A fermon could not develope the pleasures of Solomon in childhood, youth and riper age, and the miseries and torment of his last days. If I should live, my young friends, I would wish to lead you through this extraordinary life of pleasure and sin, and of wisdom and solly of which there has been none like it, nor will there be ano-Forgive me this excursion and deviation from the' subject in view. You are ready to say, that all old men will pass the same reflections on life, and make a similar regret, that they have passed through the world under a kind of enchantment, which the approaches of death dissolve, and they awake to think of God and religion when their heart strings are breaking. I readily grant death is an awakening period, and I also affirm the whole life is little enough to prepare for it.-The young and gay will laugh at every thing ferious, and will fay, the religious language of the aged, is the refult of chagring disappointment, or surfeited repitition of enjoyments. To fach, I can only fay, "Take the unhappy reins on your macks, range through the fields of pleasure, take of every forbidden tree, enjoy yourselves, abandon religion, banish death, heaven, eternity, and hell from your thoughts, and forbid their intrusion to mar your pleasures; finish life in a thoughtless and jovial swing;" but, O youth, be assured of this, "God will bring " you into judgment." This thought is excluded in the hours of mirth and lawless pleasures, but hereafter it will bite like an adder and fling like a ferpent. I wish this one idea could be impressed on the hearts of youth, "Remember that all your conducting life, and every period of its pleasures God will bring into judgment in the presence of the whole universe."

The great things enjoined upon youth in this subject is the plain duty of remembrance of God and several reasons to enforce their compliance with it.

The duty is to remember their Creator, and immediately to perform every matter and thing implied in this remembrance. The original word is Creators, strongly intimating a Trinity of persons in the Godhead to which their attention should be turned; they stould remember the Father their maker, the Southern

their redeemer, and the Holy Ghost their sandissis comprehends in it the whole of religion. The reasons the duty of the text shall be the principal object of you tion, and no more shall be said about the duty itself, the ly to ascertain the nature of it in general. It most involves in it the following particulars.

hich reing attennereently

First, that you ever bear fully in your mind that th is z God, glorious in the persons of Godhead and in all I attributes. You must furely feel he is your supreme and htful fovereign. You did not give yourselves existence by yo own All the being and faculties you posses are will or power. from God. You must then be wholly God's. He has : more absolute property in you, and a more unlimited claim upon you and your services, than it is possible you should have upon any thing you call your own. Therefore he has an indi putable right to give you laws, and prescribe your duty towards himself, and towards all the creatures with which you stand connected.

Secondly, another thing involved in the remembrance of your Creator, is that you owe him duty and affection to the utmost of your power. This is a debt due to him, for what he is in himself, and from your relation to him. Is God yeur Creator, Redeemer, and Sauctifier? Can any love be denied, or any duty suppressed which he requires? Reason, conscience, and all that is in man, especially the whole soul of youth must acknowledge, that we are wholly the Lord's. Every young person in my audience, is silently saying in his heart, "I am his, I am wholly his, created by his power and preserved by his goodness."

Thirdly, this reflection implies in it a feeling fense of your absolute dependence upon him for the life that now is and for that which is to come. The streams of this world wax into

rivers before youth, of which many drink but are never fatisfied. Youth in this world wish to have happiness under their controul, but soon their show of independency on God will be over, and sipping at created cisterns must fail. They must feel, or they will feel comfort no more, "That from him fprings fulness of joy." If, my precious youth, you plunge into the ocean of iniquity, you are lost, you are damned forever.

Fourthly, this remembrance implies a folemn enquiry how you stand with your creator, your Saviour and your God. it peace or war, friendship or enmity? My dear young friends, you know not the import of this enquiry. Have you repented of fin, fled to the blood of Jesus for deliverence-are you humbled for original and actual transgression, and are the wonders of divine mercy all the ground of your hope? Attend to the character of God, his holy law, the exceeding great evil of fin, and the only method of recovery through the atoming merits of Jesus Christ. The washing of the blood of the Redeemer is as necessary for the young as the old. By this blood you must be cleansed, and in the faith of it, you must hop for eternal life. Would to God, the fcriptural declarations respecting these important matters might be effectually impressed on every young and tender mind. However few your years, these are the effential terms of eternal life, you must repent and believe the Gospel. "All men are commanded every where to repent, "the young as well as the old, the youth in all the flower of " his bloom, as well as the man of grey hairs." There is no exception here, all must repent or perish. Our Lord's decifion is, "Except ye repent, ye shall all likewise perish." likewise faith enters into the essence of salvation. life by the constitution of heaven, is infallibly chained to faith, and eternal damnation to unbelif and impenitence. The fum of all religion which our Lord delivered to his disciples, when he fent them forth to preach the gospel to every creature, is this, "He that believeth and is baptifed shall be saved," but

how tremendoully awful is the 'reverse part of their commission? Who can pronounce it without horror. It should strike terror into every foul, "He that be lieveth not shall be damned." Wherefore let the counsel in the text be powerfully felt by every youthful mind, as a matter of the first and highest importance. "Remember thy Creators in the days of thy youth." Remember the character of the Lord of universal nature; he is not a man, he is not a weak and impotent creature, but the Creator of the ends of the earth, whose arm is full of power; his look shakes the earth to its center; his anger makes the pillars of heaven to tremble; the hills melt and the mountains escape from before him. Wherefore my beloved children, "Acquaint yourselves "with him and be at peace, and thereby good shall come un- to you."

I proceed to the fecond part of this discourse, to endeavour to inforce the duty on every young and tender mind. It is impossible in the range of a narrow discourse to pass the limits of our text. The field of reason and the extent of revelation upon this subject, the life of a Mathusalah could not exhibit.

First, the state of your birth is recommended to your consideration; that you have come into the world, shapen in sin, and brought forth in iniquity, and your first entrance into existence is under the character of children of wrath. It is an awful thought for recollection, that you are by nature guilty and obnoxious in the sight of unstained purity. This is the fundamental reason of circumcision, baptism and the dedication of children to God. The declaration of heaven is on the one hand, "That by one man's disobedience many were made "sinners. That the judgment came upon all men to consider the demands of justice rests upon the children who have never sinned after the similitude of Adam's transgression, as well as others. And one

the other hand, all must repent, from the youngest to the oldest, and turn unto God in the way appointed.

Secondly, the remembrance in the text, seems to imply a natural disposition of unmindfulness of God. Were we born with a right temper, it would be as natural to love God, obey his commands and avoid what he forbids, as to exhibit desire for food and drink. That our first appearances of action are not to love and serve God, are certain evidences, that our natural propensities are wrong, wherefore upon this supposition we are called upon to remember our Creator while we are young. And this remembrance implies every temper, exercise and duty which constitutes real piety and true religion. Wherefore, let children and youth who would wish for happiness and the favour of God comply with this divine counsel.

Thirdly, remember, while you continue in your native and wicked temper, God cannot be your friend, but enemy. "He is angry with the wicked every day. If they turn not, he will whet his fword, he hath bent his bow, and made it ready." Therefore you are liable, however young, while remaining impenitent and unbelieving to be turned into hell with all that forget God. While this is your character, nothing keeps you from this awful doom, but the wonderful patience and forbearance of God. He most surely has power enough and provocation enough to send you to perdition every moment you remain out of Christ. There is the greatest reason therefore that you should remember your Creator in the days of your youth.

You know not, my dear friends, but that you may die young. You have no more security for life, than the most aged person loit ering under the burden of many years and infermities. This is a truth the young can hardly be persuaded to seel or believe. Nay, the very strength of your constitu-

tion and heat of blood exposes you to many fatal diseases. As many die in youth as in other periods of life. God may take away your breath every day and every hour just at his pleasure. Now as this is the situation of every individual, what an argument of irresistible force is it to induce you to remember your Creator and your souls in the days of your youth.

If you are not disposed to attend to religion now, there can be no future period of life, in which, if left to yourselves. you will be more, or even so much inclined to this duty. tives and arguments can have any influence, these are as strong and powerful now, as they can be at any time hereafter. reasons drawn from the uncertainty of life-the commanding authority of God-the preciousness of the soul-the importance of falvation; and your own interest, are all as weighty and forcible now, as they ever will or can be. These can never increase. But it is an awful and alarming fact, that your indisposition to attend to religion increases daily through every period of life. Your years grow not faster than the hardness of heart, blindness of mind, and stupidity of conscience. This ariles from various causes. From the native alienation of the foul from God; the longer it continues unrestrained, the stronger it becomes. It arises also from the force of sensual pleasures and from the nature of a worldly temper. more such pleasures are indulged, the greater power they acquire. The longer our attachments to the world are indulged, the greater the difficulty to renounce them. This fatal temper likewise gains strength from the delusive and fascinating hopes of a more convenient feafon for engaging in religion. prefumption is always of a growing nature. The longer we put off the concerns of our fouls, the motives for fo doing accumulate, till death closes the scene and all is lost forever. collecting all confiderations into one view, youth will never have a more convenient opportunity or a better disposition for the remembrance of your Creator, if left to yourselves, than " Now is the accepted time, now is the day, of the prefent.

robable you never will. Weigh the arguments placed before you; if these cannot influence you at present, it is certain their impressions will become weaker every day. Then think for a moment what is likely to be the consequence. That you must make your bed in everlasting forrows. God only can turn the heart from youthful pleasures and finful amusements and form it by his grace for his love and service, therefore be intreated to remember your creator in the days of your youth. The effectual grace of God in your repentance and conversion, should be improved by you as an irresistible argument to cause you to remember him.

This subject will close with a few observations on the motives in our text employed to excite young people to this great duty, the remembrance of God and their Saviour. Remember, "while the evil days come not nor the years draw nigh, " when they shall say, I have no pleasure in them." By evil days is generally and rightly understood times of sickness, calamity, pains and death. Perform this duty, make your peace with your Maker, embrace the Redeemer, relinquish sin, and engage in the ways of piety in the prime of life. These things are to be done while you are young. They ought not to be postponed for a day. Evil days are fast hasting on, in which we will find no pleasure. God is long suffering and grants space for repentance. And it concerns all to attend to it immediately and prepare for their latter end. Old age will advance and these will be years of unpleasantness. Barzillai could not then relish any of the delights of sense. There you will be loaded with infirmities, palfies, pains and weaknesses of a thousand forms; your strength will become labour and forrow. shall have then parted with the most of our dear friends and relations, and the residue may have become wearied of us. This is a tormenting feeling. It is worse than the pangs of death. Wish not to be old, but wish to be good. Become

Muly religious, "then if you live you will live to the Lord, and if you die you will die to the Lord, so that whether you live or die you will be the Lord's." Bleffed are the youth who are the favorites of heaven and united to Jesus. Consider how grow the absurdity, and how base the ingratitude, to give our strength and the slower of our days to Satan, and to hope that God will accept the dregs and resuse of life. This will be offering the torn, the lame, and the sick for sacrifice, which will surely be rejected. How can we expect God will support and comfort us in age, when we served him not while we were young. Precious was the experience of the Psalmist when he could say, "O God "thou hast taught me from my youth; now also when I am "old and grey-headed, forsake me not."

An argument to enforce religion upon tender minds, is taken in strong figurative expressions from the luminaries of heaven and the clouds of the air. "While the fun, or the light, or "the moon, or the stars be not darkened, nor the clouds re-"turn after the rain." All these bright luminaries become dim to the aged, through failure of fight and all the Their understandings, memories and powers of nature. all their faculties fail. The beauty and pleasure of all these Then the clouds return after the things are passed away. rain. No sooner Wone cloud blown over than another succeeds; thus the aged are no fooner relieved from one difease and pain than they are seized with another. Their ailments are like a continual dropping in a rainy day. Let all these things be placed together to engage youth in an early attention to religion. The commandment of your bleeding Saviour is, "Seek first the kingdom of God and the righteousnell "thereof." And those that seek me early shall find me. * Remember now thy Creator in the days of thy youth, while the evil days' come not, nor the years draw nigh when thou " shalt fay, I have no pleasure in them; while the sun, c. the 44 light, or the moon, or the stars be not darkened, nor the " clouds return after the rain."

[105]

To it not a melancholy thought that any of you foodly periff ?-

Is not the thought transporting that you should all enjoy the felicity and glories of heaven forever?

O that it might be a portion of my blis to behold you in the celeftial world! That you might see me there as you now do in this sacred desk, and that I might behold you in these happy regions, as I now behold you before me. Then blessed minister—happy children—and eternally glorious youth.

SERMON IX.

How Youth may become Holy and Happy.

Pla. cxix. 9. Wherewith shall a young man cleanse his way? By taking heed thereto according to thy word.

THE holy scriptures are the source of all divine wisdom and saving knowledge to the children of men. They are profitable for doctrine, for reproof, for correction, for instruction in righteousness. They are of the most extensive spiritual use, containing all things necessary for to know and believe concerning God, ourselves, the way of salvation for sinners, and the graces, virtues and duties for acquiring the same. They are perfectly calculated to display the character of God, the holiness of the divine law, the evil and turpitude of sin, the recovery of sinners through the atonement and intercession of Christ, the way of faith and obedience, and to rectify and reform what is amiss in the soul. So that the man of God or the true Christian may be thoroughly surnished for the performance of every good work.

This excellent Pfalm shining with peculiar lustre among all

the Psalms of David, principally consists in praises and encemiums on divine revelation. The Psalmist here in the most persuasive language recommends the great usefulness of the scriptures, from his own example and the distinguished blessings he had experienced in them. How often does he express his most ardent desires, for a more intimate acquaintance with these precious oracles, and to be more conformed to their instructions? "Deal with thy servant according to thy mer-"cies, and teach me thy statutes. I am thy servant, give me "understanding that I may know thy testimonies. O how I "love thy law; it is my meditation all the day."

There is no less than ten words employed in this long Psalm expressive of the glories and advantages of divine revelation. And what is very remarkable, there is not a verse in which one of these terms is not used, a very sew excepted, yet they are so placed and transposed, that the most accurate reader seels no tedious repitition, but every phrase appears with beauty and affords him the highest pleasure and delight.

It is stilled God's law, because the scriptures are given by the supreme and sovereign legislator—his way, because they contain the order of his dispensations, and the course of man's obedience—his commandments, because issued by the most absolute authority—his testimonies, because attested or witnessed to the world by the most irrefragable evidence—his precepts, because they are the prescriptions of heaven to man—his word, because they are the declarations of his will—his judgments, because by them we shall be judged—his righteousness, because holy, just and good, and the standard of perfect justice—his statutes, because fixed, immutable and of perpetual obligation—his truth, because they are faithful sayings and sounded on principles of eternal verity.

Now these oracles which are described in such a variety of

characters, exhibit complete rules of direction in every exter-In all difficulties in which persons may be involved, here is instruction for deliverance, or how to bear them with patience. and improve them for their greatest good. In our text they give directions of the highest importance, to wit, how the rising generation may become holy and useful in the world, and he happy forever. "Wherewith shall a young man cleanse his way? "By taking heed thereto according to the word." My young friends. I hope, will grant their attention to a subject of such infinite magnitude. It is long fince it was faid by the wifest of men, that youth is folly and vanity. I will not enter into the common essay, that youth is worse in this age than formerly. Every one, even the most ignorant, is continually giving lec-This is not by any means a general truth. tures on this topic. there may be particular places where one generation may be worse than a preceding, so there may be places where a generation arises better than the one which went before it. Buthowever this matter may be, there is in the words before us an important question asked, and a satisfactory answer given for the direction of the rifing generation.

There are various things of high importance contained in the question, "How shall a young man cleanse his way?" By way, when used in this figurative sense, expressive of the moral temper and character, is generally meant the bias and inclination of the heart, and the course and prevailing tenor of the life. If the habitual turn of the heart be to that which is good and the external conversation such as becometh the gospel, then his way is right with God, or it is in its measure clean. But if the heart be commonly disposed to evil, and the conversation ungodly, this proves his way to be unclean, or corrupt and vicious.

To cleanse, in a moral or religious sense, signifies to reform and amend that which is amis both in heart and conduct. To

Mic, therefore, how a person shall cleanse his way, they implies that his way is corrupt, morally desiled and wicked, and stands in absolute need of purification and sanctification.

This question imports,

First, that all are guilty and polluted even the very youngest. It is a melancholy truth, "That the imagination of man's 46 heart from his youth is only evil continually; that he cannot de be clean who is born of a woman; that all flesh have cor-"s rupted their way; that that which is born of the flesh is flesh : " that by one man fin entered into the world, and death by fin-" and fo death hath passed upon all, for that all hath sinned." Thus the infant just born, though it never has acqually transwreffed the law of God, or in apostolic language, finned after the similitude of Adam's transgression, yet there is a destitution of the divine image and a want of conformity to the divine law. from whence proceeds all fin and corruption which stain and defile the future life. Wherefore this original depravity must be removed, these stains must be washed away, the way snuft be cleanfed, and for these purposes the holy scriptures afford infallible infruction.

Secondly, this question imports that young persons are guitty of many actual iniquities, whereby they are awfully polluted in heart and life. These by Solomon are termed "folly and vanity," and by St. Paul, "youthful lusts." Persons when young are full of life and spirits; seel not the pains, cares and anxieties of advanced uge. These impel them to the gratification of present desires, and they rush on with a volatile impetuosity, thoughtless and regardless of all the consequences solowing after. Their minds are blind to immortal concerns, and wholly occupied with the projects of present pleasure. This corruption of their way manifests itself in some such particulars as these. An aversion to read God's holy word

and pious books; a neglect of fecret prayer; an avoidance of joining in family worship; and an aversion from religious exercises in general. Feeling the sabbath asburden, and an attendance upon the house of God is a wearisome task. They are often prone to neglect, if not despise the pious counsels and admonitions of parents; they attend to the indulgence of their own inclinations and pursue the evil imaginations of their hearts. Thus I might show in a great variety of things, the corrupt ways of youth, such as bad language, profane cursing and swearing; lascivious conversation; gambling; associating with wicked company; and an innumerable train of such evils, which demonstrate the way of youth wants cleansing.

Let us now attend to the answer, wherein youth are taught how this important matter may be accomplished; how the young may become virtuous, useful and blessed. "By taking "heed to their way according to the word of God." That the way of youth is exceedingly corrupt is abundantly evident from the previous observations; therefore the enquiry how the same may be cleansed and purished, is of the highest moment. Would to God all who are young, were solicitous and anxiously concerned how they should get their hearts renewed, their lives resormed and their souls saved!—Those who would attend to this subject must,

First, receive the scriptures as a system of revelation from heaven for the certain direction of every soul to eternal life. The law of the Lord is perfect converting the soul." There can be no case or circumstance of a religious nature for which rules are not there given. Let the young, therefore, firmly believe the scriptures. Beware of every doubt and every misgiving thought upon this head. Examine the evidences of their divinity without scruple, and cleave to them as your life. They surnish you with infallible instruction, how you shall serve your generation, procure the salvation of your souls, and attain to the enjoyment of eternal selicity

Secondly, here they are taught how they may get their natures changed, cleanfed and fanctified. "Those who feek " me early, faith the Lord, shall find me." That is, those who feek God in the method appointed in the scriptures, will surely obtain their desires. Those who seek God, by repentance of fin, for faking their iniquities, repairing to the blood of Jesus by faith, committing their fouls into his hands, looking to his righteousness alone for justification, and to his grace for fanctification, giving up their hearts in love to God, and resolving to walk in all the commandments of the Lord. fum of that feeking God contained in the bible. The young have really as much need of effectual grace, of conversion, faith, repentance, &c. as any other finners. Hence the young man in the gospel who was possessed of so many natural and amiable accomplishments, that Jesus loved him, yet his way wanted cleanling; there was one thing lacking; his foul was not adorned with the beauties of holinefs. Hearken to the voice of Solomon to his pupil. "My fon, if thou wilt hear er my words, and hide my commandments with thee, fo that "thou incline thine ear unto wisdom, and apply thy heart to " understanding: yea, if thou criest after knowledge, and liftest " up thy voice for understanding, if thouseekest her as filver and " fearchest for her as for hid treasures; then shalt thou under-" stand the fear of the Lord, and find the knowledge of God." The scriptures teach you to pray to God, to worship him, to fubmit to his will, to honor your parents, to love your brothers and fifters, to love all mankind, and to do good unto all as you have opportunity, and fill all your stations and relations in life with faithfulness and propriety. These are a few of the counsels of the divine oracles to the children of men. are as sufficient now as they were in the times of Timothy, " to make them wife unto falvation." Would youth be comfortable in life, useful and honorable in the world, have peace and hope in death, and finally be brought to those regions where rivers of bleffedness eternally flow, " Let them take heed "unto their way according to the word of God."

A brief address to those who are young will conclude this discourse I have often addressed your fathers in the days of their youth, and this will probably be among my last directed to you in this particular form.

My dear children and amiable youth, all that shall be faid at present will flow from the most sincere intention to promote Your felicity in this world and in the next. Your blife and mifery, life and death, are placed before you, and this day you are folemnly called upon to make your election. Confider what is your state and practice. Consider you are in the hands of a God of infinite power to punish or to reward. Con. fider whether you have most need of God, or God of you. What will be your final destiny if you continue in fin, impenitent and unbelieving, neglecters of God, despisers of Jesus Christ and of your own immortal souls? You certainly know you must die, and passto judgment, and these awful events may take place respecting you, while you are in all the bloom of life, and in an hour when you think not. You have attended the funerals of multitudes of persons younger than yourselves. Wherefore be exhorted in this your day to attend to the things of your peace. God is stretching out his compassionate arms unto you, the precious blood of the Saviour, which was shed for your falvation, is calling upon you; the Holy Ghost is striving with you; ministers, are calling upon you, praying for you and weeping over you. Your pious parents, in all the tender language of perfuafion, and with bowels yearning for your fouls, are preffing the things of religion upon you. Yea, all the holy angels, and the whole church in heaven and earth, folicitously urging you to come and drink of the waters of life freely. Now what do you fay to all these mighty invitations? Will you hear or will you forbear? If you refuse to cleanse your way according to the word of God, remember the terrible denunciations of divine wrath against all fuch. 46 Because I have called and ye have refused, I have stretched "out my hand and no man regarded; but ye fet at nought

"all my counsel and would none of my reproof: I also wish at your calamity and mock when your fear cometh; when your fear cometh as desolation, and your destruction as a whirlwind, then shall they call upon me, but I will not answer; they will seek me early but they shall not find me." To avoid these awful calamities, I beseech you by all that is sacred, by the happiness of heaven and the torments of the damned, that you would hearken to "Wisdom crying without, uttering her voice in the streets; turn ye at my reproof; behold, I will pour out my spirit unto you, I will make: known my words unto you. Hear and your souls shall live." My dear youth, I leave you to God, and your own.

SERMON X

Sober mindedness warmly recommended to those ... who are Young.

Tit. ii. 6. Young men likewise exbort to be sober minded.

VARIOUS and extensive are the duties incumbent upon the ministers of the gospel. So numerous, important, and solemn, that the apostle after a review and consideration of them, exclaims, "Who is fufficient for these things?" They are to teach the whole counsel of God; every doctrine, duty and virtue contained in the scriptures. They are with propriety to address every rank, from the highest dignity of honor to the lowest grade of mankind. From those who sway sceptres and fit on thrones, down to the poor and those who fit on dunghills; all these various degrees are to be instructed by How much need have they of all kinds of learning them. and wisdom, common and uncommon, to enable them to adapt their instruction to an infinity of cases. St. Paul taught people of every class, rich and poor, learned and unlearned, ministers and people, servants and children. He instructed ministers how and to whom they should preach. He gave directions

and counsels to Timothy and Titus relative to things of the highest importance. He sometimes prescribes to them the subjects on which they should preach, and mentions the various classes of mankind to which they were to address them. felves, and how their exhortations ought to be ordered. this chapter Titus is counselled to preach the duties incumbent on every age and fex. He must teach aged men how they ought to conduct: " fo that their hoary head being found in " the way of righteousness might be a crown of glory to them." The aged women also he was to instruct, "that they may be a in behaviour as becometh holinefs. That the young women 46 should be sober, discreet, chaste, keepers at home, good, &c. 66 Young men likewise, exhort to be sober minded." ministers should be particular in their preaching. touching every ones case, they may affect the consciences of They must give to every one his portion in due season. Alas, how few are disposed to take their portion, and how ready are we to make application to others of that which we ought to take to ourselves?

The young persons to whom Titus is to address himself, he is to exhort. This word implies instruction, direction and persuasion. In order to exhort any person to the personmence of his duty, he must be first taught the nature, use and advantages of it; in the next place he must be directed how to comply therewith and reduce the instruction to practice; then persuasion, commonly called exhortation, is necessary—in which motives and considerations are used, with the tenderest application to the passions, to influence and induce persons to yield a willing obedience. Here the benefits and blessings of compliance with duty, and the dangers of non-compliance are to be urged and pressed upon the conscience by every argument.

The exhortation is here directed to those who are young, and the duty to which they are to give their attention is to be foher minded. The whole duty incumbent upon youth is comprehended in this single phrase. And no doubt infinite wisdoms selected this term, as the reverse of it is too incident to the young, to wit, levity, vanity, folly and inconsideration. And I hope, my dear young friends, you will suffer this exhortation to be pressed upon you with all earnestness, as it is the counsel of an inspired apostle, yea, of God your Maker himself. And according to your consormity to it or otherwise, you will be sinally judged and so saved or lost to all eternity. The whole of this subject will be consined to these two things,

First, the explanation of sober mindedness.

Secondly, to lay before the younger part of my audience, fome of the innumerable motives which should engage them to be sober minded.

None who are acquainted with the nature and conduct of youth, and the state of the world in general, can deem such a subject either unseasonable or impertinent.

First your attention is invited to the explanation of sober mindedness, to which the young are exhorted.

First it may be observed, that this phrase imports a sound mind, and thus it is rendered in another epistle. "For God "hath not given us the spirit of sear, but of power, of love, and "of a sound mind." A sound mind is opposed to one that is disordered and corrupted; and this is unhappily the case of every mind by nature. We are born unholy and unclean, vitiated and depraved. "We were shapen in sin and brought forth in iniquity. God made man upright but he hath "sought out many inventions." By reason of our apostacy our minds are become the abodes of darkness, confusion and disorder. Those powers which were first formed for subjection have usurped the government in the soul; the inferior passons and sensitive appetites now rule over the superior faculties of

season and understanding. Reason, which was formed to govern and direct in the human mind, is ejected from its throne; the understanding is overwhelmed in clouds of darkness; and the lower propensities and affections bear sway and triumph; hence all is anarchy and derangement in the soul. In order to become of a sound mind, these maladies must be healed, and these disorders must be rectified. And this is done by regeneration, repentance and saith; by a restoration of the lost image of God; of divine love and holiness. Hereby the mind becomes sound, and thus persons are formed to be sober minded.

Secondly, it implies in it confideration and thoughtfulness. The heart is naturally full of vain, foreign and impertinent thoughts. When, my young friends, will you command home your roving minds, and begin to think foberly and feriously as you ought to think? When will you turn your minds to matters of infinite moment?-to think with anxious folicitude about the concerns of your everlasting peace? "Thus faith "the Lord of holts, consider your ways." Enter into your hearts and lives, and consider whether they are right with God according to the Gospel. Consider for what your capacities were created; for the service of your generation, for usefulness in the world, for the enjoyment of God and happiness forever. Confider whether it be not full time for the youngest of you to meditate upon the delign of your creation, and reflect how you have lived and what you have been doing. Your passed years are gone as a tale that is told. Surely the scason is come, that the youngest of you should awake from your slumbers of folly, and turn from your excursions in the fields of delusion, and begin to exercise your thoughts upon religion and the When the apostle issues forth this falvation of your fouls. admonition to youth, that they should be sober minded, it is the same thing as to exhort them to be religious. that God would impress the counsels upon your hearts, in fuch a manner, that you would not allow yourselves peace, nor indulge your eyes in fleep, nor your eyelids in flumber, till this most important matter be secured, that you are wholly reduced to the renunciation of youthful lusts, your fouls dedicated to God, and by faith reposed in the bosom of your precious faviour. Remember, all youthful follies, all manner of fin and blasphemy shall be forgiven, and heaven will not, and earth and hell cannot pluck you out of his hands. death is approaching,-eternity opening,-and before the fun concludes the day, you may launch into that future and unknown world-you may pass the bourne from whence there is no return! "O that you were wife, that you understood of this, that you would consider your latter end." You know that multitudes have launched out of this state by unforeseen and unexpected deaths. Accidents, which no human powers can provide against, have instantly broken the thread of life, and in a moment opened the gates of eternity. My children, many deaths you have already escaped, and whether ever you will escape another is with a fovereign God, who gives not an account to any of his matters. Consider, God may not preferve you from another, and it is an absolute certainty you cannot preserve yourselves; wherefore, immediately receive the divine counsel and turn unto the Lord. "Turn ye, turn ye, " for why will you die?" There is no cause why you should perilh, but what arises from yourselves. There is enough in your heavenly father's house, and an abundance to spare. Instantly give yourselves up to the blessed Jesus, who poured out his foul unto death for you. He is the compassionate Saviour of youth; loved children; took them into his divine arms; laid his bleffed hands upon them; and declared that of fuch is the kingdom of heaven. Those who deny children the bleffed dedication to the arms of Jesus, I pass them over to their ignorance and their master; but Christ is merciful to little ones, whatever may be the ignorance, delusion, and perverseness of unhappy parents, destitute of natural affection. Are not children of the church God's children?-were they not his, and devoted to him, in all the forms of visible institu-

tion in the visible church, from Adam to Abraham, from Abraham to Moses, and from Moses to Christ, and of such has not Christ declared the kingdom of heaven to consist? God forbid that true and rational christians should prohibit their infant feed from the precious ordinance, initiating them into the church, and placing them under the bleffings of the covenant of mercy. Mistaken, misinformed and desuded parents. despise the ordinance of baptism, some neglect it altogether, and some have contracted it into the narrow limits of adults. But can any make void the mercy and grace of God? Ignorant, weak and unnatural parents cannot. The covenant of grace rests upon a firmer foundation, than the feeble opinions This I purpose to demonstrate with the leave of of men. divine providence, in some future discourse, that those who deny baptism altogether, and those who deny it to infants, are grossly criminal before God, have departed from the truth, and must fall under the displeasure of heaven. It is an infinite mercy, that tho' they may deprive their children of covenant bleffings in the vifible church, and wickedly screen themfelves from many gospel duties, yet I have always considered the former as more confiftent than the latter. This is a deviation which I must relinquish, and refer to future attention.

Thirdly, another thing implied in sober mindedness is caution, circumspection, and prudence. How arduous the task to reduce youth to these virtues? The word sober minded, is sometimes rendered discreet as in the verse preceding our text. This I apprehend would be a leading step to true religion, and perhaps it is a constituent of its nature. Nothing can form us to wisdom and discretion equal to religion. This is one of the highest evidences which can be afforded of real pietry. Thus says St. Paul, "Walk circumspectly, not as sools, but "as wise redeeming the time." The resolution of the Psalmist was, "I will behave myself wisely in a persect way." To this Solomon often exhorts; "My son, be wise, therefore get wissoon, get understanding?" Those who are young and

about entering upon the tumultuous ocean of this world, the best advice can be given you, is to take wisdom for your counfellor, and true religion for your monitor. These will be as a pillar of cloud to screen you by day, and as a pillar of light to direct your paths through this dark and dreary wilderness.

Fourthly, humility is another effential ingredient of a fober mind. Therefore St. Peter exhorts youth, "To be cloathed "with humility." Perhaps more young people are ruined by pride than by any other fin. Let not the beautiful glory in his beauty, nor the ingenious in his wit, "But if any man "will glory, let him glory in the Lord." Our Savicur's direction is, "Learn of me, for I am meek and lowly of "heart."

Fifthly, purity and chastity are involved in and must not be neglected in the explanation of a sober mind. Remember our apostle declares, "Fornication, uncleanness, and lasci"viousness, youthful lusts." Abstain from every appearance of these things, and "Even from the garment spotted by the select." Hear the warning voice of Solomon, "Come not near her house, whose feet go down to death, and her steps take hold on hell, least thou mourn at last, when thy stell and thy body are consumed."

Sixthly, sober mindedness implies steadiness and composure in opposition to an airy, fickle and giddy temper. "My heart is fixed, faith the Psalmist, trusting in the Lord." Establish your hearts therefore, and be not as Reuben, unstable as "water, for such will never excel." Halt not between opinions, but come to a conclusion, to be for God or the enemy. Chuse you this day whom you will serve, the Saviour or Destroyer of your souls. I must not omit, to observe,

Seventhly, that gravity, fincerity, feriousness, and an orderly conduct are involved in a sober mind. He who is serious in

Ris manners, grave in his deportment, and upright and sinceres in his dealings, is not only usually stiled a sober, but a good man. Think not, O youth, I would persuade you to assume a dark countenance, a down cast look, and a gloomy phiz. Of all people in the world, these are the most dangerous; if they raise the sullen brow to a smile, injury follows after. And remember religion is a sweet, pleasant and cheerful thing. It spreads pleasure over the sace, and renders the conduct easy and accessable. In it is the command of heaven, "That we serve God with joysuhness and gladness of heart, in the abundance of all things." Pleasure enters into the essence of religion, yet there is a wide difference between a religious cheerfulness and a vain frothlness.

But having thus explained the nature of sobermindedness, I proceed,

Secondly, to lay before the younger part of my audience, afew of the innumerable motives, which should induce them to become soberminded. The topics, from which sobermindedness might be urged upon you, are many indeed. But I have so far enlarged on the former head, that brevity here is expe dient. You will all, my dear youth, acknowledge, that you are sinners and guilty before God. You are all by nature children of difobedience and children of wrath, and the scriptures have concluded you all under fin. An awful fentence of death is passed upon you. Yet blessed be the most high, there is a way of mercy and grace revealed in the Gospel, whereby you may be recovered from the ruin of your fall, restored to the favour of God, and made everlashingly happy. You are therefore called upon to repent and believe the gospel. ken to the voice of divine persuasion and tender compassion. Turn unto the Lord with all your heart, and become fober minded. In this way you will be comfortable in life, have lope in death, and be happy forever. You are here in this

fife in a state of probation, and if you sincerely engage in religion, heaven will be your portion; but if you continue in fin, impenitent and unconverted, after taking a few turns of levity on this mortal stage, then you must fink down into the regions of interminable despair. The longer you persevere in courses of folly and iniquity, the more difficult it will be to relinquish Be intreated now in this your day, folemnly to attend to the things of your peace. God is calling upon you-minifters are calling upon you—the Holy Ghost is now moving upon the hearts of many. Refift not his motions, lest God should swear in his wrath, my spirit shall no more strive with you, neither shall you enter into my rest. Recollect for a moment, what Christ Jesus has done to accomplish your salvation. Did he not descend from the glories of heaven-forsake the adoration of angelic hosts—come down into this wretched world -veil his divinity in humanity, and shroud all his infinite excellencies in the humiliating form of a fervant? Did he not continually go about doing good-teaching guilty man the way of life-taking little ones into his arms-laying his hands upon them-bleffing them and declaring, that of fuch is the kingdom of God? Remember his poverty, cruel mockings and excruciating fufferings. Contemplate him in the garden of Gethesemene, agonizing under the awful weight of your iniquities, the pressure of which was such, that caused his blood to forsake its usual channels and fall in clotted drops to the ground. Behold him betrayed by one of his desciples, in the basest and most deceitful treachery, with the tender and warmest signal of friendship. Follow him to the pretorium and to the high priests hall; see him arraigned before Pilate's unequal bar; barbaroufly accused, and unjustly and inhumanly condemned -view him stripped of his own raiment, dressed in the mock robes of royalty, instead of a sceptre, a reed is put into his hand, and instead of a golden, a thorny crown is fixed on his head, and here he is most contemptuously ridiculed in all his offices, he is smitten, tantalised, and when malice had exhausthe is spit upon. Behold him dragged from this horror of contempt, hurried out of the city, away to Golgotha, there nailed to the cross, the delicate and nervous parts of the body, the hands and feet pierced through by the rugged steel, sufpended in this tremendous plight between heaven and earth, fortisk in by his God, and all hell let loose upon him. He is here ttill scornfully mocked, his side pierced with a spear. While the sun is hiding his face from the scene, all nature in convulsion under the soot of the cross, he is praying for his murderers, expiring and shedding his blood for the atomement of their sins.

All this, and infinitely more than can be described, did the fon of God, my dear young friends, undergo and fuffer for you. Are you able now to withstand this mighty collection of motives, still proceed on in fin, in impenitence, and unbelief; despise like the barbarous Jews, the blood of salvation; trample it under foot, and make the desperate plunge into damnation? Stop, my children, halt, pause, consider for a moment. Heaven is closing, hell is opening before you; be entreated and befought by all the blood of God, shed on Calvary's hill. that you lay your ways to heart, cease from evil and immediately become fober minded. Others are bathing in this blood and drinking in the streams of life eternal, and why should not you? This is the last particular address, you will ever probably hear from my aged lips. And I shall close it all in the words of Abraham's servant to the house of Laban; "If " you will deal kindly and truly with my master tell me, if " not, tell me, that I may turn to the right hand, or to the "left." O! children, turn unto the Lord, and become foberminded.

SERMON XI.

The Glory of God the Chief End of Man.

I Cor. z. 31. Whether therefore ye eat or drink, or subatforver ye do, do all to the glory of God.

THESE words contain a general resolution of all cases of conscience and difficulties that had arisen in the Corinthian Church respecting the eating of meats, which had been offered It was the common practice of the heathen, first tooffer meat in their pagan worship on the alters of their gods, and afterwards sell it in the public markets. As this was an usual practice in the city of Corinth, it created no small perplexity among the christians. Wherefore the Apostle enters fully into this subject, and states the duty of every class of christians, the weak and the strong, those who thought they might eat these meats, and those who were of a different opinion. And here he fums up the whole matter in this general maxim or rule in our text. This was defigned not merely for the direction of this church in a particular instance, but for the government of all christians throughout all generations in the general and habitual conduct of their lives. A principle

of supreme respect to the glory of God must reign in the hears, and preside over the whole tenor of their practice. The mere lawfulness of an action is not always to be considered, but the expediency of it likewise must be taken into view. There are some things which are duty without hesitation, but there are many things in which time, place, and a variety of circumstances must be attended to, in order to our determining, whether the performance of them be for the honor of God.

This rule is laid down by St. Paul as the standard of all our actions. The lowest and most common, as well as the highest and most important. There are no branches of conduct exempted from this authority. A neglect of or a difrespect to this rule, is as real rebellion against the principles of reason, as those of revelation.

This maxim plainly supposes, that the glory of God, ought to be so much the ground of human actions, that none can be morally good or virtuous, which originate not from this source. Where the heart is destitute of this principle and not governed by it, all must be wrong, vicious, and sinful. The chief end of man is to glorify God, and the infallable connection is the enjoyment of him forever.

The doctrine in our text is evidently this, that all our actions ought to be done to the glory of God.—This does not suppose we are always to have this object in view, or immediately contemplate it previous to the performance of every action. This would be an impossible supposition. We know not that angels or the spirits of just men made perfect, or that even the man Christ Jesus, called upon this principle to lead him in the performance of every action. It is enough for us sinful and very imperfect creatures to know, that the glory of God, ought to be our habitual and prevalent end, though not continually exercised and brought into view. If this be the habit of the soul, the frame of the heart, and maintain a prevalency in the con-

wersation, it surely connects the soul with salvation, notwithflanding all the deviations, relaxations, departures, negligeneies, and the whole train of infirmities which are our constant attendants.

When it is here affirmed that whatsoever we do ought to have a respect to the glory of God, the meaning does not exclude a proper and rational regard to ourselves. We ought to love ourselves, for this is the constituted standard of love to our neighbor. We affirm without hesitation that persons ought to regard themselves, their own interest, and the happiness of their families and near and dear connections, only let reason and religion six every thing in its proper place and order.

This apostolic maxim does not mean to exclude, a just ref. pect to the future recompence of reward. If we regard the glory of God and our own future existence, all these things are admitted to their proper fituation, both by reason and revelation. The great features of beauty confist in light and shade, and exhibited in proper time and place. That persons own interest should influence them in matters natural, civil, moral and religious, cannot be denied by any person in the exercise of reason, who believes in divine revelation. The passions of hope and fear are continually brought before us to influence our actions, both in the natural and Christian system. great question is, whether self interest, or the love of God. ought to hold the supreme influence in our conduct. Nature, even corrupted nature, admitting a glimpse of the light of reason over the darkness, points the latter to be the directorial feat. Were this order to be reversed, and the reins surrender. ed to felf-interest, separate and independant, this would be giving the chariot of the fun, of all restitude and propriety, to the filly, proud and ambitious boy Phaeton, and throwing the whole world into a blaze. If the leading respect, and the first principles of duty, are perverted from God, nothing but confu-

[127]

fion, disorder and unhappiness can follow. If any circumstances could alter this supreme right, it might be altogether abolished; a right which may be impaired, may also be extinguished; and this would reduce heaven to earth; and in this situation all would be hell.

The bleffed principle in our text places all things in their proper order, God as supreme, and all intelligent creatures in their respective stations, commanding and dissusing happiness to the utmost extension of creation. The actions of common, eivil, and religious life, must all originate from this principle. These give life its value in a spiritual and moral view, and raise the meannest actions, even a cup of cold water, to an eternal reward. If any inferior principle leads our conduct, and habitually directs our actions, whether self-interest, self-love, or whatever else, our actions however splendid and showy before the world, there is no virtue and goodness in them before God. They are mere tinsel and appearance, and have no reality in them.

There are three things which form actions for the glory of God. First, they must be lawful; secondly, expedient and proper in time and place; thirdly, they must be impregnated with a supreme respect to the honor of God in their persormance. If actions be unlawful no goodness of intention can make them virtuous; if the motives be sinister, no perfection of external materiality, can give them value; all must be tinctured with an habitual and predominant respect to God, or be an abomination in the divine sight.

These things being observed in illustration of the principle in the text, I proceed to offer some things farther in confirmation and establishment of its truth.

First, this doctrine is confirmed by all those passages of R

ferioture, which declare that christians ought not to live themselves. Their own individual interest and personal advantage, ought not to be their chief end in life, and the ultimate view in their actions. An aphorism of the gospel is "that believers should not live to themselves. None of us. " faith St. Paul, liveth to himself, and no man dieth to himself; of for whether we live, we live unto the Lord; and whether " we die, we die unto the Lord; whether we live therefore er " die, we are the Lord's." All know that to live to ourselves is to act under the influence of a principle to please and serve ourselves, or our own corrupt propensities and inclinations. to promote our own separate interest and happiness, aside from the honor of God. Whether our own individual happiness be present or future, in exclusion of a supreme respect to God. the issue will be the same. If we are not to live, and eat and drink for ourselves, it must be for the glory of God. No other idea can enter into the heart of man, of living to God, but living with a view to glorify him.

Secondly, the doctrine of the text is illustrated and established by all those scriptures which state it the duty of man to intend the glory of God as the highest end of all his actions. "If any man speak, let him speak as the oracles of God; if any man minister, let him do it as of the ability which God giveth, that God in all things may be glorisied, thro' Jess "Christ, to whom be praise and dominion forever and even." This shows us that the ultimate end of all our actions, ought to be the great Supreme.

Another thing of equal import is afferted with regard to Christians; "Ye are not your own, for ye are bought with a "price, therefore glorify God in your body and in your spirit, "which are God's." Remark here, christians are not their own, but God's, his right and property, not merely by creation but by redemption and sanctification. The inference is, we

me not our own; no member or faculty is to be disposed of according to our carnal pleasure, but all we have and area must be confecrated to God. They are his under every view, and ought to be devoted to his glory in all respects:

Thirdly, this doctrine is evinced from all those scriptures which show that God ought to be loved above all creaturest The true reason of love is the excellency and amiableness of any object; and it ought to be ever proportioned to the meafure of worthiness. Agreeable to this idea, the scriptures teach us to love God with all our hearts, and our neighbor as ourselves. We are to love God to the utmost of our capacity. because he is infinitely amiable; but this is not due to ourselves nor to any other creature. To love ourselves more than Godis the fource of all evil; but to love God supremely is the foundation of all virtue and goodness. In this consists not only religion but happiness. All real happiness is acquired in subserviency to the love, glory and majesty of God. It would be easy to shew in a demonstrative manner, how the denial of supreme love to God tends to the ruin of the divine character, and the subversion of his throne. For God to relinguish this requisition, would be to relinquish his honor and the glory of his name.

Fourthly, this doctrine is manifested from the example of Pesus Christ as Mediator. It was his meat and drink to do the will of his heavenly Father. He glorisied him upon earth. The conduct of all the glorisied faints in heaven, the testimony of all true saints in this world, year, the holy angels, cherubim and seraphim, unite in the affirmation of this gloctrine. Thus speaks St. John, "Every creature which is in heaven and on the earth, and under the earth, and such as are in the sea, and all that are in them, heard I saying, blessing and honor and glory and power be unto him that sitteth upon the throne, and unto the lamb forever and every."

[130]

This doctrine is readily granted, but the inference from, and the improvement of it, is of the greatest importance.

First, it appears from this subject, that those actions in which the chief governing respect of the heart is only to ourselves, our own interest and exclusive happiness, can have no true virtue or real goodness in them. To suppose a subordinate respect to God, and a supreme respect to ourselves, is a subversion of the very nature and order of things. This can imply no love to-God at all, no regard for his glory, but is an expression of the. highest instance of pride and contempt. Therefore, where a respect to God in any actions is not the habitual and governing. principle, there can be no moral goodness in them, and they ean profit nothing. If God's glory must be the chief end of all our actions, and if the value of actions arise from respect hereto, then all those destitute of this respect contain no virtue. There can be no virtue in actions where the effence and life of virtue is absent. A supreme respect to God is the essential nature of virtue; wherefore, all actions destitute of this, are not merely destitute of virtue, but they are wicked and finful, being not fuch as God requires.

Secondly, it appears, there is no true goodness or holiness in the performances, prayers and duties of unconverted sinners. Whatever difference there may be between them in other circumstances, there is none in this. The performance of one is as really destitute of virtue as another. The reason is, there is no respect of heart to the glory of God. Tho' our prayers may be as pompous and showy as the Pharisees, all will be nothing without divine love. Therefore there can be nothing in a sinner's duties by which he can make himself better, or render himself more meet for the divine mercy. Hence you will always hear sinners crying, "O! if I was not so wicked, I might hope for favor, but I am so heinous a transgressor, grace can never be extended to me." And thus they are

continually worrying to make themselves better, and fit themselves for the reception of Christ. But be assured, O sinners. you will never be better by all your wailings, tears and cries, till you go to Jesus poor and miserable, wretched and naked as you are, until you become washed and cleansed by his blood. Wait not for delusive impossibilities: stand not in the vain expectation of making yourselves better by your faltings, prayers and mortifications, but instantly in all your corruptions lay hold on an offered saviour; flee from Sodom to Zoar-tarry not on the fulphurious plain-escape to the mountain-look not behind you. Christ never says, make yourselves better. and then come; but his language uniformly is, "Come unto me and I will give you rest. Ho, every one that thirsteth. come ye to the waters; and he that hath no money, come of ye, buy and eat; yea, come, buy wine and milk without mo. " ney and without price."

Thirdly, we here learn that all acceptable duties in their very nature, involve in them true respect and a sincere love to God. Make the tree good and the fruit will be good. Our prayers, in our appearance, posture and words, suppose a respect to God. You would think it strange to see a person set about to pray, and worship the God of Israel, and at the same time declare he did not intend to show him any respect, or holy reverence. Such a declaration would even shock the depravity of man. Hence all prayers, public homage and religious performances, proceed upon the supposition of a respect and love to God. And where this is not their foundation they cannot meet with acceptance. "Whatsoever therefore ye do, whether ye eat or drink, do all to the glory of God."

"Fourthly, it appears from this doctrine, that as there is no virtue in the doings of the wicked and impenitent, there can be no promises of grace and salvation made to performances originating from an heart sull of enmity and infincerity. The

very shoposition of special grace, and faving favours, connected with fuch exercises, implies not only an absurdity, but something very unfavourable to the divine character. It feems toimply that God has no pegard to fincerity and real goodness. more than to finful and wicked defires: that he is as well fatisfied with the show of piety-as its reality: yea, that he standsas ready to reward the former with grace and salvation as the latter. Can it be credible to any person who has even tolerable meculative notions of the divine perfections, of the evil of fin or the desperate wickedness of the human heart? Would not fush promises demolish the distinction between virtue and vice, between right and wrong? Can God approve of fin aswell as holiness, and set as high a value upon inimical passions, as friendly affections. Hence let this gospel truth be held up firongly to the view of faints and finners: the former have an experimental knowledge of it while the latter doubt. " It is "not of him that willeth, nor of him that runneth, but of God "who sheweth mercy."

Fifthly, we are from this doctrine instructed in the best of all sciences, the nature of true religion. It confists in a genuine respect to the interest and glory of God. This is the soul and spirit of all picty. In the absence of this, all appearances of religion are like the deaf shell, fair outwardly but emptiness Without charity or divine love all is nothing. God's fake, for the fake of our immortal fouls, let us not deceive ourselves—the judge is at the door, and our destiny will be instantly decided. God will not be mocked, and imposition cannot enter into his prefence, therefore wander no longer in the fascinating wilds of deception. He will never accept seeming virtue for real. He is a jealous God and his name is jealous, and he will fuffer none to be preferred before him. we prefer ourselves or any other creature, he will furely right himself upon us in due time; he will manifest that his glory shall not be given to another. Consider this, all ye that forget

T 133 J

God, left he tear you to pieces and shere be none to deligar.

Sixthly, persons may here learn in a general measure to estimate the degree of piety and religion there is in their habitual course of life. These are exactly as the degrees of respect they bear to the glory of God. The more regard there is in our conduct to the honor of the Most High, there is the more religion. If there be little love to God, there is little religion in the foul, however numerous, pompous and expensive the external exhibitions of it may be. By this rule of estimation, alas, how little religion is even in the best; and in what multitudes, none at all? They eat and drink, and live entirely for themselves, as if they were independently their own, and none was Lord over them. Let us, therefore, my hearers, look into the leading views and motives of our lives. Some perhaps may obtain the greatest bleffing which at present can be bestowed, to wit, a full conviction that we have no religion, that we are dead in trespasses and sins. And others, in whom there is Some good thing towards the Lord, may be humbled for their declensions, and aroused from their slumbers, to a closer walk How many have reason to lament the loss of their first love. "Wherefore let us remember from whence we have " fallen, and do our first works, lest Jesus Christ should come " quickly, and remove his candlestick out of his place." Sleep not as do others, but watch and be fober. See that you live not to yourselves, but to the Lord who hath redeemed you.

Those who know in their own consciences that you are destitute of all love and respect to the glory of God, surely it is high time for you to consider your ways. If you have been all your days enemies to God and neglecters of the Lord Jesus Christ, now after so long a time, "Hear the voice of the Lord, and "repent lest you all likewise perish; repent and believe the gospel; repent and be converted that your sins may be blotted out." Consider if you give not glory to God, his jealousy and vengeance will smoke against you

[134.]

another day; but if you turn unto him with your whole hearts, your fouls shall live. "Turn ye, turn ye, for why will "you die." Let our text be engraven on the palms of your hands, that it may be continually before you. "Whether, "therefore, ye eat or drink, or whatsoever ye do, do all to the "glory of God."

SERMON XIL

Self-examination a necessary preparative to the Holy Communion.

1 Cor. zi. 28. But let a man examine himfelf, and fo let him eat of that bread and drink of that cup.

WE shall not now attend merely to the words of our text, but with them take a brief view of the institution of the Lord's supper in general. From the seventeenth to the twenty-third verse of this chapter, the blessed Apostle had been sharply reproving these Corinthian christians for their irregularities, indecencies, and wicked conduct at the facred table. Their abominable practice was such, as not only brought reproach upon christianity, and disgrace upon themselves, but subverted the very design of this divine institution. They waited not one for another, they sat not down together with an holy reverence, like Christ and his disciples, but they rushed to the place where the ordinance was to be celebrated, in a strange, disorderly manner. Surely they could have very little appearance of a religious assembly, when every one as

he came, took, eat and drank to excess. "When ye come " together therefore into one place, this is not to eat the "Lord's fupper; for in eating every one taketh before anois ther his own supper, and one is hungry and another is "drunken." God has left the awful miscarriages of this church upon record, not for our smitation, but for our warning and caution. This is the reason St. Paul administers Such severe rebukes. "What, have you not houses to eat and "drink in? or despise ye the church of God? What shall I say of to you? shall I praise you in this? I praise you not." Hence he declares to them, that for this cause, the judgments of Heaven had fallen upon them. " For this cause, many " are weak and fiskly among you, and many fleep." Thus they came together, "not for the better, but for the worfe." The ordinance as managed by them, was so far from being honored, or improved for their edification and spiritual benefit. that it was difgraced and they themselves suffered the greatest injury, and were exposed to the just condemnation of God. This shows us that duties not performed in a manner agreeable to the will of Heaven, are not considered as duties at all, neither can they meet with the divine approbation. The Apostle declares that these people, whatever they might pro-" fess did not eat the Lord's supper." Many a prayer has been faid, when the persons did not pray; many a sacrament received, and yet not duly celebrated. God requires not merely a respect to the matter, but likewise to the manner of performing duty in order to his acceptance. A fincere heart and well informed mind will be attentive to, and very careful on this head.

The apostle after testifying against the dreadful misconduct of these Christians, refers them to the original institution of it by Christ. He acquaints them with the nature of the ordinance in all its parts. He states before them the author of it, the time when it was instituted, the prayers to accompany it,

the facramental symbols and actions, the temper of the heart, the views of the mind, and every thing appertaining to the right and worthy celebration of the same. Next he proceeds to represent to them the sin and danger of an unbecoming and dishonorable participation of it. This he does in the preceding and subsequent verses to our text. In the one he says, "Whofoever shall eat the bread of the Lord unworthily, shall be
guilty of the body and blood of the Lord." And in the other, "He that eateth and drinketh unworthily, eateth and drinketh damnation to himself; not discerning the Lord's body." A very concise explication of these words is all we can attend to at present. The principal things contained herein are, what is meant by the terms unworthily, and worthily; what to be guilty of the blood of the Lord? what is that damnation, that unworthy partakers eat and drink to themselves?

First, in regard to the word unworthly: All are unworthy in a certain sense. All are unworthy of the favour and the grace of God; unworthy of the least of all his mercies. There is no merit in any sinner, fanctified of unsanctified. The original signifies an unmeetness, unstantified, unsanctified. To eat and drink unworthly is to attend upon the ordinance in an unprepared and unsuitable manner; in such a temper and under the instruce of such habits and practices as are altogether unbecoming the nature, use and end of the institution. Both coming unsity, and staying away, are heinous and condemning sins; but the Apostle seems to intimate that the former is the most base and aggravated.

The word worthy fignifies an attendance upon this facrament in a way of preparedness and meetness according to the gospel. Persons are worthy receivers in the fight of God, when they come prepared, having some proper measure of christian knowledge, suitable frames of mind, meet desires, and a due sense of their need of the soul purifying blood,

and the justifying righteoniness of Christ. A christian may be a worthy receiver who approaches the facred table reverence, humility and devotion, under a feeling fense of his finfulness and great unworthiness, tho' he has many scruples fears and doubts respecting his state. Assurance of grace however defirable is not necessary to a worthy and acceptable per-Even a degreee of backwardness. formance of this duty. dullness and deadness in the service, if these things be involuntary and lamented, do not render us unworthy receivers. One defign of the ordinance is to strengthen the weak, encourage the fearful, diffipate our glooms and doubts, and increase our hopes. Wherefore all who have been faithful in felf-examina zion, humbling themselves for their sins, casting their souls upon a crucified Redeemer, and endeavoring after a due preparation of heart, although they still find much corruption and perplexity of spirit, yet they ought to come; the weak in faith we must receive.

Secondly, we are to enquire what is intended by being guilty of the body and blood of the Lord. Unworthy partakers implicitly approve of the conduct of the Jews in crucifyin g the Saviour of the world. It is impleitly despising and rejecting his atonement, mediation and righteousness. It is like stabbing the master at his own feast. And unless deep repentance take place, damnation will be the consequence. Many who killed the prince of life, denied and delivered him up in the presence of Pilate, were brought to evangelical repentance by the preaching of Peter at the gate of the temple called Beautiful If the fins of those who actually imbrued their hands in his blood were pardoned, then furely unworthy partakers, however gross and wicked their participation may be, tho' they should so far dishonor the ordinance as to drink common healths at the table, which has been done in modern times, yet even these wretches of profanity, upon their repentance, may obtain forgivenels. Unworthy partaking is far distant from the unpardonable fin against the Holy Ghost. If it were an unpardonable sin, woe to the most of professors. Who has not participated in an unprepared and unworthy manner? God is judge, and we are before him. But,

Thirdly, unworthy partakers are declared to eat and drink damnation to themselves. This is a tremendous sentence, yet fome modern preachers in the complete intoxication of ignorant zeal, have declared to their hearers, " At this table ye eat "and drink your falvation or damnation" Such ebullitions. however terrifying, from the pulpit or press, are perfectly abfurd, for they are unfounded and untrue in every part. Perfons may come to the facrament and eat and drink there, and this will ensure not their falvation, and they may do the same without the entailment of damnation. The word, which is translated by the terrific term damnation, fignifies nothing more than that disapprobation of heaven, judgment and condemnation, demeritted by every fin. How our excellent trans. lators were fo unhappy in the selection of this phrase, in this place, which has distressed and given anguish to many a sincere heart, I pretend not to fay; but the whole current of paraphrasts, expositors, commentators, and critics have given a different construction of this word. It is a term often used in the New Testament, and never employed for any other purpose than to express the disapprobation of God against sin, and its connection with condemnation. All fin creates a connection with divine wrath, which can only be dissolved by repentance and faith; but the fin of unworthily partaking is not more unpardonable than any other. This must be repented of as well as all others, or we must furely perish. Every sin exposes to damnation as well as this, but it does not follow because we have been unworthy partakers, that we shall be unavoidably damned, as some have ignorantly imagined; for this sin admits of repentance as well as any other. Otherwise these Corinthian christians must have all been assuredly damned, which is

abundantly represented as contrary to sail. It is true, if we have been unworthy partakers without repentance we must perish; but all sinners unless they repent shall be miserable, wherefore there is no help in this case, either by staying away or coming improperly; all must suffer condemnation as out of Christ, therefore we are reduced or shut up to the faith and obedience of the Gospel, or to be ruined forever. The sin of these Corinthians did not consist in their coming to the sacrament, but in their coming in that indecent and abominable manner in which I think no other christians ever did. Hence the apostle commands them to "tarry one for another, that they come not "together for condemnation." Wherefore let unworthy communicants be warned, and neglecters of the sacrament be alarmed, that you must all equally perish without repentance, reformation, and a devout and religious performance of every duty.

But it is more than time I should leave these transitory remarks, and lead your attention to the words of our text. "But "let a man examine himself, and so let him come and eat of that bread and drink of that cup."

A few observations upon this subject are all that time will now allow.

First observe, the commandment here, "so let him come," cannot suppose upon examination whether he is meet for the ordinance or not he ought to approach the sacred board; for if upon research and consideration he sands himself to be ignorant, scandalous, impenitent and impure, and resolved so to continue, common sense teaches, he ought not to come. But upon examination to know his own heart and his meetness for the holy communion, he finds certain exercises, breathings, desires and dispositions, answerable to the design of the institution, he ought to come. If amidst all his fears, troubles and missions of heart, he feels himself sincerely wishing a deliverance from sin, longing to be made holy, willing to accept of Christ

es his Saviour, desirous to renounce himself and his own righteousness, and to rest upon the mere mercy of God as revealed in the Gospel, resolving to deny every carnal last, to strive against every unruly passion, and to walk with God in duty; then he ought to draw near to the sacred board and partake of the symbols of his Lord's sufferings.

Secondly, the word examine, fignifies to try or prove, and this is his own personal duty. It is not enough that he is examined by the minister or representatives of the church however they may approve of him or not; this is an injunction incumbent upon each individual. This is not a service to be performed once in a person's life, but it is ordained as a flanding preparative to the facrament. It is true there may be more or less time for this performance according to a variety of providential incidents, yet it ought ever to be remembered as a preparative duty. Let a man examine himself as to the disposition of his heart, the prevailing tenor of his life, his thoughts, words, and actions; his faith, love and repentance; mourn over and confess to God what is amis, and solemnly purpose a better and more circumspect conduct in future, and " so let him eat "of this bread and drink of this cup." Let him pass thro one duty to another that Christ may be obeyed and his own fairitual interest promoted.

Thirdly observe, self-examination is a common duty, somewhat like prayer, incumbent upon christians at all times. Examine yourselves whether you be in the faith, prove your wown selves. Let us search and try our ways. I commune with mine own heart said Asaph, and my spirit made diligent search." But it is here constituted and made a special duty previous to our attendance upon the Lord's supper. Can any thristian approach the table without previous prayer; so neither let him do it without self- examination, less the be found disobedient to God, and it prove to him as a barren ordinance.

Fourthly observe, the most important part of this duty, to wit, the manner in which it should be performed. It is not a matter fuddenly to be ruthed into, without ferious thought er consideration, nor hastily passed over as of little moment. Choose a proper place of retirement, and time for the purpose, and enter not upon it, as is the case with too many, with pre-Engage in it possessions and preconclusions in your favour. with some proper understanding of the scriptures, and a determination they shall be the standard of the trial. Confider well the operations of your own minds, and how you have felt your hearts inclined to good or evil; whether you have yielded to Let your souls be awakened temptations or relisted them. and aroused to all attention in the investigation of yourselves, Be impartial and honest as far as your tempers and lives. possible in the search, Accompany all your reslections with folemn and fervent prayer. Strive with your reluctant hearts and compel them to the work. Keep them from wandering and trifling, and especially guard against deceit. " Keep thy * heart with all diligence for out of it are the issues of life."

A fifth observation is, that we should attend to the things about which we should examine ourselves. These are elegantly summed up in our shorter catechism in the answer to this question, "What is required to the worthy receiving of the Lord's supper? It is required that they examine themselves of their showledge to discern the Lord's body, of their faith to feed upon him, of their repentance, love and new obedimence, lest coming unworthily, they eat and drink judgment to themselves." The compend is important and the arrangement beautiful. The first matter of this examination is of our knowledge. The apostle fully suggests to us that we must have a competency hereof to discern the Lord's body. Knowledge may be considered as of two kinds, doctrinal and experimental. By the former is meant an understandig of the truths of the gospel; by the latter an acquaintance with the power of

[843]

them on the heart and conscience. This knowledge would seem should proceed thus far at least; that we should have some proper views of the perfections of God and his law; of the evil of sin and our own miserable state by nature and practice, of the extent and essicacy of the remedial provision for the salvation of sinners through the sulness of the atonement of Jesus Christ; and some just apprehensions of the nature, design, and use of this holy ordinance. The more persons have of this knowledge and experimental acquaintance with divine truth, they are likely to have the clearer discernment of the Lord's body, the intention of his sufferings and death, and the more comfort and joy in the hely communion.

Secondly, we are to enquire into our faith to feed upon We approach not the table of the Lord merely to eat a small morfel of bread or drink a little quantity of wine, but to thew forth his death, and to feed upon his body and blood, for our spiritual nourishment and growth in grace, and this only can be done by faith. Christ is often spoken of under the figure of bread, and it is necessary we should eat this bread of life, and faith is the means by which it must be done. Bread is necessary for the sustenance of our mortal bodies, so faith in Jesus Christ is of equal importance to the falvation of our immortal fouls. Without faith it is impossible that any should be saved. Hence we should sincerely enquire whether we are possessed of this grace. Have we been convinced of our fin and mifery, our inability to deliver ourselves ?- Have we fled to Jesus of Nazareth, and unfeignedly accepted him as the Lord our righteousness ?-- Have we embraced him in all his offices, and do we wait upon and trust in him alone for eternal life?

Thirdly, our repentance must be examined into. We must come to the Lord's table forrowing and mourning over our fins, confessing our iniquities, with real purposes of heart to earry on a constant war against our corruptions.

Digitized by Google

t 144 3

A fourth branch of examination respects our love; love we God, love to the Saviour, and love to our neighbour. Do we love God supremely? Is the blessed Redeemer precious to us as he is to them that believe?—and are we cultivating love to our neighbour, or loving him as ourselves?

Lastly, we should enquire into our new obedience; whether our obedience arises from new views, new principles and new motives. Do we make choice of the law of God for the rule of our life? Do we delight in it after the inward man? Are we honestly endeavouring after conformity thereto?—Thus we should examine ourselves as a duty preparative to our celebration of the supper of the Lord, lest coming unworthily we eat and drink judgment to ourselves.

But it is time that this subject should be brought to a conclusion. And this shall be done in a brief exhortation.

Let all be solemnly exhorted to the practice of this important duty of self-examination. Be not slothful and careless in a matter of such momentous consequence. Beware you attend not upon this ordinance through formality, or as custom leads the way. But engage in it in self-dedication, renewing your covenant with God, setting to it this seal, that God is true. Maintain a deep sense of your exceeding great sinfulness and unworthiness. Loath and abhor yourselves, and repent around the sacred board with a broken heart. Look on him whom you have pierced and crucified by your iniquities, and mourn in bitterness, with all that melting feeling, and sincerity, which affiless the soul of him who mourns for a first born child.

Confider the fins you have been guilty of fince the last time of communicating; the passions which have burst forth; the corruptions that have been indulged, and acknowledge them in deep contrition before God. Let us lay aside malice, envy, wrath and every base propensity and inclination, and wait on

[145]

grace, and with full purpose of soul to live in the practice of every grace, and with full purpose of soul to live in the practice of every virtue. "Purge out the old leaven, that ye may be a new lump as ye are unleavened, for Christ our passover is serificed for us. Therefore let us keep the feast not with the old leaven, neither with the leaven of malice and wickedness, but with the unleavened bread of sincerity and truth."

SERMON XIII.

Remembering Christ at his Table.

Luke xxii. 19. This do in Remembrance of me.

TO love, receive and trust in the precious Redeemer of the world, to commit our fouls to his holy keeping, and rest folely on his atoning merits for eternal life, is the absolute duty of all the children of men, to whom the revelation of his name is made known. All who enjoy the light of the gospel, ought to have his character engraven upon their hearts in everlasting remembrance. And the happy individuals who have felt the power of his grace and tasted his loving kindness, is it possible they should ever forget him? Alas! they forget and neglect him often. But wonder, O Heaven! and be astonished, O Earth ! he never either forgets or neglects you. However careless, O! christians, you may be at seasons with respect to the bleffed Saviour, the Shepherd of Hrael, who never flumbers nor fleeps, ceases not for a moment his watch over you. "Thus faith the Lord, the Redeemer of Isrzel, - Can a woii man forget her sucking child, that she should not have comhe paffron on the fon of her womb; yea, they may forget, yet

" will I got-forget thee. Behold I have graven thee upon the a palms of my hands; thy walls are continually before me." Hearken, O! believers, to the declarations of him, who was crucified and shed his blood for you. " You shall feed in the " ways, and your pastures shall be in the high places. " shall not hunger nor thirst, neither shall the heat, nor the " fun fmite you: for he that hath mercy on you shall lead you; " even by the fprings of water shall he guide you." Does the bleffed Jesus, thus remember his dear people, and are they unmindful of him? How should this awaken all their sensibilities. and banish their stupid inconsideration, and cause floods of tears to gush from their repenting eyes? But for the support of poor, feeble and forgetful believers, hearken to this fweet declaration of your all sufficient intercessor. "Like as a father " pitieth his children, so the Lord pitieth them that fear him, " for he knoweth our frame; he remembereth that we are "dust." His remembrances in his life and death, and when his faving blood was flowing from every vein, are too numerous for a present recital, the whole of which is compressed in the ordinance we are now about to celebrate. This was his last Supper on earth, and an illustrious instance of his infinite and dying love for his church. This he left as a last public gift, and a diffinguishing memorial of himself, by which in symbolical representations, he is to be exhibited in all that he did and fuffered for apostate man, until the consumption of all things. Christ intended this institution for the support, encouragement and comfort of his Church, to quicken them in duty, to refresh them in their journey thro' the wilderness to be a pillar of thade by day, of light by night, to be bread in the wilderness, and water from the rock. Hence the great commandment in this ordinance is, "This do in remembrance "of me." How sweet the precept; how endearing the recollection of all his humiliation and sufferings, to accomplish the falvation of men and their restoration to the peace, savour and enjoyment of God. The enjoyment of God, how great the

iden? a happiness, higher than heaven, broader than the earth, and more extensive than the sea. And this, O rememberer of Christ, and more than this, will be the portion of thy soul forever.

There is an awful refidue in the converted foul of proneness to a forgetfulness of Jesus; to alleviate and check this disease was one thing designed in this sacredinstitution. Our Lord, who knew all things, knew how apt the hearts of his people would be to forget him amidst the throng of their corruptions and the croud of sensible objects; their pleasures and worldly business; therefore he appointed and left this memorial of himsself.— Men do not usually neglect the remembrances, the mortal rings and dying signatures of their departed relatives and friends. Christ has here left his church a token of his friendship and a dying memorial of all he did for the recovery of the spiritual life they had lost, and their restoration to the favour of God and forseited selicity.

It would be impossible to enter into the nature, designs, uses, benefits and purposes of this holy ordinance in a single discourse; therefore all that will claim your attention at present shall be only a few meditations on the duty enjoined, and the manner of performing it, agreeable to the commandment in our rext, "This do in remembrance of me."

First, with regard to the obligations of the duty itself, these can be scrupled by none, who give any credit to the authority and power invested in our Lord. It was not intended as a temporary ordinance, such as washing of seet, and some other things performed by our Saviour, but never afterwards practiced by his apostles; but it was ordained to be of standing use in the Church throughout all generations. Hence it was a duty observed by the apostolic and all succeeding churches down to the present day. I grant there have been some in all ages and many in the present day, who have and do consider it as a

temporary inflitution which was adopted for the introduction of christianity, but not to be of perpetual order. To retail their various opinions, and their neglect of his ordinance, and their strange spiritual constructions concerning it might exhibit some reading, but surely could not promote your comfort or ediscation.

An attendance upon this facrament is plainly binding upon all christians; it was commanded by our Lord, practifed by the apostles and all primitive Churches, and in the faith and under the fense and affurance of these obligations we continue in all good conscience to celebrate the same. It is honoring Christ Jesus, his sufferings and death, and he assuredly gives his bleffing to all those who faithfully wait upon him herein. It is glorifying God in the recollection of his only begotten fon, whom he gave and made a facrifice for the fins of men. remember Jesus at the sacred table is complying with the will of heaven. And to obey is better than all burnt offerings. Did God remember us from eternity, did he in time fet forth his dear Son to be a propitiation for fin, did he remember his promise to Abraham and the patriarchs, did Jesus bleed and die for us, and shall we not remember the author of our salvation with hearts overflowing with love, gratitude and praise? Did the bleffed Redeemer remember us, when we lay in our own blood, and there was no eye to pity us, nor hand to help us, and can we ever cease from remembering him? Was he crucified for our transgressions; did he rife again for our justification; did he procure for us, who were dead in trespasses and fins, life, immortality and a heavenly inheritance. Did he institute this precious ordinance as a memorial of his whole mediatorial character, of all that he underwent from his leaving his Father's bosom, till his ascension to glory, and shall we he fuch ingrates as not to remember him in this pledge of his love?" If I forget thee, O Jesus, let my right hand forget her " cunning; if I do not remember thee, let my tongue cleave " to the roof of my mouth." Surely to multiply reasons for

the enforcement of a duty, where the commandments are in repeated and plain, that they can neither be evaded or denied, could answer no important purpose. Wherefore I proceed,

Secondly, to confider the manner in which this duty ought to be performed. It is a matter of infinite moment that Christ be properly remembered at his table. This ordinance can hardly be celebrated by us without some consideration of the Saviour; but to remember him in such a way as to be approved by him as worthy partakers, is not a matter of easy attainment.

Would we perform this duty in an acceptable manner, we are to engage in it with composure of mind,—with an holy reverence in our hearts,—with hungering and thirsting desires after greater measures of grace,—with exalted expectations,—in the exercise of faith,—love,—humility,—repensance, and purposes of suture obedience.

First, we are to approach this holy table in remembrance of our dear Redeemer, with composure of mind. Our hearts often prove like a deceitful bow, and our thoughts wander into a thousand impertinences. Scarcely any thing more difficult than to watch and keep the heart. Yet this we are honefully to endeavour while we are employed in this solemn duty. We should be banishing all worldly, carnal, and trifling thoughts. When any of these vanities will intrude upon our devotions, we should repel them as Nehemiah did the messengers of his enemies who where sent to divert him from the work of the Lord. "I am doing a great work, why should "the work cease, while I leave it and come down to you?" Thus let us expel all vain and improper thoughts from our souls.

Secondly, we ought to remember to attend this ordinance with an holy reverence in our hearts. We should reverence God, reverence the blessed Jesus, and maintain a due respect

£ 151 }

for the infitution itself. We should bear upon our minds, that the king is present at his own entertainment, "Who is greatly to be seared in the assemblies of his saints, and to be had in reverence of them that are about him." Let us come before him in the celebration of this sacrament, with reverence and godly fear."

Thirdly, we should attend upon this duty with hungering and thirsting defires. " The defires of our fouls must be towards " the Lord and the remembrance of his name." To have communion with God, and to defire none upon earth besides him, is a sweet and comfortable state of mind. It brings heawen as it were into this world. And a special bleffing is prononneed upon all fuch. " Bleffed are they who hunger and "thirst after righteousness for they shall be filled." desires be enlarged to-day. Let us feel such exercises as posfessed the Psalmist when he said, "I stretch forth my hands "unto the; my foul thirsteth after thee, as a thirsty land. "God, thou art my God, early will I feek thee; my foul thirst-" eth for thee; my flesh longeth for thee,—to fee thy power and "thy glory,-that my foul may be fatisfied as with marrow "and fatness." Blessed feelings, blessed spiritual breathings, and bleffed experiences. O that ours may be of a similar nature, and that all the defires of our hearts may be gratified at this fealon.

Fourthly, let us approach this ordinance with elevated and exalted expectations. That faith in the beloved which enlarges the defires also raises hopes, and matures them like Abraham's to an holy confidence. You are not led to day to summer brooks, which disappoint the weary traveller, and as it is said in Job, "Confumed out of their place." But this ordinance directs you to living sountains, which issue forth unfailing streams to everlating life.—Let each communicant say to his soul; Draw near to the table of love, thy Redeemer has instiguted the feast, and he has promised for thee, "abudently above

Saviour gives liberally and upbraids not, he gives like a king, yea, like a God, all things richly to enjoy.

However you may bow your heads at his table, let your hearts ascend to heaven and all its glories, with full and assured expectation that all these will be yours and that forever. Remember the provision in this feast is Christ, his atonement, his righteousness, and all his benefits. What can you wish, expect and hope for that will not be granted? Remember all is yours, earth is yours, life and death are yours, thirgs present and things to come are yours, heaven is yours, and to comprehend all possible blessings in one word, "God is yours." Surely you are not sit for the table of the Lord, if your souls can expect or wish for more.

Lastly, would we attend this divine institution to our comfort and edification, and in a worthy and acceptable manner, it must be performed in the exercises of faith, love, humility, repentance, and in purposes of suture obedience.

Faith is an effential grace of the christain life. We must hereby look unto Christ at all times, live upon him, deriving influence and communications from him, and depend upon him for spritual strength for the right performance of every duty, and in a particular manner to look unto him that he would enable us to keep this feast, that his death may be shown forth, his glory, and our own peace and happiness promoted. When we receive the facred elements, let our hearts rest on the strength of the Lord for assistance that we may present and consecrate ourselves to him, a living, holy and acceptable secrifice. By faith let us live, by saith let us die, by faith let us observe the holy communion, until we shall enter into the per-

The exercises of divine love are of the highest consequences bevery matter of a religious nature. Without love no religion. Without love no worthy participation of the facred tupper. Without love no union to Christ—no favour of God—no peace of conscience—no well grounded hope of eternal-glory. Did Christ love his church in such a manner, and to such a degree, as to shed his most precious blood, and expire—on the cross, on Calvary's hill, and shall not a slame of supreme love be kindled in our souls to him?—Shall we behold him exhibited in this ordinance in all the agonies and sufferings of his dying love, his body broken and his bloody poured forth, and shall not our souls, while we sit arounds his table, ascend on the wings of ardent affection to him?

Besides faith and love, we ought to draw near to this ordimance in humility, godly forrow and evangelical repeatance. The greater nearness to God, the more we are exalted in priviliges, the more we will feel our unworthine's, and the deep. er will be our abalement before him. Angels veil their faces in his presence; Abraham prostrated himself on the ground; and David sat down astonished when the Most High conferred honors upon him, and cried out, "Who am I, O Lord God, and what is mine house, that thou halt brought " me hitherto?" True repentance and a Godly forrow becomes as at this facred board. Here we should look on him whom we have pierced by our fins, and mourn as he that mourns for an only be gotten fon, and bewail ourselves in bitterness, as he who is in bitterness for a first born child. Here, tears of repentance, love, gratitude and pleasure ought freely to flow. -And all our graces and exercises ought to be accompanied with purposes and firm resolutions of future and persevering obedience. Our resolutions ought to be such as to exclude all He who puts his hand to the plough, must future revocation. not look back. The Ifraelite who has passed the red sea must never long for the fieth pets of Egypt. Our cars must be nairTest to the door posts of the temple of the Lord with full purposes of heart to be his servants forever. Let the glory of God be our chief end, his unerring word our rule, the blood of the lamb our support and consolation, the Holy Ghost our guide, counsellor and director, and this refreshing ordinance, the covenant of grace, and its promises, be unto us the bread of life and the water of life, till we shall be introduced to the selicities of the celestial state.

Various and important are the uses of instruction, reproof, comfort and direction which flow from this subject, of which k much now only hint at a few.

First, we ought to lament the awful pronencis of our hearts to neglect God and forget the blessed Saviour. This is matter of deep contrition, mourning and forrow. O that our heads were waters and our eyes a fountain of tears, that we might weep day and night over our failings, infirmities and forgetfulness.

Secondly, let our fouls bless the Lord for the wonders of his patience, forbearance and long suffering. Tho we are apt to be unmindful of him who agonized in the garden, he continually and unremittingly remembers us. Our remembrance often intermits, but his never slumbers, nor sleeps. Wherefore let our souls bless the Lord, and resolve no more to for get his benefits.

Thirdly, how acceptable to Christis the approach of his dear people to his supper, in an holy, believing, humble and affectionate remembrance of him, in all his sufferings, humblation and exaltation. He rejoices over them in an extacy of delight, saying, "I am come into my garden, my sister, my spoole; I have gathered my myrrh with my spice; I have

et eaten, my honey comb with my honey : I have dennk my wine with my milk; eat, O friends; drink, yea, doink and bundantly, O beloved."

A brief sentence of counsel shall relieve your attention at present.-Let us attend this solemn duty of our holy religion for the reasons and in the manner which has now been delineated. You will find herein, peace of conscience, joy in the Holy Ghost and an increase of grace. If you never remembered Christ in a proper manner before, let this be the day in which this bleffed work will begin. It is never too late to begin in well doing. Gather in every wandering thought; compose your souls into a spirit of devotion; let a reverential awe of a present Saviour, in all his wounds, bleeding at every pore, polless your hearts; hunger, thirst and long after great measures of holiness; raise your hopes, elevate your expectations, and with faith, love, humility, repentance of fin and purposes of new obedience, take the holy symbols and remember God your Saviour. Remember him in his life, remember his agony in the garden, remember his cruel mockings in the High Priest's hall, his tremendous scourgings when the plowers plowed upon his back and made long and deep their furrows; remember him on the crofs, when suspended between heaven and earth, and forfaken by both; his friends and disciples fortook him; his God hid his face from him; a darkness involved the world, fuch as never was before, nor fince, and the final diffolution of nature will hardly create fuch another. The fun ceased to shine, the moon had no rays, all nature was convulled; earthquakes broke up the marble tombs; the dead started into life; the veil of the temple of God rended asunder, and in this awful crises, in the last struggle of atonement for man, he cries, " My God, my God, why hast thou " forfaken me ?"

Now shall we not remember this blessed and dying Saviour?

[256]

Let the precept in the text be indeliably inferibed on every heart, let it be written on the palm of every hand. "This do in remembrance of me."

SERMON XIV.

The Evil and Danger of Profame Swearing and Curfing.

James v. 12. But above all things, my brethren, swear 201, neither by beaven, neither by the earth, neither by any other oath, but let your yea be yea, and your nay, nay, lest you fall into condomnation.

COMMON profane swearing and cursing, are sins of a base and aggravated dye. However prevalent they may be, this renders them not the less henious. It calls forth the stronger and more frequent testimony against them. Does the air of the infernal regions infect many parts of our guilty land? Where is she town or village which contains not less or more common cursers and swearers in it. Therefore the evil and danger of this vice ought to be often pointed out, and the threatenings of heaven against it repeatedly denounced. It is abundently mentioned in the holy scriptures, and marked with the utmost abhorrence and disapprobation. It is universally condemned in the Old Testament and in the new, by the prophets and apostles, and our Lordgives a most solemn charge

to his disciples and all others against this fin. His commandment is, " Swear not at all; neither by heaven, for it is God's throne; " neither by earth, for it is his foot flool; neither by Jerusa-"lem, for it is the city of the great king; neither shalt thou " fwear by thy head, because thou eanst not make one hair white or black; but let your communication be year year " nav. nay: for whatfoever is more than these cometh of evil." This ought to be perfectly sufficient to correct and regulate all the language of christians. If any addition could be wanted to enforce the counsel, there is the third precept of the decalogue which was early given; but we need not to revert back so far for a condemnation of this vice; common sense, and the propriety of language, and every form of delicacy, and decency, stamp reprobation upon it. Whether it arises from fashion, education, or any other source, to hear cursing and swearing dropping from a ladies lips, to be entertained with the interpolations of profane expletives and exclamations, and to see the devil bolting from their mouths, can there be a greater contrast of heauty and deformity in nature? Behold moral ugliness starting thro, blurring and marring every amiable feature. Can the pencils of the greatest limners produce a more odious picture than a lady that swears. The temptations to this vice are infinitely less than others which would blast her, -reputation forever.

Let all whether male of semale, old or young, bond or free, who have indulged themselves in this abominable license of the tongue, be entreated to attend to the absurdity and irrationality of this sin, its contradiction of the injunctions of heaven, the great dishonor it is to God, disgrace to the christian religion, its tendency to premote the cause of insidelity, and the certain destruction, if the deepest repentance and the most thorough reformation intervene not, of the immortal soul, which worlds cannot ransom. I beg your attention to the worlds of inspiration delivered by the apostle of classican mass.

radity.

But, above all things, my brethren, swear not, neither by heaven, neither by the earth, neither by any other
coath, but let your yea be yea, and your nay nay, lest you
fall into condemnation.

The people to whom the apostle addressed himself were Tews and his brethren according to the flesh. Profane Swearing was a fin to which that nation was addicted, and fill is throughout all their difpersions, more than any nation or people upon earth. "Above all things, my brothren, fwear not," It would be needless here to spend time to prove that neither this text, nor the prohibition of our Lord, forbids the bearing witness for decision of controversies which arise between man and man by a lawful oath. A lawful oath is an ordinance of God, an act of foleran and religious worship instituted for the most valuable purposes. It ought not to be used, but upon important occasions, and when duly called thereto by the power of civil authority. Some have unhappily imagined that this declaration of the apost le, together with that of our Saviour's, was intended to be an abolition of all oaths whatfoever. Let it be observed in answer hereto, that God himself has confiantly employed onthe both in the former and latter testament, in various instances for the confirmation of the faith of his people in the truth of his declarations. It was always the practice of the faints throughout all generations, and: St. Paul gives full tellimber in its favour, when he fays, "Az, 4 oath for confirmation is to be the end of all strife.12 Thereis the same end to be answered, and the same calls for paths now, that ever were, and therefore ought to be continued and beld as a standing ordinance both in church and state. All that is prohibited by Jesus Christ and our apostle is the prostitution of this facred ordinance, and the profane and common abuse of this holy institution.

It was a common and notorious practice among the Jews, to swear by heaven, by earth, by the temple, their head or any other thing, but never by the name Jehovah, except on the most solemn occasions, and the most urgent calls. But alas! in modern times of profanity, the tremendous and venerable name of God, feems no more regarded than interior things, unless it be to reduce it to a more common and wicked use.

It is the impious custom of profane cursing and swearing which our apostle here condemns; " Above all things swear " not." That is, in a special and distinguishing manner bewere of and guard against this iniquity. Above all other immoralities, keep yourselves from profane curfing and swearing. For this is a fin not only of a most henious nature, but above all others it has the least temptation, provocation, or inducement. The apostle mentions some things usually employed in this profanity. They fwore "by heaven and by earth." He charges them to beware of such unprofitable offences. common use of the names, titles and attributes of God. by exclamation or otherwise; all abuses of the sacred institution of an oath; and all rash, ill and impious words are here expressly forbidden. But, " let your yea be yea, and your nay, nay." Let the whole-tenor of your conversation consist of simple affirmations or negations. This is abundantly sufficient to afford full credit to the words of christians, to honest andupright men. Every addition of abomination always depreciates credibility. And the more of this is subjoined, the perfon renders himfelf less liable to be believed. This purity of conversation must be maintained, "lest you fall into condem-"nation." That is, left you fall into the condemnation of fuch who tieke God's name in vain. The declaration of the judge eternal is, "He will not hold him guiltless." The profane person must fall under the condemnatory sentence of a-violated law. He will forely be punished with an awful and everlatting punithment, unless deep repentance and faith in the gospel prevent. Wherefore let all be seriouslyexhorted to watch against this sin, that they perish not forever.

The countel here is, " above all things (wear not," yet how

many are bey who act in direct contradiction of this precept ? They mind this, the last thing in the world. The commonmels of the practice countenances them in the odious trans-Perhaps one reason for the reiterated prohibitions of this fin in the divine oracles is, that it is in a peculiar manner offensive to the majesty of heaven, argues a most virulent contempt of the authority of God, and has no incitement to it of either profit, pleasure or honor. A proper oath is a devout and religious institution of God, whereto, when lawfully called. we give glory to his name as an omniscient and omnipresent lehovali; but common and profane swearing is a malignant reflection upon this holy ordinance, it is trampling under foot an inflitution of heaven, and doing dispite to him, whose honoran oath was intended to promote. It is a facrilegious alienation of those forms of speech, which ought to be consecrated to the glory of God, and turning them to the most impious It is an imitation of Belshasur, that monster of iniquity, who commanded the holy vessels of the temple to be brought forth to grace his drunken feaft. In them he suddenly drunk his last. So the impious ought to fear, lest they perish with profapity in their mouths. Some are fo funk in wickedness, that they cannot transact usual business, or relate a common story, without intermingling therewith multitudes of profane epithets. If you hint a dislike of such a cumber of language, or the dishonor done to God, how will they immediately, and perhaps with another evil word, declare that they did not know they fwore. There are others who are only learners in the infernal tongue, and dare venture no farther than to life the language of hell. This may be stilled not swearingsat large, but by contraction. This kind of minced profanations, to fay the least of them, are idle words, for which an account must be given in the day of judgment. They must originate from a vain and thoughtless heart, and expose the users of them to condemnation. Let the profane tribe of curfers and swearers attend to the few following considerations.

First, consider the enmity such language express, against the glorious and fearful name of the bleffed God. It is making his truth, justice and omniscience, as far as is in the. power of a wretched creature, to attend all the extravagences of an ungoverned passion and unbridled tongue. From whence can fuch wickedness proceed, but from carnality of mind which is enmity against God, and is not subject to his law, neither indeed can be. Hence the Plalmist fays, "Thine en-4 emies take thy name in vain." As the none but the enemies of God could be guilty of such profanation. There is no luk in the depraved heart can be gratified by this transgression. Hence no reason can be given for profaming the name of Jehovah, but that finners delight and take pleasure in fin for its own fake. It appears to be a mere invention of Satan to eppose the commandments of heaven. Perhaps, if there had not been a precept of God, faying, "Thou shalt not take the "name of the Lord thy God in vain," the evil one would not have thought worth his while to have introduced this vice into the world. But the destroyer of fouls when there was nothing in the corruption of man to incline him to violate this commandment, being determined to oppose the whole law of God by every means that was possible, devised this method of common and profane ourling and swearing, and inspired their Souls with the poisonous air. Therefore swearing is of all vices the most inexcusable; it is a transgression absolutely wilful without any cause, but pure hatred to God. The finner cannot adduce in its favour any internal propentity, nor exgernal temptation. Wherefore let fuch sinners consider and geflect upon the extreme folly which aggravates the maligni-"Be not deceived, God will not be nocked." ty of this fin. Shall he not visit for fuch things as these?-Will not his soul be avenged on such outrageous offenders ?- Yea, when the day of recompence comes, all fuch will find, "That vengeance is " the Lord's and he will repay it according to his word."

Secondly, confider what striking evidence profane language

is against you, that you have not the fear of God before your If you neither fear cal nor regard man, why throw out a foolish figual of your ahominable winkedness to all that pass by? Why should you declare your fin as Sodom, or publish it abroad that Satan is king in your hearts? You certainly dare not proclaim open war against heaven, raise the flandard and wave the banners of the gloomy prince of darkness. Is it not enough that your hearts are unholy, without displaying to the world that you are both fearless and graceless. When Peter was accused of the dreadful crime of being a disciple of Christ, he immediately took the most effecturl method to disprove the charge; he not only denied the fact, but presently he began to curse and swear that he knew not the man; this in a moment convinced and filenced his accusers, for wicked as they were, they knew that this was not the language of a follower of Jesus. Let none take occasion from bence to imitate this unhappy example, lest they intend hereby to fignify that they disown Christ and all religion. Peter was foon brought to bitter repentance; if you transgress in like manner, you mult soon repent in brokenness of heart, and bewail your offences in many tears, or be loft to all eterrity. Allow me to beseech you, my brethren, in all the bowels of tender compassion, while there is a possibility of your becoming heirs of heaven, and of obtaining an inheritance among the faints of light, that you prove not yourselves the children of destruction by speaking the language of the regions of darkxels. Common curling is imprecating evil upon ourselves or others. This fin is an eminent instance of the degeneracy and depravity of human nature. All the arches of the infernal domes retound herewith. There is nothing but curses in a throng repetition prayed upon themselves and others, upon God and devils, angels and men, upon heaven and hell. Are there any so hardened as so imitate this speech before they descend into the burning pit? O how brutish and how unnatural is it to imprecate curses upon ourselves. It is a contradiction to the great principle of felf prefervation, and a violation and an af-

fault upon self-love. The very devils entrested our Saviour, of whose power they were not ignount, not to torment them before the time, but profune curiers far outstrip these; they feem to think that judgment lingers, and their damnation flumbers ; hence the only prayer uttered from their mouths is, that God would damn them, or the devil take them. Stop; my friends; and cease from your wicked prayers for a moment. Ye enterprifers in iniquity !- is an arrest issued from the devil, and the flames of hell, matters of indifference or pleasure that you should court them? Are the torments of the damned; and the vengeance of Jehovah, only the bugbears of fancy, or the vapours of brain sickness, that they pass over you with the shadows of the night? Be not deceived, the judgment of God is a reality, and future punishment is no fiction, and if you perfift in your impious courses, you will feel too late what you would not believe in time. Is it not enough, that you are performing every day, what deferves the wrath and curse of God, without the folicitous breath of wishing for damnation before your time? Once it was the heart cutting reflection of a criminal under the gallows, that he had accustomed himself to that imprecation, extremely common among mankind, "Let me be hanged." Now fays he, "The God of righteouf. " ness hath given me what I wickedly and thoughtlesly de-" fired."

Thirdly, there are what may be stilled prosane ejaculations, which do not strictly fall into the language of cursing and swearing, yet are so nearly allied to them, that it is not proper they should be omitted in a discourse of this kind. Pious ejaculations are as useful as pious prayers, and frequently employed in the scriptures by the saints for the purposes of devotion. Yet even this holy practice is perverted into base profanation. This is an alienation and prostration to an abominable use, what appears to have been consecrated to religion. I feel hurt to humiliate the pulpit, to the uttering of such exclamations. This descention should not be made, but the hope of the correc-

٠ ورد

tion of this vice demands it. One crys out, "O Lord," when no more is meant, only that he is a little accidently hurt. Another fays, "God knows," when his only intention is, his own ignorance; a third exclaims, "God bless me, God help me,? when nothing more is designed than an expression of small surprise. I must not proceed in the retail of these unique christian interjections.—They are highly offensive to the Supreme God, prostrating his name to a bye-word, and hardening and destroying our own souls. The facred name ought never to be pronounced but with previous thought and profound reverence. Such exclamations are insults upon the third commandment, a gross abuse of the ordinance of prayer. And all these and the incalculable variations of prosanity, are an abomination to God and ruinous to the souls of men.

Some are ready to excuse themselves, that they never assume the offensive stile only when they are in a passion. Intemperate passion is wrong, every species of profanity is wrong; and certainly one sin can never make an atonement, and no man in his reason, can venture it as an apology, for another.

Others excuse themselves, that they would not be believed without supporting their assertions with an oath. This is a most precarious and dangerous support, for these improper annexations always lessen credibility with the rational, wise and judicious, and your language immediately suggests to them, that you doubt the truth of your own declarations, otherwise you would not drag in these unnatural and profane aids.

Some excuse themselves by faying, they are obliged to swear, to maintain their authority, and to strike the awe of obedience into those under their command. This is an apology always in the mouths of military and marine officers. Consider that these characters have commanded seets and armies without an oath, and have maintained a better discipline and subordination, than those from whom tourents of bluslering profamily have continually flowed.

This subject must close. Those persons who will not believe and be directed by Christ and his apostles, it would be the most presumptive arrogance in me, to suppose any thing I could say, would produce reformation. I warmly recommend my test to all for their serious consideration and amendment; if this proves inessectual, my seeble endeavours cannot avail. But above all things, my brethren, swear not, neither by sheaven, neither by the earth, neither by any other oath, but see the your yea, be yea, and your nay, nay; lest you fall into secondamentation.

SERMON XV.

The Nature and Evil of Lying.

Ephe. iv. 25. Wherefore putting away lying, fpeak every man truth with his neighbour; for we are members one of another.

PERHAPS no virtue in the whole system of morality has bed greater encomiums bestewed upon it, than the speaking of truth; and none with stricter justice has been subjected to ignoratiny, disgrace and contempt, more than the opposite vice. For lying, however much it may be practised in the world, is reckoned a very base and dishonorable sin, even by the most of sinners themselves. Its odious and detestable evil stems to be impressed upon the minds of men even by the light of nature. The deluded Mahometans, whatever indulgence they grant to other vices, hold this in the utmost abhorrence. They often reproach the christians with it; and if any thing wearing the complexion of falsehood be attributed to them, they very pertly reply, "Do you think me a "christian?" What a fore restection is this upon our holy

abominable conduct of some, who bear the christian name, it is an absolute certainty that christianity every where reprobates this vice, and stamps it with marks of the utmost base-ness and abhorrence. Many heather nations have enacted laws, with the severest punishments against this instance of criminality. Many of their laws were formed to enjoin upon parents the importance of educating their children in speaking the truth. Truth comprehends in it a multitude of the cardinal virtues, such as justice, honesty, sincerity, integrity, goodness, love of the happiness of society, &c. So lying involves in it a train of the contrary vices, injustice, dishonesty, meanness, dishonor, harred of mankind, and almost every thing injurious to communities, and all social intercourse.

: Nothing frange then that the apollle under the influence of divine inspiration, should warn christians against the latter, and zealously exhort them to the practice of the former, as he does in the words of our text. "Wherefore putting away lying, of fpeak every man the truth with his neighbour; for we are " members one of another." The word neighbour here must be taken in the enlarged latitude explained by our Lord, extending to the whole family of mankind, every individual of every tribe, nation or language with whom we have any intercourse, communication or dealings. The words expresly contain in them three things, an injunction to speak the truth, a command to avoid falsehood, and a reason enforcing the propriety of thus conducting ourfelves in all our conversation with our fellow men. To this method your attention is invited in the enfuing discourse. Wherefore we shall endeavour.

١

First, to enquire, what it is to speak the truth. "Speak" every man the truth with his neighbour."

Secondly, what lying is and the evil of it. "Put away "lying."

Thirdly, give fome reasons and directions against this sin of lying, and in favour of speaking the truth. "For we are members one of another."

First, we shall briefly enquire what it is to speak the truth, so Speak every man the truth with his neighbour.

Truth contains in its nature an intrinsic beauty. something excellent, amiable and praise worthy, independent of all laws : and external rules, therefore ought to be admired, loved, and practised for its own sake. On the other hand, a lye comprehends in its very nature moral turpitude and baseness, and therefore ought to be avoided for its odiousness, and abhorred for its own vileness. But it is not my purpose to treat either of this virtue or vice in an abstract or metaphysical way. This would not, in my apprehension tend much to the edification of a common christian assembly. Neither would it be proper for me to follow the writers of moral fystems upon this subject, and explain to you what they mean by logical and phyfical as diffinguished from moral truth. Physical truth is nothing but expressing the reality of the existence of things as they stand in our conceptions, or in the view of our judgments. Legical truth is the agreement of our words with the reality of things, whatever may be the intention of mind. A person may speak that which is true, when he does not intend it. His declaration is verified in fact. His words and the reality of the thing perfectly correspond, yet thro' ignorance or wilfulness he had a purpose to deceive. But moral truth is that

which is recommended in our text and claims our confidenttion at this time.

Moral truth is the agreement of our words and minds. And when our expressions are adapted to inform those with whom we speak, with a real intention of communicating to them the knowledge of things as they are in our own minds, without any defign to deceive, this is moral truth. The words, mind and intention of the heart, when they all correspond, the person can never be said to lye; even, tho' in this, he may speak that which is not true. He may honestly commit a mistake, utter an error, and not be guilty of falsehood. may be faid such a person ought to have been better informed before he spoke; this is readily granted, yet he delivers what he conceives and believes to be true, and has no delign of deception, therefore he does not lye. Perhaps, it may be a fin in him not to have his understanding better enlightened, but while his words agree to his mind and judgment, however mistaken or erroneous he may be, he has not committed the fin of lying. There are many who are stiled heretics, who seach doctrines that are not true, yet they are never denomi. nated liars. Thro' the imperfection of human nature, in our daily converse with men, we are often retailing matters which are unfounted, but we believe them to be true and have no intention of deceit, therefore all that can be faid in those cases. we were misinformed or mistaken. Truth is a declaration of things as they really exist as far as we know and understand, with a fincere purpose of heart to give just information to those with whom we converse. We often speak of matters we do not perfectly understand, and it is duty to do so; but when we communicate the knowledge we have, that is all that is required of us in the maintaining of truth. When we fay, we think, believe, or judge a thing to be fuch, all we do in this case is delivering our own thoughts, opinions, or judgment, and whe-

[171]

ther the matter be true or falle, while we have no intention of deceit, we cannot be faid to lye.

Having thus attempted to describe the nature of truth, there are various inquiries arise upon the discussion of this subject.

It will be here inquired, are we bound to speak the truth to all who ask us? To which it is answered, we are bound never But instead of being bound to speak the truth to all who ask us, in many cases, we are not under obligation to speak at all. And silence is often the best reproof for impertinent questions. And when it is deemed expedient to make some anfwer to querifts, it may be couched in such language consistent with truth as will afford no certain information. was guilty of no fin when he feigned himself mad before the enemies of his nation, but a wife stratagem which it was his duty to employ in those circumstances. Thus our Lord made use of a pretence on a certain occasion. "They drew nigh " unto a village whither they went, and he made as tho' he "would have gone farther." This concealment of our \$2viour's purpose, in pretending to go farther than he designed, was not finful, but a lawful pretence, to try the friendship, affection and hospitality of his disciples, and to awaken their importunity for his tarrying with them. So physicians may use various and innocent pretences with their patients to induce them to take medicine to heal their diseases. Thus weakminded perfons and children may be induced to do things for their good, which otherwise they would not, by a kind of charitable guile, which can never be termed fin.

It will be further asked, are we obliged at all times to tell the whole truth?—At certain seasons, and when we are properly called thereto, this becomes an indispensable duty. But at times a concealment of the whole is fit and right.

Thus Samuel was fent on an important errand to Bethleham? under pretence of offering sacrifice to anoint another king instead of Saul, and to fave his life, and by the direction of God himfelt. he was to use a stratagem whereby Saul was deceived. When Samuel objected to the business, saying, " If Saul hear it her " will kill me. The Lord said, take an heifer with thee, and 64 fay, I am come to facrifice to the Lord. And call Jeffe to "the facrifice, and I will shew thee what thou shalt do." Here was a compleat imposition upon the reigning sovereign by the direction of heaven, without fin .- So the midwives of Egypt deceived their civil rulers, and were recommended and rewarded by God for their conduct. They told part of the truth. All they faid was, "The Hebrew women are not as " Egyptian women, for they are lively and they are delivered "ere the midwives come unto them." This was undoubtedly true. The one would delay fending as long as possible, and the other would delay coming. Thus the officers were deceived and imposed upon, and for the midwives to tell the whole truth in all its circumstances was not their duty.

It is time to proceed to the

Second head proposed, which was to show what lying is, and the evil thereof, "put away lying." Were I to give a definition of lying in order to distinguish it from error and mistake, I would say, it is speaking a known falseshood in order to deceive. It is not speaking that which is false, when we believe it to be true, which is an error or a mistake only; it is not every purpose to deceive, or every imposition, that is sinful and wicked, as has been manifested; but it is afferting a known and wilful salseshood, with a design to deceive and impose upon the person or persons who hear it. This comprehends not only the gross sorts of lying, but likewise all the more refined. And every species of lying, whether serious or

jocose, whether in jest or earnest, is condemned by reason, by the light of nature, and by the word of God.

The evils of this heinous iniquity are great and many. It contrages that which is beautiful, dishonors God, violates both law and gospel, grossly injures society, a flagrant insult of our sellow men, and intails certain suin upon the immortal soul. Here is a picture that nothing can exceed for deformity.

It outrages that which is beautiful. Truth contains in its nature intrinsic beauty and superlative excellency. What more amiable, beautiful and excellent than truth? God is stiled truth, Jesus Christ, the Saviour of the world, is the truth and the life, the Holy Ghost is the spirit of truth, the holy scriptures are truth, and the glory of all creation is truth. Now what can be a greater outrage than to attempt the destruction of all this beauty, worth and excellency? But this is the nature and tendency of every salschood. How inconceiveably dreadful then must be its evil? To blot out all the glory of created and uncreated existence is the evil genius of this iniquity.

It in a distinguishing manner dishonors God. It denies his omniscience, omnipresence, and almighty power, his holiness, his purity and his justice. Now a thing of such a nature, must be an infinite evil indeed. But this is the awful nature and evil of lying; hence it ought to be held in abhorrence by all the children of men. "Put away lying." It ought to be the sole property of the atheistial tribe, and none others ought to intermeddle with it. This shows us how highly it ressects dishonor upon the glorious Jehovah, his existence and all his persections.

It is a violation both of the law and of the gospel. It is a transgression of the ninth commandment, and is abundantly The former declares, "Ye shall not lye one to another. I hate and abhor a lying tongue saith the Lord. A righteous man hateth lying. Let lying lips be put to silence. He that speaketh lies shall not escape, he shall perish." The satter speaks in the same manner. "Lye not one to another feeing ye have put off the old man, put away lying." But there would be no end of retailing the texts relative to this matter. Thus you see, it is a violation both of law and gospel, therefore ought to be held in detestation.

It is a gross injury of society. The tendency of lying is to destroy all human conversation and commerce, and to introduce the most pernicious consequences into the affairs of markind. Let truth be excluded, and men can neither buy nor seel, nor even live together. It is so great an evil to society, that it was punished with death among the ancient Romans-If any was convicted of this crime, he was to be cast from the Tarpian rock. It breaks the social bands, defeats the design of speech, destroys all considence between man and man, and throws the world into turmoil, consusion and desolation.

Lying is a flagrant infult upon our fellow men, a declaration that they are not worthy of the truth; that diffimulation, deceit and falsehood are only proper treatment for them-Better man had been born dumb than employ his tongue for so horrid and base a purpose.

The complection of its evil is, it brings certain ruin upon the immortal foul. Unless deep repentance and a thorough reformation prevent, liars must perish forever. And who can be willing to dwell eternally in devouring flames, to be tossed from surge to surge on the billows of Jehovah's wrath, throughout endless and unwasting ages? Their habitation shall be, "That tophet, which God hath ordained of "old; he hath made it deep and large; the pile thereof is fire "and much wood; the breath of the Lord like a stream of brimstone doth kindle it. God shall destroy them that speak leasing. For the sin of their mouth, for cursing and lying which they speak, he will consume them in wrath. He that speaketh lies shall not escape, he shall perish. There shall in no wise enter into heaven, any thing that maketh a lye. Lyars shall have their portion in the lake that burneth with sire and brimstone." Thus you behold compleat, perfect and eternal destruction entailed upon all who are guilty of this sin.

How unspeakably great and aggravated is this iniquity? It is an abomination to God and man. He who can count the drops of the ocean, or measure the depths of hell, let him describe the evil thereof.

I proceed,

Thirdly, to give some directions against this vice, and in favour of speaking tne truth, " For we are members one of " another." This is the reason here advanced by the apostle, why we should refrain from this fin and speak the truth-We are members defigned for the fervice and benefit one of another, and truth is a debt which we reciprocally lowe, and have a right to expect from each other. Of whatever body we account ourselves members, or to whatever society we belong, the argument against lying, and in favour of speaking truth is strong and cogent. If we are members of the church, to which these words evidently refer, we ought to love, esteam, and be serviceable to each other. But nothing more contradicts this purpose or defeats our usefulness and fervice than lying. What character more absurd than a lying christian? He is a slain to his profession, a scandal to the church, and a difgrace to himself. A christian and a liar is as inconsistent as light and darkness. If we consider ourfelves members of civil fociety, the reason stands in sull force against this sin. Where truth is not maintained, essential injury accrues to the community. Hereby we destroy our nsefulness in the world, and expose ourselves to the contempt of men. A liar is a nuisance in the commonwealth; and no character carries more ediousness, meanness and baseness than this.

Now, my hearers, let us avoid and abhor this vice, which is hateful in its nature and dreadful in its consequences.—
Wherefore to put away lying let us be directed to beware of guilt. A sensibility of guilt will invent lies to screen its criminality. When persons do that which they are assamed should be discovered, they will employ falshood for its concealment. They, as it were, repair to the devil to entreat him to defend and cover his own works. If we would avoid being reduced to such miserable shifts, let us guard against deceit-sulness, dissimulation, and every thing that wears the appearance of a lie.

Let us be directed, to possess our hearts with an holy sear and reverence of God. The sear of man is often an inducement to this sin. This makes children and servants lye to escape shame and punishment. Whenever it is detected, they should be punished with marks of distinction. We should consider that God is always present with us, his eye is upon us and to him we must give an account. We may deceive men, but we cannot impose upon the omniscient God. "Fear him who is able to destroy both soul and body in hell." Let us remember, when we attempt to escape any danger by a lye, we always expose ourselves to that which is infinitely greater.

Let us be directed to subdue our pride and cultivate humility, would we avoid this offensive evil. Pride will tempt some to lye, to profess knowledge they never had, to have performed exploits they never did, in order to exhibit themselves in an exalted point of light. Let us beware of covetousness would we guard against this sin. A covetous man esteems a lye an easy way to the acquisition of gain. The prophet's servant Gehazi, was it not covetousness that formed him to be such an adept in lying? Pride and covetousness conspired together to induce Annanias and Sapphira to lye to the Holy Ghost, even to God. They hoped to obtain the same of most charitable christians, while they chose to lye, rather than part with their property. The awful judgments of heaven sell suddenly upon them, to be a warning to all against pride, covetousness and salsehood.

Another important direction should be to trust in God at all times. Distrust in the Lord and lying, often accompany each other. Was it not this, which caused Jacob to lye in order to obtain the bleffing? Had he trufted in the divine promife, he would have obtained it without that base and sinful measure of practising deceit upon a blind and aged parent. His lying and diffimulation both in words and actions are beyond the powers of description.—Would we avoid this sing let us maintain a tender conscience, a conscience void of offence towards God and man. Let us have our consciences made tender by the special grace of the gospel; let us imbibe the temper of Christ Jesus; ever live under the government of our holy religion; cloath ourfelves with truth as with a garment: dwell in her chambers, delight in her walks and take pleasure in all her ways. Let us love the truth and continually adhere to it. Let our text be impressed upon our hearts, be written upon our memories, and never be forgotten or neglected by us. "Wherefore putting away lying, speak every man truth "with his neighbour; for we are members one of another."

SERMON XVI.

The Horrid Evil of a Backbiting Tongue.

Plalms xv. 3. He that backbiteth not with his tengue, nor doeth evil to his neighbour, nor taketh up a repreach against his neighbour.

AMONG the questions circulated in the world, certainly mone can be proposed, which it is more our duty and interest to be capable to answer than this, to wit, who are the savourites of God, and shall dwell in heaven forever. The present friendship and eternal enjoyment of Jehovah is without controversy a matter of the greatest importance. The treasures of Creesus, and the extensive dominions of Alexander, when weighed in the scales of the sanctuary, in this comparison, tekel must be their inscription. For what could it profit a man to gain the whole world and lose his own soul? In this Psalm we have the characters and heirs of heaven drawn by the pencil of perfection. The delineation is performed by God himself. He is here introduced answering this dignified question, "Lord, who shall abide in thy tabernacle? Who shall "dwell in thy holy hill?" By tabernacle here is undenbted-

ly meant the church in this world. The tabernacle was built for the worship of God in the wilderness, and continued the refidence of the divine glory till the erection of the temple, therefore it here evidently intends the church militant. holy hill is meant the holy hill of Zion, which was emblematical of the celestial state, or the church triumphant in heaven Hence the question divested of its figures is this, " What is the character of the person who is a true member of thy church on earth, and who is he that shall be admitted to dwell with thee in the regions of felicity forever?" To which the Most High, vouchsafes to give the following reply. First, " He that walketh uprightly." He who respects and loves and conscienciously endeavours to walk in all the commandments. Secondly, "And worketh righteousness." He employs himfelf in those acts of duty, faithfulness and justice which he ought to perform to God, himself, and his neighbour. Thirdly, "And speaketh the truth in his heart." He avoids lying lips, his words pronounce his intention, express his purpose and agree to his thoughts and judgment. Then our text is introduced as a further description of the good man. "He that backbiteth "not with his tongue, nor doth evil to his neighbour, nor ta-"keth up a reproach against his neighbour." He is not one who slanders his neighbour, or takes the advantage of his absence to vilify or depreciate his character; he wilfully injures him not in name, person or property; he does not easily take up tales of reproach, or propagate them to his neighbours hurt.

Whosoever fancys himself to be religious and his heart and life is not in a habitual measure conformed to this description, let him fear, tremble, repent and reform, lest he should not be sit to enter into the tabernacle of God on earth, and be excluded from the glorious privilege of becoming a citizen of the heavenly hill of Zion. That which commands our attention at present is the evil and danger of a backbiting tongue. This

*

is not an evil peculiarly incident to the openly ungodly; but many who are strict in their morals, many professors of christianity, and some who make a high profession of an experimental acquaintance with religion, stand in exceeding need of instruction, correction and reproof upon this head. One branch of the character of him who is intitled to heaven is, that he backbiteth not with his tongue. Confider, this is only a part of the description of an holy person. Perhaps some may be free from this vice, yet allow themselves in others which must exclude them from the celestial bliss. But it is absolutely certain, all who prevailingly indulge themselves in this iniquity, whatever their profession may be, or however orderly, regular and circumspect in other respects, they will never enter into the holy hill of Zion. The adjudication and censure may feem severe, but it is not mine, but God's. Some will be ready here to exclaim, if this be true, who then can be saved? The scriptures teach us that few are saved. The number of faints is comparatively small; and charity must have a broad mantle, and cover a multitude of infirmities and fins, even to collect these few. We must hope favourably of many, who transgress in this matter, that it happens in the hurry of conversation, their inattention, and not from wilful and malignant Decent christians will not commonly curse or swear, vet it is hardly known or confidered by them as an evil to backbite a neighbour. If a professor of religion, or even a man of common reputation was to steal his neighbour's goods, we would be furprifed and shocked; but we stand by and hear him destroy his neighbour's character and good name, and a feeling of disapprobation hardly arises in our hearts. adage is, a common vice is commonly overlooked. steals my money takes only trash, but he that robs me of my good name is an affaffin and stabs me to the heart.

Wherefore to be explicit and plain upon this subject, for our instruction and reformation, I shall endeavour to lay before you

First, when we may lawfully speak of the faults of our neighbours in their absence without being guilty of the sin of backbiting.

Secondly, explain to you wherein backbiting confifts.

Thirdly, attempt to exhibit to view the evil and danger of this fin. As to the

First, it will be a delineation of what is not backbiting. may be a duty to speak of the faults of others in many instances behind their backs. To tell to his brother various evils in love and christian privacy in hopes of convincing him of his wrong; there is nothing of evil in this, but a hope of convineing him of his error or mistake, and bringing him to friendship and reconciliation. If after private conference, and the difference is not adjusted, we take two or three friendly and christian neighbours to settle the difficulty, and the matter be related to them; all this can never be termed backbiting. We may lay the faults of a neighbour before the church or the civil magistrate, and retail all we have to say behind his back, which we are afterwards to prove, and this can never be construed as slander or backbiting. When it is useful to the preservation of anothers property, when we see friends enticed into the company of knaves and villains, by whom they may be ruined, it is our duty to state to them the characters of those by whom they may be enfoared, and to warn them against the dangerous connection. When we know of a combination against others, or conspiracy against good government, to refrain from discovery of private or public injury, tho' behind the backs of the defigners, would not only be wrong but a grofs iniquity. It would be an offence against reason, against society, against God and man; and he who charges himself with the concealment, becomes a culprit equal with the principal.

Moreover when by unreasonable self justification, wrong is

thrown upon the innocent, and the innocent is compelled to recrimination, he stands acquitted and vindicated at the bar of reason and of God.

Further, when the notorious iniquity of any individual, hath erected fuch a beacon of warning, that his crimes cannot be hid, has forfeted all reputation, and his conduct transcends the rules of concealment, duty to our families and others is not to hide such a character. Duty in this case is to give warning to others to avoid the abominable example.

Moreover, when called to give a narrative of public facts, fallen under our own observation, such as rebellion, blasphemy, murder, perjury, cruelty, &c. and to give in the names of offending absentees, this is right and duty. Alas, how many blaze forth the failings of others without occasion, and intrude themselves into the office of backbiters, to their own detriment and the exceeding unhappiness of society.

Secondly, I am to explain wherein this evil of backbiting confifts.

First, if persons spread abroad the saults of their neighbours, when they ought previously to have mentioned them to them. selves; and proceeded according to the rules of reason and the gospel, for reclaiming a brother. In violation of friendship, neighbourhood and christianity, how many, and that religionists too, will tell a sault real or supposed, to almost every body, and never mention it to the person himself? This is destroying a neihgbour, wounding his same, and backbiting with the keenest severity.

Secondly, when perfons speak of the failing of others in in their absence, with apparent pleasure and delight, conceal their good qualities and dwell upon and magnify their evil ı ·

ones. It is very common to profess for row for hearing of the misconduct of others, while pleasure is exhibited in retailing the unhappy story. Let the report be true or otherwise, the retail is generally gross backbiting. The reporting the evil has no tendency to amend, but to injure the character and spread the evil of his name. Were it not for the latent expectation of this kind, to render the person more contemptible and odious, they would be entirely silent.

Thirdly, when perfons, to spend a vacant hour, and to entertain their company, fill up the time with impertinently converfing of the faults and infirmities of their neighbours. This is often done merely for the divertion and amusement of others, yet hereby they stain, if not stab, their neighbour's When such speeches flow from passion, envy, reputation. prejudice, faction, hatred, or to exalt themselves, it is certain, that is a backbiting tongue. And when the language expresses things devious from the truth, magnifying small failings as is frequently the case, concealing all that is worthy and good, and exhibiting only fome deformities, this has also the fin of lying, flandering and reproaching annexed to it. It has been generally remarked, those who are much addicted to backbiting, rarely avoid lying. But here perhaps it will be asked, may we not speak evil of that which is evil, and state every thing as it truly is? It is readily granted, that we are not, under a mistaken notion of charity, to speak a known falsehood, terming a man's vices, virtues; but we are to be very careful respecting the speaking evil of others. When we are about to discover the faults of our neighours, we ought to confider, whether we are duly called hereto, whether we are entering upon a duty which we owe to God or fociety. confideration was practifed, it would put a stop to much of the backbiting that is in the world. But some will say, may we not tell fuch things which honest and religious persons report. This must not be done without sufficient evidence and

a fufficient call. However honest and religious a person may be, we must not imitate him in things that are evil or wrong, Suppose a good man should abuse another, which has often happened, could the injure d person be willing that all should sollow that good man's example, and abuse him likewise. Surely not. I proceed,

Thirdly, to attempt to exhibit to view the evil and danger of this fin. Is there need of faying any thing farther after showing what backbiting is. The odious character ever one will condemn. Yea, a backbiter himself, would probably be highly offended to have this vice imputed to him. Why will perfons indulge themselves in the evil practice when they abhor the name? None would chuse to be reproached themselves. why then will they reproach others? Some have supposed that backbiting is a term borrowed from the deteltable nature of poisonous serpents or ugly dogs which will slyly bite a man when his back is turned, but were his face towards them, they would flee from him. How awful is the evil, to find this vile and odious disposition in any of the children of men? And especially to perceive any tincture of it among those who profess to be followers of the Lamb of God. The very nature of the fin itself ought to raise the detestation of all against it. The supreme Jehovah himself hath forbidden it in the most express terms. It is enumerated amongst the groff-st and most henious transgressions. It is made the evidence of a reprobate mind, and the character of fuch whom God chiefly abhors. When St. Paul makes up a catalogue of the most abominable offenders, backbiters are ranked among murderers, haters of God, &c. On the other hand, the avoiding of this fin is constituted an evidence of one who is approved of the Most High, and shall dwell with him forever. "Lord, who shall abide in thy tabernacle, who shall dwell in "thy holy hill? He that backbiteth not with his tongue, so nor doth evil to his neighbour, nor taketh up 2

when he sharply rebukes the Corinthians for various offences among them, he recounts this as one. "I fear, says "he, when I come, I shall not find you such as I would, and "that I shall be found unto you such as ye would not, lest there be debates, strifes, backbitings &c." Let all bitterness, "clamour and evil speaking be put away from you, with all malice, and be kind one to snother and tender hearted."

It is a fin in a special manner gratifying to Satan; it assimilates to him; he is full of malice and backbiting, and speaking evil of a neighbour are works which are suited to his malignity. Shall christians and those who enjoy the light of the gospel, employ their tongues to perform the hellish drudgery of the destroyer of souls. Forbid it heaven, forbid it eternity.

Moreover, whosoever allow themselves in this fin, it argues a want of due tenderness and christian affection. Love speaketh no evil of its neighbour, neither doth it open his faults without a cause. It will rather cover infirmities, and will not propagate fander or carry about evil reports. It is likewife evil which tends to destroy the hearers, love, and thus to ruin their immortal fouls. If the backbiter understood himself, he would acknowledge this to be his delign, to banish love from the human breast, and to introduce in its room, hatred, malice and ill will, and all the infernal train of odious passions and feelings. When one person wishes another to become an object of hatred, he does not directly intreat a man to hate his neighbour; but he makes such a representation of his character, as excites difgust and brings on a dislike of him. It tends much to the injury of the spiritual interests of him of whom the reproaches are uttered; for, generally, he will by some means hear of them. Backbiting is usually accompanied with tale bearing. Were it not for the latter the former could not do half the mischief it does. The one slanders and the other spreads the evil report.

The consequences of a backbiting tongue are frequently very dreadful. It rarely fails to be a peace breaker; it stirs up envy and revenge; sets neighbour again the neighbour, and prother against brother. When a person is reproached he often is tempted to exert all the power of malicious invention to retort the injury. It has brought on duels, bood hed and murder. Many churches and societies have been totally ruined hereby. Many sightings, and desolating wars, hath it produced. It has destroyed kingdoms and scattered nations. And what is worst of all, it has sunk thousands and tens of thousands of souls to hell.

A few directions to caution us against this atrocious vice shall conclude this discourse.

First, let us maintain a life of brotherly love. Love your neighbour as yourself. He who observes this rule will never be guilty of this offence. No man will reproach or speak evil of himself. When we are tempted to this sin, let us put our selves in the place of the person whom we would backbite, and ask ourselves, whether we would be well pleased, if another should talk in the same manner of us. This conduct would prove a sovereign antidote against this evil.

Secondly, let us watch narrowly whether interest or passion does not influence us to speak against our neighbour. Selfishness will prompt us to commit this sin, and dispose us to justify our iniquity. Let us guard against selfishness as a dangerous thing, and the source of innumerable mischiefs.

Thirdly, let us ever bear upon our minds an habitual fense of the malignant, and dangerous nature of this impiety. It had a great hand in putting to death the Lord of glory. He was called a deceiver, a devil, a blasphemer, a friend of publicans and sinners, therefore he was not sit to live; away with him; crucify him, crucify him. This had an high hand in the death of the apostles; it styled them, pettilent fellows, movers

of fedition, turners of the world upfide down, &c. and thus contirbuted largely to their death. It has had a full part in the murder of all the martyrs in all ages. These things should engage christians to avoid this abomination.

Fourthly, frown upon and discountenance this sin in others, and it will be an excellent preservative against it in yourselves. "As the North wind, saith Solomon, driveth away rain, so "doth an angry countenance a backbiting tongue." Better we never had tongues than employ them for such destructive purposes. "Whosoever privately slandereth his neighbour, him "will I cut off, saith the Lord." "If any man among you feemeth to be religious and bridleth not his tongue, that "man's religion is vain." Wherefore let us all be exhorted to avoid this evil of backbiting as we would wish to escape hell, and to have the gates of heaven opened unto us.

SERMON XVII.

The Excellencies and Evils of the Tongue.

James, iii. 6. And the tongue is a fire, a world of iniquity; for is the tongue among ft the members, that it defileth the whole body, and fetteth on fire the course of nature, and it is set on fire of belt.

HERE is an awful description of an unruly and ungoverned tongue. St. James in this epistle sets himself to correct many evils which had taken place among the christians to whom he wrote, and for the instruction of the churches in all future ages. Some in these early days had imbibed the satal error, that if they had but faith, they might indulge themselves in the most licentious practices. Therefore the apostle having corrected various vices in the preceding chapters, comes in this to reprove the sins of the tongue. He proposes the exceeding great difficulty of bridling this unruly member. Hence he declares, that he who offendeth not in word is a perfect man and able to bridle the whole body. As if he had said, the person who can govern this member, can easily govern all others. This truth he illustrates by two similitudes. By the small bits in a horse's mouth we turn his whole body and rea-

der him obedient to our will; so he that releth his tengué holds all his other members in subjection.—" Behold also the "ships, which, tho' they be so great, and driven of sierce winds, "yet are they turned about with a very small helm, whithers soever the governor listeth." As the helm governs the ship, altho' tossed by tumultuous waves, so a well bridled tongue easily governs the whole body. These small things can perform great matters, so the tongue is eapable of accomplishing mighty deeds, both good and had.

Having spoken of the great power of this little member, he then proceeds to show the mischievous evils, it produces, when "Behold how great a matter a little fire kindangoverned. A small spark blows up a magazine or consumes a city. Thus this little member, the tongue, often throws a parish, atown, or a whole nation into flames.—Then the apostle introduces an hideous picture of the tongue in the words of our text. " And the tongue is a fire, a world of iniquity; so is the "tongue amongst the members, that it defileth the whole body. " and fetteth on fire the course of nature, and is set on fire of The images here are bold and the coloring strong. A lecture upon such a disagreeable portrait can never be very pleasing to speaker or hearer; yet it is necessary at times for our edification and reformation, to attend to subjects that are tather grating than acceptable.

First he tells us "the tongue is a fire." The issues resemble this surious element in many particulars. A small spark will kindle much suel, so this little member can do much mischief. A raging sire is ungovernable, so is this. Fire bears away all before it with its destructive slames, so likewise this. Fire is very useful when confined to its proper place, so the tongue is a most important member, when held under proper regulations.

Secondly, it is "a world of iniquity." This may admit of two constructions. Either that it inflames an unhappy world alled with iniquity. Or the tongue itself is a world of sin. As the world is a collection of natural bodies, so the tongue is an aggregate of evils.

Thirdly, "so is the tongue among the members that it defilethe whole body." It insectes the whole man with sin. It is often the cause of sins being committed by the other members. Tho' sin has its origin in the soul, yet it extends through the whole man, therefore the soul and body is morally polluted.

Again, "it setteth on fire the course of nature." By the course of nature is understood the tenor of a person's lie. This is all impregnated and inflamed with iniquity. There is no state nor age free from the evils of the tongue. Some vices are abated by age, but these often reach through the whole time of aman's life.

Lastly, "It is set on fire of hell." This expression is sull of horror. Must fire be brought from the infernal surnace to enkindle the tongue for the destruction of the souls and bodies of men? An unbridled tongue is set on fire of hell, and Satan blows up the slame. How should all then set a watch before the door of their lips? The more unruly this member, the greater ought to be our exertions for its government. The more mischief it is apt to create, the more it should be watched and restrained within proper limits. Before we proceed surther to be particular in considering the evils of the tongue, we may take a brief view of its excellencies, the ends for which it was given, and the duties of it.

First, in regard to its excellency. I shall not speak of that which is natural, which we hold in common with the brutes, but of that which is moral. The tongue of man is his glory

How wonderful the work of God, that it should be able to articulate such an infinite number and variety of sounds. The more noble and excellent it is, the more it ought to be respected, and the greater is the evil in perverting it to base uses. The tongue is the index and discoverer of the mind. It is out of the abundance of the heart the mouth speaketh. If the mind is to be regarded, so also is the tongue. By words we read the character of a man's heart, whether it be virtuous and good, or vain and corrupt. Men's works are likewise exceedingly dependent upon their words. Wherefore, if their deeds are to be respected, so are their words. Actions of the most exalted nature, words are often the cause of Daily experience informs us of the power of speech ; a speech has saved a nation, and a speech has destroyed one. If the persons with whom we converse are to be respected, our language must be regarded, for this is an eminent instrument either of good or hurt. God employs the tongues of his ministers and others, for the conversion and salvation of men; and the devil by his emissaries useth the same for their subvertion and destruction. How many thousands every day are in ured by the tingues of others, some decrived, some provoked to finful passions, &c. And on the other hand, how mamy thousands are daily edified, instructed and comforted thereby? St. Paul could fay, "The weapons of our warfare are " mighty through God." One once declared, that the tongue cuts deeper than a fword, this only pierces the body, while the other reaches to the foul.

Moreover, our tongues are the instruments of our Creator's praise. This exhibits its distinguishing excellency and glory. This was one great end for which speech was given us, to shew forth the wonders of the name of the Most High. A considerable part of the service, which God requires of men, is performed by the tongue. The use of the

Digitized by Google

· highest faculties and graces of the soul are manifested by it. By this our knowledge, wisdom, love, friendship, gratitude &c. are expressed. The declaration of Christ pronounces the high importance of our words. "By your words you shall " be justified, and by your words you shall be condemned."-So excellent is the tongue, that life and death are faid to be in "Death and life are in the power of the tongue," faith the royal preacher. The work of heaven which confists in praising him who setteth on the throne, and the Lamb forever and ever, holds up to view the transcendent excellency Hence, fay the scriptures, " If a man offend not in " words, the same is a perfect man, and able to bridle the whole " body. And he that will love life and fee good days, let "him refrain his tongue from evil and his lips from fpeaking " guile. He that keepeth his tongue and mouth, keepeth his " foul from trouble." All these things, to which a multitude of others might be added, display the superior excellency of this member.

Secondly, our attention must be turned to the ends for which the tongue was given, and the duties of it. The grand end for which our Creator endowed us herewith, as well as all the other powers and faculties of body and mind, was for his own glory. And its duties are too numerous for a compleat A few hints upon this subject must suffice for the prefent. As it was conferred upon us for the honor of the Great Supreme, therefore the fum of all its duties is to glorify him; to magnify his name and speak forth the praise of his attri-With this we are to fing the fongs of Zion, butes and works. and give thanks for all the mercies we receive to pray to him for what we want for ourselves, for the church and others-to confess his name, make profession of our belief in him, in Christ Jesus, of our subjection to his grace in the gosi el, and obedience to his will in all things. With this, we edify those committed to our care—to do good one to another by instruction, counsel and exhortation—to confess our sins to God and our faults to each other as occasion may require—recommend that which is good in others—to speak well of all men, superiors, inseriors and equals, as far as there is just ground for the same—to bear witness to the truth when lawfully called thereto—to defend the cause of the just and innocent against false accusers. Lastly, to be instruments of common communication between man and man; expressing our mutual affections and respects; for transacting all wordly business, for learning sciences, arts, trades, &c. These are only a few extracts of the great ends and important duties of the tongue.

But it is proper we should attend to the main matters intended to be communicated to as in this text, to wit, the great fins and evils incident to the tongue. In some former lectures we have confidered the iniquities of swearing, curfing, backbiting, reproaching, &c. these shall not be repeated. Among the henious offences committed by this member, that of blafphemy is of deep malignity, which is speaking evil of God, debasing his names and titles, reproaching him as a deceitful As Rabshehah in his speech to Hezekiah blasphemed Perjury, or false witness bearing, is another aggrathe Lord. vated transgression. It is near a kin to blasphemy and the sin . against the Holy Ghost. It is a solemn appeal to God in sayour of a falsehood, calling the God of truth to witness a lie. This must be exceedingly provoking to the omniscient Jehovah, injurious to all the laws of justice, and damning to the immortal foul. One observes, that it was never known that a person convicted of perjury was ever brought to repentance. Lying is an abomination of a most criminal nature. ver common the practice scarcely any thing more injuriousit despises the commandments of God, contemns his menaces,

destroys the peace of neighbourhoods, and breaks up all the happiness of society. It is an enemy which erects a strong battery against the whole system of christianity, which declares, a Ye shall not lie one to another. The Lord hates a lying tongue, and lying lips are an abomination to him. Wherefore put away lying and speak every man truth with his neighbour."

There are other fins of the tongue, such as preaching salse doctrine, pretending to inspiration, as some have soolishly done of late, without affording the least shadow of testimony in their savour, perverting prophesies, and bending them to their own imaginations, and in their own imagination extracting from the scriptures things not contained in them; deriding true religion and experimental piety, and uttering scoffs against persons professing godliness, and pouring derision upon the ministers of Christ, upon whom wrath will come to the utmost. Ostentatious boasting of knowledge, understanding or religion, who, like Jehu, issue their loud proclamations to come and see their zeal for the Lord. When children speak dishonorably of their parents, and inferiors of their superiors; this is an evil under the sun, when persons become so abandonedly wicked as to speak evil of dignities.

Another fin of the tongue is a forward, idle and babbling loquacity, light and vain discourse only adapted to awaken in the hearers unbecoming ideas. "Foolish talking or jesting, saith Paul, are things not convenient." All the filthy ribaldry flowing from obscene mouths, he censures as "corrupt "communication." Slandering is a detestable vice, speaking salfely of others to render them odious, readily believing evil reports, and sedulous in reporting them—Rash judging and consuring others, upon a hasty soundation, is condemned by our Lord, when he say, "Judge not, that ye be not judged;

of for with what judgment ye judge, ye shall be judged, and 44 with what measure ye mete it shall be measured to you again."-Railing, reviling, and all the passionate speeches of provocation, which destroy brotherly love and create discord, foment contention and drive through fociety the tempest of every evil work, must not this be a fire kindled by hell?-Frattery is a fin the opposite of censure.-Vice, with all its assumptions, never dated to assume consistency. This would be to destroy itself. Whatever its pretensions, by its votaries, may be, its life and foul will forever confift in inconfiftency. " A flattering mouth, faith Solomon, worketh ruin." thus it doth in a thousand different forms. The tortuous windings of the tongue in this kind of evil, exceeds the intricacies of the Labyrinth. There is no thread or clue, by which the unhappy traveller can make his escape. And perhaps few vils, in which the ministers of the gospel are enveloped, and from which they receive injury to their own fouls, and by the practice of which they commit injury upon the fouls of others, equal to this. Mimilers are flattered, this blinds their minds, and inflates their hearts to flatter others. Hence they are disposed, to flatter those under concern of soul, that they are converted; those under some trouble of mind, that they ought to be comforted; those under just fears, that they ought to give their apprehentions to the wind, and go on in their beavenly courte rejoicing. The great evil here is, their wealthy supporters flatter them with the excellency of their performances, and they return the adulation with a tenfold accumulation, that they and their children are on the high road to heaven. Their hearers intimate to them, the fermon ought to be printed and circulated round the 'world; the ministers heart replies your salvation is certain. This is a subject I have often wished to see judiciously and scripturally handled. think it might be of great advantage to public orators upon every occasion, and of the most eminent utility to the weekly speakers, and the daily directors of fours.

I heard a minister above sifty-sive years ago declare fromsthe pulpit, "that the pavement of hell was of minister's skuls," and I have often prayed that mine might not be one of the pebbles. Pardon, my brethren, this excursion, which a whole discourse would be too contracted for illustration. Hearken to a few declarations of scripture upon the evils of a flattering tongue. "He that speaketh flattery to his friends, even the "eyes of his children shall fail. They that flatter with their "tongues, destroy them, O Lord. The Lord shall cut off all "flattering lips. A flattering mouth worketh ruin. Meddle "not with him that flattereth with his lips. A man that flat-"tereth his neighbour spreadeth a net for his feet."

I must not detain you to speak of tattling, talebearing, whispering, and an incalculable number of fuch evils. " godly man diggeth up evil, and in his lips there is a burning " fire. A prating fool shall fall. A fool's voice is known by " the multitude of words. Thou shalt not go up and down as " a talebearer among thy people. The words of a talebearer " are as wounds, they go down into the innermost parts of the "belly. A whisper separateth chief friends. All that hate " me whisper together against me." I must pass over the use of the tongue in idolatry, praifing of idols and praying to them; all cheating," deceiving, and overreaching in words, and all illurements to evil company, and the enticements to lasciviousness and to innumerable wicked practices, too tedious for the description of a world of iniquity. "The tongue is a " fire, a world of iniquity; fo is the tongue amongst the mem-"bers, that it defileth the whole body, and fetteth on fire the "course of nature, and it is set on fire of hell." Let us turn away from the unhappy theme, and close the disagreeable subject with a reflection or two.

First restection is, that the fins and duties of the tongue are fo great and many, that it ought with the utmost circumspection to be watched over—and the way to watch it is to guard

the heart. If the latter be neglected, the former will always stray into the wilderness of sin. Let the heart be kept in purity, and this alone can confine the tongue to duty and propriety. If pride, vanity, or wickedness bloat the one, the other will always be bubbling over its banks. A divine counsel is, "Keep thy heart with all diligence, for out of it are the issues of life." This is the fountain from which the streams of evil from the tongue flow. If the heart be on the world, the flowing torrents of the tongue will be on the things of the world. If the heart be proud, the mouth will speak proudly. If the heart be vain, malicious, slanderous, envious, &c. the tongue will be so also. Guard the heart, and this will be a faithful centinel for the tongue, that it can neither set on fire the course of nature, nor be set on fire of hell.

Secondly, we reflect, that the love of God and our neighbour, the love of purity and holiness, is the best possible security against the evils of this unruly member. This will tame, what otherwise the power of no man can regulate or subdue. Wherefore, to speak right, we must first think and understand, and we shall speak according to the oracles of reason, and according to the oracles of God. If this rule could be observed, few would be the words uttered to what they now are. When a man considers what he is to say, then will he speak understand-"The mouth of the just bringeth forth wisdom, "but the froward tongue shall be cut off. The lips of " the righteous know what is acceptable, but the mouth " of the wicked speaketh frowardness. The tongue of the " wife useth knowledge aright, but the mouth of fools pour-"eth forth foolishness. A fool's lips enter into conten_ "tion, and they are the fnare of his foul. Seeft thou a man "that is hasty in his words, there is more hope of a fool than " of him."

The closing advice is, after relinquishing the disagreeable

fubject, let us refolve, my brethren, to govern this unruly little member which creates a world of mischief here, and heats a more dreadful furnace than Nebuchadnezar's hereafter. Let us set a watch upon the door of our lips, guard our passions, hourly inspect the temper of our hearts, be much in prayer, and, in one word, let us be christians.

SIERMON XVIII.

The Symptoms of the Day of Grace being past.



Jer. viii. 20. The harvest is past, the summer is ended, and we are not saved.

THESE words are the most heart aching and despairing moan, that was ever uttered upon earth. They are a part of the lamentations of the weeping prophet, for the ruin and complete desolation brought upon them by the Babylonian fword. The dreadful horror of the case, with all its accompanying realities, had been represented in the preceding part of this chapter; and in the description is contained, the awful degeneracy, and the procuring cause, of the nation's ruin.

The divine vengeance had been long restrained by the superior power of mercy, yet mercy herself, by their persevering impenitency and increasing wickedness, was at last compelled from her station, and the floods of wrath burst forth in irresistable torrents, and laid the whole land in utter waste. In the eighteenth verse the afflicted prophet utters his doleful feelings in reference to this unhappy case. "When I would com"fort myself against forrow, my heart is faint in me."

When I would awaken a glimmering expediation of the hiterpolition of heaven in our favour, my foul finks within me. refuses comfort, and nothing arises but gloomy and despairing ideas. Let my head be waters and mine eyes a fountain of tears, that I may weep day and night for the spoiling of the daughter of my people. Behold I hear from far. even from the North country and from the fides of the earth, lamentation, weeping and bitter mourning, for my unhappy and miserable people, because of the oppression of those who dwell in the north country and fides of the earth. The horror of the case extracts from the soul of the prophet, broken accents of supplication for their safety and deliverance. "Is not the " Lord in Zion? is not her king in fler?" Hereby the prophet would humbly infinuate that the honour and reputation of their Lord and king would be deeply affected, if his people should be given up to the devouring jaws of his enemies. if he had faid, hast thou not covenanted to be Zion's Lord and Saviour, to know her in adversity, and to be a present help in time of trouble? Wilt thou now forget thy character and be unmindful of her in her greatest extremity? Canst thou now fuffer thy name to be traduced among the nations?—Cant thou tarnish thy reputation, and give the heathen an opportunity to blafpheme? To which the Sovereign king in hasty indignation replies, there is no hope for them, the last drop of mercy is exhausted. "Why have they provoked me to anger "with their graven images, and with strange vanities?" Then the doleful lamentation bursts from the prophet, in the despairing language of our text; "The harvest is past, the " fummer is ended, and we are not faved." Hitherto he feemed to have entertained fome glimmering hope, but now finding the decree is palt, he is overwhelmed in all the anguish of gloomy despair. Heaven frowns, God is departed, and nothing but the blackness of darkness impends over their guilty heads. The Babylonians are upon us and we must endure their rage and fuffer all their fury. Their cavalry have en*from Dan; the whole earth trembled at the found of the "neighing of his strong ones; for they are come, and have "devoured the land, and all that is in it; the city and those "that dwell therein?" Had we attended in time to the measures proper, made suitable preparation for desence, these evils might have been averted; but now our case is irremediable, our destruction inevitable.

Thus we have a view of the words in their primary reference, which was to a temporal and civil falvation. an easy accommodation of this text, it expresses with great force the unhappy and miferable state of a foul which has outfat its day of grace. The loss of spiritual as well as temporal salvation in respect to this wretched people was probably comprehended in this despairing lamentation. Their seasons and opportunities for securing eternal salvation in a great measure expired with the destruction of their country and the loss of their national privileges, both civil and ecclefiastical. God had hewed them by his prophets and flain them by the words of his mouth, yet they obstinately persevered in impenitency and wickedness. They were now removed beyond the found of a prophet's voice, where there was no temple in which they could worship or priest to offer facrifice. None to solicit their repentance or essay their reformation. Now the want of spiritual falvation, and the lofs of the means of obtaining it, are valtly greater and more confiderable, than the same in a temporal sense; hence we may justly suppose the prophet intended both in this awful and heart breaking, lamentation. For what is the loss of the former in comparison of the latter? What is the destruction of a town, the facking of a city, or the ruin of a nation, to the wrath and vengeance of an infinite God, which will be inflicted upon lost fouls forever and ever. The intention of the words, tho' oxiginally applied to a community, yet with great propriety they are applicable to persons living un-

[202]

der the gospel, enjoying the means of grace, and continually neglecting and misimproving the same. This is matter for the deepest lamentation, mourning and woe. To think of persons having been long favoured with a season of grace, and opportunities for securing the salvation of their souls, and all have been neglected, the case is truely deplorable; death approaching, time expiring, and the greatest business of life still unpersormed. We are not to pronounce any man's day of grace past, while they continue in this world, yet there is reason to sear, it may be the melancholy situation of many. Every man must look into his own heart and judge for himsfels.—Here we may enquire,

First, into those circumstances and symptoms which render it probable, that those on whom they are found, their day of grace is past.

Secondly, evince that this is a state both lamentable and dangerous.

Before I proceed further in this subject, I would be gleave to make two preliminary remarks. First, we would not pretend to undertake to define the limits and bounds of the day of grace in reference to any people, or any particular persons. This is beyond human adjustment, and is alone proper to omniscience. We have no standard of the divine dispensations in instances of this nature.

Secondly, we premife, that there may be a great difference in respect to the termination of such a day. It may be over with a collective body of people, when it may not be past with every individual appertaining to such a body; and it may be over with particular persons in a place, when it is not past with that people in general. We proceed now,

First, to enquire into the circumstances and symptoms which render it probable, that the day of grace is past with those on whom they are found.

First, if persons have lived for a long series of years under a faithful and powerful ministry, and yet have not made any spiritual improvement, or received any spiritual benefit therefrom. This case, however common, certainly wears a black and gloomy aspect, and must be apprehended at least to afford some ground to fear respecting the sad conclusion. These perfons have long enjoyed a faithful ministry; their condition with all the consequences of it, has often and plainly been stated before them in their intrinsic dread and horror, and they have been warned to escape for their lives, and to flee to the hope set before them. This hope and the method of deliver ance thro' the mediation and facrifice of Christ, the son of God and the Saviour of the world, has been clearly, according to the scriptures, represented unto them. They have been entreated with all the variety and powers of language, to embrace the offers of mercy by faith, to relinquish their iniquities by repentance, to give up their hearts in love to God, and engage in the duties of religion fincerely. And notwithstand ing all the pains which God has taken with them for a multitude of years, the y have still remained inconsiderate. fecure and unimpressed. What could God have done more for fuch, than that he hath done? We have an awful illustration of the judgment which awaits those persons in the epiftle to the Hebrews. "For the earth which " drinketh in the rain which cometh oft upon it, and bringeth " forth herbs, meet for them by whom it is dressed, receiveth so bleffing from God; but, that which beareth thorns and 66 briars is rejected, and is nigh unto curfing, whose end is to "be burned." We here behold the excellency of the word of the gospel. It is compared to rain which refreshes the earth and renders it fruitful. We see also the different effects of it

on different persons; it is to some a savour of life unto life, while to others, it is a savour of death unto death. Some, after all the showers of the gospel, remain barren and unstruitful; they are nigh unto cursing whose end is to be utterly consumed. "He that being often reproved hardeneth his neck, "shall suddenly be destroyed and that without remedy."

Secondly, when persons have passed thro' special seasons of the out pouring of the Spirit of God; when many have been awakened and converted, and souls have slocked to Jesus as doves to their windows, and they have continued still secure and unconcerned. Surely their case must have an unhappy appearance. These are the most likely seasons of getting saving good, and of engaging effectually in the service of God-Persons who have sat thro' various such times, and still going on thoughtlessly in worldly pursuits or carnal pleasures, have great cause to be afraid and to tremble by reason of the danger of their condition.

Thirdly, when persons have been the subjects of powerful convictions, and have had the workings and strivings of God's spirit, and after all have returned to their former deadness and fecurity in fin. This certainly is a cafe as dreadful and threatning as any yet mentioned, and perhaps more fo. is flated in a tremendons light by our Lord. "unclean spirit is gone out of a man, he walketh thro' " dry places feeking rest and he findeth none. Then he faith " I will return into my house from whence I came out, and " when he is come he findeth it empty, swept and garnished; "then goeth he and taketh with himself seven other spirits "more wicked than himfelf, and they enter in and dwell "there; and the last end of that man is worse than the first." Hearken to the threatning of Jehovah in such an instance-" Because I have purged thee, and thou wast not purged, thou " shalt not be purged from thy filthiness any more, till I have " caused my fury to rest upon thee."

Fourthly, if persons have formed a false judgment of their Rate, and have taken up a hope that they are religious, upon infufficient or delusive grounds; and have long buoyed themfelves up with the vain confidence of their piety, while their habitual irregularities of life too strongly indicate the contrary. They proceed on in their unfounded hopes, partake of the most solemn and sealing ordinances, and they become more blind, confident, and void of all suspicion, until the fatal hour of death dissolves the charm. This was the case of the pharifees of old, and continues to be the condition of many hypocrites down to the present day. "These are they who are " pure in their own eyes, and yet are not washed from their They proclaim their own goodness, and are " apt to thank God, they are not as other men are." These are among the number of those to whom God gave a space for repentance and they repented not. Behold the flowing tears of a weeping Saviour over a people who had outlived their day of grace; and hear the heart rending mean bursting from his compassionate lips. "O that thou hadst known, even "thou at least in this thy day, the things that belong to thy of peace, but now they are hid from thine eyes. The harvest is over and the summer is past, and they are not faved."

"Fifthly, when a gospel ministry and gospel ordinances are removed from a people, this wears a dreadful and dangerous aspect. The means of grace and salvation are taken away, the strivings of God's spirit have ceased, and such a people are prepared for judgments. God is about to institute upon such the punishment of irreclaimable Ephraim, and say, "All their wickedness is in Gilgal, for there I hated them; for the wickedness of their doings, I will drive them out of mine house, "I will love them no more. Give them, O Lord, what wilt "thou give?—give them a miscarrying womb and dry breasts." Or the fatal stupidity of impenitent Israel. "Make the heart "of this people sat, and make their cars heavy, and shut their

eyes, lest they see with their eyes and hear with their ears, and understand with their heart, and convert and be healed."

Now collect all these symptoms or appearances into one view, for they ought not to be separately fixed upon any character, but when the assemblage is applicable to any people or person, the danger is great lest they should perish forever. If they have been savoured with a faithful ministry; various seasons of the out pouring of the divine spirit; have been the subjects of strong convictions and powerful awakenings; have become reformed, and have formed mighty resolutions; and imbibed a hope upon insufficient grounds, and this salse and delusive considence grows stronger and stronger; what can be said of such persons but that their day of grace is past, and that they are given over to strong delusion, to believe lies, that they may be damned. A few words upon the

Second head will abundantly fuffice, that this is a state both lamentable and dangerous.—The deplorableness of this case will appear from the nature and preciousness of the foul; the irrepaiableness of the loss of it; and the dreadful aggravations attending the same. The foul is above all created things precious. Did not the Son of God lay down his life for its falvation? The loss therefore must above all conception be tremendous. The person who can measure eternity, and grasp the flames of hell in his hand, let him make the calculation of The declaration of our Lord upon this subject has been so many thousand times reiterated, that daily repetition has blunted its edge, and turned it into all the weakness of dullness. Yet once more it asks your attention and serious confideration. It never made a more folemn appeal to your hearts, judgments and consciences. "What is a man profi-"ted, if he should gain the whole world," in all the trinity of its powers, its honors, profits and pleasures, "And " lose his soul, or what can be given in exchange for the soul?"

The bargain has weakness inscribed on the bill of exchange, and its protest exhausts eternity to make reparation. enemy of fouls could not wish for a more bitter lamentation than that which our Lord poured forth over the city of Jerufalem, who had outfat their feafon of grace, and amused away their space of repentance. "O Jerusalem, Jerusalem, thou that " killest the prophets and stonest them which are sent unto thee, " how often would I have gathered thy children together, even 44 as a hen gathereth together her chickens under her wings, and ye would not; behold your house is left unto you de-66 folate." Despair is your allotment, and destruction your eternal portion. Angels and good men, and all in heaven and earth must bewail in all the anguish of woe your irrevocable fate. You are lost, you are damned forever. Your cry must be couched in all the language of desperation, "The " harvest is over, the summer is past, and we are not faved." Nothing but the plunge of eternal damnation is before you. Gloomy the apprehension, and inexpressibly more dreadful the twinging experience.

A word of examination and exhortation must finish this fearful discourse.

First, if we are not harder than the nether mill-stone, let us pause, consider, resteet, and examine. Is there any hope for us? Is our destiny sealed? The old adage is, while there is life, there is hope? Is it possible to change the divine decree, and avert almighty vengeance? If you will attend in this day of life and repent and turn, the arm of the Most High is infinitely extended in mercy, and who dare say, but you may yet obtain salvation? None will be so hardy as to point out the individual whose day of grace is past. Wherefore, as the means of salvation are continued to you, God is forbearing and exercising patience towards you, who knows but he is waiting to be gra-

cious? Hence examine yourselves, look into your own hearts. and see whether ye may not yet turn unto the Lord. Take to you words and say, "We have long finned against thee, " deafened our ears to the calls of thy gospel, but now after to " long a time, we will attend to our fouls, hear and return." This address shall conclude in a brief advice to aged and middle aged finners. With regard to the old, among which I hold a foremost rank. Our sun spreads its seeble beams, and is just plunging beneath the horizon. And we know it is faid, "The finner dying an hundred years old shall be accur-" fed." Here it will be asked, whether a finner who has outlived the power of finning can be faved? Surely he can upon the terms of the gospel. If he hath lived ninety and nine years in fin, even yet the door of mercy is open, if he will repent and embrace that Saviour, who hath declared, "All "manner of fin and blasphemy he will forgive." Here is encouragement and ground of rejoicing for old finners. us not even yet despair; but in the closing period of life, let us glorify God by shewing forth the mighty power of his grace in our conversion, repentance, faith and salvation. finner who repents shall be faved. Blessed declaration! wherefore, let the finner bending to the earth under a weight of years, turn unto the Lord, and receive the rich and free blef. fings of eternity. You will fing the highest notes of grace in the celestial regions. Some were called at the eleventh hour.

And with regard to finners of middle age there is hope for you. There is grace enough in our Father's house and to spare. Jesus came to call sinners to repentance. Are you sinners? the merciful-call is directed to you. "Return thou backstiding Israel, saith the Lord, and I will not cause mine anger to fall upon you." "If the wicked will turn from all his sins that he hath committed, he shall surely live, he thall not die. I have no pleasure in the death of him that

"dieth, faith the Lord God, wherefore turn and live. Rent
"your hearts, and not your garments, and turn unto the Lord
"your God, for he is gracious and merciful, flow to anger
"and of great kindness. Thus, faith the Lord of hosts, turn
"ye unto me, and I will turn unto you." There were in
Niniveh aged, middle aged and young finners. "They turned
from their evil way, and God repented of the evil that he
faid he would do unto them, and he did it not." Let the
prayer of all, of every age and of every rank, be, "Turn us,
"O God, and cause thy face to shine, and we shall be saved."

SERMON XIX.

God the Author of all Afflictions and Troubles.

Job, v. 6, 7. Although affliction cometh not forth of the duft neither doth trouble spring out of the ground; yet man is born unto trouble, as the sparks fly upward.

THE being and perfections of God lie at the foundation of all piety and religion. A due knowledge and sense hereof is the first and most immediate ground of all true exercises and holy affections. The glorious attributes of Jehovah are the primary objects, to which religion in all its branches has respect. Not only so, but the very essence of it consists, in sentiments, sensations and feelings of heart suitable and answerable to the beauty, glory and excellency of these perfections, and which, when properly apprehended and realized, are adapted to produce, and will certainly produce in all rational creatures, whose temper and taste is as it ought to be. In this correspondence therefore of the frame, temper and exercises of the soul to the real character or name of God, consists much of true religion. Hence some just and true knowl-

edge of the great Supreme must be the origin of every spiritual feeling and of all godly practice. Of consequence, if our notions and conceptions of his nature, truths and perfections are erroneous and false, and not agreeable to the accounts he has given of himfelf in his word, whatever degree of affections, and feemingly good exercises of heart, these notions and apprehensions may produce in us, there can be nothing in them of true religion. Because the objects by which these affections are excited, are delusive and false; they have no existence, but in our own blind and deceived minds, hence these exercises and affections have no correspondence to the real nature and perfections of God, in which confifts the very essence of all fincere piety and christian godliness. For the fake of illustration, let us suppose a person to have conceived a notion of God as a being of a blind and undiffinguishing propenfity to compassion, mercy and indulgence; of such abfolute facility of temper, as not to adhere to the rules of justice, or to regard the moral conduct of his creatures ; now for a person from these apprehensions of God, to be pleased with him, love him, and feel transports of affection, there can be no religion in fuch exercises as these, for all is mere fancy and delusion. There is no such God, and the being he respects and admires is a mere idol of his imagination. On the other hand, let us suppose a person to have conceived an idea of God, as a rigorous, cruel and vindictive being, and disposed to punish his creatures, merely for the fake of punishment, now for this person to be filled with fear and dread of this supposed deity, and is very cautious in all his conduct, lest he should excite his refentment, there can be no religon in this fear, for the reasons already assigned.

From these observations, it cannot but appear, how necessary a revelation from God is, to teach us his true character, and to give us a just knowledge of his nature and perfections in order to the being and practice of religion. And how care-

fully should we attend to the accounts given us in this revelation respecting himself.

Some proper knowledge of God is necessary to form us to those frames, exercises and sentiments, which we ought to feel with regard to all his providential dispensations, especially fuch as give us a great deal of pain and affliction, and appear to be intended for this very purpole. Many such dispensations we are the subjects of in the course of our lives; many that are excedingly painful and greivous. Our text assures us that none of the evils which befal us come by chance, or are fortuitous events. However God may employ secondary caufes in the affliction of mankind, yet it is his hand behind the scene that directs the whole. " Affliction cometh not forth of " the dust, neither doth trouble spring out of the ground; yet " man is born to trouble as the sparks fly upwards." Neither foil nor climate produce afflictions without the agency of God. Nay, so insignificant an incident as a sparrow falling to the ground, cannot take place without the notice of our heavenly father. When it is here denied that afflictions and troubles are not mere accidental events, nor the effects of natural and common causes, there must be some efficient in these matters of great importance, and this can be none other but God. denial of the attribution of this effect to any natural agency. certainly implies in the clearest manner, that God is the author of all affliction, calamity and trouble, which befal the children of men.

The implicated affertion in these words shall employ our attention at present, to wit, that when mankind are afflicted, pained and grieved, that it is the hand of God which doth / these things. Or in other words, when mankind is in trouble, God is the author of all their afflictions.

To this head of afflictions are to be reduced all the natural

evils which men feel, or are the subjects of. All those natural things univerfally, which give us pain and diffress, destroy our comfort, ease and happiness, and involve us in misery, anguish and wretchedness in all their infinite and indescribable forms. In this are included not only the more common and ordinary. but the more figual and extraordinary events which produce these effects in their higher and more painful degrees. The enumeration of these, even under general heads, exceeds the . powers of calculation. Such as wars, famines, pestilences, conflagrations, inundations, bereavements, diseases, death, &c. In one sentence, all the plagues and natural evils of this life and of the world to come. He who can count the drops of the ocean, or the fands on the ebbing shore, let him undertake the enumeration. When we speak of the divine agency in the evils among rational beings throughout the universe, or the evils comprehended in time and eternity, all know that evils are of two kinds, natural and moral, and we muk always carefully distinguish between them. Natural evil is that which consists in pain and suffering in all its infinite variety and extent; moral evil is that which is contrary to duty, a want of conformity to the divine law, or a violation of moral obligation. God is not the author of moral evil, neither indeed can be. This is absolutely out of the power of his nature as it implicates impotency, weakness and inconsistency, which are ever far from God. He is infinitely abhorrent to every thing He is not tempted with evil, neither doth he tempt any man. All positive agency or direct and immediate influence in the production of fin would be a renunciation of his existence, a denial of himself, and, O blasphemous expression, that he had commenced sinner! Few of the authors of metaphyfical divinity, from Dr. Twifs down to the prefent day, but what I have read; I know they can twist words to speak things which they mean not, and which they would not wish any to understand in their usual acceptation. Divines and moralists, like other philosophers, become sometimes intoxicated with speculations, they issue affections and then spend pages of explanation, and finally, after much labour, study and toil, as they can be understood, they return again within the lines of sobriety and common sense.

God has permitted fin for wise and most important purpoposes to enter into this world, and he overrules it for the glory of his name and the benefit of the general system. It is enough for us to believe, "That the wrath of man shall praise him "and that the remainder of wrath he will restrain."

Though we in the most perfect manner acquit God of being the author of fin or moral evil, yet reason and scripture every where declare him to be the cause or author of natural evil, of all pain, punishment and suffering from the lowest to the highest degree, both in this world and in the world of hell-He is the author hereof in divers respects.

First, as he is the founder of that establishment by which natural evil becomes inseparably connected to, or with moral. The former is the unchangeable effect of the latter. This connection is as indissoluble as cause and effect. Where one takes place, the other certainly follows. God has solemnly demonstrated that this connection is inviolable and indissolvable in any other way but by the gospel. He has displayed this truth with awful and incontrollable evidence in the death and sufferings of his only begotten son, when he stood in the law, room and place of guilty sinners.

Secondly, he is the author of affliction or natural evil, as he by positive influence and direct agency, in consequence of the iniquities of men, brings on those events, changes and revolutions, which are productive of the greatest pain, misery and distress to mankind. This influence is employed in a thousand imperceptible modes, so concurrent with the visible course of

things, that his band is neither observed nor considered. Hence the events are ascribed to the mere operation of naturill causes, while God is the author of all these distresses and troubles. These ought always to be attended to by rational creatures, as a just correction of their fins, defigned by heaven for their amendment and their good. Sometimes God exerts his agency in the production of events for the punishment of the wickedness of men, which are very extraordinary in their appearance, and fash terror on the most blind and stupid foul: he suspends the laws of the natural system, arrests the sun in his course, causes the staff in the hand to become a serpent. opens seas and rivers to make a passage of dry ground, causes waters to flow from the flinty rock, &c. At other times where the laws of nature are untouched, they are so overruled as that events arise which are preternatural, and pour down torrents of affliction on man. God acts herein in all instances, not only as the Lord of nature, but as the moral Governor of the universe. And he has invisibly produced and applied these events in such a connection with wickedness, as is a full demonstration of the scriptures being the inspiration of God-Any person well informed in the history of the bible, cannot avoid observations of this dreadful import.

That God is the author of all natural evil, in all its common and tremendous forms, let us a little attend to the evidences of this awful truth. None I hope can mifunderstand my meaning on this subject, when all natural evil is ascribed to God as the author thereof, that it intends, all afflictions, pains, sufferings and calamities, which we can be the subjects of, in our personal, samily, national capacities, characters or relations. It is that punishment which stands infallibly connected with sin by the divine constitution. Had not mankind sinned, they would never have known what natural evil meant. But as they are sinners God has determined to entail calamities upon this gulf y and unhappy would. Wherefore all punish-

ment or natural evil is to be confidered as proceeding from his hand both in time and eternity. That God is the author of all the punishment in the eternal world is plain. He formed that direful division in the future state, called hell. He insticts all the awful torments which devils and damned spirits suffer there. The vials of his wrath are continually pouring into their guilty spirits and the smoke of his vengeance ascends forever and ever. This is the reward which the sinally impenitent and the workers of iniquity receive from the hand of their Maker. The burnings of Tophit, that tremendous surnace, are kindled by the breath of Jehovah. No doubt the devils and wicked in hell are great tormentors one of another. God operates by instruments and means in all worlds. All this eternal evil is ordained as the punishment of iniquity and the reward of transgression.

Now if God be the author of the greatest possible natural evil, surely with the utmost propriety the less may be attributed to him. Hence it is apparent whatever may be the means or secondary causes employed, God is the real author of all their pains, afflictions and troubles of this mortal life. "Afor fliction ariseth not of the dust of the earth, nor doth forrow come forth of the ground. There is not evil in the city and the Lord hath no hand in it." Job declares that natural evils proceed from God. "Shall we receive good at the hand "of God, and shall we not receive evil?" Therefore why should a living man complain, a man for the punishment of his sins?

The scriptures are full of authorities in confirmation of this matter. All the troubles and calamities of both saints and sinners, are always ascribed to the moral Governor of the universe. He was the author of all the plagues of Egypt; destroyed the sufficient born of the land, and drowned Pharoah and his hosts in the red sea. He was the author of all the calamities.

of the children of Ifrael in the wilderness; slew them by thoufands, and caused all these emigrants to perish in the desert, fave Caleb and Joshua. He often afflicted them with wars, pestilence and famine; scourged them by the nations round about, and distressed them by the Canaanites in the midst of He carried them into Babylon, ruined their city and country, and finally difperfed them among all nations as they are at this day. God was the author of the destruction of Babylon, Edom, Moab, &c. Yea, he has pulled down nations. and fet up kingdoms from the beginning even to the prefent time. Thus all affliction, trouble and distress, whether it refpects nations, communities, or individuals, comes from the hand of God. Nay, an arrow is not flot from a bow, but he directs it at pleafure, and fends it to the joints of the harness. It is as certain that God is the author of all punishment and affliction, both mediately and immediately, as that he is the Supreme Governor of the universe.

It cannot be aid that Nebuchadnezar destroyed Israel, and Cyrus, Babylon, any further than that they were instruments in the hand of God, and scourges to these nations for their iniquities and abominations. It cannot be said that Satan was the anthor of all the calamities which besel Job, for he could not do the least thing, however malicious he is, but by divine permission and direction. It is remarkable that Job never once blamed the Sabeans, Chaldeans, the devil, or the winds and the storms, but as a good and well informed man, who understood divine providence, acknowledged all that came upon him, was from God.

It will be objected, that when our Lord healed a woman, who had been bound eighteen years, he charges this affliction upon the devil as the author of it. "Ought not this woman "who Satan bound these eighteen years be loosed from this bond on the sabbath day?" To which it is replied, that

feripture must be interpreted by scripture, and ever understood in consistency with itself. The Jows crucified our Saviour, a soldier run a spear into his side, &c. yet it was God that bruised him, his wrath wounded him, and his sword was drawn against the man that was his fellow. Although the Jows performed the most wicked deed, which was ever perpetrated under the sun, yet it was the justice and wrath of God which was due to the iniquities of man laid upon him, that was the sole cause of all the sufferings, which Christ woderwent. He endured no more pain and calamity than God was pleased to lay upon him. So this unhappy woman, whatever affliction she may have endured, satan was nothing more than the mean or instrument, under the permission and direction of God, of all her troubles and calamities.

Satan and fin, in the facred oracles are frequently used as fynonymous terms. Ein is the procuring earse of Ends coming forth in all the infinite variety of afflictions which fail upon the children of men, upon saints and sinners. Let it be them observed, when God deals out painful and afflictive dispensations he always, to the whole view of the universe, proceeds upon the principles of justice and equity and never punishes as a somereign; "He doth not afflict willingly or grieve the children of "men." This will be considered in a future lecture. In the deluge, in the destruction of Sodom and Gemorrah, there was nothing of arbitrariness or caprice in his conduct. Injustice cannot dwell with the Judge of all the earth. Justice and judgment are the guardians of his throne, and he never deviates from the perfection of righteousness.

A very brief improvement shall finish the subjed.

First, we are here taught, that the consideration of afflictive events, of whatever kind or extent the same may be, as originating from the infinitely wise agency of God, are the only foundation on which they can make any proper impressions upon us, or we can receive any support or confolation under them. This attention to troubles and calamities, and a due consideration of them in their source and in all their bearings, cannot fail of producing useful and good effects. But also the best means of improvement will be of no avail without the influences of the Huly Ghost to give them effect.

Secondly, the confideration of a just, holy and gracious God fending dittretles upon us and prelling us under many troubles. is the highest possible encouragement and consolation to a believing heart. Let all who have experienced any deep afflictions, and whose views and exercises under them have been in any measure of a right kind, acknowledge that it was good for them to have been afflicted. A quiet, refigned and fub. millive feeling in troubles, blunt much of their force, and difarm them of their sting. Under these apprehensions and senfations the foul will often rejoice in tribulations. No circumstance to a pious mind in afflictions renders them so grievous and insupportable, as the want of a realising sense of the particular hand of God in them. This feeling and perception will be the first care and concern of such a person to obtain, and a leading measure to all proper exercises of heart in times of trouble.

Thirdly, we here learn, that it would be a dreadful thing, if this world in all its calamities, changes and revolutions, were not under the immediate government of God. A reflection of this kind would deftroy the whole comfort of existence in it. Existence in this world, if the Governor of the universe had not the administration, would be a curse, and absolutely insupportable, amidst all its tintel shows. No earthly affluence can compensate to a good man, the absence of the satisfaction of the divine government. On this supposition, it were better not be, than hold existence.

Lastly, let this subject exhort us, most sirmly to believe in God, his perfections and constant superintending care over all things; let us be patient under afflictions and troubles; in all seasons of distress acknowledge his holy hand; repent of our sins; submit to the divine will; and glorify him in adversity as well as prosperity. Remember, an eminent part of religions consists in submission to God. "Jesus, our perfect example, "said, even so, Father, for so it seemed good in thy sight." Thy will be done." All the followers of Christ, whatever may be their sufferings in this life, will surely be happy.

SERMON XX.

God's Pleasure is not the Affliction of his Creatures.

Sam. iii. 33. For he doth not affict willingly, nor grieve the children of men.

AFFLICTIONS confidered abstractly and objectively, or in themselves, can never be pleasing to any good being for their own sake. Misery, in its own nature, is ever abhorrent to the heart of reclitude. Yet however reluctant the Divine Being may be to punish his creatures, it may, by their conduct, become, absolutely necessary for the honor of his name, the support of his government, the dignity of his laws, and the good of the general system. Hence we see punishments from heaven are inflicted upon sinners of every age and of every description in this world and the next. In the words before us, God makes a declaration for the vindication of his own character, and for an inducement to transgressors to take all blame upon themselves. God declares that the afflictions and griefs of his creatures, tho' imposed by his hand, are not agreeable to his heart. It is true he afflicts and puts to pain in all cases, but these are to him a strange work, a work in which he has no pleasure. Hence he issue the proclamation in our text to all intelligences. It is an established maxim, an aphorism without exception. "He does not afflict willingly, nor grieve the children of men.". This is an afsertion of perfect truth in all instances whatsoever. Our attention at present shall be confined to the confirmation and illustration of this soul comforting doctrine. Hence you will please to consider the ensuing remarks.

First, when it is here said that God doth not willingly afflict or grieve his creatures, it cannot be the meaning that he doth not act freely and voluntarily in the dispensation of punishments and afflictions, as if he were not in these cases a free agent who acted his own pleasure, or did as he chose to do: but was under the force of compulsion in acts of this kind. That God must be perfectly free in all his conduct is a conclufion which arises from the very idea of his nature. To suppose he could be the subject of force or compulsion, would amount to the same thing as to suppose there was no God. For if he be not superior to all controul and force, he is not. All divine acts, as they must forever exclude every idea of force, they are absolutely free, hence they are always the result of inward choice and preference. There are no grounds for any acts of rational beings but two, force and choice; therefore where the former is excluded the latter is established. The very nature of liberty as it belongs to moral agents, is to do as they chose. And the very nature of a free action is, that it was the effect of choice and not of compulfion. The only thing incompatible is external force.

Hence all the acts of Jehovah are perfectly free and voluntary, his punitive acts and afflictive providences, as well as those of his mercy and grace. This is true from the lowest to the highest instances of them. The damnation of the wicked, of the sinally impenitent and unbelieving, is as free and volun-

tary an act in God, as the glorification of true faints. The one is as much the refult of choice as the other. Thus I prefume this remark is sufficiently evident.

Secondly, it cannot be the intention of the affertion in our text, that whatfoever afflictions he fends upon mankind gives him any imaginable tineture of pain or uneafiness, or in any way disturbs the tranquility of the eternal mind. The thoughts. attempts, and permitted outrages of creatures, cannot make the least alteration or change there. The system is unchangeably established, all proceeds on in the order of perfection; and the composed rectitude of the divine mind, prohibits every weakness of alteration. Whatever mortals may think, he certainly enjoys himself in the full perfection of felicity, notwithstanding all the infinite variety of changes, weaknesses, infirmities, and iniquities, which pass before him, and which he permits, directs and governs. All that comes to pass throughout all worlds, is under his fovereign controul. He does according to his pleasure in heaven and in earth- His pleasure and happiness directs universal nature.

The happiness of God is the happiness of the universe, and it stands infinitely distant from improvement or retrenchment. The happiness of God is the source of the selicity of all beings. This is the fountain of blessedness to all virtuous and good beings, both angels and men. This is the spring of all satisfaction, pleasure and enjoyment throughout all worlds. A destruction of this would entail misery upon the whole system of intelligences. It would spread desolation, horror, and torment through all nature. Even an indifference to the divine happiness, is an indifference to his existence, and is such a ressection upon the whole of being, as strongly indicates the most abandoned wickedness.

The effential happiness and holiness of God is an exhibition

D2

of his character in righteous and holy actions, consequently be enjoys an infinite complacency and satisfaction in his own conduct in all instances. This therefore must be the case in the institution of pain, misery and distrels, as well as his dispensations of mercy, grace and goodness. Would it be extending the idea too far, to fay, that God is as really happy in the damnation of sinners, as in the salvation of them that believe?—or that he has as real a complacency in his own conduct in the one case as in the other? In courts of human justice, the condemnation of a malesactor is as truly an act of benevolence, as conferring rewards where they are deserved. Selfish afflictions are prone to think otherwise, but there is no foundation for this in the nature of things.

When it is faid God doth not afflict willingly, nor grieve the children of men, it appears to import the following things.

First, that the pains and miseries of his creatures are not in themseves, abstractly considered, objects agreeable to God, or to the feelings of any good being. He does not inflict punishments for their own sake, and distresses and troubles are not objects of his pleasure. The divine nature is infinitely abhortent from every disposition of this kind. This is a disposition wholly proper to creatures of corruption, such as devils and wicked men. It is a branch of malignity of temper, and difinterested malevolence. The blessed God clears himself by an oath of every imputation of this kind. " As I live, faith the "Lord God, I have no pleasure in the death, or misery of " the wicked, but rather that they should turn and live." The life and happiness of his creatures are his delight, but their misery and torment his abhorrence. God has no more pleafure in natural than in moral evil; they are both alike difagreeable to his nature. Hence he afflices not, nor inflices punishment upon sinners for any pleasure arising therefrom.

Secondly, he does not dispense pains and troubles because he delights in rigour or feverity. This particular expresses fomething different from the former. There is a disposition among fallen creatures often to carry demerited punishment too far ; not to what can be firifily filed injuffice, but farther than was absolutely necessary to answer the ends of punishment, both with respect to the delinquent, the law, and the community. A less measure would have perfectly served all the ends of justice and government, therefore every degree of rigour and severity, or the extremity of justice, is far from the Most High. The there may be nothing in this case. strictly unjust, yet it awakens the idea of an imperfect character. There is fomething in the exhibition not amiable or lovely. When God declares, he does not afflich willingly, it evidently means to deny, that he ever fends anguish and trouble upon his creatures in the least tindured with rigour and severity. God lays no more upon his creatures than is justly necessary to support his government, vindicate his character, and exhibit the evil and danger of fin to the universe. The glo rious Jehovah is infinitely remote from feverities and every thing of this kind in his nature, temper, character and government.

Thirdly, remark, that the inflictions of griefs, forrows, pains and troubles, on the children of men, is not an arbitrary act in God, or the mere effect of fovereign will and pleasure. It is declared, "He will have mercy on whom he will have mercy." But it is never said, "He will punish whom he "will punish." Nothing can be more plainly expressed in words, than the contrary of this in our text. It is certain all exercises of mercy and grace towards sinners, originates from the sovereign pleasure and will of the great Supreme. To substitute any other principle in the stead of this, would be a subversion of the gospel, which is to give all glory to God instructions.

the falvation of men. That no flesh should glory in his presence, but that he that glorieth should glory in the Lord.

But in the distribution of punishments to his creatures, the foundation, measure, and rule of his conduct, is entirely different. In this case God never acts arbitrarily, or from mere sovereign will and pleasure. The proceedings of his administration in this respect are altogether of another nature. Here the unchangeable principles and rules which result from his own essential rectitude, and the inviolable nature of his perfections, a copy of which he has served us with in the holy scriptures, and attested it in all cases of this nature, to be the invariable standard of his proceedings.

Observe that this establishment for the punishment of inquity, is not an arbitrary measure, but arises from the nature, reason and relation of things, from the attributes of God, and the propriety of his administering the government of his extenfive dominions. And every degree of punishment affigned to the transgressors of reason and the eternal laws of rectitude, is no arbitrary act. Punishment or affliction in all its nature and degrees, can never under an infinitely wise government, exceed the bounds of fitness and reason. No sinner in earth or hell can justly say his punishment is excessive, or arises in the least measure beyond his demerits. The very supposition of any excess in this business would be destroying the natural as well as the moral difference of things. It would be casting God from his throne of perfect justice and judgment, deftroying the distinction between virtue and vice, fin and holiness, and involving the whole universe in tremendous ruin. The least deviation from persect rule in the distribution of punishments, would be worse than the wreck of nature and the crush of worlds. But if the punishment of fin arises from the perfections of God, and every degree of it is founded on the holiness of his law, then it is demonstrably evident, that no

instance of affliction or punishment is or can be an arbitrary act on the part of God.

Fourthly, we remark, that God never afflicts or punishes his creatures without an adequate and fufficient cause: nav. not without the greatest necessity, founded in the nature of things, and in his own unchangeable existence. This conelusion is perfectly accurate with regard to both worlds, to the future as well as the present state. We see the miseries and distresses of this world are exceedingly great, but the evils of the other world to which impenitent finners go, according to divine revelation, are infinitely greater. There is a demerit in the nature of fin, and in the temper and conduct of finners, which renders it indispensably necessary in the judgment of infinite wisdom, which cannot be suspected of weakness or partiality, to inflict punishments with all due proportion. world all punishment, however dreadful, is ever from the compassion and forbearance of God, directed in the lowest proportion to creatures in a state of probation for their correction and amendment; and in the future state, no punishment will in one iota exceed the laws of equity and reason. righteouiness holds the reins of government in all worlds And this is an invariable maxim in all the divine dispensations "He doth not afflict willingly, nor grieve the children of " men."

We have in time past experienced innumerable evils and distresses in this life, and our lives are continually chequered with them, therefore we ought seriously to consider that all this is not accidental—it is from God. These calamities are not to please himself or displease us. There is something in us in respect to the law and perfections of the Most High, which renders it absolutely necessary we should be treated in this manner. It is an immutable principle, that the God

ef all the earth always does that which is right. The treats ment therefore from a most righteous being, argues something extremely wrong, and infinitely offensive and provoking in us that can lay the ground for such a necessity, compelling as it were a character of such extreme amiableness and unspotted purity, to the insliction of evils abhorrent to his nature. God is love—punishment is his strange work—we are sinners, and the miseries of this life, and the pains of hell, demonstrate, that sin is exceeding sinful.

Too numerous are the inferences, and too extensive the application this subject naturally requires, therefore what remains must be crouded into a few intimations, which may serve for the enlargement of private meditation.

First, we infer that the evil and demerit of sin is inconceivably great. It is generally thought little of by mankind. Itsintrinsic turpitude is neither obvious to a darkened understanding, nor affecting to a stupid heart. The ill effects of it on: earthly comfort they often feel, and attribute them to a thoufand varient fources; but the nature and confequence of it. fin itself removes from their view. Hence they proceed on in inconfiderate indulgences, as their dispositions and fashions of the place where they live, direct the way, until they plunge deep into endless pain. No preaching, no warnings of providential dispensations, can instruct their minds or change their views; yet it is an absolute certainty that sin will not pass without an adequate punishment. In the eternal estimation of wildom, infinite milery is only deemed a rational punishment for iniquity, and this is actually entailed on millions in torment and will be perpetuated forever and ever.

We who are now in a state of repentance, and in the only world where mercy and grace are exercised, let us immediately fly for refuge to the atonement made for transgression. Christ who repent and believe might be redeemed from the curse due to sin. From the exceeding great evil of sin and the unchangeable constitution of the divine law to punish it, made it necessary that the captain of our salvation should become perfect through sufferings.

Hence it is of the highest importance, that we should perceive and seel some degree of the odiousness of fin, from which all genuine humiliation, contrition and repentance originate. In proportion to the sense we have of the vileness and turpitude of iniquity will be the meltings, forrow and brokenness of heart for the same. If this sensible feeling of the evil of sin be wanting, we remain destitute of every meetness for the friendship of God, according to the gospel. If this be present, it breaks the proudest and most unrelenting heart into the tenderness of contrition, and inspires it with the love of God and Christ Jesus.

Secondly, from hence we infer that the eternal punishment of finally impenitent sinners is absolutely certain. The text and whole doctrine irrefragibly confirm this inference. The punishment of sinners is not an arbitrary act, but arises from the holiness of the divine nature, the perfection of the law, the intrinsic demerit of sin, and the nature and reason of things. If the infliction of misery was an arbitrary or capricious act, there might be hope of an escape, for caprice is always a changing and unsteady principle, and there is no such thing with God.

This should awaken all to flee from the wrath to come. Let all who are at ease in Zion consider the horsor of their situation, while impenitent and unbelieving. You must assuredly perish without a saving closure with Jesus of Nazareth. How inconceivable and indescribable the nature of sin, which renders it necessary, that the God of compassion and love should

hate and punish us forever. He has no pleasure in this unhappy business, objectively considered; he cannot afflict willingly, but it arises from the holy propriety and beauty of vindicating the lustre of his character, magnifying the excellency of his law, and rendering it honorable in the view of all intelligences.

Thirdly, it appears from this subject that God is transcendantly amiable, not only in himself, but in all the branches of his administration. "He is righteous in all his ways and holy " in all his works." He is as equally lovely in the pain and affliction of transgressors, as in the dispensations of his mercy and goodness. His present conduct toward the disorderly inhabitants of this world, in all the calamities retailed upon them, is no diminution of his loveliness in itself, nor in the view of faints or holy beings. Sinners, it is true, form a different opinion, as their whole minds and conduct are perverse, and they declare that their distresses are arguments of rigour and feverity; this boils up the enmity of their hearts, and they cannot think with patience of a God of punitive justice. could they see their own hearts, they would rise as much against the sweet and amiable parts of the divine character as any other, for the whole of God, his laws and government, are the objects of their hatred. Not so with holy beings; all that is in God is lovely in their eyes, his judgments, wrath and vengeance, as well as his compassion, mercy and love. All heaven above and faints below unite, faying, "Righteous art thou, O "Lord, and upright are thy judgments. The Lord is good "and he doth good continually."

Fourthly, we infer, there can be no ground for murmuring and repining against God. All these heart burnings, heart risings, and hard thoughts, are perfectly unreasonable and unjust. However common they were with Israel of old, and still are with us, and however prevalent in all ages, they are

[231]

entirely unfounded. There is no cause for them either in the nature or perfections of God, but all these base exercises arise from the blindness, wickedness, and perversion of our own souls. We have none to blame but ourselves. Hence the heart of man is desperately wicked. If we could once be reduced to acquit and vindicate God and take all blame upon ourselves, this would shed around us gleams of hope.

Wherefore from the forbearance, patience and unwillingness of God to afflict or grieve the children of men, let us from these strong arguments be induced to humble ourselves, repent and turn from all our iniquities. Let us be exhorted to sty into the arms of a bleeding Saviour. Let us not tarry a moment in the tents of sin, lest the everlasting doors should be shut.

Ea

SERMON XXI.

The Preciousness of the Soul.

Pfalms, xlix. 8. For the Redemption of their Soul is Precious, and it ceafeth forever.

OUR existence is not confined to this state, neither our happiness or misery. We are all capable of, and formed for an eternal duration. And this interminable duration will be filled up with perfect felicity or perfect mifery. When death shall have performed his office and put a period to our present existence, we will have a full experience of this most solemn truth. Whatever may be our condition at this concluded moment of the present extence, that will be our condition throughout eternity. All change and deliverance after this event, has impossibility sealed upon it. This is ordained in the eternal nature of things, and in the immutable decrees of hea-" As the tree falls fo it must lie. There is no work, " labour, wisdom, or device in the grave whereunto we are " hastening." A short time, and we shall all know, and faints and sumers will prove, the truth of the account of the eternal world. We must quickly pass into, and feel in our souls the

foys of Paradile, or torments of the infernal regions. One or the other of these conditions await each of us, we draw nears we hasten towards them as fast as moments sly. The last moment will soon be here, and when it comes, we must pass into eternity prepared or unprepared. No circumstances can procure us a moments stay. We may plead the dreadfulness of our condition, and cry for a suspension of the stroke of death, We may groan with the most dolorous importunity, for the mercy of another day or hour; but in vain. We must pass to be swallowed up immediately and forever in the felicities of Seraphs or foreows of the damned.

In what a solemn point of view does this doctrine set the eternal world? How precious and invaluable does it render our present time, as the only season of preparation for it? What high conviction does it afford of the wisdom, importance and necessity of seeking the salvation of our immortal souls? And how clearly does it show the extreme folly and madness of hesitating, or being unwilling to submit to any labour or self denial, that may be requisite to obtain the redemption of them from everlasting misery?

This is the doctrine on which the discourse of the Psalmist in our text is sounded. He is showing the vanity of all worldly things as a ground of considence and trust in the day of death. Wealth or riches cannot support a man at that tremendous period. They cannot pure asset or effect the continuance of his life. They can give him no relief, nor afford him deliverance. "They that trust in their wealth, or boast themes selves in the multitude of their riches, none of them by any means can redeem his brother, nor give to God a ransom for him, that he should still live forever, and not see corruption." The special reason is assigned in our text, why riches cannot purchase life or redeem from death. "For the redeemption of the soul is precious, and it ceaseth forever."

That is, it is an article of too great value to be purchased by riches. All the wealth in the world is not an adequate price for this privilege. The whole sum, that all the sons of fortune can collect, cannot procure for them one moment beyond the time assigned them. Like other poorer mortals they do but stand their glass; they cannot stop the running sands. And when their glass is out, the redemption of their soul ceaseth forever.

The addition of this clause, "It ceaseth forever," has occasioned some variation among commentators respecting the sense of it. Some suppose that "The redemption of the soul" in our text, refers to the redemption made by Christ Jesus, and it being once performed and never repeated, it ceased forever. And it is an established truth, that the redemption of the soul from death and hell, is so precious and important, it could be obtained by no less a price than the death of the Son of God. And there is now no other method for a person to secure the salvation of his soul than by becoming interested in the redemption of Christ according to the constitution of the gospel. Hence it is said, "There is no other name given under hea-"ven, by which any can be saved, but the name Christ Jesus."

But the words as they stand in their connection seem more directly and evidently to refer to the absolute insufficiency of all riches and wealth as forever incapable of making so high a purchase as the redemption or salvation of the soul. The original word which is translated trasfeth, never signifies to cease from a thing by way of rest and quiet, but either because it is impossible to be performed, or to tease from a thing by way of contempt and rejection. In the former sense it is thus used, "Joseph gathered corn as the sand of the sea, until he less numbering;" or as the Hebrew is, until he ceased from numbering it; and the reason is given because it was impossible, "For it was without number." It is likewise used to express

contempt and rejection, as in the prophet Isaiah, "He was "rejected of men." The word rejected is the same as in our text.

These observations seem to settle the precise meaning of our text, that it is impossible, that wealth can redeem a soul from death, and it contemns and rejects all riches as entirely insufficient for this purpose. Hence this is the idea, to which your attention is invited in the present lecture.

That the falvation of the foul is incomparably more precious than all the riches and treasures of this world.

When any one considers what is here asserted by the Psalmist, and afterwards advanced by our Lord, that the acquisition of the whole world could not prosit a man who lost his soul, the truth of the doctrine must remain undeniable. For the sake therefore of proving this proposition, it were entirely needless to add any thing further. But the design of the gospel ministry is not merely to establish the doctrines of divine revelation, but one principal end is to represent and illustrate those doctrines, so that they may be most likely to strike the careless with conviction of their reality and importance, and rouse them out of their natural inattention, and regardsesses of the matters of religion.

In this view I would lay before you the following confiderations, tending to illustrate this true, that the foul is incomparably more precious than all the riches and treasures of this world.

First, the soul is capable of and designed for an eternal existence. The body must soon return to its original dust. The time is short, and this world with all its riches and treasures, in regard to us, will be no more. A sew years will close our

eves on all below the fun. As we brought nothing with zas hito the world, we can carry nothing out of it. "Wife mein "die, likewise the fool and the brutish person, and leave their "wealth to others." But when the body dies, and the world and its honors and pleasures are no more, the soul is as capable of existence as ever. It is not subject to corruption and decay like material things. It is a foirit and immaterial, having no corruptible principles in its constitution. There is no tendency in its nature to extinction or death; neither can this be effected by its own will, nor by the will of any other creature. but God who gave the foul existence, can extinguish it. His power is only adequate to this effect, and we are fure. he never will exert his power for any fuch purpose. As God made the foul capable of an eternal existence, so we are assured by himself, he designed it should endure forever. There will he no end of its duration. The fun and moon and flars must cease, the world with all its works must be burnt up, but the foul will exist immortal and forever. When millions of millions ons of ages are run out, the foul's capacity of existence will be the same. When as many millions more will be finished, it will be still as distant from any end of its duration, as remote from any tendency to non-existence, as the first moment it began.

The facred pages abound with confirmation of this truththat God made and defigned the foul of man for an everlasting duration. When the body returns to dust, the foul returns to God who gave it. Not to have an end put to its existence, but to be fixed in an unalterable state of happiness or misery forever, according to its character as being righteous or wicked. For on these two characters depends the eternal destiny of every soul of man. There is no third character among the human race. As a person is of one or other of these when he dies, so will his eternal state be, unspeakably happy or misecular. The rich man we are told died. Is this an end of his exist, ence? No—immediately he lift up his eyes being in torment. While his body was taken care of suitably to his rank in life, while perhaps with the utmost funeral pomp and solemnity they convey it to the vault of his ancestors, his soul is suffering the pains of eternal death. While hireling orators it may be are pouring forth upon him the finest eulogiums, celebrating him for every social and divine virtue, and in their wanton charity enrolling him among the blessed above, he is wailing under the execution of divine justice in the infernal regions, where a drop of water cannot be administered to allay the anguish of his burning tongue.

In like manner when Lazarus dies, we find his foul still in eristence after the death of his body. It was conveyed by angels to Abraham's bosom. But there would be no end of citing authorities to prove the future existence of the soul, or retailing the evidence of its being formed by God for an eternal duration. Let it be observed, that the whole system of revealed religion supposes the endless existence of the souls of men, as one of its essential grounds. Did not the soul live forever, there would have been no necessity for divine revelation, for law or gospel, for the incarnation and death of Christ, for ministers, sabbaths, or ordinances; but the soul will interminably exist, therefore this laid an important foundation for the whole of that religion taught us in the oracle of God.

Now if these things be weighed in our serious thoughts, what comparison is there between the riches and treasures of the world, and the soul, in point of value, preciousness and importance? Does not even reason reject the idea, of any equality or competition between them? Is not the difference as great as between a point and eternity, as between sinite and infinite? And yet is there need of labour and pains to convince men of the superior preciousness of their souls? Must there be line upon

fine, precept upon precept, argument upon argument, and persuasion upon persuasion for this purpose? And yet after all thousands and tens of thousands remain unconvinced to their dying day, manisesting by the whole of their conduct, that they esteem the treasures of this world beyond their souls. Do they by some superior sagacity discern a mistake in the calculation, and so are consident that riches are of the highest value—hence act the part they do? Nay, this is far from the case; for the more closely men attend to the position, with brighter evidence it appears. And nothing hinders men from receiving the conviction of their souls being infinitely more valuable than the things of time, but the blindness of their minds and conception of their hearts. The gloomy god of this world hath so perverted their judgments and darkened their understandings, that they do not receive the evidence of the plainest truth in religion.

Secondly, the foul is capable of inconceivable felicity or suffering throughout the whole of its eternal duration. That our souls are capable of happiness and misery, or pain and pleasure, we are assured from experience. All capacity of this kind which we find in ourselves, originates from and depends upon our souls. To the body, nor to any other system of mere matter, does such a capacity belong. Our bodies indeed, in this present state of union, are subject to innumerable pains and pleasures, but it is evident, this arises entirely from their connection with our souls, and depends upon it- For let this union be dissolved, and our bodies are immediately as insusceptible of these impressions, as any other masses of matter whatever.

In the same way of experience we are likewise sure, that our souls are capable of happiness and misery to a very high degree. There are none who have lived many years in this world, but must have had abundant evidence of this truth, either by experience in themselves, or by observation of others-

Every age and almost every year, produces instances of the exceeding greatness of misery and pain the soul is capable of. The distress of heart in some arises to that degree, that they not only wish they had never been born, but even curse the day of their birth. Nay, so exquiste is their anguish, that they are brought to be utterly weary of life, and their misery becomes so intense, that they put an end to themselves. They perform that awful act, which is the utmost exertion of their will and power, to extinguish forever that existence, which they can no longer endure.

On the other hand, the felicity of some have become so great that their frail bodies have been incapable of sustaining the extasy. It is wrought up so high that the body sinks and faints. The joy and rapture of the soul causes it to buist its way through the clay tabernacle, and rejoice unincumbered with the drosly mass.

What these instances are produced for, is to show the greatness of the pain and pleasure, or happiness and misery, of which our fouls are capable. But this is not the state any of these matters arrive at their highest degree of perfection. This is not the case with respect to sin or holiness, so neither with respect to happiness or misery. The present is a state of great imperfection in regard to all the concernments of our fouls. The fin and holiness, and the happiness and misery of the present, are as nothing compared with that future state into which we are passing. Thus the apostle Paul speaks of the felicity of believers in heaven, " That eye hath not feen. "nor ear heard, neither have entered into the heart of man the "things which God hath prepared for them that love him." Some christians have felt as much of the joys of the Holy Ghost as their present condition of mortality could bear, yet all this is as nothing in comparison of the felicity they will experience in the celettial world.

G2

Thus likewise the scriptures speak of the miseries of the wicked in a suture state. "Is there not a strange punishment to the workers of iniquity?" That is, there remains a punishment, misery and anguish to the wicked, unknown and unexperienced in this life. The torments of the damned have not entered into the heart of man to seel or conceive. And yet men have felt such misery that they could endure life no longer, and their existence has become quite insupportable.

These restections serve to convince us that our capacity of happiness and misery is vastly large; that the degrees of pain and pleasure our souls are capable of are exceedingly great. For if in the present state of impersection and weakness our felicity and wretchedness may rise to such a height, how inconceivably great must they be in that world where all things will be in a state of persection.

It is impossible for us either to ascertain or conceive the extenfiveness of the measure of pain or pleasure which souls experience in the future state. Thus much is evident, that the soul's capacity of happiness or misery is beyond the power of numbers to calculate, and the sorce of words to express.

These things must set the worth 'and value of the soul very high to one who seriously realises them. They exalt its salvation far above all the riches and treasures of the world. But what is the effect produced upon the minds of the most of mankind, when the amazing extent of the capacity of their souls is exhibited before them? When men hear what vast degrees of happiness and misery of which their souls are capable, does it move them?—does it awaken their serious attention and consideration?—does it cause them to set a high value upon their salvation? Or are they filled with a deep solicitude how to escape the one and obtain the other? No: quite the reverse of all this. Notwithstanding it is laid before them by the

frongest evidence and clearest demonstration, that the salvation of their fouls is incomparably more precious than all thetreasures and riches of the world, yet they are incomparablymore engaged to acquire the latter than secure the former. They plunge into the world with all their heart and strength, as tho' it were to last forever and could alone make them happy. How careless, unconcerned, and thoughtless is man with regard to his future state? "The ox knoweth his owner, and the 44 als his master's crib; but Israel doth not know, my people "doth not consider." With regard to the present life mankind in general are very forelighted, anxious and careful. They are greatly folicitous in making provision for times of sickness, and to have a support for the season of old age. But with respect to their souls and how it will fare with them in a suture state of existence, there is little or no attention or concern. The most precious interest is neglected, while that which is of inferior worth has immense pains and care bestowed upon it. The workings of unbelief are either fo great that they do not realise the immortality of their souls, or if they grant that they are immortal, it is in so cold and indifferent a manner, that it makes no impression upon them. If at times they have any remonstrances of conscience or misgivings of heart, about the state of their fouls, they ordinarily suppress such reflections by promising to consider these things hereafter, and commanding their minds to a more close attention to the world. " their way is their folly, and yet their posterity approve their " fayings," and their practice. But whether men will hear or whether they will forbear, and reject the counsel of God against themselves, the fact remains perfectly certain, that the soul and its falvation is incomparably more precious and valuable than all the things of time.

Many are the considerations which might be produced to illustrate and administer conviction of this, but I must not enter farther into them at present—And shall close the subject with one short reslection. It is this:

If men are not convinced of the superior worth of the falvation of their fouls, it is not for want of light and evidence, but because they will not receive it. "Light is come into " the world, but men love darkness rather than light, because " their deeds are evil." There is no man, who will allow himfelf to consider the nature of his soul, and its relation to eternity, and the nature of wealth and riches, supposing he could gain all the vast possessions of the world, but must be satisfied, that the falvation of his foul is incomparably more precious than the other acquisition. And if persons who live under the gospel are not convinced of this truth, there is no possible reason can be given for it, but that they do not chuse conviction. They hate the light and evidence which would discover this truth, and so they will not come to the light. will not fairly confider and weigh the matter in their own mind. lest it should reprove their deeds, and show them the horrid nature of their own conduct, and thus oblige them to alter it, or live under the insufferable lashes of conscience and terrors of divine wrath. If after we have had fufficient light and evidence to convince us that our fouls are more precious than the things of the world, and yet labour and toil more for the fading profits and pleasures of the latter, than for the eternal falvation of the former, our mouths must be forever flopt. We know what would be the consequence of this conduct from the unerring oracles of God, that if persons would thuse, seek and pursue the riches of the world beyond the glory of God and the enjoyment of him, they have nothing to expect but everlasting ruin. Thus men who act this part are wilfully their own destroyers. Their final destruction is etirely of themselves. They act contrary not only to the commands of heaven, but they violate the dictates and conclusions of their own reason. For they cannot but admit, in case they confider and allow they have immortal fouls, that they are infinitely more precious than the things of the world, and therefore the salvation of them ought to be set higher than any temporal acquisition, and sought and pursued exceedingly beyond it. They know and their judgments declare, where their conduct must lead and land them forever, even in unutterable misery, anguish and horror, "Where the worm dieth not and the fire is not quenched."

Let us now be feriously exhorted to attend to the concerns of our fouls above every other acquisition. Let us remember how much it cost Christ Jesus to procure the redemption of them. Confider his bloody fweat in the garden, and how he groaned and died on the cross in order that pardon and falvation might be purchased for your souls. Wherefore, if we now neglect our fouls, not only must we fuffer the torment of our loss, but all the encreased wrath of Jehovah for despising the blood of his son. O let us therefore humble ourselves before God, because of our worldly mindedness and carnality. Let us repent of our fins and turn unto God by faith in Jesus Christ. Remember how our blessed Saviour esteemed the riches of this world, how indifferent he was to them, and let us imitate his example. Let it appear that we are christians in reality, by living above the world and laying up our treasures in heaven. "Put ye on the Lord Jesus Christ, " and make no provision for the flesh to fulfil the lusts thereof-" Look not at the things which are feen and temporal, but at " the things which are unfeen and eternal."

SERMON XXII.

The Duty of Declining Christians.

Rev. ii. 4, 5. Nevertheless I have somewhat against thee, because thou hast left thy first love. Remember therefore from whence thou art fallen, and repent and do thy first works, or else I will come unto thee quickly, and will remove thy candlessick out of his place, except thou repent.

THESE words are part of a letter written at the express instance of the Son of God by the Apostle John, to the minister and church of Ephesus. The ministers of these seven churches are stilled angels; because as angels are the messengers of heaven, so ministers are messengers of God to mankind, to preach and explain to them the divine messages contained in the gospel. It happened in this church as in most of human societies, that tho' there was some good, yet there was a mixture of evil therein. In some respects they deserved praise, yet in others they were worthy of blame. What was good and commendable in them, is taken kind and particular notice of, and they receive high approbation for the same. Attend to the endearing praises given them by their Lord. "I know thy works, and thy labour, and thy

so patience, and how thou canst not bear them which are evil a se and thou hast tried them which lay, they are apostles and "are not, and hast found them liars; and hast borne, and 46 hast patience, and for my name sake, hast laboured, and 44 haft not fainted." Could more be faid in recommendation of any church or people? How many amiable qualities, vir. tues and graces, are here eminently and distinctly praised? Such as works of righteousness, assiduity in duty, patience under afflictions and sufferings, perseverance in religion, aiming at the glory of God as their chief end, labouring for the honor of Christ's name and the advancement of his kingdom, peculiar zeal for truth in doctrine, purity in worship and morals, strictness in government and discipline, rejecting apostolic imposters, ignorant and wicked ministers, &c. Yet after all these grand encomiums upon their excellencies, our Lord, whose eyes are as a flame of fire, beholds something amiss in them, and in the wonders of his goodness and love, he does not omit to reprove with faithfulness. And this he does in the most beautiful, gentle, and subduing language in our text. 46 Nevertheless, I have somewhat against thee, because thou 46 hast forsaken thy first love." This is the evil laid to their charge, and the only thing amiss in them; they had forsaken their first love; the warm and tender affections they felt and exercised in the season of their first espousals to Christ, had fuffered abatement and langour. They had not lost their love or religious affections entirely, but those which they once had, alas! had become cold and subsided; they possessed not that life and aidor which were formerly experienced, but were like a flame in the focket, approaching to extinction. After this our Lord subjoins a close and pungent exhortation. "Re-" member therefore from whence thou hast fallen, and repent, " and do thy first works." To this exhortation is added a most solemn and alarming threatening, " Or else I will come " unto thee quickly, and remove thy candlestick out of his "place, except thou repent." Such a friendly and faithful

admonition, and fuch an awful warning, ought to do good like a medicine; faithful are the wounds of a friend, tho' they may be very painful and afflictive.

We shall consider these words at present with relation to spiritual decays in general, and as applicable to particular persons, as well as churches.—Let us here enquire,

First, what these words which contain the reproof may be supposed to import.

Secondly, what is the duty of those who may find themselves immediately concerned herein.—In regard to the

First, you may observe, the reproof does not contain any charge of gross immorality, as in the case of the wicked, the prosane and prossigate part of mankind. With respect to these, our Lord has not only fome things but many things against them. His charge against them is infinitely more heavy and dreadful, such as wilful ignorance, security, obstinacy in sin, contempt of religion, rejection of his gospel, trampling under soot his blood, doing despite to the spirit of grace, impenitency, unbelief, and a thousand various and aggravated wickedness for all which they will hereafter be called to an impartial and fearful account. But the persons referred to in the text, are real christians, truly pious and good, as appears evidently from the context.

This charge implies more than common frailties and imperfect ons, to which the host of saints are always subject in this v.ry imperfect state of holiness. There is no man liveth and sinneth not. This text is designed to teach us more, than that no man is free from infirmities. This reproof to the church of Ephetius, introduced with so much solemnity, much surely imply more than the common frailties to which the most

[247]

tminent christians are incident. There are some weaker faints, whose spirits are tender and perhaps not well instructed. who are too apt to apply scriptural and providential rebukes to themselves in all their gloominess and terror. They become sensible of many evils by meditation on their own hearts and clearer discoveries of God and his perfections, from hence they tonceive awful apprehensions of their demerits, and pronounce bitter things against themselves, especially, if they be of a melancholy habit and a pensive turn of mind. Such infirmities and weaknesses we find often attending the most pious and devout. and tho' these are arguments for constant humility and watchfulness, yet they cannot be considered in the light of wilful fins, nor ought the tender and feeling christian with keen severity condemn himself as hereby breaking covenant with God. For the Christ is always in the midst of his churches, and his all penetrating eye beholds the inmost thoughts of evety foul, yet he is far from aggravating and refenting the unwilling and lamented failings of his upright fervants. It is not agreeable to the infinite benignity and compassion of his nature, to make the worst of their imperfections, especially where he observes also in his people a due sensibility of their failings and perceives penitential exercises of heart.

But these words are to be considered a charge against christians as decaying and declining in religion. As if our Lord had said, "O thou professor, and member of the christian church, thou renewed and converted soul, I know thy works, saith, patience and zeal; I charge thee not with hypocrist, nor infincerity in religion, that thou hast no love to me nor true grace in thy heart; but I charge thee with being a defedive and declining christian, thy love is not so fervent, thy saith so firm, thy walk so steady, thy conversation so savourv as it might and ought to be. Wert thou more attentive to, and better acquainted with thine own heart, thou wouldst dis-

[248]

tern many deficiencies and fad blots and blemishes there. Once thou couldst allow me thy whole heart, and all thine affections flowed towards me; but, alas! how art thou backfliden, how is thy fine gold become dim, how hast thou forfaken thy first love?"

Whose heart now has not some misgivings, lest the reproof may be directed to him? Who among its can lay his hand upon his breast, and plead, not guilty? Who has no reason for jealousy over himself, and can venture to say, the flame of his affections are not abated? Is there that high efteem of the incomparable worth and excellency of Christ, that humble and devout gratitude for his dying love, that meek submission to his will, that active zeal in his service, that charity to the needy, that warm benevolence to mankind, that prayerfulness and holy walking, which were wont to be in us, and which we once possessed and discovered? O that we could all make the appeal to our precious Saviour, which the Apostle did, when he was asked this question, " Simon, son of Jonas, levelt thou "me?"-And reply with him, "Lord thou knowest all " things, thou knowest that we love thee." Happy church, and bleffed individuals, who can make this answer? Or have not many of us reason to confess, that a dull and sluggish temper have taken hold of us, by reason of which we are less fervent in spirit, less warm in our affections, less devotional in the frames of our mind? Remember, O christians, time is fast hastening away, eternity is just ready to open upon us, and what progress have we made towards heaven? While the bridegroom tarries, are there not too many of us flumbering and sleeping? May not Christ with propriety address us as he did his people of old in the prophecy of Jeremiah. "Thus faith " the Lord, I remember thee, the kindness of thy youth, the "love of thine espousals, when Israel was holiness to the Lord, "the first fruits of his encrease, but now they have forsaken " me the fountain of living waters, they are gone far from

*Sme."—Well christians, if such be the case of any of your hearken to the affectionate rebuke and admonition of your Redeemer addressed to you, to warn you of the languishing state of your graces, and to arouse you to return to your first love. Wherefore I proceed,

Secondly, to explain the duty of those who may apprehend the reproof applicable to them. "Remember therefore from whence thou art fallen, and repent and do thy first works, or else I will come unto thee quickly, and will remove thy candlestick out of his place, except thou repent."

First, be thoroughly sensible of thy condition. We cannot be too deeply concerned about our everlasting peace and welfare. Let us consider how matters stand between God and our fouls. We are ready to enquire after, be careful of, and confult the health of our bodies; why should we not be as anxious about the health and vigour of our immortal spirits?. Whether they prosper or languish?-Whether their graces encreale or decline ?-Whether our faith, love, holy affections, and hope flourish, or whether they wither, fade and decay? -Whether we make advances in religion, or go backward ?-Whether we grow in regard to, and stedfastness in duty, or whether we become more indifferent to, and negligent of the divine service. Let us awake up and search and try ourselves. If upon scrutiny, we find ourselves departing from our first love; is it because God is less good, Jesus less amiable, religion less excellent, heaven less desirable, and less a relish for divine ordinances? If this be our unhappy case, nothing strange that doubts and fears should arise, that there should be secret damps, fearful misgivings, and sad sufpicions of heart. Examine yourselves, try yourselves, know ye not your own selves, how the love of Jesus is in you?

Secondly, be deeply affected with the unhappiness of your present circumstances. We should not only endeavour to

know our condition, but we should lay it to heart, lament and bewail it, and repent in dust and ashes. Let us remember from whence we have fallen. How warm our affections once. how tranquil our fouls, serene our hopes, and substantial our joys, when God first pacified our troubled consciences and revesses his pardoning love to our hearts. How did we feel in a world of pleasure, as the heaven had come to earth? Sentiments of gratitude then glowed in our breafts, and we felt as tho' we would be no longer faithless but believing. With a facred ardour and humble dependence upon divine grace, we fet forward in our journey towards the heavenly Canaan-But doleful confideration, where are we now? How has our love and zeal, our hopes and comforts languished? What drowliness and stupefaction beset us? How many fellow christians are outstriping us in every grace and virtue, in every good word and work? What spiritual pleasures do they enjoy, what celestial delights do they taste? Let our souls blush and be confounded, when we contemplate others far afcended towards paradile, and we perhaps fill groveling on the earth, or it may be, going the down ward way. Can we charge God with unkindness, or our blessed Immanuel with negligence? Where is the wildom, truth, honor or grace in our hearts when we unreservedly dedicated ourselves to the Lord and solemnly vowed to be forever his? Has he been a barren wilderness to us or a land of drought ?- Has he dealt with us untenderly, unfaithfully or deceitfully ?- No. We know that his love is perfect and unchangeable. If he hath forfaken us, it is because we first departed from him. What will be our wretched condition if he should treat us as we do him; if he should resent our coldness and neglects as they deserve? Tremble at the thought, O christian! and shake off thy supineness.

Thirdly, repent and do thy first works. Consider the path on which thou didst take thy departure from God, and return back in the same way in which thou wentest astray. A

maveller who hath loft his road and finds himfelf wandering. nauses, stands still, and recollects where he is sure he was right, and returns by the same track, however mortifying, tedious and irksome, and perseveres till he finds himself right again, and then with more vigilence and industry, he pursues the well known way, that he may recover the time he hath loft. Thus let the wandering christian go and do likewise. "Thus " faith the Lord, stand ve in the ways and see, and ask for " the old paths, where is the good way, and walk therein and "ve shall find rest to your souls." Every wrong step leads farther from God and happiness, encreases guilt and danger, and the return more difficult, the heart becomes more estranged and alienated, the sense and relish of divine things more languid. Let wanderers and backfliders be speedy therefore in their return to God. Whoever defers things necessary to be done, never performs them so easy as at first. If we delay in this important business, and should be visited with sickness or the symptoms of death, what anguish must seize the soul, what terrible and difmaying fears, what stings and reproaches of conscience must the creature feel, who in this condition apprehends himself just ready to appear before the bar of God. Let a dving prospect arouse us from our leathargies, slumbers, and flee from the awful danger. If we would wish to die in peace and in fweet ferenity of foul, and have the confolations of the divine presence in that solemn hour, let us instantly remember from whence we have fallen and repent and do our first works.

Fourthly, make a new and solemn dedication of yourselves to God. When you have suitably considered and inquired into your departures from a precious Christ, when your hearts become affected with your evil conduct, are touched with the unhappiness of your condition, begin to relent, sosten and break, then take with you words and return unto the Lord.

and fay with the Pfalmist; " Against thee, thee only have: "we finned; pardon our iniquities for they are great,"-Orcry with the repenting and broken hearted publican, "God "be merciful to us finners." Let the language of every christian who hath forsaken his first love be, "O Lord my God, I blush to call thee mine, or by my name, which expresfes thy relation or right to me, or my obedience and love, for I have unreasonably and wickedly departed from thee, and in ftrift justice thou mightest take no farther notice of me, but discard me forever, as hell deserving, ungrateful wretch; from my heart, I humbly acknowledge and own that utter destruction is my rightful portion; yet, O Lord God, thou keepest covenant, and art full of compassion, who repentest thee of the evil, and passed by the transgression of the remnant of thy people, accept, thro' the atoning merits of thy dear Son, the devout purpose of my heart, and this renewed surrender I make of myself to thee. I resolve now, in thy grace, to cleave to thee forever, and never more to wander or depart from thee, take not thy spirit from me, but restore, O God of my falvation, thy forfeited countenance and favour; deliver my soul from guilt and the other effects of my wanderings, then shall my tongue fing aloud of thy righteousness."

Fifthly, be watchful and vigilent when thou art reftored to thy first love and do thy first works, and by fervent and astiduous prayer deprecate a relapse into that evil condition. "Watch and pray that ye enter not into temptation. What "I say unto you, I say unto all, watch." Let your past deviation teach you circumspection, and your past follies wisdom. Endeavour to avoid the like departures for the snture, "Keep thy heart with all diligence for out of it are the issues "of life." Consider how you were first beguiled; recollect how it advanced till it arrived at the dreadful issue in our text. Learn no more to trust in yourself, or rely upon your own strength, but conside in divine grace, and lean continually

upon your beloved. Maintain a deep and tender impression of your constant dependence upon God. Keep up a constant tenderness of heart, and thus you will be preserved in peace and comfort, and in the love of your precious Saviour.

Lastly, all this counsel, exhortation, and admonition, is enforced by a strong argument of threatening and terror, if it should be neglected or contemned. "I will come unto thee 46 quickly, and remove thy candlestick out of his place." the love of Christ be uncultivated, and the spirit of his grace be flighted, he will descend in tremendous judgments upon backsliding churches and declining christians. The threaten. ing comprehends in it every spiritual evil. He will unchurch them, take from them and their posterity the means of grace, remove his gospel, his ministers and his ordinances, his spirit shall no more strive with them, their house will be left unto them desolate. And what will the churches, or the angels of the churches do when these fatal calamities shall come upon the m? What has been the gloomy state of that once flourishing city and church of Ephefus, to which St. Paul wrote an instructive and comforting episse, and the rest of the other glorious churches in the extensive province and proconsulate of Asia? They are gone, and hardly a vestige of them has appeared for many centuries. That fine country is wholly loft, overwhelmed and buried in the thick gloom of Mahometan fuperstition and delusion. Let all churches and individual christians be all attention to their unhappy example, to the warning voice of Christ, and the solemn monitions of heaven. This is a great and flourishing church of ours, it has been founded more than an hundred and thirty-five years, yet for our fad decays God may remove our candlestick from hence; wherefore let us always keep alive our first love; let us be living penitential lives, and working the works of righteoufness.

SERMON XXIII.

Jefus Christ the good Shepherd.

John, x. 11. I am the good Shepherd.

JESUS CHRIST is represented in the facred oracles as sustaining the greatest variety of characters. There is no office or relation which implies any advantage to the object of it, but Christ is described as sustaining and discharging every branch of duty belonging to it. He is stilled a prophet, ordained a priest forever, and is exalted as a king. The Saviour is his appropriate and exclusive character. An husband, an head, a brother and a friend are familiar titles of Immanuel. In our text and many other passages he is held forth to view under the vigilent, careful and tender image of a Shepherd.

Here is a striking accumulation of offices, wherein ambition has no influence, neither can envy find a ground of imputation. He did not assume these offices, nor does he execute them for his own benefit. It was inconceivable condescention in him to suffer the most exalted of them; and he executes them for

meadvantage, the fole advantage of those who are in them-Selves, and in their own opinion among the vilest and most unworthy creatures. Who is a God like unto our God ?-He is exalted above all bleffings and praise—he humbles himself to behold things done in heaven, and yet he stoops to perform the part of the most condescending friend-to every act and every service of the most endearing and compassionate name. Be astonished, O ye heavenly hosts, at this! Ye inhabitants of the earth, stand amazed and wonder! Bless the Lord, all ye his faints; bless the Lord O my foul. The flock, his sheep, are the objects of all these offices, of every tender and affectionate part he performs, in all the variety of relations he bears. For them he left his fathers bosom, the adoration of angels, and all the celestial glories; for them he assumed human nature—fuffered poverty and reproach—laid down his life for them, and endured the excruciating pains of the cross.

Christ is every where spoken of as a shepherd. In the Old Testament he was abundantly prophecied of under this title, and in the New he is the great shepherd, the shepherd and bishop of souls; and here in our text, he calls himself the good shepherd. "I am the good shepherd." And in evidence of his worthiness of this character and in proof of his goodness, he gave his invaluable life for the sheep. All that your attention can be invited to in a contracted discourse will only be,

First, to consider what this character, when ascribed to Christ, implies in it with respect to his slock.

Secondly, what are the important acts denoted by it, which he performs towards his sheep. In regard to the

First, many things are involved and comprehended herein. It implies that Christ's flock are the object of his peculiar care and attention. The office or character of a shepherd evidents by comprehends this in it. These are some of his essential duties. A shepherd without care or concern for the slock is an absurdity. Such an one our Lord declares is not the shepherd, but an hireling, a thief and a robber, that careth not for the sheep, and when the wolf cometh, he sleeth. But the true shepherd hath a genuine concern for the interest and welfare of the flock. This is the design of his character, and the object of his highest attention.

When Christ is stilled a shepherd, it denotes that the interest of the slock lies near his heart. Its welfare is the object of his incessant attention. There are no moments in which he feels indifferent to its safety, or in which his agency is not employed for its happiness.

Jesus Christ has the heart and temper of a shepherd, the most careful and tender seekings towards his sheep. All this proceeds from the kindest affection. Love is the source of every branch and instance of it. No other principle can influence him in the part which he performs. "He is the shep-"herd of Israel who never slumbers nor sleeps." He can derive no advantages herefrom, no accession to his glory, nor addition to his bliss. The benefits and advantages in this case are all in savour of the sheep. He loves them with the most ardent affection, so that he gave up his life for them.

The love of Christ to his people is two fold, commonly called a love of benevolence and a love of complacency. They are the objects of the one or the other according to the different conditions in which they are, in a state of nature or in a state of grace. His love in the latter sense is exercised only towards believers, to those who are his actual members by a true and living saith: hence they are described as those who hear his voice and sollow him. They respect, love and ad-

[257·]

Mone can be the objects of this kind of love, only those, who have some amiable qualities and principles in them, or something in a spiritual sense lovely belonging to them. Now none of the sons of men have any thing of this kind in them, until they are converted and have put on Christ and his righteousness by faith; for it is grace and holiness which is the reason of their loveliness. Hereby they become subjects of what is amiable, and thus objects of divine complacency.

But a love of benevolence is extended to all. Hence fays our Lord in the context, "Other sheep I have which are not of this fold, them also will I bring and they shall hear my voice; and there shall be one fold and one shepherd." These also in the proper time shall be brought unto me, believe on my name, and be taught of the father. Therefore he prays not only for those who have believed already, but for all such who should come unto him in suture. "Neither, fays he, pray I for these alone, but for them also who shall believe on me through their word." Now while they are his people in this general sense, remaining in stupidity, security, impenitency and unbelief, they can only be objects of his love of benevolence. And this love induced him to lay down his life for all, even for those who were enemies. "While." we were yet enemies Christ died for us."

Again, the care of Jesus Christ, the great and good sheepherd, extends to all his sheep without exception; his love is without partiality. His regard to them is not regulated by, the figure they make in the eyes of the world. His affection is built on a very different ground. Nay, it appears from the holy scriptures, that the consideration which gives things value in the fight of men, often renders them contemptible in the fight of God. This seems to be the amount of a general observation of our Lord. "What is highly esteemed among "men is an abomination in the fight of Oed." Jelies Chaffe feeth not as men fee. They look on outward appearances and professions, but he looketh at the heart. Neither circumcision nor uncircumcision with him availeth any thing, but the new creature, faith, and keeping the commandments of God. All who are of this spirit and character, are the objects of Christ's affection and care, because these are of the father, from whom cometh down every good and perfect gift. Every such person pertains to Christ and is a part of his pastoral charge, however hated by the world, or loathsome in their own eyes.

Some true faints who belong to the sheep-fold of Christ, are full of doubts, hesitations, and misgivings of soul. Divers circumstances and reflections conspire to make them draw the gloomy conclusion, that they appertain not to Jesus, nor are they subjects of his special care as the shepherd of Israel. They are sometimes in such a situation from sears within and troubles without, that aftonishment lays hold upon them, and the painful fuspicions gather strength from every view they take of their heart and life, that they are not christians, that they have no interest in his distinguishing love. If I had, fays the foul, how comes it to pass that things are thus with me? Deep calleth unto deep; inward darkness joined with outward afflictions. They are often bemoaning themselves with fuch bitter lamentations as these; alas! for this day is great, it is the time of fore and complicated troubles. They are frequently adopting the mournful language of Job, " Be "hold, and go forward but he is not there, and backward, but a we cannot perceive him; on the left hand where he doth work, but we cannot behold him, he hideth himself on the "right hand, that we cannot see him." "O that we knew where we could find him, that we might come even to "his feat." Thus many a time their distress is eminent, and their anguish poignant. When their melancholy circumstan. ces would feem to call for fome token of his favour, some

smile of his loving kindness, he maketh clouds his covering and darkness his pavilion. This is a state of infelicity beyond description. The sheep beset with dangers, assaulted with temptations, and surrounded with distresses, the shepherd absent, and none to help or comfort. Suspicions and sears respecting Christ's affection are painful and afflictive to the saint beyond measure. The spouse perhaps alludes to this case when she pours forth this most earnest petition and servent request, "Set me as a seal upon thine heart, as a seal upon "thy arm, for love is stronger than death and jealousy more "cruel than the grave."

But amidst all this discouragement, darkness, dissidence and dread, the good shepherd is at hand, and whispers to them "Son be of good cheer, thy sins are forgiven. His care is extended to his sheep, and his agency exerted for their support. He interposes and disperses every cloud, in such a way as shall display to them the good pleasure of his goodness.

If a tender shepherd shurs up a particular sheep for a season, and secludes it from the privileges of the slock, yet in this case it is always an act of care, to preserve it from some evil, or to heal it of some disease.

The care which Christ exercises toward his people is peculiar; it is different from that common providence which he exerciseth toward the world in general. The acts and instances of it are peculiar, and the fruits and effects of it are so also. They are the subjects of his common providence as well as others, but they are moreover the subjects of those special acts of gracious tenderness and affectionate care, which he performs as the shepherd of his sheep.

This leads.

Secondly, to consider what those important acts denotes, which he performs toward his sheep. And they may be reduced to these three, seeding, leading, and protecting them.

First, Jesus Christ, as the good shepherd of his slock, seeds them. It is one of the chief and principal branches of a shepherd's office, to feed the flock committed to him. In this respect Christ acts the part of a liberal and beneficent shepherd. It is true he does not now feed it in person. His person is inheaven, which must contain him till the restoration of all things. He appears not in person to any on earth, neither are any admitted here to behold his personal glory, any otherwise than by faith in the representations of it given in his word. It is herein and hereby his people, as in a glass, behold his glory. In the future world they shall behold it in his person, as, in believing, they now do in the facred scriptures.

The way in which Christ feeds his sheep here, is by providing pastures and food convenient for them. These pastures are his word and ordinances. They are adapted and designed to answer this purpose; they are intended as the means for the support and nourishment of the new creature, until it shall arrive at the stature of a perfect man in Christ Jesus.

The end of pasture is not answered unless it strengthens and promotes the growth of the creature, so the intention of the word and ordinances will not be accomplished, unless they comfort, edify, and strengthen christians; and if they produce not this nourishing effect, it forms a strong presumption that they are not Christ's sheep. The word and ordinances are not in themselves thus nutricious, or the mere use of them would be sufficient; but as we find this effect doth not follow of course, we must therefore consider them in another point of view. It is not in them, nor in those who administer them, 25

fone have fondly and delusively imagined; but the blessing of God accompanying them which renders them efficacious. They are only the means and not the nourishment itself. It is the gracious influences of the holy spirit in and by the means which are strictly and truly the nourishment. The powerful application of these are of a spiritually strengthening nature, and they go from strength to strength. Thus the spirit takes the things of Christ, and by the sacred institutions shews them to the believer; hence he grows by the sincere milk of the word, and in this way he is said to grow in grace.

Jesus Christ feeds his sheep, by giving his spirit to dwell in them. By his agency he opens their understandings to perceive the glorious things of religion. By his agency the word and ordinances become effectual means of the conviction. conversion, fanclification and falvation of sinners. Lord prays, "Sanctify them by thy truth, for thy word is "truth." From this arises the difference which christians experience at different seasons, respecting the same truths and ordinances. At one time their hearts are filled with holy affections, and burn within them, as the hearts of the disciples did when they conversed with our Lord on the road to Emaus, while they pray, read or hear the word, or attend upon a facrament. At other times, under the same means, and employed in the same duties, all is coldness, darkness and supidity. The reason of this difference is, that the spirit is present by his agency at one feafon and not at another. Sometimes divine institutions feed their souls as with marrow and fatness, and refresh them as with the richest wines; at others they are weak and feeble, destitute of power and authority. The various. frames of christians frequently arise from the presence or absence of the spirit, when they are attending the means of grace.

Secondly, the good shepherd leads, guides and directs his sheep. This is a great and distinguishing blessing. Tho' his government is over all, yet he performs no such acts in respect

his own experience, "He leadeth me befide the still waters; is he restoreth my foul; he leadeth me in the paths of righteconsider for his names sake." Thus he leads his people by his word, his spirit and his ordinances. He guideth Joseph as a flock. This is his conduct not only toward his church in general, but towards every believer in particular. The still waters by which they are led afford them pleasant prospects, many comfortable views of divine things, many a cooling and resreshing draught when they are thirsty or weary. The consolations of religion which slow from those living springs of water, are gladness, joy, and pleasure to their souls. Those who are led in the paths of righteousness, that is, in the way of duty, enjoy sweet peace, tranquility and hope.

Thirdly, protection is another thing which Christ as ashepherd renders his sheep. It is an essential part of the office of a shepherd, to protect the flock. Its need of a shepherd arises from its weakness, exposedness, and danger. As beasts of prey are ever feeking the destruction of sheep, so there are numerous enemies continually lying in wait to devour the flock of Christ-As theep are the most impotent and defenceless tribe of animals, so when our Lord sustains the character of a shepherd, it must imply his defence and protection of his people. The eves of Jelus observe from afar every difficulty and every danger which threatens them in all the variety of conditions and circumstances in which they may be. Satan, their grand enemy, is watchful of every opportunity, and skilful to improve it to their isjury. He employs various ways with unsuspected art to tempt their feet astray, and betray them into his snare; and were it not for the protecting interpolition of the good shepherd, total guin would be the allotment of every faint. He guards them against the devil, the world, and the flesh, that tho' they may fuffer from them, they shall not be destroyed. He is their protector against the pestilence that walketh in darkness, and the plague that smiteth at noon day. If the earth be removed out of her place, if it reel to and fro like a drunken man, and become an uninhabitable wreck, their almighty shepherd has another mansion prepared for their reception, he has another even an eternal kingdom for them which cannot be moved.

A brief reflection or two must close the subject.

First, how kind and condescending does Jesus Christ appear while he exhibits himself to us in the gentle and tender image of a shepherd? Are we not overcome with wonder and astonishment, that he should descend to act this humble, tho' most friendly part. Let us call to mind his native dignity, his uncreated glory, that he is and ever will be God over all, and can we avoid adopting the extatic emotion of the apostle, when he cries out, behold, what manner of love is this! O how meek and lowly does the Saviour appear! how amiable in his humiliation as well as majestic in his intercessory character, at the right hand of his father! Who does not feel with pleasure the power and force of such inimitable friendship, gentleness, goodness and condescension?

Secondly, how happy and bleffed are all they who have Jefus Christ for their shepherd? They are not to be appalled tho' the earth be removed and the mountains cast into the midst of the sea, tho' the waters thereof roar and be troubled. The Lord of hosts is with them and puts underneath them his everlasting arms. Jesus is their shield and resuge, and a present help in every time of trouble. "Fear not little flock it is your father's good pleasure to give you the kingdom. Altho' the fig-tree shall not blossom, neither shall fruit be in the vines; the lass bour of the olive shall fail, and the fields shall yield no meat; the flock shall be cut off from the fold, and there shall be no sherd in the stalls, yet rejoice in the Lord, and joy in the God of your salvation. The Lord thy God in the midst of thee

who would not be a real christian, one of Christ's sheep, in preference to the highest happiness this world can raise its far vorites to? Consider the preferableness of the prorest and meanest believer, to the greatest, highest and most dignished sinner.

Thirdly, how awful and melancholy is the fituation of those who have no interest in the care, protection and love of this good shepherd? Are there not many who have the greatest reason to be assured that this is their true state? Pray, my dear hearers, consider the danger and terribleness of your situation. You run the risk every moment of sinking into the horrible pit of eternal destruction. Your life is a vapour, and you live by the mere forbearance and sufferance of that God, who is angry with you every day. Consider what you will do if death should arrest you while you are in this condition. The thought is painful and dreadful, and it had been good for you you had never been born.

Wherefore, awake, arife, fice to the arms of the good shepherd; escape for your lives to the city of refuge, to the hope set before you in the gospel, ere it be forever too late. Remember the Lord will shake this earth to pieces, and the elements will melt with servent heat. "Wherefore give all diligence to make your calling and election sure."

SERMON XXIV.

Some Marks of Christ's Flock.

Isaiah, xl. 11. He shall feed his stock like a shepherd, he shall gather the lambs with his arms, and carry them in his bosom, and shall gently lead those that are with young.

THE descriptions of Jehovah contained in this chapter, are inimitably grand and majestic. They have never been equalled by any pencil, and it is impossible they should be exceeded. How inimitable is the following painting?—With what bold strokes, with what energy and life, with what force of expression, does it exhibit and display the exceeding greatness and incomparable majesty of the Most High. "Who hath measured the waters in the hollow of his hand, and meted out heaven with a span, comprehended the dust of the earth in a measure, weighed the mountains in scales and the hills in a balance?—Behold the nations are as a drop of a bucket, and are counted as the small dust of the balance: behold he taketh up the isless as a very little thing. And Labanon is not sufficient to burn, and the beasts thereof

"fufficient for a burnt offering. All nations before him are "as nothing, and they are counted to him less than nothing "and vanity." If this language does not describe divinity, felf-existent and independent; inconceiveable omnipotence, and inestable glory, it is absolutely impossible, it should be painted in any language whatever.

This chapter is, in the New Testament, immediately and directly applied to Jesus Christ. In the third verse we have these expressions. "The voice of him that crieth in the " wilderness, prepare ye the way of the Lord, make straight " in the defert an highway for our God;" even that God whose picture has been drawn in glowing colours and with a daring pencil. Now this is applied to John the Baptist as the forerunner of Christ in all the Evangelists. For that he was Christ's forerunner is allowed; therefore the 'God so illustriously delineated in the language already quoted, is no ne other than the Lord Jesus; of consequence Jesus Christ is true, essential and uncreated God. So express an application, of what is here spoken, to Christ, one would be ready to think fully fufficient to determine the controversy respecting his proper Godhead, with all those who believed in divine revelation; and divine authority alone can decide in a matter of this nature.

The chapter opens with the most joyful tidings, that there is peace on earth and good will towards the children of men. "Comfort ye, comfort ye my people, saith the Lord of hosts." And the prophet has orders to proclaim this consolation in the most public manner. "O thou, that bringest good tidings to "Zion, get ye up into the high mountain," a place from whence thou mayest be extensively heared. "O thou that bringest good tidings to Jerusalem, lift up thy voice with strength, lift it up, be not asraid; say unto the cities of Jundah, behold your God. For the Lord God will come with

"a strong hand, and his arm will rule for him." This God will come and become flesh and dwell among us; he will come and take on him the form of a servant; he will assume humanity and his arm will rule for him; he travelleth in the greatness of his strength through the work of redemption; his reward is with him and his work before him. His divinity supports him under the sufferings of his humanity; the former gives infinite virtue and efficacy to the latter. His reward shall be glorious, "For seeing the travel of his soul he shall be satisfied. For the joy that was set before him, he endured the cross, despised the shame, and is set down at the right hand of the throne of God"

This same person who is drawn in all the majesty of the Sovereign Jehovah is exhibited to our view in the text in one of the most harmless, gentle and inviting characters. "He " shall feed his flock like a shepherd, he shall gather the lambs "with his arms, and carry them in his befom, and shall gen-"tly lead those that are with young." Remarkable it is that the bleffed Jesus is represented in the scriptures to his people under every figure and image that expresses friendship, kindness, condescension, care, tenderness and love. What a group of them is before us; tho' his arm is strong and he is the mighty God, he condescends in all the carefulness of friendship to provide for his people. Yea, the public, the weak and the young are the objects of his peculiar attention. The infants, the children of his church, feem above all others to attract his most affectionate care. He gathers them in his tender arms and carries them in his warm and compassionate bosom.

Many doctrines of high and useful importance arise from this subject, but the only one we can consider at present is, the nature and character of Christ's flock upon earth.

That Christ Jesus has a church, a flock in the world, will be

readily granted by all the believers of divine revelation. This flock confilts of believing parents and their feed, who are often stiled theep and lambs. He has had such a number in every age fince the fall, and will have fuch a number throughout all future generations. They are his flock in an eminent manner, and distinguished from the world, ever since Caindeparted from it, and went out from the presence of the Lord. Till this unhappy period, which seemed like a second apostacy. Adam and Eve, and their children, belonged to the church. And the short history we have of the flock of Christ before the flood, tho' a long term of more than fixteen hundred years, evidently holds forth, that the children of the antideluvian faints pertained to the fame. Why are the children of Seth, Enos, Enoch, Methusalah &c. so particularly mentioned, but that the fons and daughters born unto them appertained to the church? After the deluge, when Ham and his fon were guilty of an outragious wickedness, fell under the curse of their father and their God, another apostacy from religion took place, and they and their posterity were lost; yet the church still continued in the other sons of Noah and their children, till the calling of Abraham, to whom was revealed a new and more clear dispensation of the covenant of grace. And did Abraham revive and fet up the church a new, and were not his infant offspring also admitted into it? So throughout the whole Mosaic economy and Jewish dispenfation, children pertained to the church, and were ever refpected as lambs of the flock. So our Lord himself, after whose death the church was to be extended to the gentile nations, commanded little children to be brought unto him and declared of such is the kingdom of God. The apostles also taught that the children of the faints are holy, and to be distinguished from the unclean posterity of the heathen tribes, and that the promises made to believers extended likewise to their children.

Some have arisen of late, who practically declare, that Christ's flock has no lambs in it, and that children pertain not to the church; accordingly they take little care of the instruction of their own, and expend little pains for their falvation, but are zealous above measure in beguiling away the sheep of other flocks, troubling and perverting the church of Christ. They compass sea and land to make proselytes. Beware of fuch lest they delude you to your own ruin and to the ruin of your children. One of their leading marks is, "They creep " into houses, and lead captive filly women." And the most of the profelytes which they glean, are of this complexion. Let them alone, for to their master they stand or fall. it ever be our business to provide wholesome food for the flock, and after the example of the good shepherd extend the tenderest care and most affectionate regard to the lambs thereof, affording strong meat to those who are full grown and with milk nourishing the bodies. The exclusion of lambs from the flock, contains in it fomething unnatural and cruel; it expofes them to calamity and death; fo the exclusion of children from the church is not only unscriptural, but it is unreasonable and It is placing them in the fituation of heathen, few of whom are ever converted. Observation assures us that it is a rare thing for any out of the visible church to be brought to a faving closure with Christ. It is the practice of some barbarous nations, to expose or destroy many of their children, that they may not be encumbrances on, or burthensome to their families; so people who exclude their children from the visible church, however it may be done through ignorance in some, and wickedness in others, eminently exposes them, like other licathen, to everlasting destruction. Would it not be deemed barbarous and cruel to fee parents exclude their little children from their families, and afford them neither food nor raiment: it is equally fo with a church, which ought to be the family of Christ to thrust out their children. Will good parents nurse their little ones with care and tenderness, watch over, protect

and guard them, so the flock ought to take care of its lambs, and the church of its children. Were churches careful, faithful and christian on this head, widely different would the children and youth be from what they are. It is owing to the negligence of parents and churches, that there are so many wicked and graceless in the land.

At present the state, condition, standing privileges and blessings of the lambs shall be omitted, and we will attend to the character, nature and marks of the sheep of Christ's slock. Peter was commanded by our Lord to feed both his sheep and his lambs. And this ought to be the conduct of every true minister of the gospel. I have already delivered a series of discourses to the children and youth, the lambs of this department of the slock. We shall now consider the nature and character of the sheep.

First, they are all of one kind or fort, of one species and qua-However distinguished by nation, tribe, family or language; however distant in time from each other, or separated by place, they are all partakers of the same nature, of the same kind, and have the same general marks; they are sheep. This is the term by which the chief shepherd has been pleased to designate and distinguish them from all others. No animal but itself possesses the nature of a sheep. All others are specifically different from it. In like manner Christ's sheep are all of one kind, and each individual has the same nature. One may be weak and another strong, one poor and infirm, and other alert and lively, one ragged and torn, another fat anwell cloathed, one is diseased and fickly, and another in full vigor and health, yet however different in appearance and circumstances, they are all sheep and of the same kind; they are not effentially or specifically different from each other.

Secondly, sheep will not lie down in fifthy waters, nor wallow

[271]

in mirry puddles, like fome animals of a different species or hind. It avoids from its nature every thing of this sort, and every approach to all degrees thereof. A peculiar instinct of nature causes it to shun all such places. Remove every restraint which threatened danger may form, and from a natural antipathy to such things, it is shy of and slees from them. If it accidentally falls into the mire, it quickly arises and springs from it, as if it had received some foul disgrace, or a great and lasting injury. It chuses places clean and dry from a native propensity to them.

This is the conduct of Christ's sheep, of every true saint. The tendency of their nature which they received from the spirit of grace, is to purity and holiness. The breathings of their hearts are to be holy as God is holy. And their daily prayer is, "O God create in us a clean heart, and make us of " pure hands." They avoid fin and moral defilement, not only from the dangers to which it exposes them, but likewise from its disagreeableness to their new nature. If at any time they fall into iniquity, they continue not therein, but arise again by repentance and repair anew to the blood of Jesus for cleanfing and purification. Sheep have many difficulties to struggle with, so christians have numerous trials in this world. Within often are faintings, and without are fears. And if Jesus the great and good shepherd did not interpose, rescue, deliver and support, who could be saved? But precious is his grace, and compassionate his heart, when his poor sheep are ready to be devoured by every prowling beaft, and overwhelmed in every flough, his own almighty arms form a defence around them, and bring falvation.

Thirdly, sheep have a natural taste and sagacity to discern their proper sood. They can distinguish the wholesome and nourishing, from the poisonous and mortal plant. How.

L2

ever artfully it may be mingled with their provender, they will differ and carefully avoid it. Some naturalists have observed, that they possess this sagacity in a superior degree; so that they will pick out that which is proper and nourishing, while they leave that which is noxious and unwholesome.

Thus the sheep of Christ have a taste and discernment of a moral and spiritual kind, of the same use and efficacy. They can discover what doctrine is wholesome and true, and what not: what is agreeable to their new nature, and what is other-However false doctrine may be coloured and disguised, and they may be imposed upon by it for a time, yet afterwards they find it is not fit food for them, their fouls cannot live and thrive upon it; it is not the fincere milk of the word, and they cannot grow thereby. Nothing can be proper food for a fpiritual nature, only that which is spiritual and suitable to a spiritual taste. This spiritual discernment does not strielly depend upon laboured reasonings, great powers of mind or extensive speculative knowledge; but persons of the seeblest un. derstandings, and whose knowledge is very limited and contracted, in some good measure possess this holy qualification. For the inspiration of the Almighty giveth this understanding. They have an unction from the holy one, whereby they know all things. It is in regard to this spiritual discernment the apostle declares, "He that is spiritual judgeth all things." To this also he has respect, when he speaks of christians having their fenses exercised to discern good and evil. It is allowed there is a taste in painting, poetry, architecture, and other branches of art; why should there not also be a taste in religion! Is there not a beauty in holiness, and in holy objects, as well as in other things? And can this beauty be difcerned without an holy taste? Doth not the mouth taste readily its meat? So doth the new creature tafte the truths of the gospel, and feels the power of pure and undefiled religion. Taste and see that the Lord is gracious.

[273]

Fourthly, it is observed of sheep that they know their shephers, and can distinguish him from a stranger; they know his voice and will not follow another. They slee from strangers, because their voice is strange unto them. This our Lord assigns as a discriminating note or mark of his sheep, whereby they are known unto others, and manifest unto themselves. His sheep hear his voice, they know it and they follow him." They have ears to hear, understandings to know, and hearts so some him whithersoever he leadeth.

These marks are true in general of all Christ's sheep in every age. The meanest in the stock perceive his voice and can distinguish it from that of a stranger. They understand his truths, seed upon his word and rejoice therein a his gospel is precious to them, of more value in their esteem than mountains of gold. To adopt the language of the spouse. "His lips are like lillies, dropping sweet smelling myrrh. His mouth is most sweet." That is, his voice, his words, and truths, are all thus delightful to them. The sheep of Christ not only hear, but they follow him. They follow the sound of his voice without hesitation. However it may thwart their own blind and corrupt hearts, they receive it with meekness. They sollow his example, imitate all the imitable parts of his character, and endeavor to walk even as he walked.

Time will not admit of my pursuing this subject, or retail! ing the marks of Christ's sheep any farther; and shall therefore conclude with a few words of application.

First, how great and wonderful is the grace and love of Christ, that he has found and collected a slock for himself from among the degenerate sons of men? O what inscrutable condescension and goodness is here? What marvelous mercy and grace, that any of the race of fallen Adam should stand is

[274]

the near relation to him of his sheep and of his laures? That: he should assume to them the tender, gentle and endeacine character of their shepherd? This is a branch of the unsearchable riches of his love. It ought to be reflected back with affectionate wonder and adoring admiration., With propriety may we employ the rapturous language of the loving and beloved describle. "Behold what manner of love is this," that the Saviour hath bestowed upon us, that any such as we should be selected for his sheep, that he should lay down his life for us. Truly he is the good shepherd, who gave his life for the sheep. "O the depth of the riches, both of the wildom and know-" ledge of God, how unfearchable are his judgments and his " ways past finding out?" "O that we may be able to com-" prehend with all faints, what is the breadth and length and 46 depth and height, and to know the love of Chriti which "paffeth knowledge." Should not the love of Christ have a Sensible and constraining influence upon our hearts? Should we not live wholly to him? Ought we not to imbibe the fpizit of St. Paul, who in raptures taid, " For me to live is Christ " and to die is gain." What can be more ungrateful, untender and unkind than to offend him, than not to love him with the most ardent affection? How dear ought every thing to be to us which appertains to him? How should we take pleasure in his word, his truths, his worthip, his fabbaths, ordinances and people? Every thing which wears his image or feal, should be to us instead of a thousand arguments to induce us to esteem, respect and cleave to him.

Secondly, this subject calls for solemn searchings of heart. In the light of it, we ought to try and examine ourselves. Do we belong to his flock, or are we all of the number of his sheep? How blessed and happy should we be, if this were the case? What a glorious assembly, what a precious church? But alse! however extensive our charity, there can be no just

ground for so chivening a hope. It is a melancholy truth. they are not all lirael, who are of Ifrael. Some, perhaps, not a few, who have no lot or interest in this matter. Let us therefore to-day, make a ferious enquiry into this business. What will it avail us to comfort ourselves that we are of Christ's flock and confort with it, if, when the great dividing day commences, we shall be separated from it, as a shepherd divideth his theep from the goats, and hear the awful fentence pronounced upon us, "Depart from me ve curfed." Wherefore let us, in the presence of a heart searching and rein trying God, look into our hearts and into our lives. Have we the nature of the sheep of Christ ?-Are we of an holy nature ?-Do we chuse holiness for its own instrinsic beauties and excellencies?—Have we the talte and fagacity of his theep, to difcern between good and evil ?-To discover spiritual food, from that which is noxious and corrupted?-Do we find pastures in his word and ordinances, which are fweet to our fouls as the honey, and the honeycomb to the taite?—Do we know Christ's voice, understand, and distinguish it from the voice of strangers?—Can we discriminate the pure doctrines of grace, from false colourings or corrupt mixtures, which are poisonous to sheep, and destructive to the fold?—Do we follow the good shepherd, wheresoever he leads ?- Is his example prevailingly before us ?-Are we frequently recalling it to remembrance ?--ls the imitation of it the joy and rejoicing of our bearts?

Those who can understandingly and with a good conscience answer these queries in the affirmative, have reason for consolation and hope. "Rejoice in the Lord, and again I say unto vou rejoice." "Fear not, little flock, ye are the charge of him, who shall feed his flock like a shepherd, gather the lambs with his arms, carry them in his bosom, and gently

E 476]

es lead those that are with young." I must not enlarge; may the Lord give you understanding in all things, and make you all the sheep of his fold, that you may sing eternal halledujahs to him in the celestial mansions, to whom be honor and glory sorever, and ever. Amen.

SERMON XXV.

The pleasantness of Religion.

Prov. iii. 17. Her ways are ways of pleasantness, and all her paths are peace.

IF we look into the facred oracles of God, and take a survey of the religion exhibited therein, we will find it represented to us under various forms; sometimes as pleasing to heaven, therefore we should be religious; sometimes as of the greatest advantage and benefit to ourselves. At one time it is described as the only method of escaping misery, at another as the only way to eternal selicity. The Holy spirit hath stated it before us in every point of view, in order to gain our attention, captivate our hearts, and engage us in the practice thereof. And as the omniscient Jehovah well knew that nothing made a deeper impression on the human mind than pleasure, hence in our text it is stated before us in this form also, to see what effect it will produce, when it is represented in a way which is univerally courted by mankind. "Her ways are ways of pleasant." ness and all her paths are peace." These words are a part

of the encomium which Solomon, in the context, is pouring forth upon the excellencies, advantages and bleflings, of wisdom. " Happy is the man that getteth wisdom, that findeth under-" ftanding; for the merchandise of it is better than the mer-" chandife of filver, and the gain thereof than fine gold. "is more precious than rubies; and all the things thou canft " desire are not to be compared unto her. Length of days are in "her right hand, and in her left hand riches and honor." It is well known that Solomon generally employs the term wifdom to express the same thing with what is usually intended by the word religion, and wickedness he commonly stiles folly. Religious men are designated wise, and the wicked sools. Surely there can be no wisdom so truly excellent as religion; and there can be no folly greater than iniquity and despising our fouls. It is predicated of wisdom or religion, that her ways are pleasantness. They are not merely pleasant or pleasurable, but they are pleasantness, in an abstract and absolute manner. As if pleasantness was to be found in those ways, and not in any other. This is declared of her ways, that is, her duties,, exercises and employments. These things are pleasure in themselves, and they issue in eternal felicity. The ways which lead to heaven are pleasant, and nothing but unmixed pleafure enters and dwells in that bleffed abode. Delightful walks thro' shady groves, fruitful gardens or flowery parterres, scarcely any thing captivates or charms the human mind more than these. Travelling in them affords delight, and they frequently lead to places of the highest entertainment, where every sense is regaled, every passion soothed and every appetite gratified. But what are the highest wrought, and most refined pleasures of fense, in comparison of mental pleasures and spiritual delights. The royal preacher inferibes upon the former vanity and vexation of spirit, while the latter is preferable to all the gold of phir, and the riches of Potofi. It is further sub. joined, "That all her paths are peace?" Ways may be pleafant and delightful, yet not guarded by peace. Affassins and robbers may lurk in the arbors to annoy the unwary

traveller. But the highways of holiness and all the paths of piety afford not only the most refined and exalted pleasure in themselves, but they are secured by vigilant and invincible guards, and surrounded with most perfect safety. They that walk in them have God for their sun, Christ for their shield, and hosts of angels for their desence. There is not merely peace in store for saints when they shall arrive at their journey's end, but they enjoy peace by the way. "Great is their peace "who love God's law." That is, great is the peace of all who are truly godly. View religion in all its parts and in all its bearings, in every virtue, grace and duty, in all its exercises, comforts and joys, and you will perceive the picture of it here drawn by the wisest of men, perfectly accurate, just and beautiful, "That all her ways are pleasantness and all "her paths are peace."

To attempt the proof of this affertion would be impertinent, as it issues from the mouth of inspiration. But we shall endeavour, by divine aid, to illustrate this important truth for our instruction and improvement, by directing the attention,

First, to the nature of divine wisdom or true religion.

Secondly, to the high advantages and benefits it affords'its friends.

Thirdly, to the pleasures arising from the experiences of those who have entered into her ways, and travel in her peaceful paths.

First, let us attend to the nature of divine wisdom or true religion. Pleasure charms the hearts of men, and whatsoever affords pleasure attracts defire. But who can describe the peace and pleasure of religion? It mocks all the powers of Ma

thetorick and bailles the orator's art. It would be vain to tompt a description of the sweetness of honey, to one who had never tasted it. Give him but a taste thereof and it will do more towards affording him a true idea of its sweetness, than all the definitions and learned lectures in the world. Thus it is with vital and experimental piety. Were it possible for me to convey to your hearts a talte of the grace of the gospel, it would do more to raife in you a feeling fense of its pleasantness. than all other things besides. Preachers may speak, but it is God who must give the hearing ear; they may make reprefentations, but he alone can open the eyes to fee; and they at times may arouse the animal passions; but it is his prerogative to change the heart and fanclify the affections. Therefore, while we delineate the nature of religion, let your fervent aspirations ascend, that you may experience its power on your own fouls. Religion in its strict meaning fignifies binding together that which was loofed. And as fin had unloofed the foul from God, so religion forms again the holy connection between them. Knowledge is an effential link of this chain. Knowledge charms the mind and fills it with pleasure and delight. "Truly the light is sweet, and it is pleasant for the " eyes to behold the fun." " But no light is pleasurable like "the knowledge of the glory of God in the face of Jesus "Christ." " Hence it is declared to be life eternal to know "the only true God and Josus Christ whom he hath Tent," Is eternal life, peace, pleasure and felicity? -So also is knowledge, and this knowledge enters into the essence of true godlinels. When persons commence a religious course, they begin to behold a great and glorious light, and bleffed are the eyes which are opened to fee. "Apply thy heart to my " knowledge, faith Solomon, for it is a pleafant thing that " thou keep it within thee." As honey is fweet to the taftes so is the knowledge of experimental religion to the foul. There is no pleafure in any science, like that of learning Christ and the things which belong to our eternal peaces forcial riches of unfearchable grace, the mystery of our redemption and reconciliation to God by Jesus Christ, and his mediatorial offices; such knowledge is a feast to the soul, it is meat indeed and drink indeed. We find a certain delight in an acquaintance, friendship and intimacy of the great and good in this world, but what is this in comparison of an acquaintance, friendship and intimacy with the Supreme Jehovah? Davidin all his exaltation would leave his throne three times a day as go and converse with his God, his heavenly friend.

Religion also consists in committing ourselves to God and repesing upon the bosom of his love. Giving up our hearts in supreme duty and love to him; taking him for our portion and our all. This is pleasure of the most refined and exalted nature. Thus we hear the Psalmist addressing his spirit in savour of comfort and selicity in the fruition of God, "Return unto thy rest, O my soul." As if there were no rest, peace or pleasantness but in him. Let us therefore have that joy, which the world can neither give nor take away, by placing our souls in the encircling arms of Jesus, and sweetly resing upon his bosom.

Approaching to God as a father, in that new and living—way opened in the gospel by Jesus Christ the Mediator, this contains in it the purest delight and the highest consolation; and this is an important constituent of pure and undefiled religion. And when we have made our approach to dwell there is the essence of every thing pleasurable. "Blessed are they that dwell in his courts, they shall be satisfied with the good-ness of his house, even of his holy temple." We read of the Eunuch, that when he was brought to believe in Christ, he went on his way rejoicing. Thus by believing in him and approaching to God by him we may rejoice also. What safety, satisfaction and happiness is it, to lodge all the great concerns.

of our fouls for eternity, in the hands of him, who is infinitely able and faithful to keep that which is committed to him against the great day of his appearance. The blessed soul of St. Paul is elevated on the wings of rapturous inv at this thought. "There is no condemnation to them who are in " Christ Jesus. Who is he that condemneth, it is Christ that " died, yea, rather that is rifen again?" How does he pronounce his own happy experience in all the triumph of pleafure? "I know in whom I have believed, and that he is able a to keep that which I have committed to him against that " day." It is impossible for a creature to live in greater plea-Sure, "Than to live by the faith of the Son of God." in faith and love, "We are filled with joy and peace unspeak-" able and full of glory." Wherefore all who wish for pleafure and delight, let them enter into the paths of piety and walk in the ways of religion, "Whose ways are pleasantness " and all her paths peace."

Religion is the enjoyment of God in all the creature comforts which we posses. The saint in all his possessions, "Tastes and sees, that in them the Lord is good." What a sweet, moble and refined relish does religion give to all the common blessings of life, our health and ease, our rest and sleep, our food and raiment, our habitations, friends and relatives? We have peace in our dwellings, success in our callings, and happiness in all things. Is it not pleasant to taste covenant love in all our mercies?—To see the bountiful hand of heavenly beneficence spreading our table, and filling our cup with plenty? This puts gladness in our hearts beyond the joys of harvest. Thus let us rejoice, not only when the earth yields her encrease, but when God, even our God gives the blessing therewith.

Religion consists much in casting all our cares and burdens upon the Lord, with a sweet and transporting hope that he

eareth for us. Nothing affords a more sensible pleasure, than to be relieved from some pressing weight, under which we are ready to sink. The exercises of true religion renders a person quiet in the variety of conditions in which he may be. It teaches him in whatever state he is therewith to be content. Religious contentment sheds joy and pleasure through the soul.

Prayer is an important branch of real piety. And all who are employed in making known their requests to God by prayer and supplication, have the precious promise, "That the peace of God which passeth all understanding shall keep their hearts and minds."

Holy rejoicing is also a branch of religion. The commandment is ever more to rejoice. Hence the gospel is stiled, "Glad tidings of great joy to all people." It is the will of God, that his Israel should rejoice in every thing which he bestoweth upon them. Now all those exercises are not only pleasing, but pleasantness itself.

Praise likewise is a delightful thing, and this enters deeply into the constitution of pure religion. "Praise ye the Lord, for the Lord is good, sing praises unto his name for its "pleasant."

Time would fail me to mention faith, love, humility, meekness, mercifulness, &c. all which are effential constituents of religion, and the exercise of those graces and the practice of those virtues form the soul to the highest pleasure and delight; and in this passing review of piety, we cannot refrain from joining in the divine declaration, "that all her ways are pleass fantness and all her paths are peace."

I proceed,

Secondly, to consider the high advantages and benefits in affords its friends. Profit and pleasure seem to be the great pursuits of men; and if we would have them united in the most eminent perfection, let us engage in the ways of religion. The pleasures of the world, and the gratifications of senses always mock their votaries and leave a sting behind. Not so with the votaries of piety. Their expectations are never disappointed. Its pursuits are delightful; so are all its effects and consequences. Instead of pains of body, remorfe of conscience, and twinging perplexity, the fruits of fin, they have inward peace, strong consolation, joyful hopes, and a satisfactory assurance of the rewards of eternal felicity. If the friends of religion have troubles in the world, yet in Jesus they have peace, and all the riches of heaven full in their view as their everlasting inheritance. The profits of their business are not like the perilbing profits of time, they are infinite in value, and their durability is as the heavens. They are supported by sure and certain promifes here, and the future recompence of reward cannot fail. "God will never leave them nor forfake them. " and all things shall work together for their good." They have all things in enjoyment, and eternal felicity by an indefeafable reversion. All things are theirs. Thus saith the apostle, "Whether the world, or life, or death, or things pre-" fent, or things to come; all are yours. And ye are Christ's " and Christ is God." Religion is truly profitable for thisworld and for that which is to come. Who can describe the piches of the city, which is to be their eferlasting dwelling. The walls of it are jasper, its gates pearl, and its streets of pure gold. Methinks could a mifer have a view of its glory and wealth, could he be induced to realife and believe in the profits and advantages of religion, he would immediately forfake all and commenge a follower of Jesus. He that can number the stars, or count the falling leaves in autumn, let him calculate the riches of the faints. Could fubfiantial profit and unmixed pleasure operate upon the hearts of men, surely they would all

Infrartly engage in the ways of piety and godlines, which have the divine premise of the wealth and advantages of both worlds. But the doctrine of our text is still further confirmed by the experience of all. Which leads me,

Thirdly, to confider the pleasures of religion as appears from the experience of those who have entered into her ways and travelled in her peaceful paths. Here we may without hesitation appeal to all who live godly in Christ Jesus. From sheir own feelings, exercifes and experience, they all concur in this testimony, "That all her ways are pleasantness and all "Their pleasures and their joys at times are such that they cannot express. All her precepts, her counfels, exhortations and promises, the views which she affords, the prospects she opens, shed pleasure thro' the soul, unspeakable and full of glory. Go to the dying bed of the true christian, enquire of him what he thinks of religion? And that is commonly confidered as an honest hour. He will immediately inform you it is infinitely preferable to all the riches and treasures this world. He grozns forth in his last struggles, in all the amonies of diffolution, " I shall foon be difincumbered of this flesh and be with Jesus. O the joys, the comforts, the hopes that I scel! With pleasure I leave the earth! Heaven opens to my view." In their passage through this life, how often are they saying, "It is good for us to drawnear to God." They are frequent-By in divine worship and in special ordinances experiencing and declaring it is good for us to be here, this is none other than the gate of heaven, let us ever swell in this place. They will be often adopting the language of the spouse and faying, "I sat down under his shadew with great delight. e and his fruit was sweet unto my taste. Stay me with flaons, comfort me with apples, for I am fick with love." They are fometimes using the words of an ancient saint, is Let their money perish with them, that esteem all the wealth and pleasures of this world, worth one hours communion with

Bod in Jesus Christ." Consider all the fancied pleasures of fin are only for a feafon, and that feafon is short. thrunk deep of them all, and what were they! "Vanity of " vanities, vanity of vanities," and all accompanied with and terminated in vexation of spirit. Enquire of the worldling, the drunkard, the debauchee, the whole tribe of fwearers and gamblers, what profit and happiness they have had in these courses? and their answer will be, none, and worse than none. Repair to their dying bed, and there behold their anguish. and excruciating diffrefs, all regret, remorfe, fears and terrors within, and nothing but torment in prospect. Let us turn away from the miserable objects, and contemplate the departing christian, who in raptures of pleasure is crying, "Come. "Lord Jesus, come quickly." Here it may be asked, if there be fo great pleasures in religion, how comes it, that professors often appear so gloomy and unhappy? The reply to this is easy and plain. It arises from their sins and corruptions. Now is it rational to ascribe to religion, what ought to be attributed to iniquity? If each has its due, fin will be found to be mifery in its nature, and all its consequences, but religion perfectly the reverse, pleasure is its nature, and compleat happiness its end.

A word of exhortation shall close this lecture.

Let us all now-be prevailed upon to become feriously religious. Her ways are pleasure, peace, comfort and bliss, whereas the ways of fin are forrow, wretchedness and death. Most men would rather be allured and persuaded to their duty, than be affrighted and terrified to it. Much might be said to alarm you with horror, and frighten you from courses of transgression and folly, but would you not rather be led than driven, courted, than compelled? A word of threatening has scarcely passed my lips to day. Wherefore, now be persuaded with your whole hearts to engage in piety. God is

inviting you, Christ is tenderly calling upon you, the holy Spirit like a dove is moving upon your hearts, and sweetly perfuading you to turn unto the Lord. The good angels are hovering around you waiting to carry the glad news of your repentance to heaven, that all that blissful world might be filled with joy. Hearken to the compassionate and endearing voice of your bleeding Saviour, "Behold I stand at the door and knock, if any man hear my voice and open the door, I will come in to him, and sup with him and he with me. I counsel thee to buy of me gold, that thou mayest be rich; and white raiment that thou mayest be cloathed, and that the shame of thy nakedness do not appear; and anoint thine eyes with eyesalve that thou mayest see." What more compassionate persuasions can be poured into the ears of sinners? O sinners, turn and live, turn and be happy forever.

And those of you, my hearers, who have entered into the pleasant ways and peaceful paths of religion, continue therein; turn not aside to the right hand or to the left. Proceed on from faith to faith, from duty to duty, from one holy exercise to another, and you will soon appear before God in Zion; you will soon be at home, in your fathers house, to be sorever with the Lord.

SERMON XXVI.

The rougs of Religion are Pleasant.

Prov. iii. 17. Her ways are ways of pleasantness, and all hot paths are peace.

LET us once more take a view of this pleafing theme. Pleafure is not easy to be parted from, so it is not easy to reliquish this delightful branch of divine truth. We have already contemplated the pleasantness of religion in its nature, and some of its exercises. We will now endeavour to attend to it in another point of light, and illustrate its excellency and beauty from the terms employed in the text, as a pleasant way and a delightful path.

We find by inspection of the sacred oracles, that the practice of religion is often compared to a way, and they that walk therein are denominated travellers. They are frequently represented as persons from home, as sojourners, pilgrims and strangers, yet as those who are on a journey homewards. The religious life is a journey indeed, and heaven is its end, and thither ward all the pious bend their course. So that

were you to ask a christian in a proper frame, whither he travelled, his reply would be, that he was bound to the celeffial Now all persons on a journey, especially if their journey be long, they have anxious fensations respecting two things, whether they are in the right road, and whether the way be pleafant and good. This affords encouragement and gives fprings and alacrity to travellers. When they find they are right and their way inviting and delightful, they haften on with speed, and proceed in their journey with pleasure. any one minded to engage in a religious life, or to enter upon a journey to the new Jerusalem, and enquire what fort was the way that tended thither, they have perfect instruction on this head, in the description of it in the words before us. "That all the ways are pleafantness and all the paths peace." This is the character of every way and every road, that leads to heaven. As religion is here explicitly compared to a way, fo under this image it shall be illustrated at present.

First, a way is generally pleasant which leads through flowezv lawns, or lies by beautiful streams of water. These take from the wearisome feellings of the traveller, and render his journey pleasing and delightful. But thus as the holy David informs us from his own experience, lies the way of religion. 44 He maketh me to lie down in green pastures; leadeth me by " the still waters." Here religion led him into green pastures, whose verdure and flowers, were pleasing and grateful to the view; and by the still waters, not such as dashed down migh- . by precipices, or foamed through ragged rocks, but whose gentle flow and foft murmers were delightful music to the enraptured ear. And the whole furniture of the way was fuch :s afforded the highest pleasure. He was not hurried through those delightful objects, but had full time to contemplate them. and imbibe the sweetness of all the pleasurable scenes. rested in those pastures and by those living waters, as Israel of old, when they encamped at Elim, where were twelve wells

[290]

of water and many palm trees. Gospel ordinances, to which christians much attend in their journeying through this world to their heavenly home, are charming and agreeable, like flourishing pastures and refreshing waters. Sabbaths, sacraments, public and private worship, praying to, and praising God, hearing his word preached, and holy meditations, are their delight; these are their pleasant things. There is a river of comfort in gospel institutions, "The streams whereof make "glad the cities of our God." It is probable a glimpse of these delightful scenes caused the spouse to pour forth this fervent petition, "Tell me, O thou whom my foul levels so where thou feedest, when thou makest thy slock to rest at "noon." Now they who walk not in the way of the Lord, are upbraided as being guilty of the extremity of folly, in that they depart from and despise a most pleasant and delightful road. Will a man, who is a traveller, act so week and unwise a part, as to forfake the walks which lead through defirable fields, and lie by refreshing rivers, to force his way through craggy rocks, and over rough and fulphureous mountains where all beneath is fire? Thus are men enemies to themselves, and the foolishness of man preverteth his way. Let us ever walk in the paths of piety, and journey in the ways which lie by the river of God.

Secondly, a way becomes pleasant when there is from it beautiful prospects, and frequently grand landscapes open to the view. The traveller pauses and is filled with sweet admiration, and looks around him with extatic pleasure. The prospects reslect light and glory upon the road, and he proceeds on his way rejoicing. It heightens their pleasure exceedingly, when they consider all they behold is their own; all in view and more, not only all things present, but all things to come are theirs. The whole creation is not merely at peace with them, but for their use and at their service. They look around

them with pleasure, and forward with joy. How does it give pleasure to a journey to have a prospect of its end; to see the way we are in leads directly thither, and that in a little while we shall be at home, in a house not made with hands, eternal in the heavens. The prospect of perfection and glory sheds flowers on all his paths, and thus he is delighted with the way, yet the view before him delights him infinitely more; hence he reaches forward, leaving the things that are behind, and pressing towards the everlasting rest.

Thirdly, necessary and comfortable accommodations afford pleasure on a journey. They who walk in the ways of religion have every thing expedient and proper for their support and comfort. The promise is, "They shall want no good thing." In all times and places they have access to the stores of grace, where there is an infinite sufficiency treasured up for their supply. Whenever they call they are furnished; they have only to ask and they shall receive. Their supplies are in continual readiness, and ever proportioned and adapted to their wants "For as their day is so shall their strength be."

Fourthly, agreeable company is pleasant on a journey. This deceives the time and banishes the tediousness of the way. This is an eminent consolation to those who walk in the peaceful paths of picty and virtue. It is an afflicting truth that they are only sew who travel in this road, yet it is a pleasing reflection that they are the wisest and best, and more excellent than their neighbours. They are not on their journey troubled with the impertinence of foolish companions. Christians have trials enough of this fort from the world, but the companions of the saints are all holy, wise and good. Let us therefore cordially say, "We will go with them, for we have heard "the Lord is with them." The communion of saints contributes much to the pleasure of their way. They quicken one another as fellow travellers and companions in the kingdom and patience of Christ. In ancient times it was a pleasure to

them who went up to Jerusalem to worship, that their numbers encreased by the way, and thus they went from arength to strength till every one of them appeared before God in Zion-Mutual conversation exceedingly heightens the pleasure of travellers. And it is the will of God that his people should encourage one another by these means in their heavenly course. "They that fear the Lord will often speak one to another."

Fifthly, to have health, firength and ability to perform our journey, is a defirable thing. The fick, the weak and the lame, the most pleating walks must be painful and disagreeable to them. This makes the way of religion pleasant, that they are filled with spiritual strength. And they travel not in their own but in the greatness of his strength, "who is mighty to save." Thus they run and are not weary, they walk and are not faint. By the strengthening and encouraging influences of the holy Spirit their hearts are comforted, supported and enlarged, so they not only go but run in the way of the divine commandments. "When I am weak, says St. Paul, then am I strong." Christians are weak in themselves, but they have every sufficient strength in the Lord; so that they faint not neither are they wears.

Sixthly, a way is pleasant where there is a good guard and a skilful guide, in whose understanding and sidelity we may place the surest considence. This is the safety and satisfaction of all true believers, that they are directed by the counsel, and guided by the Spirit of the Lord. The infallible promise is, "He shall lead them into all truth," hence they are said to walk after, and to be led by the spirit. As the pillar of sire and the cloud was a guide to the Israelitish nation, and led them thro' the desert, so the same God is a guide to christian travellers thro' the wilderness of this world, and a guard to them also; therefore, "they are kept by the power of God thro' saith unto salvation." The angels of heaven, those mi-

nistering spirits whose employment it is to minister to the heirs of glory, are a constant, vigilant and invincible guard unto them. They bear them in their arms where they go, pitch their tents where they rest, they are their front and their reasward, and securely line all their way. How cheerfully and safely may christians proceed in their heavenly journey, when they have full assurance that they are always protested and surrounded by such guards. Yea, tho' they walk in the shadow of death, they need sear no ill.

Seventhly, how comfortable is it to have sufficient light in all our ways? Nothing more disagreeable than journeying in the dark, in the blackness of a cloudy night. Our Saviour declares, "He that walketh in darkness knows not whither "he goeth." Now they that walk in the ways of true piety, are children of the light and of the day. Once, they were darkness, but now are they light in the Lord. The light has arisen upon them, which is not only for their pleasure, but to direct their steps in the paths of peace.

Eighthly, the end of their way is pleasantness and delight itself. However good the accommodations, great the security, and safe the desence of our course, if the end be bad, all must be unhappiness. This is the forlorn condition of all the workers of iniquity. The way in which they go, tho' wide and broad, it directly leads to destruction. And can they have pleasure in a journey, while they know the end thereof is death, and the steps thereof take hold on hell. Not so the way of the righteness, it leads to a most happy issue, even to perfect blessedness and to eternal life. It ends in the presence of God, "where was fulness of joy, and at his right hand where run rivers of "pleasure forevermore."

Now, my brethren, here is brought into review before you a few of the ways of religion, and furely every one must readily conceive, that they are pleasant and peaceful. Do not all immediately apprehend that a thing so amiable in its nature, so advantageous, rich and promising in its consequences, is calculated to induce every one to wish to acquire it for himself? The prayer and wish of each should be, "O that I was a traveller in such pleasant ways and delightful paths, that will issue in fuch happy regions, in fuch an eternally glorious end." Confider feriously with yourselves, are these things so? Is true religion attended with those comforts pleasures and joys. which you have heard? Why then will you not enter upon this heavenly journey, and engage to travel in these delightful walks? Surely you cannot but love profit and pleasure, riches Here are durable riches, and crowns of glory and honor. which fade not away. "Wisdom is more precious than rubies. " and all the things thou canst desire are not to be compared " unto her. Length of days is in her right hand, and in her 'left riches and honor. Truly, all her ways are pleafantnes e and all her paths are peace."

Perhaps some stand ready to fav, it is my business and cal ling to recommend a legion, and therefore I will endeavor to exhibit it in the belt light it can possibly hear. This is my em ployment indeed, and I glory in it, and rejoice to magnify mine office. And let him that glorieth ever glory in the Lord. But you will grant me the liberty, to assure you, religion is not like the mean and damaged wares of the merchant, which are often extolled above their intrinsic value: if you ever come to purchase this pearl, and behold its preciousness, you will cry out with the queen of Sheba who had come from afar to fee the wisdom of Solomon, "that half its excellency had not been "told you." But lest you should be jealous the preacher's defign is to impose upon you, and to praise to you things above their worth, you cannot possibly entertain any such apprehensions in respect to the blessed God. If you scruple and hesitate to believe man, you must furely believe the Lord of heaven and

earth, who is truth itself and cannot lie. "The Lord of hosts makes unto all people, a feast of fat things, a feast of wines on the lees, of fat things full of marrow, of wines on the lees well refined?" Are feasts, marriage entertainments, luxuriant vineyards, fruitful fields, and delightful gardens pleasurable things? All these images and a thousand more are employed by Jehovah himself to represent to our view the beauties and charms of sincere piety, in order to captivate our hearts and engage us to fall in love therewith.

But it will still be objected, if religion be so pleasant, peaceful. joyous and delightful, how does it happen that we continually ce to many of its votaries mopilh, fad and melancholy, always mourning, always complaining? It is truly afflicting to behold fo many of the friends of this comfortable fervice, gloomy and But have you not feen some persons at the richest feasts and highest entertainments silent and distressed, and dark melancholy resting on their brow? Were these forbidding and gloomy appearances ever attributed to the feast and cheerful company? Surely not. It was some inward pain, some in--visible affection, which none knew but the subjects of them, that caused this gloomy sadness in scenes of pleasure. So here the sadness, distresses and complaints of christians, cannot with justice be attributed to religion, but to some other cause. source of all these miserable appearances is sin and corruption, and because they have so little of the exercises of grace in their hearts. Religion makes none of its friends to mourn or complain; these are the genuine effects of sin. Therefore it is both unreasonable and wicked to ascribe to the former, what are always the fruits of, and justly appertain to the latter. O that religion might never suffer in the house of its friends! Let none ever join with Satan in perverlely and wrongfully attributing to religion, what belongs to fin.

But some will be ready here to ask, is not repentance a part

of religion, and is not this an unpleasurable and mortifying work? This is granted to be true in the opinion of those who have never experienced the grace of repentance. But enquire of the aged faint, over whose cheeks streams of tears have flowed for his fins, whether his feelings at those feafons were painful or pleasant? He will immediately answer, that his tears were sweet and comfortable. Sin in itself gave him bitterness of heart, but mourning for it, was his pleasure and satisfaction. Many a faint has experienced more peace, comfort and spiritual joy in weeping for his sins, than ever an impenitent sinnner did in all the round and noise of jovial mirth. Yea, some christians have had so much pleasure and happiness in true repentance, that they could not well fee how fuch a bleffing should be excluded heaven. Hence Solomon declares, "Sorrow is better than laughter, and the heart of the wife "is in the house of mourning." Surely in the blessing of our Lord must be comprehended substantial pleasure and true felicity. Thus he pronounces, "Bleffed are they that moura, " for they shall be comforted." " For those who forrow af-" ter a godly fort, the Lord hath appointed, beauty for ashes, " the oil of joy for mourning, the garment of praise for the " spirit of heaviness." All the saints testify that repentance is a sweet and pleasant exercise, and those who are ignorant of it, and never experienced any of its confolations, must, to say the least, be very incompetent and improper judges.

But it is high time to close this subject with some improvement.

First, this theme calls for praise and gratitude to the most High, who hath opened ways of pleasure and paths of peace to the land of perfect felicity. The religion in the gospel, instituted for the happiness of the children of men, is pleasure, peace and delight in itself as well as all glorious in its end. How hard, cruel and inhuman are many of the false religions in the

world. Some oblige their votaries to turn anchorites, and banish themselves from the society of men; others are forced into cells and cloysters, to spend their solitary days in tormen, ting penances, to lash themselves with bloody cords, to suffer all the pains of hunger by emaciating fastings, to go on distant and dreary pilgrimages, to wear hats of iron, and stand on pillars of fainting and death. Others must offer in sacrifice their tender children to appeale the anger of their monstrous deities, &c. Thus the greatest bulk of mankind are overwhelmed in barbarous superstitions, and their religion is cruelty, anguish and horror.—But how humane, rational, sweet and benevolent is the religion of christianity? All the ways of our religion are pleasure and all her paths are peace. Let us therefore rejoice in it, and embrace it with our whole hearts' imbibe all its graces and practife all its virtues. Let us continually offer the facrifices of joy, and fing praises unto the Lord. Let sentiments of gratitude and love ever dwell in our hearts, and fongs of bleffing and praise upon our tongues.

Secondly, allow me to shut up this discourse in a short address to the younger part of my audience. I turn to you, my amiable young friends, who consider yourselves in the age of pleasure. You here see that religion is not that frightful and gloomy thing, which you have often falfely pictured to yourselves in your own deluded fancies. There is nothing forbiedding, distant or disagreeable in it. Here alone can you and true pleasure and durable delight. You think, you are in the period of life, wherein you may be allowed to take your fill of pleasure, before the calamitous appendages of old age come on. And, O that you could be perfuaded, to feek it where alone it can be found. Would you rejoice in your youth, and have your hearts cheer you in the days of your youth, enter upon the ways of religion. Relinquish folly, iniquity and youthful lufts, and chuse God for your God, Christfor your Saviour, and the Holy Ghost for your Sanctifier : chuse religion for your course of life, her counsels to direct you and her graces to comfort you; then will you have the highest pleasures in life, the most consoling supports in death, and confumate felicity throuhgout the unwasting ages of eternity. Wherefore shake off the shakles of sin, falsely called pleasure. and say unto laughter, thou art mad, and to carnal mirth. thou art foolishness, and make the wife choice of Mose: with whom God conversed face to face, as a man with his friend. 66 Who chose to suffer affliction with the people of God. " rather than dwell in the courts of fin for a feafon." treated to come and take Christ's yoke upon you and you will furely find it easy. Lay it up in your minds, that the pleafures of religion are infinitely preferable to the pleasures of sense. "Seek the Lord while he may be found, and call unon him while he is near." Let this great truth be inscribed on the palms of your hands, that it may be always before you. and let it never slip from your memories, "That all religion's "ways are pleafantness, and all her paths, peace."

SERMON XXVII.

Faith struggling with difficulties.

Matt. xxv. from the 21st to the 28th verse, inclusive. Then Jesus went thence and departed into the coasts of Tyre and Siden. And behold a woman of Canzan came out of the same coasts, and cried unto him, saying, have mercy on ms, O Lord, thou son of David, my daughter is grievously vexed with a devil. But he answered her not a word. And his disciples came and befought him, saying, send her away for she crieth after us. But he answered and said, I am not sent but unto the lost sheep of the house of Israel. Then came she and worshipped him, saying, Lord help me. But he answered and said, it is not meet to take the children's bread and cast it unto dogs. And she said, truth Lord, yet the dogs eat of the crumbs which fall from their master's table. Then Jesus answered and said unto her, O woman, great is thy said: he it unto thee even as thou wilt. And her daughter was made whole from that very hour.

WE have often read, my brethren, or often heard, of the mighty deeds and great exploits performed by distinguished

heroes, and renowned worthies, whose fame has been spread through the historic page; but there are no atchievements for glorious, and thine with fuch brilliant luftre, as those which have been done by the virtue, power and grace of faith. An Alexander, a Cefar, a Hannibal, performed no fuch stupendons deeds or obtained such remarkable victories, as have been accomplished by the strength and wisdom of this wonderful grace. The oracles of truth produce abundant instances of its wonder working power. " Many thro' faith have subdued "kingdoms, stopped the mouths of lions, quenched the vio-" lence of fire, were made strong, and waxed valiant in fight, of and turned to flight the armies of the aliens." Were ever any exploits like these performed by any or all the noblest he. roes of antiquity? Here in the passage before us we have an altonishing deed, a most notable victory obtained by one of the weaker sex, thro' the might and all vanquishing power of her faith. A poor feeble woman dares to enter the lifts with the Son of God, who could speak worlds into existence, and comes off with the plaudits of victory. The history we have of this remarkable incident is briefly this:

Jesus Christ, the Saviour of an apostate world, being resolved to be as extensively useful from the time he entered upon his public ministry, as possible, takes a tour into some more remote corners of the country, into a distant part of the land of Judea, which lay bordering upon Tyre and Sidon. While he was itinerating and doing good, a certain woman of Canaan, of the gentiles, came to him with a most importunate address, that he would administer healing to her daughter, who was grievously vered with a devil. She must surely have had some true information of his character, that he was the Messiah, the promised Saviour of men, the Son of God, and from the evidence she had, she had committed her soul to him, and believed on him before she saw him with her bodily eyes. And from the account she had heard of his miracles, she possessed

confidence, that he was able to heal her daughter. This faith induced her to go forth to meet him, as the fame of his being in that part of the country had reached her ears. She was one that was a stranger to the commonwealth of Israel, a descendant of that accursed nation, which had been devoted to destruction by that sentence pronounced more than two thousand years before, "Cursed be Canaan." When a whole nation is cast off from God, it never implies in it, that every individual of that people must perish eternally. This woman and many other instances in scripture, are evidences hereof.

Now faith caused this person to arise and go to Jesus, being fully persuaded that he was all sufficient, and infinitely able te do all that for her, which her heart defired. When she came near unto him, the presented her petition in the most decent, warm, pertinent and believing manner. "She cried unto " him faying, have mercy upon me, O Lord, thou Son of Da-"vid." The very form of the address, hows both her knowledge of Christ's character as the promised Redeemer of his people, and her faith in him as the only Saviour. It may raise wonder in some, that this poor woman did not make her complaint to the disciples, that they might have introduced her to their Lord, but it is manifest she had too muck faith and knowledge for this. A proper understanding of the truth, and a real faith, will have no angels or faints for interceffors, but will apply directly to the Son of David, to the Lord of all power and grace. And she pleads no merit or worthiness, but her sole desire is mercy; to mercy she looks, and on mercy the rests all her hopes. As if she had said, "O thou Son of David, Ifrael's King, upon sufficient information and testimony, I fully believe that thou art Jesus, the fent of God to be the Saviour of lost men, I therefore appear in thy presence as a needy supplicant who have nothing to recommend me to thy favour but my mitery, fin and wretchedness, I ask no

bleffing flue, or meritorious reward, but what I bumbly and devotely beg, is an act of thy mere beneficence, pure mercy and free grace."-One would have thought the merciful and compaffionate Saviour, would instantly have granted her hearty and earnest defire. But lo, his conduct on this tender and affecting occasion, how widely different from any thing it ever was before? For the trial of her faith, and to exhibit her as an example to all future believers, he assumes an air of distance and referve; he proceeds on his way, without feeming to hear her, or even deigning to give her a look from his countenance. "He answered her not a word." Discouraging consideration indeed! How must her tender heart be wounded? What must be her painful feelings? She sought, the prayed, the cried, but elas! the fought, and prayed, and cried in vain. " He "answered her not a word." Might not this poor Capannitish woman have rationally paused, and thought with herself; " Surely this cannot be the Son of God, so famed for his tenderness and clemency; has he heard others and turns a deaf ear to me? I have addressed him in as humble and decent a manner, as any I ever heard of? Is he thus referved, filent and partial? I will go no more after him; I will follow him no farther." Would not some such reflections upon the treatment she received be extremely natural? But however natural they might be to a corrupt mind, they are far from being natural to a renewed foul to divine faith, that is in pursuit of favour from the Lord. But though Christ answered her not, and in filence went on his way, this feems to encrease her faith, to cause her to send forth more fervent prayers and tender cries, infomuch that the disciples were moved and affected with her case, and voluntarily became intercessors on her behalf.

Believers will feel for believers in affliction and perplexity, and they will plead and intercede for them. Thus "His "disciples came and besought him, saying, send her away

Vfor he crieth after vs" Her cries pierced their tender hearts; they sympathized with her in her diffresses, and they entreated him to grant her request and fend her away, that they might not be harraffed with her painful importunities. the melting request of his disciples, he stops, though he would not speak to the woman; he speaks, he replies to them, in her hearing. Is it an answer of encouragement, hope or comfort? Nay, quite the reverse. It is big with horror and repulse. These heart cutting words proceed from his lips. " I am not "fent, says he, but unto she lost sheep of the house of Israel." This strikes dumb the disciples, and must penetrate like daggers to her heart. Behold, how she stands mute, overwhelmed in tears, and ready to fink into the earth. Her case was deplorable indeed; and these words might, methinks, have thrown her into eternal despair. With what plausibility and justice might she have argued against her election, as many do, who have no fuch reasons? How might she have poured out her despairing soul in such wailings as these? "Alas! Jefas is only fent to shew mercy and be a Saviour to the people, to the lost sheep of the house of Israel; it is true I am loft, a loft creature indeed, and now must be lost to all eternity; I am not of the happy and chosen family of Israel, but of the reprobate, the cursed race of the gentiles; there is no encouragement, no hope, no mercy, no falvation for me; I and my dear child must be rapped in the slames of damnation; I have fought his merciful favour with an humble and broken heart, with fighs, and cries, and tears; I am not a chosen vessel, I pertain not to the election of grace, but must have my doom in the regions of horror and everlasting mitery." · Are not such despairing thoughts natural? Where is the believer that could ever again look to Jesus, after such a repulse. But this does not dispirit the faith of this woman, it engages her to more zeal, it fires all the powers of her foul; instead of relinquishing her purpose by these discouragements, she renews her address with more humility, earnestness and servency. Behold the woman approaching his presence, bowing before him, paying him homage and profound adoration, hathed in tears, and collecting her whole soul into one pathetic petition.

""Then came she, and worshipped him, saving, Lord, help "me." What Christ had faid, put to filence the disciples. but she continues her prayer, and applies with greater importunity; she determines that if she perish, she will perish at the feet of Jesus, pleading for mercy, with her last breath praying for help. Alas! what now is the consequence?-a further and feverer repulse. He turns to her, and would reason her out of her prayers and importunities, points out the unfitness of her request, with the twinging addition of a rebuke and reproach. "But he answered and said, it is "not meet to take the children's bread and cast it to dogs." As though he had faid, "Woman, your desire is unreasonable and unjust: I came to be a minister of the circumcision and my favours are to be bread to the children of Ifrael, but you are a dog of the Gentiles, it would be highly improper to take the bread of children, and bestow it on such vile creatures as you; you are out of the covenant, out of the pale of the church, and to be passed over with neglect and contempt." Here was an answer clouded with discouragement; its apparent amount was an absolute refusal. And not only denied, but also reproached with the degrading epithet of a dog. What heart could bear, what spirit could brook such treatment and inful: as this? Not to be attended to. nor observed: to be told he had no business with her nation; that it was upfit to give her any of the children's bread; and then to subjoin reproaches upon her character as too base and ignoble. fit only to be ranked with the basest of the animal tribes. Would not any person possessed of a soul rise, resent and retort the injury? " What?-Can this be the Son of David?

E 305 1

Can this be the Saviour of the world, reputed for kindness, mercy, compassion, goodness and love? No: he is not the Christ, but some vile imposter; I have been deluded, I will go no more after him; I will feek to him, I will pray to him no more:" But, how widely different is the humble, believing heart, that loves the Lord Jesus. In meekness, pazience and humility, it readily takes all in good part as just and right. She feels deferving of fuch an answer, or of no notice. In righteousness Christ might pass her by, a wretched dog and worse. Yet her faith will not part from its object. She owns all to be reasonable, just and true; all the austere usage which she receives, is perfectly right. Yet her faith, is fuch, that though he flay her, the will trust in him. Nothing can separate or break the band of faith; neither death, nor life, nor principalities, nor powers, nor repulses, nor denials, nor reproaches. Faith, a true and living faith will carry the foul through all opposition. The more difficulties, discouragements and trials the believing christian meets with, the more earnest and fervent in prayer will be be. He will wrestle with God himself, and will not cease the struggle until he provail. He will argue and dispute the matter even with Christ. And faith will furnish him with power, dexterity and skill, in there argument; he will overcome.

Thus this Canaanitish believer proceeds to answer the Lord's objections against her. She begins with an acknowledgement, all he said was true; "And she said, truth Lord;" what thou sayest is perfectly right; I am as vile and unworthy as a dog, I am worse than brutish, I deserve no sayour, I merit no mercy from thy hand. Yet, allow me in deep humility to say, when the children eat their bread there are crumbs salling, from the table, which are not denied to the dogs that lie under it." Behold, the importanity, the wisdom, strength and beauty of her saith. She acknowledges that she was as a dog, and all a begged was only the sayours, privileges and advantages of

that animal. "Yet the dogs eat of the erumbs which fall "from their master's table." As if she had said, "O Lord Jesus, allow me to receive the crumbs which the children carelessly let fall; there is enough and to spare; let me partake of the scraps; in the greatness of thy bounty, in the rich profusion of thy beneficence and grace, spare me this one mercy, grant me only this one blessing, the life of my child, the salvation of my soul. This is but a crumb salling from the wonders of thy love." Was there ever faith like this? Was there ever patience, humility, perseverence and duty like this woman's.?

The compassionate Redeemer appears now no longer able to contain himself; he seems as tho' he was vanquished and overcome; he relinquishes the contest, and yields the victory. Behold. O christians, the strength, power, and conquering im. portunity of faith! See the flowns scattered from the Saviour's brow, the lowering clouds diffipated from his face; lo. the God of love, grace and mercy appears; his countenance gathers its wonted smiles. With what pleasure and delight does he look upon this happy woman, tho' full of pain, anxiety and fear, and floods of tears guthing from her eves, and perhans, still looking for a more tremendous sentence than any fire had yet heard; he addresses her in the foul enrapturing language of praise and commendation. And could words more tender, friendly and compaffionate flow from a Saviour's lips? "Then Jesus answered and said unto her, O woman " great is thy faith; be it unto thee even as thou wilt." Her extatic joy now exceeds her forrow. Heretofore in all her difficulties and troubles, she retained the power of speech whether she fainted in raptures we are not informeed, but language failed her, she speaks no more. No words are left her; her heart was too full to express her gratitude. Thus joy fometimes is more overcoming than forrow. Tho' she was of the heathen sions of Canaan, yet she approved herself w

true baughter of Ifrael, who like a prince had power with God and prevailed. Hitherto Christ had throuded his face, and treated her with a degree of roughness, but now he gathest her with everlasting kindness; he takes her in the arms of his love, smiles upon her, and manifests himself her beloved and Few can read the history of Joseph's discovering himself to his brethren, without shedding tears at these words, " I am Joseph, thy brother, come near unto me." What are our feelings when Christ acts this precious part to the believer, faying, " I am Jesus thy saviour, thy beloved, thy friend: put all thy confidence in me; place all thy hopes for time and eternity upon me." Especially when he adopts the language. he did to his spouse: "Thou art all fair, my love, there is no 4 spot in thee. Come with me from Lebanon, my spoule, " with me, from Lebanon; look from the top of Amana " from the top of Shenir and Hermon." Take a Pifgay view of the promited land, of heaven and all the rich and thining glories thereof, and all this is yours by a divine covenant of unchangeable love.

A few reflections must conclude these pleasing meditations.

First, let this doctrine encourage, support and comfort believers, who labour under many troubles, trials and perplexities. In all your difficulties go to Jesus. If he relieves you
not, depart not from him. If he answers you not, cease not
your prayers and cries. If he seems to withdraw from you,
follow after him with greater zeal and importunity. This
was the ruin of Saul; when God withdrew from him and answered him not, he betook himself to a witch and to Satan.
When Christ replies to you as being unworthy, as being
great sinners, as being exceedingly brutish in his sight, own
it, and say, truth Lord; yet plead for the crumbs that fallfrom the table of his grace, which he grants to creatures as
hase and unworthy as you.

Secondly, let these things awaken guilty sinners to five to the Lord Jesus. If you have not a daughter grievously wexed with a devil, you have worse. Your souls are possessed by him, you are in his snares, and he is leading you on to eternal destruction. You are all polluted and unclean, in a lost and miserable condition. Up, escape for your lives to the mountains of safety, or you must perish with Sodom in everlasting stames.

Thirdly, let those who have desires to draw near to Christ, so hold communion with him and obtain blessings from him, set the example of this woman of great faith before them. Address him with decency, propriety and fortitude, saying, have merey on us, O thou son of David. Cry after him, fall down before him, worship him, pour out your whole souls in this solemn and all comprehensive petition, "Lord, help us." Remember the man sick of the palfy; when he could get access to Christ no other way, he was let down thro' the roof of the house. Let no obstruction impede our way to the Saviour. Surmount every difficulty; cast yourselves at his seet; lay hold upon him; let him not go until you obtain a blessing to your souls, until you obtain the blessing of eternal life.

Fourthly, a few words to those who entertain the prospect of sitting down to the supper of our Lord, shall close the subject. Consider your wants, and look to Jesus for the supply of them. Do you want the healing of a blind mind, or a hard heart? Do you want covering to your naked souls? Christ is a physician all sufficient for these purposes. Take no denial from him; fill your mouths with arguments. Take resuge in his teader bosom; resign yourselves to him. Receive him into your hearts, and rejoice in him. Is he not sweetly whispering to some while I am speaking, "Rise up

my love, my fair one and come away. For lo, the winter is past, the rain is over and gone." O that he may say to many souls at his feast, "O man, O woman, great is thy faith."

SERMON XXVIII.

The advantages, and some of the properties of faith.

Matt. zv. 28. Then Jefus answered and said unto ber, O woman, great is thy faith.

WE have already considered the history of this remarkably believing woman of Canaan. She was a person of pre-eminent piety. It may with propriety be here said, as in another instance of one out of the visible church, to wit, Cornelius a Roman centurian of Cesaria, "Of a truth, God is no respecter of persons, but in every nation, he that feareth him, and worketh righteousness is accepted with him." Although our Lord fixed upon and principally praised and recommended the saith of this excellent woman, yet there were other graces which shone with a conspicuous lustre in her whole conduct upon this occasion. In this affair she exhibited a group of the most shining virtues of the gospel; such as presond wisdom, deep humility, genuine meekness, patience, perseverance in prayer, so titude, &c. How did her wisdom appear in the whole of her behaviour, in her management of this

[311]

uffair : the choice of her words and deceney of her address? What a beautiful humility attended her in all her deportment and acknowledgment of her unworthiness? Did not sweet meekness manifest itself, without any perturbation of spirit or ruffle of temper? What patience did she exercise in her soreheavy and unlooked for trials? Not a hard thought of lefus. notwithstanding the austerity of his treatment, arose in her heart; not a murmuring word passed from her lips. How Ready was her perseverance in prayer? Her words were few. but they were well ordered. Her petitions were admirably pathetic; they were enforced with the strongest arguments. Neither frowns, nor denials, nor repulses, nor reproaches, could cause her to cease from her purpose. Her perseverance under the most discouraging circumstances was of an extraordinary nature .- How aftonishing was her fortitude? She feared not a her heart was fixed trufting in the Lord. No difficulties but what she would encounter, and would brave every danger. She was in all respects an admirable person, a supetior faint, and a diftinguished believer. Every grace and everv virtue, feemed to possess her soul. She was truly full of God. Yet among all these excellencies, Christ chiefly founds his praise and recommendation upon her grace of faith. Other virtues were the productions and effects of this. Therefore we conclude, of all the graces of the spirit, faith gives the most honor to Christ, and he confers the highest honors upon it.

O how happy should we be, my brethren, were we all in the state of this Canaanitish woman! To have faith, such eminent faith as to be well pleasing to, and receive the approbation of our Lord. Nothing affords greater pleasure to the Saviour of the world, than the faith of his people; it renders them precious to him, even as the apple of his eye. He rejoices over them, and is ready to say, "Thou hast ravished my heart, my sister, my spouse; thou hast ravished my heart

"with one of thine eyes, with one chain of thy neck. How "fair is thy love, my fifter, my spouse."

Various are the reasons which induce Christ to be charmed and pleafed with the faith of his people. Though they may confider themselves all blackness and deformity, and vilet than the basest of animals, yet in the view of Jesus, they are comely, beautiful and lovely. They may fay with the spouse, they are black and not fit to be looked upon; with Job they may cry out, behold we are vile; with the Pfalmist, they are more brutish than men, are as beasts before God; with Paul, that they are the chief of finners; or with this Canaznitish woman, they are as dogs in his fight. Notwithstanding the low estimation in which they hold themselves, yet in the eyes of Christ, they are all amiable, they are pleasantness to him? they cost him dear and he sets his heart upon them. claims, "Behold, thou art fair, my love; behold, thou art "fair; thou halt doves eyes within thy locks; thou art beau-" tiful as Tirzah, and comely as Jerusalem. The king's 46 daughter is all glorious within; her cloathing is of wrought se gold, and he greatly defires her beauty."-Christ is thus pleased with the graces of believers, especially with the grace of faith; because this is his high work, on which he feems to place a greater emphasis than any other. " the work of God, that ye believe on him whom he hath " fent." The persons to whom this reply was made, had enquired what they should do to work the works of Gode hence they are here informed by our Lord what the work of God is, it is believing on Jesus, whom God hath sent into the world to be the Saviour thereof. It is also expressly declared, "This is his command, that we should believe on the "name of his Son Jesus Christ." There are many commandments, but this is comprehensive of all, therefore St. Paul, when he would give a fummary of the whole gospel, files it "The law of faith." This is one reason why Chail

declares himself highly pleased with the faith of his people, because it is the great precept of the gospel, the sum of all that he requires.

Another reason is, because no other grace or virtue so highly honors, magnifies and glorifies Christ as this. Faith empties us of ourselves, and gives all the honor and glory of our falvation to him; it makes us vile and unworthy in our own. cyes, and exalts him to be all in all. He is precious to the believer, and itself is called precious faith. Thus faith and Christ are reciprocally precious to each other. Jesus is ready to fay, O precious faith; and the believer to reply, O precious Saviour? Faith adheres to him through every obstruction, opposition, discouragement and difficulty, and Christ praises it saying, O man, or O woman, great is thy faith-Faith fays none but Christ; and he replies, none but faith. " Only believe and thou shalt be faved; only believe and thou "hast eternal life." How should this engage all who have any regard to their immortal fouls, to believe with their whole: hearts, to stir up their faith, to abound in the lively exercises ; of this grace; herein you will be pleasing to Christ and acceptable in his fight. All believers must, furely, fervently defire to please their Lord. The thought of pleasing Jesus affords the spouse ineffable delight, " while the king setteth and " his table, my fpikenard fendeth forth the fmell thereof." The presence of Christ, and the exercises of faith gave her sweet contentment, inward triumph, and great delight. Would any wish to afford pleasure to the precious Redeemer, let them learn the art of believing, and live in the lively exercisesof this grace. David danced before the ark with all his might, solet your faith be vigorous and active. Thus you will give . pleasure, and become acceptable to Jesus, who so loved you that he shed his most precious blood for you. Herod was highly delighted with Herodias's daughter, "Infomuch that: "he sware unto her, to give her what she should ask, even to-

" the half of his kingdom." He makes a mean referre of the half of his pitiful kingdom. But whatfoever you shell ask O believer. Christ, in faithfulness to himself, in faithfulness to his word, his promise and his oath, will confer upon you, not the half, but the whole of his kingdom; and his kingdom saglorious and an everlasting kingdom. He is often sweetly addressing the believer, as king Aha uerus did his queen, on the day that he waited upon her at the banquet of wine; "What is thy pe-" tition queen Esther, and it shall be granted thee; and what " is thy request and it shall be performed, even to the half of " my kingdom?" This encourages the trembling believer to table her address in the language of the queen; " If I have " found favour in thy fight, O king, and if it please the king, " let my life be given me at my petition, and the falvation of " my foul at my request, for I am fold by sin, to be destroyed, " to be slain and to perish."

The feeble christian is here ready to cry out, O that I had that faith which is well pleasing to Christ; and also asks, how shall I ask faith so vigorously, that my Lord and my Saviour may be delighted, and that I may obtain his approbation? In order that your faith may become acceptable to Christ, it must possess the following properties; it must be exerted in a way of humiliation—acceptance—triumph—resignation—homage—and appropriation.

First, let your faith exert itself in a way of humiliation, or self emptiness and self abasement. This was the manner of the Centurion's faith. "Lord I am not worthy thou shoulds "come under my roos." This silled Christ with admiration and pleasure, and drew from him this high recommendation: "He marvelled and said to them that sollowed, verily I say unto you, I have not sound so great faith, no, not in Israel." This was the way in which the faith of this woman of Canaan became so acceptable to the Saviour. Her saith reduced her

fiddw: humiliated her in fuch a manner, that she owned she notefied all the unworthiness of a dog, one of the baselt of animals. Thus faith, in proper exercise, will humble the soul and cause it to appear nothing, and worse than nothing. will not only cease from self admiration, but abhor ourselves and repent in dust and ashes. Faith thews Christ in all his beauty, folendor and glory, and the foul beholding the excellencies of the Saviour, sees nothing in itself but turpitude and unworthiness. While in unbelief we are full of ourselves, and fhine in our own esteem: but when by faith we behold the transcendant beauties and glories of Immanuel, then we see ourselves in some measure as we are, poor, and wretched, and naked, and language fails in the description of our unworthineis. Thus rotten wood shines in the dark with admired colours, but when day returns it appears as it is, nothing but rottenness and unusefulness. Thus when the fun of righteousness arises to the eye of faith, the foul is emptied of itself, of its pride, vanity and felfiliness. These are the expressions of faith: "Lord, I am undone, but in thee is my help found. I fink, I perilh, I am loft, Lord fave me. My righteousness is filthy rags, my beauty deformity, my pedigree is baseness' my riches poverty, my strength weakness, my power infirmity: Lord, there are riches, righteonfness, beauty, strength and power with thee, every thing adapted to my fituation; therefore I come unto thee poor and blind, and deformed, milerable, wretched and naked." The believing foul rejects itself, hates and abhors its fins, and waits and hopes, loves and trusts in Christ alone.

Secondly, it operates in a way of acceptance, and thus it honors God and is approved of Jesus. "To as many as received him, to them gave he power to become the sons of God, even to them that believe in his name." Faith accepts of the Lord Jesus Christ in all his mediatorial offices, as freely proposed in the go pel; willing to deny himself, to suffer with him, and to follow him that he may dwell with him forever. The foundtakes up the refolution of cleaving to Jefus, as Ruth to Naomize. "Whither thou goest, I will go; where thou lodgest, I wills "lodge; thy people shall be my people, and thy God, my "God." In this manner he receives Christ in his person, pardons, promises, and graces; in his humiliation and exaltation. Accept a persect, a whole and compleat Saviour, and you receive eternal life.

Thirdly, the person who would believe, to the consolations of his heart, must exult in Christ Jesus, and triumph in his Saviour. There is a sweet joy, and holy pleasure attending a true and lively faith. How does St. Paul in exulting raptures say? "Thanks be to God, that giveth us cause always to tri-" umph in Christ." Can there be a greater cause of rejoicing than to have such a friend and husband as the prince of life. All who believe are married unto Jesus, that was raised from the dead, that they may tring forth fruits unto teternal life; and he is a friend who sticketh closer than a brother. The christian then may triumph in joy with the spouse and say, "This is my beloved, and this is my friend, O daughters of Jerusalem."

Fourthly, the faith of that person who peculiarly pleases Christ, resigns itself unreservedly to him. Thus between Christ and the believer, their is a mutual delivery of themselves to each other. As faith receives Christ, so it surrenders all to him. He gives up soul and body, and all that he hath, keeping back no part of the price. He seels and considers himself no longer his own, but the Lord's who bought himself no longer his own, but the Lord's who bought himself no longer his own, his person, his benefits, his merits, righteousness, and all his infinite possessions. Thus he gives liberally, and confers upon his people every possible good. How rich, how dignified, how glorious are the saints

They have indeed, all things richly to enjoy. Hence with propriety, they may be congratulated as by the prophet Zachariah; "Rejoice greatly, O daughter of Zion, shout, "O daughters of Jerusalem, behold, thy king cometh unto thee, he is just and having salvation."

Fifthly, another property of faith is, to display itself in the most profound homage and adoration. All cast their crowns at the feet of Jesus, and they exalt him to the throne of his plory and excellency. "The four and twenty elders fall "down before him that fat on the throne, and worship him 44 that liveth forever and ever, and cast their crowns before the "throne, faying, thou art worthy, O Lord, to receive glory, "and honor, and power, for thou hast created all things, and " for thy pleasure they are and were created. Every creature "which is in heaven and in earth, heard I, saying, bleffing "and honor and glory and power be unto him that fitteth upon the throne, and unto the lamb forever and ever. "Thus at the name of Jesus every knee shall bow." heaven and in earth, proftrate themselves in the deepest adoration before him. The wife men, who came from the east. worshipped the infant Jesus in the manger; all his disciples worship him. It is the duty of the whole earth to sall on his name. It is difficult to conceive how they can be christians, who refuse to honor the Son as they honor the Father. True faith always pays the most exalted worship to bim. therefore ever pleased and delighted therewith.

Lastly, that faith, which is acceptable unto Christ, and acquires the praise in our text, "O great is thy faith," must vigorously act in a way of appropriation. Faith is not mere. ly to operate in the form of affiance, trust, reliance, leaning and committing itself to him; but in a direct and reflex manner combined, it is to act in the way of assurance. Thus when the clouds were dissipated from the mind of an unbear

lieving Thomas, and his faith aroufed into proper exercife. he appropriates Christ to himself; he not only confesses, it is the Lord, but cries out, "My Lord, and my God." A lively Yaith, under the exercise of spiritual reflections, claims Jesus as its own property, assuring the believer that he is in a state of grace, that Christ is his, and all his benefits are his. reflex acts from whence appropriation strictly takes its origin, never have any true existence but by and with direct acts of believing. Where there are no direct acts of faith, there can be no gracious assurance, or scriptural and comfortable satisfaction in the foul. The former may and often does exist without the latter, but the latter never without the former. As well might we speak of assurance without exercises of faith, as of believing without evidence. But assurance is the duty of christians to acquire as well as faith. Without the latter he cannot be saved, so without the former he cannot be comfortable. Hence it is the duty of all believers—it is the only way to peace and confolation of foul, to be appropriating Christ as their own, often thinking and often fpeaking of him as theirs. should often be reflecting upon his beauties and glories, riches and grace; making an appropriating application thereof to themselves; "This is my beloved, this is my friend; this is my Saviour and my God." This would cause the soul to cleave closely to Christ, to walk in the light of his countenance, and would fill it with confolation, joy and peace in believing. Thus he would go on his heavenly course rejoicing, and receive the approbation of his Lord, faying to, and praising him, " Great is thy faith."

An inference or two, and a fingle admonition. shall finish this discourse.

First, we infer from this doctrine, that faith is of an holy nature. There are kinds of faith, which have no holiness in them, but not so with that faith which unites to Christ and

T 319]

connects the foul with falvation. As holiness is its nature, so its exercises and operations have a fanctifying virtue and quality in them. It renders the creature in some measure holy in heart and life. If without holiness no man can see the Lord, so without this faith, which eminently dwelt in this woman, no one can be holy. Where this faith lives and reigns, it purifies the heart from ungodliness, and worldly lusts; it sanctifies the conversation, and elevates the soul from terrene things to God. It possesses a transforming power, sprinkles the confeience from dead works, assimilates the foul to holy angels, transforms it into the likeness of God, and fits it for the habitations of the blessed.

Secondly, we infer that faith is the ground of all communion with God and Jesus Christ. Without this grace, no fellowship with the Father or with the Son; no converse with heaven, no spiritual mindedness, nor holy living. Where faith is, it causes believers "To cry with their voice, even unto God with their voice, and he hears their cry, and boweth his heavens and cometh down." And St. Paul speaking of himself and other believers, says, "Our conversation is in heaven, from whence also we look for the Saviour, the Lord Jesus Christ." Let us all be exhorted firmly to believe, and to look well to the nature, properties and fruits of our saith. Is it cleansing in its nature, sanctifying in its operations, and purifying in its effects? Does it cleanse from all silthiness of slesh and spirit, purify the heart, work by love and overcome the world?

A word of admonition shall close the subject.

Let us all be admonished to believe, and to see that our faith be strong, lively and vigorous. Let us beware of a dead faith, which is alone, and unaccompanied with godly living, and the fruits of righteousness. Let our faith be such as will

Digitized by Google

be pleating to Christ, and insure his praise and divine recom-Remember that faith is a principle of righteousness; let it admonish us then to become rich in good works. Let us beware of a mistaken, selfish, delusive and fruitless faith, and be careful to obtain, possess and cultivate that faith, which is the gift of God, which all the faints enjoy, and those now around the throne of God once exercised upon earth, who by this grace, "Washed their robes and made them " white in the blood of the lamb." Seeing we are compassed about with so great a cloud of witnesses in heaven and in earth? "Let us lay aside every weight, and the sin which doth so " eafily beset us, and let us run with patience the race which " is fet before us, looking unto Jesus, the author and finisher " of our faith, who for the joy that was fet before him, endu-" red the cross, despising the shame, and is set down at the " right hand of the throne of God."

SERMON XXIX.

The way of falvation eafy.

I John, i. 9. If we confess our sins, he is faithful and just toforgive us our sins.

THAT there is some misunderstanding between God and us, is no more to be disputed than the operation of our own minds; if the state and temper thereof can be determined from the inward thoughts and outward actions. If when sentiments and conduct have an immediate relation to any particular being, and it is possible to determine the state and temper of the mind with regard to that being, then it is certain that the temper of our minds, with respect to God, is such as undeniably, speaks the want of friendship and regard. Let us examine the sense of our souls in regard to God; let us consider it from the beginning, from the very first exercises of thought and reslection; do not we find upon a free recollection of ourselves in this particular, that from the earliest apprehensions we had of the divine being, we possessed a negligence of spirit towards him, a negligence too, not arising from incapacity and tender

ness of age, the mind not yet being capable of love, delight, joy and complacency; it has not arisen from hence, because with regard to other objects we have felt from early life the quickest touches of these several passions. This is not imputable to the weakness of our youthful understanding, as incapable of comprehending so much of a spiritual and invisible being, as in reason is necessary to beget esteem and affection; an indifference of this kind must be quite innocent, a natural. not a moral imperfection. In this case the indifferency would wear off as the person encreased in knowledge and understanding. Were it a natural imperfection it would decrease as the person arrived at ripeness and perfection of parts and powers. As they grew more acquainted with God by means of his works; received more ideas of him, which were diffinet and determinate, especially when instructed in their obligations to God and relation to him; how he is infinitely glorious in himself, the author of their existence, their preserver and benefactor, and the fountain of all their bleffings. Now, is this the fact? No-alas! perfectly the reverse. This negligence of God is so far from decreasing as our understandings and knowledge of him encrease, that it grows into feeling, disaffection and fensible ill-will. It grows with our growth, strengthens with our strength. If we examine the sease of our hearts in the advanced stages of life, while destitute of renewing grace, we do not fo much as wish to meditate upon him: God is not in all our thoughts. As we pass from one stage to another, ripen from childhood to youth, and from thence to mature years, we become more negligent of heaven, of religion, Jesus Christ, and the salvation of our souls. Our understandings are not improved to know the only living and true God, and his only begotten Son, and the exercises and duties of piety, but prostituted to the subserviency and service of divers lusts and pleasures. Instead of employing our powers to qualify us to promote the glory of God and the public good of mankind, we only use them for our own accomplishment to

make a figure in the world, to enjoy our pleasure, and to obtain riches and honor, altogether inattentive to, and regardless how it will fare with us in a future state. And when men have become old and grey-headed in fin, and disgusted at, and surfeited with the world, do their hearts and affections turn to God, and a preparation for eternity? Quite otherwise. older finners grow they become more earthly, carnal, stupid and secure. Many who were thoughtful, and paid some attention to religious concerns in their youth, have entirely dropt all these matters in advanced age. The inclination to ferve God, and engage hearthy in the interests of religion, are vanished and gone. Or if at times certain occurrences in providence force forme reflections upon them respecting their souls and futurity; they are compelled to think of God and are proubled: there is an uneafmels awakened at the remembrance of his name. They feel no comfort or happiness, till they get back to their former inconfideration and careleffness. Cannot some remember, when it was painful to think of Godhis perfections, his law and his gospel; his government and dominion over them; to think of their fins and their exposedness to divine wrath? Any subjects were more entertaining to them than thefe. To have their meditations run upon amusements diversions and business, and the things of the world were greatly preferable and more pleasant. In the midst of the hurry and delights of fense, how has a fingle thought of God, that his eye is upon us, and we must give an account, in a moment dashed the cup of our pleasures with gall and wormwood? We could have no fatisfaction or felf enjoyment while the difagreeable idea continued. Were we not, and are not some of us in this affembly, still sensible of a certain jealousy and sufpicion of God, that he is a master and an austere being, destitute of those excellencies he is represented to possess for conferring happiness on his creatures? Is it not absolutely certain that some never more perfectly enjoy themselves, than when the thoughts of God are most distant from their minds? That

their most agreeable moments, are such which are free stormall interruption from any consideration of God and religion.—How happy do numbers feel in having no serious thoughts ar all; no disagreeable checks arising from apprehensions of the divine existence, inspection, or his hatred of sin and iniquity? These facts sufficiently prove a breach of friendship between God and his creatures; and the daily experience of themsabundantly prove that this breach has never been made up. that the unhappy difference still exists.

And are not some of you, my hearers, fully assured that the above account is a true description of your case?—and now I would ask you in the name of God, is it your purpose tosupport the difference, maintain the dispute, and stand by the confequences? I hope not. What, contend with the Almighty! Is your arm stronger than his? Let the potfherds strive with the potsherds of the earth, but woe unto himthat striveth with his maker. " If thou hast run with the foot-" men, and they have wearied thee, what wilt thou do in the " fwellings of Jordan?" Can a weak and defenceless finner contend with the God of the armies of Israel? He can crush. you to pieces, can muster a myriad of angels against you, and the proudest sinner is not an equal combatant for the meanest attendant at his court. Or, what is a thought of greater honor, he can in a moment facrifice you to the malice and cruelty of devils. It is easier for him to turn you and all the wicked of the earth into hell, with all the nations that forget him, than for you to lift your hand.

Is it not reasonable then that such persons should be anxiously concerned to have the breach healed and the difference accommodated? Are any ready to make the enquiry how this may be done? Is God willing to be reconciled to his guilty creatures, enter into friendship, be at peace, and admit them to his favor and to happiness? Yes. This is the message which he hath sent and proclaimed unto us in the gospel. "That

The is in Christ reconciling the world unto himself, not impusting their iniquities unto them. And the blood of Jesus "Christ, his son, cleanseth us from all sin." You are not to conceive this to be a general indemnity procured by the Saviour, without any thing wrought in you or done by you; that you are now secure of peace and pardon, and need not concern yourselves any farther. Remember, notwithstanding all that God has declared and Christ has done, all sinners are not pardoned; some perish in their sins and suffer the pains of hell forever. For the' the death of Jesus be an infinitely sufficient ransom for all, yet it doth not operate like a charm, nor do the effects of it descend upon us by a natural necessity, as the rays of light from the fun; but something is required of us as rational creatures, as believers, in order to the forgiveness of our iniquities, namely, that we confess them. This is the mesfage of heaven fent unto us in the text. "If we confess our " fins, he is faithful and just to forgive us our fins." The fense hereof is plain and obvious; there is no necessity of any accurate investigation or laboured attention, to determine its meaning. And as nothing is designed from it, but what is of the most familiar and practical nature, therefore the few following observations upon this subject shall suffice for the present

First, that the confession of our sins is absolutely required from us in order to forgiveness and salvation. This is so often declared, and plainly insisted upon, the sacred oracles, that none who have read them can be at any loss to be assured that this is the settled constitution of God, which he inviolably observes, and to which he will immutably adhere. He has affirmed to us in the most positive terms, "that he who confesses and forsaketh his sins shall find mercy, but he that covereth them shall not prosper." That is, without confession there is no encouragement to expect the pardon of them either from reason or revelation. Reason and revelation unite to support

326]

this order of things, and the propriety of this administration. Confession must be previous to remission. It would be unfit in the nature of things, it should be otherwise. To suppose the wisest of beings should pardon the greatest of offences without any acknowledgment from the offender of his crime, it would wear the complexion of connivance rather than pardon. Such an administration would be of ill-tendency, encourage transgression, and bring such government into contempt. Surely such connivance, weakness, and want of wisdom, cannot be attributed to the Supreme Governor of the universe, who always acts agreeably to the eternal sitness of things. Especially as hereby the freedom and sovereignty of his grace, would be totally eclipsed.

Secondly, it cannot be imagined that the confession required is in any fort a mere dull, cold, and formal acknowledgment: a general, fenfeleis and unfeeling profession that we are figneral A genuine confession proceeds from fincere fentiments of heart. It is not an acknowledgment of the lips without a correspondent fense of sin in the soul. It must be a confession not for mere form's fake, but such as will ensure the purpose for which it was intended. For this end it must be personal and particular, universal and perpetual. A general and superficial acknowledgment will not answer; but it must be distinct and flow from a particular sense a person has of his own vileness, of the number, aggravation and demerit of his iniquities. makes a genuine confession of fin, when he fays, "Against thee, "thee only have I finned, and in thy fight have I done evil." It must be universal, that is of all sin without partiality or exception. It must not be such a prayer and such a confession as the Syrian nobleman made, when he acknowledged and was ready to relinquish all fin except one, for which he defired pardon while he might be allowed the indulgence of it. In this "thing the Lord pardon thy fervant, that when my master

[327]

" goeth into the house of Rimmon to worship there; and he leaneth on my hand, and I bow myself in the house of Rimmon; when I bow down myself in the house of Rimmon, the Lord pardon thy servant in this thing." How many are willing to confess like Naaman, with the exemption of a few fins, which they deem necessary for their livelihood, their interest or their honor? A confession which entitles to pardon from God, must not only be universal, but also perpetual; as we are daily encompassed with sins and infirmities, we should daily confess them, and daily apply to that blood which cleanseth from all iniquity.

Thirdly, when God is faid to be faithful and just to forgive us our fins upon the confession of them, this obligation is not to be understood as if it were founded in the confession; as though confession itself obliged God to forgive. This would be faying, a mere confession is obligatory upon God to requite it with remission; that he has no right to deny one who deferves it so well; that he will be faithful and just to the mezits and virtue of fuch a confession, and recompense it suitably to the worth and value of fuch an acknowledgment. would not only sap the foundation of the gospel, demolish the covenant of grace, but contradict the nature of things. must have an unconscionable opinion of the high value and merit of his confession, who would dare to bring forward such This would be a daring infult in a criminal, to offer to any human government. Would it be unjust in a civil magistrate to punish a murderer because he plead guilty, and confessed the fact ?- Surely not. The state of things is the same in either case. From hence it appears there is no connection between confession and remission, only what the grace and good pleafure of God has formed and established. Wherefore the faith and justice of God here mentioned, must be under-

flood in relation to his own promife and declaration, that we penting finners shall find mercy. Our consession can have no manner of causal or meritorious influence upon our remission. Neither faith nor repentance can in the least degree merit pardon and falvation; these are granted to the believing penitent, folely in consequence of the atonement of Christ. It is true they are indeparable from eternal life. Pardon cannot come into existence without them, yet where they exist, it certainly follows. These graces are the gift of God, and implanted in the heart by the Holy Spirit. Forgiveness of sin, with all other spiritual bleffings, slows freely from God, and vet they are bestowed on the sinner for the merits of Christ alone. Christ has purchased all that is prerequisite, or contained in the term falvation, and has given an adequate valuation therefor, yet from the covenant of grace and the promife, God has pledged himself to grant remission of sins upon con-Thus from the constitution of faving finners fellion of them. in the gospel, however infinitely unworthy the sinner is in himfelf, and all he can possibly do, yet if he confesses his faults, as God is faithful to his promises, just to Jesus Christ and to all his perfections, he furely obtains forgiveness. If it were not abhorrent to make the supposition, God would be neither faithful nor just in refusing pardon to the transgressor who confessed his offences, yet forgiveness to the sinner in respect to himself, and to his confession, is the freest and most sovereign grace.

Fourtily, this confession in the text, arises from a broken and penitential heart. It is not a piece of mere lip service. It is an act of the whole man, and not of the mouth only. True confession flows from a feeling sensibility of soul. Therefore it disburdens the heart, relieves the oppressed conscience, and eases the troubled mind. In forced, infincere and unavailing confessions, there is always misery, but not so with that which is proper and genuine. In a gracious confession there is pleasure, comfort and happiness. The believer hardly ever

his Lord, mourning over his fins, and pouring out his whole heart in an unreferved confession of them. This is the confession which God approves, and forgiveness stands infallibly connected with it. It springs from the depths and sincerity of evangelical repentance, is ever accompanied with a departure from fin, and a reformation of life, and has the justice and faithfulness of God engaged for his pardon. "If we confess our fins, he is faithful and just to forgive us our fins."

A few practical uses will close the theme.

First, how doth loving kindness and grace of God our Saviour, shine forth in the dispensation of the gospel? Expiation for fin is provided by the blood of Jesus; reconciliation for an apostate world, is procured by the cross. Nothing now is required of criminal offenders, only to accept of salvation as an unmerited favour and an instance of wonderful and special grace. What superabundant riches of mercy appear in this mode of procedure with fallen man? Angels entertain themselves with the admirable contemplations. How reasonable is it that it should captivate and charm the fouls of sinners? The work of redemption is finished, and before it comes to us. mublished to the world as compleat, and all are invited to come and receive it. " All things are ready," the feast is prepared. placed on the table, and nothing wanting but guests to come and partake of the infinite profusion of the divine beneficence. And all are invited of every nation and complexion, high and low, rich and poor, bond and free, to come to the marriage entertainment, to come and receive interminable felicity.

Secondly, what can be more free and easy than the terms of the gospel? Jesus came and laid down his life for finners; only receive him and salvation is yours. Believe and thou shalt be saved. An ample redemption is made, only consent.

to it and all is fafe. Christ faves all who are willing to be faved, and he hever faves any against their wills. The whole requisition of you is the easiest thing in the world; only confess your fins and pardon is yours. What divine generofity, what wonders of love displayed to the lost children of men! That God should stoop from the throne of his glory to call to sanners. faying unto them, only ask forgiveness, acknowledge that you have treated heaven unkindly, that you have causelessly offended the Supreme Majelly, and all offences will be forgiven, and peace established betwen heaven and earth again. fuch news could be proclaimed in the infernal regions, would not the devils clank their chains for joy? By grace are we faved, by marvelous and furprifing grace. How strange is it, and it will employ the admiration of eternity, that the most high and potent Lord, who can do all his pleasure, create worlds and dash them to pieces by the word of his mouth, can ease himself of all his adversaries in a moment, should lay himfelf under obligation to forgive us our fins on the mere confesfion of them. What lower terms of falvation could finners require ?-Only ask and you shall receive, only call on the name of the Lord, and ye shall be saved. Has not heaven condescended to the lowest measures possible? All the art of man could contrive nothing so low and easy for so great a bleffing. Was falvation left to terms of men's own devising, could they propose any thing lower, than to have remission upon the confession of sin? O therefore let all admire and receive the wonderful grace of the gospel.

Thirdly, this doctrine exhibits the wisdom and glory of the gospel dispensation with transcendent beauty and ravishing lovelines. The misery, guilt and wretchedness of man within, the overflowing mercies of God without, his own absolute indigence and Christ's all-sufficiency, should irresistably influence him to confess his sins, and accept of pardon and a free salvation. With what a penetrating sensibility of soul, and with

what warm and exalted affections of heart, ought the one to be done and the other received? A feeling fense of fin, of our own vileness and unworthiness, lies at the foundation of every faving confession; so an heart full of love and gratitude is the least return which ought to be made for pardon and forgive. The riches and plenitude of grace is only feen by a proper apprehension of the odiousness, deformity and turpitude of Suppose an impenitent finner pardoned and forgiven without any fense of his fins, it would be such a contradiction to reason and common sense, that he, himself, would deem it an absurdity; and the impropriety of it would so forcibly strike his mind, that he would reject the offer with disdain, Was pardon offered to the inhabitants of hell, it would be It is remarkable of the rich man in the flames of torment, though he asked for water to cool his tongue, yet he neither confessed his fins, nor requested forgiveness. Hell will never be induced to confess its fins, therefore pardon will never enter there.

Now let us all be exhorted before it be forever too lare, to come to a full and free confession of our iniquities. We have no time to lose. If we confess not now, we will not hereafter. This is the only space allowed us for repentance and confession; for there is no wisdom, device, repentance or confession, or pardon in the grave, to which we are fast hastening. "Now is the accepted time, now only is the day of salvation." Confess not as some who continue in sin; they confess their sins and instantly return to them. This is not confession, but hypocrify and mockery. Such a confession is adding insult to injury. Let our confession be attended with a departure from all iniquity. Let our text ever fill us with love, praise and gratitude. "If we confess our sins, he is faithful and just to forgive us our "fins."

SERMON XXX.

The favour and patronage of God, the support of man in afflictions.

Pfalms xlvi. 1. God is our refuge and strength, a very presentbelp in trouble:

RELIGION is the only true resource of man in all his distresses. How great are the alterations heavy affictions will often produce for a time, even upon the most heaven-daring finners? The haughty Ahab, who had sold himself to work wickedness, in the day of trouble behold him humbling himself, renting his clothes, fasting and mortifying. How will distresses change the most hardened wretches into cringing hypocrites? But what can be expected from a religion founded solely in, and caused by the troubles of this life? Let the cause be removed, and the effect ceases. How many on beds of sickness and pain, will pray, repent and weep, and seem to be very religious; but let the rod be removed, and they are no better than ever. Thus natural evil, however dreadful, cannot of itself effect the cure of moral evil; it may be, and often is, employed by God for this purpose; but then it is

accompanied with the special operation of his grace, and by. This the cure becomes effectual and lasting.

Real religion is a constant reason for calmness, composure, and serenity of mind under the greatest afflictions. Thus a truly religious man possesses a measure of self enjoyment in the most deplorable circumstances that can happen. The highest and most complicated distresses cannot rob him of inward tranquility. He has always a ready and sure resource in God, who cannot fail him. A religion wrought in the heart by the spirit of grace, sounded upon and directed by the revelation of God, will never be totally destitute of some reviving hope and considence in heaven. This leads the good man, amidst the storms of the world, to commit himself unto and rest unmoved in God.

There is a secret virtue and power in religion that bears the mind above diffresses, succours it in trials, and consoles it in forrows. Very different from that is the religion created by a panie dread of damnation, produced by the pains of fickness, or supported by the hourly expectation of dying; relief from dread, and deliverance from painful apprehensions, will eause such a religion to vanish like the morning cloud and the early dew. But pure and undefiled religion leads to an abiding trust in God, to follow the path of duty, and to maintain an unshaken serenity under the sorest trials and most gloomy aspects of divine providence. This is the bleffing of the good man, and the fruit of vital christianity. "The name of the Lord is a strong tower into which the righteous ran and " are safe." "God is our refuge and strength, a very present help in trouble." As the the Pfalmist had faid, When the righteous are purfued by an enemy, God is a refuge of fafety to which they may flee; when oppressed with troubles God is their strength, on whose almighty arm they may stay themselves; when in grievous distresses and afflictions, he is a sure,

certain, and all-fufficient aid; he is never far from his people, but in the most perplexing difficulties not only a help, but in all adverse circumstances, a very present help; a help accommodated to every case, and ready in every exigence.

. In discoursing on these words we shall,

First, make a few observations on the common troubles and unavoidable evils of this life, from which good men are not exempted.

Secondly, show that the favour and patronage of God is their great support, refuge, strength and help, under all calamities and evils of every kind.

As to the first, Were there no sin to merit evil, nor any Being concerned to inflict it, yet no wife man could promife himself much from the things of this world, all which are empty, uncertain, transitory, and mixed with bitter afflictions. Man when full and at ease, standing on high ground, on heaps of honors, on piles of offices and dignities, is only a proud, vain and unthinking thing; man in his best state is altogether vanity. What then is he when overwhelmed with difgraces, mortifications and disappointments, and surrounded with every species of evil, calamity and distress. Without religion, better not to be. Thus when Solomon had confidered all the oppressions and sore evils done under the sun, he exclaimed, " I " praised the dead which are already dead, more than the " living which are yet alive; yea, better is he than both they, "which hath not yet been, who hath not feen the evil work "that is done under the fun." What fignifies a little glittering and momentary show in this world, when all is anxiety and foreboding fears within, lowering clouds of divine judgments impending over the head, involved in painful difficulties round about, and nothing in prospect but anguish and horror unut**Errable? Of what real utility is it, to use prophetic language
**Tor a land to be full of filver and gold, and no end of their
**treasures, for a land also sull of horses, neither any end of
**their chariots; when it is sull of idols," and no end to their
wickedness, and they are exposed to the insuriated wrath of
an incensed Jehovah? Calamities and distresses are sometimes employed by God, for the awakening and conversion of
sinners, but they are absolutely necessary and expedient in the
wisdom of providence for the disciplining of saints, training
them up in virtue and holiness for the felicities above, even

It is an afflicting truth, that good men are too much glued to the world, too fond of present interests and present enjoyments, and are far from having fully learned that rule of the gospel, "Be not conformed to this world," Therefore their Heavenly Father, finds himself obliged on various occasions to imbitter their outward comforts, to remove the props they are apt to lean upon, to involve them in perplexities, that they may be more weaned from the world, be brought to walk more closely with God, and breathe more dently for the state of the blessed. Hence it is that the people of God are often embroiled in great tribulations, and frequently judgments begin at the house of God, therefore he turns his hand upon them, and purely purges away their " drofs, and takes away all their tin." If this be the allotment of the righteous, what must be the fate of those who obey not the gospel? "If the righteous scarcely be saved," and make their escape through awful perils, and as it were through the fire, "Where shall the sinner and ungody "appear?"

Having dropped these sew observations, I pass on to the

T 336]

Second thing proposed, which was to shew that the favores and patronage of God is their great support, resuge, strength and help under all calamities and evils of every kind.

The attempt to prove that good men can have none other, would be fuperfluous and augatory. They can have no confidence in earthly treasures, for riches make to themselves wings and flee away, and more frequently involve in calamities than prove a defence against them. Can they trust in their might and in their power? Their strength is weakness. And how often does human greatness, when it becomes exorbitant, fall by its own weight? Can they confide in worldly wisdom? Alas !- a thousand unexpected accidents, and unobserved latent circumstances cross, confound and frustrate this, and render the achitophels of this world, not only unfortunate, but often milerable and contemptible too. "Let not therefore the wife "man glory in his wisdom, neither let the mighty man glory " in his might, let not the rich man glory in his riches; but "let him that glorieth, glory in this, that he understandeth "and knoweth me, that I am the Lord."

To promote the frame of spirit and illustrate the present subject, please to consider the sollowing things:—He who is interested in the favour of God, is freed from the worst of evils—that God is able and willing to support his servants—he is ready to prevent the evils which may threaten them, and deliver them out of those in which they are—and that he certainly does in all respects, that which is best for them.

In it, he who has an interest in the favour of God and under the gracious patronage of heaven, is surely freed from the world of evils. He has an almighty protection to whom he may on all occasions and at all times repair, therefore can never be without resource. A God ready to hear, a friend, a guardan and a father. He can represent his case to God?

[337:]

with more freedom, satisfaction and expectation, than a weeping child relates its complaints to its earthly parent. Thomountains be cast into the sea; tho' the hills be removed out of their place; tho' assaulted with the greatest temptations, and surrounded with the severest calamities, yet he has a God in covenant, in whom he consides his life, his soul, his all. This is a consoling restection, infinitely preserable to the pessession of the whole world, with all its riches and honors. A source of more substantial selicity than all the princes and monarchs of the earth can afford.

To be without the friendship of God; to be abandoned byhis holy spirit; to be given up to a reprobate sense, and as ter all to be cast into hell, these are evils which make mencompleatly and eternally miserable. But to the comfort and support of every pious foul, God is a very present help in times. of trouble, and none of these evils can possibly befall him. As to man, what Zeba and Zalmuna faid of the timid lether. " As is the man, so is his strength," is applicable to the sonsof men, their strength, weakness, and their surious wrath, is im-They are armed like angry wasps with buz and bit. ternels, not like God with the fatal thunderbolts of irrefistible. ruin. What can feeble man in all the rage of malice do? His tongue can wound our reputation, his arm our body; he, can plunder our property, rob us of our fortune, deprive us of liberty or life; but what is the amount of all this? while he cannot dissolve our connection with heaven, mar our hopes. blast our peace of conscience, nor wound our immortal souls? Amidst all the turmoils, confusions and desolating wars; amidst. earthquakes, conflagrations, inundations and storms, the good man is fafe in a place of refuge, even in his God. No ravening hand can feize upon his heavenly treasure, no violence can: wrest the crown of life from his head; therefore let us everbear upon our minds the counsel of our Lord. "Fear not. " them which can kill the body, but are not able to kill the

"foul; but rather fear him which is able to definey both foul and body in hell."

Secondly, God will afteredly protect, support and eternally reward all who put their confidence in him. Various are the ways in which God administers aid, protection, patronage and support to his people; partly by his gracious promises, secretly strengthening their faith, hope and all their graces, mingling a due proportion of good with all their evils, fortifying them by his spirit, according to the dangers, difficulties and conflicts. What the force, virtue and strength of all these put together are, may be estimated from the joys, consolations, victories and triumphs of good men in all ages. They have rejoiced in all torts of tribulations, they have triumphed over the infults and perfecutions of enemies, and the ingratitude and perfidy of friends. How supporting have been their contolations in poverty, reproaches, imprisonments, sicknesses, and even in death itself? They have maintained their ground, preferved their integrity, fustained their innocence, and appeared amidst all the combinations of calamities, eminently great and illustrious. A good cause and a good conscience, the patronage of God and the aids of grace, are proof against all afflictions; the fword of the spirit and the shield of faith are an all-sufficient protection against the darts of earth and hell.

All this is not intended to suppose that the trials of the true christian are without trouble, his wounds without smart, or his heart untouched with pain, only that he is not broken, dejected and hopeless like the ungodly somer; that he is never wholly destitute of inward support, nor entirely casts away all hope in God. This is the description the Psalmist gives us of his own faith and the state of his soul under complicated trials. If Mine enemies would daily swallow me up; but what time I am afraid, I will trust in thee, O thou Most High. Innu. If merable evils have compassed me about; mine iniquities have

£ 339 J

"taken hold upon me, so that I am not able to look up; they are more than the hairs of mine head; therefore my heart faileth me. Be pleased O Lord, to deliver me; O Lord make haste to help me. In God I have put my trust, I will not fear what slesh can do unto me. Put thou my tears in thy bottle; are they not in thy book?"

It must not be concealed, that sometimes such is the strength of faith, the transports of love, the confidence of hope, the luxuriancy of joy in God and in Jesus Christ, that the pleasures' of a good man amidst all his sufferings and afflictions, do infinitely outweigh and exceed all his pains and forrows. It is to be acknowledged and lamented that these are rare cases; the reason of the rareness of such instances and examples is, because in those days there is little of living and growing christianity. But though the truly pious may not feel that spring of present comforts in their afflictions of this life, that they would desire, yet God affords them the sweet prospect of a full recompence of all their fufferings in the felicities and glories of paradife. Hear our Saviour pronouncing them happy whom the world calls miserable. "Bleffed are the poor for theirs is the "kingdom of God; bleffed are they that mourn for they shall " be comforted."

Thirdly, God is ready to prevent the evils which may threaten them, and deliver them out of those in which they are. To doubt of this would be an approach toward Atheism. His omnipotence and omniscience are no more to be questioned than his existence. He doth whatsoever he pleaseth in the heavens above, and on the earth beneath. Hence it follows that all the power and wissom scattered throughout creation, if combined and united, would bear no proportion to that which is originally and essentially in God. All created perfection is only as it were a drop of his inexhaustible store. All creatures depend upon him and are subject to his will. When therefore

he commands the stars in their courses to fight against Siferan and the river of Kison to sweep them away, it is instantly done_ Fire, hail and vapour, storms and tempests, famine and plaguesdisease and death, obey his voice. The methods in which God usually governs the church and the world, is by fixed and stated laws; yet sometimes he humbles the proud and rescues. the righteous in ways fo extraordinary and uncommon, that immediately it is acknowledged, this is the finger of God. By these measures evils are often prevented, and deliverance wrought for his people. Trace Joseph from the envy and malice of his brethren, to the friendship and honors of the Egyptian court; from the pit in the wilderness, to the exaltedplace by Pharaoh on the throne; contemplate the infant Moses drawn from the waters, and become the great captain of Ifrael; David raised from a shepherd's boy, delivered from the paw of the lion, the paw of the bear, and from the terrible hand of the Philistine, and exalted to wield the sceptre of a mighty nation : but there would be no end of retailing instances of God's averting evil, and often turning it into good to his people. The confideration of these things caused the Psalmist to cry out in an extatic triumph, " The Lord is my light and my falvation, " of whom shall I be asraid; the Lord is my strength whom " Shall I fear ?"

How lively is the idea here afforded us of the happiness of the good man?—his mind enjoys a calm in the storms of calamity, his soul possesses tranquility amidst a thousand surrounding dangers. "Happy is the man whose heart is fixed, trusting in the Lord." Others may be crastly and fortunate, but the good man alone is wise and great. He wears the image and is something like unto his God, whose character is light, yet he makes darkness his pavilion, and clouds are round about him; and in the midst of thunders, hurricanes and earthquakes, he is serene, calm and undisturbed. "Let all those who put their trust in God rejoice, let

er them ever shout for joy, because he desendeth them." They ere in a sure resuge under the shadow of his wings. This subject may be surther illustrated by adding,

Fourthly, That God certainly does that in all respects which is best for his people. How consoling is this sentiment, how encouraging and supporting the thought! The dispensation of Providence toward them, will ever be seasonable and good, beneficial and wife. If afflictions be expedient, these shall be their portion; if prosperity be best they shall enjoy it. infallible promise is, " All things shall work together for their "good." That is, all the varying aspects of providence, the frowns as well as the smiles of heaven, will all combine together to be always advancing their best and highest interest. It looks at times as if many of the distributions of this world, its riches and poverty, its honors and difgraces, were the mere sport of unmeaning chance; but we are affured, that all things are ordered and directed by the most wife and perfect government, from the greatest events down to the minutest incidents, from the revolutions of kingdoms and deluging worlds, to the falling to the ground of a sparrow, and the numbering of the hairs of the head. From hence every fincere christian may with pleasure justly make this reflection: that however he may be dealt with, it is for the best. Whatever circumstances of distress he may be in, whatever common blessings are denied him, he may possess the full assurance that all things are cooperating for his advantage upon the whole; that a good and merciful God, an infinitely wife and tender Father, knows all the fituations in which he is, and that they are the best possi-This important and comfortable doctrine was far from the view of the ancient patriarch, when in anguish of foul he cried out, " All these things are against me;" while at that very moment all things were working for the benefit, the life; the honor and happiness of himself and his family. There could be nothing better for Jacob than what was then performing. How treat and comfortable is this doctrine to the real believer, how distinguishing and choice the bleffing to a poor creature who has only a short prospect of things to come, and but little infight into the present, to know that whatsoever happens to him is calculated for his good, tho' he may not be able to perceive it now, yet hereafter he will clearly differn in what nespects it contributed to his felicity. How will it ravish and mansport the saints into high and unceasing admiration and praises of God, when the various impenetrable mysteries of his providence shall be opened, to behold the unsuspected goodness and aftonishing care of heaven towards them? When numberless instances, notwithstanding their unkind construction of them, were not only adapted to their good, but absolutely necellary to preserve them from ruin. Thus you fee, how "God " is our refuge and strength, and a very present help in " trouble."

Many and obvious are the uses that might be made of this subject, but the only improvement of it at present shall be a persuasion to you, my brethren, to become sincerely religious, and to make a cordial choice of God as the proper portion of your souls, as the sure protector against all material evil in this world, and the certain way to life and glory.

None will venture now to deny, that the patronage of God is the only support against evils, and that he is the only true resource in distress. Do you not find an insufficiency in the enjoyments of the world to make you happy? even in prosperity you are unhappy still; therefore he who has no other springs of bliss but what this unsatisfactory earth can furnish, is miserable; he is a wretch with all his stores. Without God there can be no selicity, let present enjoyments be what they may.

If health, and honor, and prosperity will not afford felicity,

T 343]

what must be the case in agonizing distress, in the destitution of peace and all the comforts of life? Must not the misery of him be terrible, who is overwhelmed in calamities, and has no resource, no God to whom he can apply?-is sick, and dying, and stripped of every thing, and no redress in heaven nor in the earth. His conscience lashing him with twinging remorfe, his mind anticipating his future doom, and no refuge, no help, no God to which he can repair. Here is a state that is deplorable indeed. On the other hand how bleffed the condition of the real christian who has chosen God for his refuge and Jesus for his friend, and is ready to facrifice all interfering advantages hereto! Let happen what will, whatever calamities occur, whatever distresses befall him, he can make application to his God and his Saviour with inexpressble freedom, with sweet hope and indescribable confidence. Tho' his flesh and his heart fail, God doth not fail him; even in the most afflicting circumstances, he is the strength of his foul and a very present help in trouble. In poverty, bereavements and fickness, he has a God near at hand, and in death a kind Redeemer to receive his departing spirit.

Are not the advantages then, on the side of true religion, incomparably great? Are not these considerations sufficient reasons, to move, excite, and persuade us to embrace religion, and choose God for our portion? Is happiness alone comprehended in the divine savour, and shall we be unsolicitous to obtain it? Tell not our folly in Gath, publish not our madness in the streets of Askelon.

Allow me to congratulate the friends of God upon their happy lot. O christians, live answerable to your high privileges, your present comforts, and future expectations. Live above the frowns of the world, and in times of trouble keep near to your God and firmly adhere to your Saviour. He

I 344 J

will never leave you nor forfake you. If cast with Joseph into the horrible pit, with Daniel into the lions' den, or with the three children into the fiery furnace, fear not; the God you have made your portion will deliver you. Be comforted. O believer, and fay, "Tho' I walk thro' the valley of the shadow of death, I will fear no evil, for thou art with me, thy rod "and thy staff they comfort me. Tho' my slesh and my " heart fail, God is the strength of my heart and my portion God is our refuge and strength, a very pre-"fent help in trouble." Happy faints, happy people, whose God is the Lord! Who will not be persuaded from these things to engage in religion? Let sinners be prevailed upon after fo long a time, to attend to the things of your peace. This world with all its pleasures, riches and honors, will foon escape from your most eager grasp. And what will you do when your eyeballs shall roll in death? Without God for your refuge and strength, you must perish, eternally perish.

SERMON XXXI

The covenant of grace ratified and confirmed by the blood of Christ.

Luke xxii. 20. This cup is the new testament in my blood, whichis shed for you.

GOD has dealt with the children of men from the begining of the world in a way of covenant. No sooner was man
created, than God entered into covenant with him. This first
covenant, which is commonly stiled the covenant of works,
man soon transgressed, and became absolutely and forever incapable of recovering the favour of God, happiness and life by
the same. After man had committed this awful outrage upon
reason, and all the laws of stiness and propriety, contrary to
all appearances in respect to what had taken place in regard
to the transgressing angels, and to the assonishing admiration
of all worlds, God was pleased to display the sulness of his perfections in instituting a new and infinitely different covenant,
even a covenant of grace and mercy for the recovery and sal-

varion of ruined man. These are the only two covenance which God ever made with man, in which the eternal life of the creature was concerned. These two covenants had always external and visible tokens, signs and seals annexed to them. The former had the tree of life, and the tree of good and evil affixed to it, and the latter, its tokens and figns were vari ous and multiplied until the coming of Christ. From Adam to Noah, the outward figns were facrifices and offerings; from Noah to Abraham, the fame were continued; in Abraham's day an additional feal was established, in the time of Moses the passover and many other signs, tokens and ordinances were instituted, all which continued until the death of Christ, when they were compleatly abolished by the cross, and in the room of these bloody, burthensome, and expensive rites, our Lord, just before he compleated the great work of redemption, ordained two simple seals or ordinances, to wit, baptitm and his supper, which are to be duly observed in the church till the confummation of all things.

The words of our text were delivered by our Lord as a part of the inflitution of his facred supper. In the institution her particularly stiles the bread his body, and the cup the New-Testament in his blood. Both these phrases are signature, and by no means to be understood in a literal sense. For is this sense, Christ must have broken and eaten his own identical blood, and poured out and drank his own identical blood, while setting at the table of his disciples, than which nothing can be more absurd.

The word which is here translated testament, properly fignifies a covenant, and thus it is frequently rendered in the apostolic epistles. It means, as here used, the covenant of grace; that covenant which God established in the room of the first, or covenant of works, that had been violated, and so became absolutely insufficient to answer its original design.

It is that covenant which God has infituted and revealed in confideration of our fallen and unhappy circumstances, whereby it is again rendered possible for guilty sinners to be restored to the favour, friendship and enjoyment of their Maker. This covenant of grace and salvation, you may observe, is sounded in and ratified by the blood of Christ. "The New-Testamene" in my blood." It may also be observed, that the words of the facrament of the Lord's supper bear a peculiar respect to the new covenant, and that under the special consideration of its being established in the blood of Jesus. We are to understand the expression, this blood, as referring both to the covenant of grace, and the blood in which it is laid.

. From this explication of the text, I shall endeavour,

First, to explain to you what the covenant of grace and mercy is.

Secondly, how it is founded in the blood of Christ.

Thirdly, confider what respect or relation the Lord's supper bears to this covenant, as having its origin in and confirmation by this blood.

First, I am to explain what the covenant of grace is.

Let it be observed here, that the term covenant, when it his respect to God as a party, must be understood very different in a variety of important circumstances, from what it is when applied to men. In the latter application, it supposes an equality, mutual dependence, and reciprocal advantages to the parties concerned. But when God is said to make a covenant with his creatures, we cannot possibly entertain any such ideas respecting him. He must not be reduced to an equality with his creatures, rendered any way dependent upon

them, nor can he derive any benefit from them. Everything in God, his whole nature and perfections, forbid the thought.

In covenants among men, they bind themselves to the performance of certain conditions, to which generally, neither party were under obligations antecedent to their entering into covenant; hence they were not obliged to enter into it; bothparties were equally free and might refuse to covenant without being chargeable with any criminality or just blame for But it is altogether different in the other case. fuch a refufal. It is true, it holds good in regard to God. He was under noobligations to enter into covenant with his finful creatures ; nor was he obliged to confer any bleffings upon them after their apostacy, until in free and wonderful grace he laid himfelf under obligation by his own covenant and promife. But with regard to creatures with whom this covenant is made, it does not hold. If God propose to enter into covenant with his creature, the creature cannot be free to refuse. Such a proposal as coming from its creator and proprietor, must have the force of a command; if he propose such a duty to be performed as the condition of the covenant, it binds equally as a precept; and a non-compliance is nothing less than wilful disobedience and avowed rebellion. This is fully evident fromthe independent nature of God, and from the relation sublisting between him and his creatures. We ought in all our reprefentations of covenant between God and his creatures, to be careful we do not introduce any ideas inconfistent with the infinite dignity and absolute independence of Jehovah. There is perhaps no doctrine of religion in which we are more liable to err than this.

The covenant of grace is between God and man, thro' Christ the Mediator of it, and thus it may be described.—It is God's constitution and establishment to save all sinners who repent and believe in Christ, or cordially comply with the method of recovery founded in and effected thro' his mediation and freely offered to the acceptance of all in the gospel. As it stands in the scriptures, it is only a proposal of salvation on God's part to a finful world, and God obligates himself to secure the salvation of all fuch as comply with the proposal. It becomes more properly and strictly a covenant, when actually consented to by finners, that is, when in truth and fincerity they embrace the gospel and believe in Jesus. It may be observed, that falvation as offered in the gospel, is to be taken in the most extensive sense, not as deliverance only from the guilt and dominion of fin, from mifery, hell and ruin, but giving a fure title to heaven and all the felicities thereof, with all those -tempers and dispositions of soul, with all that sanctification and holiness of heart, necessary to form it to a capacity for the perfect fruition of the same. Such a covenant or constitution as this, may be proved from the scriptures, and the experience of all who believe.

The facred oracles are the proper fountain of authority in this case. When we have the word and promise of the great Supreme who is truth itself and cannot deceive, the vilest and most guilty may with confidence venture his foul upon the declaration, and lay hold on the covenant. All those passages of scripture, wherein God appoints Jesus Christ, as the important Person in whom he is reconciling a guilty world unto himfelf, establish this matter. Hear what the Most High sayeth by the prophet Isaiah: "Thus saith the Lord God, he that " created the heavens and firetthed them out, I the Lord " have called thee in righteousness, and will hold thy hand, and will keep thee, and give thee for a covenant of the peo-"ple, for a light of the gentiles; to open the blind eyes to "bring out the prisoners from the prison, and them that sit in " darkness out of the prison house." And again in the same prophefy Christ himself is introduced, saying, "The spirit of

"the Lord is upon me, because the Lord hath anointed me, to "preach good tidings unto the meek, he hath sent me to bind "up the broken hearted, to proclaim liberty to the captives, and the opening of the prison to them that are bound; to "proclaim the acceptable year of the Lord; and the day of vengeance of our God, to comfort all that mourn, to apart point unto them that mourn in Zion, to give unto them beauty for ashes, the oil of joy for mourning, the garment of praise for the spirit of heaviness." "What can be inferred from all these declarations but that God has established a covenant to save lost men thro the blood of his Son? That he is well pleased with penitent returning sinners for his righteous.

The existence of this covenant of mercy may be argued from the invitations that are given to come to Christ, and the full assurances of salvation to all who comply with the same. The most guilty are invited to lay hold on the covenant. "Incline "your ear and come unto me, hear and your soul shall live; "and I will make an everlasting covenant with you even the "fure mercies of David." That is, I will confer upon you all the blessings purchased by David's son. And Christ himself most tenderly invites, to come unto him and he will give them rest.

The reality of this covenant may be evinced from all those great and precious promises made to them who believe in Christ, "They have everlasting life, they shall be saved, there is no condemnation to them who are in Christ Jesus, none shall be able to pluck them out of his divine hands, &c." but to retail all the evidences of this truth, would be to transcribe a considerable part of the bible.

This covenant is likewise established from the experience of all true believers. There are none who have ever given up themselves to be saved by Christ in the way of faith and holiness, but have actually obtained salvation. The first fruits and earnests of the eternal inheritence, have been granted to them in this world. Those dispositions and tempers, have been implanted in their hearts by the Holy Ghost, that qualify them for the enjoyment of heaven, and are the pledge and affurance to all in whom they are, that God will bestow it upon them. Those holy breathings and fervent desires after conformity to him, can never be satisfied but in the full fruition of him. These propensities and habits are secret evidences to any soul, that God intends its falvation, yea, they are a part of it, and wherever he gives a part, he will confer the whole. begins a good work, he will carry it on to perfection. gifts and calling are without repentance. An appeal here, might be made for the confirmation of this doctrine to all real christians. Have you not on the committing of your souls to Christ found this verified? Was not the load of guilt, under which you before laboured, in some degree removed. Some measure of peace and serenity introduced into your troubled minds ?-Some hope raifed towards God, a filial subjection to him a defire to love him and be like him, to ferve him in spisit and in truth here, and to enjoy, and dwell with him hereafter? And what is this but the proposed and promised salvation begun? And what inference can be more justly drawn from it, than that it is the constitution and covenant of God fully and finally to fave all guilty finners who believe in the Lord Jesus Christ .- I proceed to show,

Secondly, in what respects the new covenant is sounded in the blood of Christ. It is especially so in two things, as by his undertaking it was procured, and by his death ratified and confirmed.

First, the covenant of grace was founded in the blood o

W2

Christ, as his undertaking was the procuring cause of it. It' is a constitution to save sinners through his mediation and atonement. In this covenant, the mediatorial undertaking of Christ appears plainly to have been settled and agreed upon in the eternal counsels of the Father and the Son. In confideration of Christ's engagement to be the mediator and furety of finners, and in their name and place to satisfy the demands of the law, the claims of justice, exhibit the evil of fin and magnify the rectitude of the divine government, that this covenant of grace and mercy was fettled and established. Had there been no mediator, there had been no fuch covenant. Had not Christ Jesus voluntarily engaged to be the furety and Redeemer of our fallen race, God would have been forever irreconcilable and never would have made one overture of falvation to guilty finners. But through him this wonderful and transporting bleffing hath come upon us. He hath brought life and immortality to light. In this view we are always to confider every proposal of grace and offer of salvation, every invitation and warning, every promife and exhortation, as the effect of his undertaking and death, and the consequence of an establishment of a covenant of grace in his blood. also serve to discover the awful aggravations attending a -rejection of the offers of falvation. And all these considerations should engage us to receive and embrace the same.

Secondly, it was founded in the blood of Jesus, as by his death it was ratified and confirmed. The death of Christ was not only the original ground of this covenant, it was not merely designed to open a way for God's making a new covenant with man, but to confirm and establish it, to render it valid and essectual. Jesus Christ was not only by his blood to finish transgression, to make an end of sin, and reconciliation for iniquity, but to ratify the covenant with many. Hence it is called the everlasting covenant, because this blood was ordained from eternity, and the effects of it will be everlasting life.

£ 353 T

As the new covenant was a testament, it was necessary, to give it force, that the testator should die. Thus the Apostle argues; "Where there is a teltament there must also of necesfity be the death of the tellator. It can be of no force while the testator liveth. It is after a man's death his will can have any operation or effect; his death ratifies and renders it of force. Thus the new testament or covenant of grace is strong. ly ratified by the death of the Son of God. He came and died to bear witness to the truth of it, and the shedding of his blood afforded the most convincing proof of its validity and reality, and without which it could have been of no force. can be no objection against this fentiment, that the covenant was published and of as much value for the salvation of men before Christ died as it is since. To which it is easily answer-Our Redeemer was a person of so much credit and dignity, that his engagement was looked upon by God as a fure foundation to act upon, as fure as if the performance had been already made. Ever fince the fall he had been confidered in the divine dealings with men, as the' he had actually paid the ransom; hence he is spoken of as the lamb slain from the foundation of the world. The

Third thing we proposed to consider in this subject was, what respect the Lord's supper bears to the new testament as sounded in the blood of Christ.

It is from these words we are to learn the true nature of the Lord's supper. And the authentic explication of this matter arises from the real respect it bears to the new covenant. This respect appears to be two fold, as a certain evidence of the real existence of the covenant of grace, and a sensible notification and public declaration, that this covenant is sounded in the death of Christ and ratified by his blood.

First, the Lord's supper is to be considered with regard tos

the new covenant is a certain evidence of its truth and reality. It is a sensible affurance to all, that whosever commits his said to Jesus, to be saved by the constitution of the gospel, he said surely obtain everlasting life. It is a confirmation to us, this all who believe shall be redeemed from all the consequences of sin. In this sense it is with propriety stiled a seal. It leads the truth of the covenant of grace, and ensures salvation to all such as believe. It seals the benefits and blessings of the covenant to all who comply with it. And the creature in this ordinance seals the covenant by faith, in the full purpose of suffilling all stuties required therein, and in sweet satisfaction that all its promises will be accomplished.

Secondly, the enchanist is a sensible notification and public declaration, that this covenant is sounded in the death of Christ and ratisfied by his blood. When we see the wine in the cup poured forth it is a sull assurance to us that the covenant of grace is laid in the blood of the Redeemer, and it is only by it we can obtain the forgiveness of sins, be cleansed from all our moral pollutions, made partakers of all the bleffings purchased thereby, and it is only thro' his mediation they are conferred upon us.

A few reflections by way of improvement shall close this discourse.

First, of what importance is the death and undertaking of Christ unto us. Great and numerous are the blessings slowing herefrom, which eternity alone can fully unfold. In the blood of the covenant God is to be seen with smiles and mercy in his face, from whom we had nothing to expect but wrath and siery indignation. Whence do these invaluable blessings come to us who are less than the least of all mercies? Only through the undertaking of Immanuel: by his death, light and life are arisen, and the day spring from on high hath visited us. It

Leahly byling to his voluntary undertaking to be a middiate for finners, that the covenant of grace was effablished, and the proposition was made to save and recover lost even by his This is the foundation of every overture of grace and Edvation to a ruined world. Were it not for the mediation of Christ, there never would have been one tender of mercy made to a fallen race; we should have never heard the lovful found of peace and reconciliation with God. We should not have had one address made to us in favour of our fouls, nor one exhortation to flee from the wrath to come. Our Edvation would have been impossible, and eternal despair our heavy doom. But glory to God in the highest, Jesus hath died, and by dying destroyed him who had the power of death: he hath appeared to open a way into the holiest of all through his blood. He has finished transgression; and by the facrifice of himself rendered God propitious to his guilty creatures. How much reason have we to consider him as fustain. ing a character of the greatest importance and consequences and with what a glow of love and gratitude should we ascribe to him, who hath loved us, praise and glory and dominion forever and ever.

Secondly, how great the encouragement and security the most guilty have to return to God through Christ. Here are the best tidings with which their ears could have been blessed; news of salvation by a Saviour's blood, and that God hath settled it into a constitution and covenant, that whatsoever sinner commits his soul to Christ, shall eventually and infallibly be saved. The Spirit and the Bride say, come, and let him that is a thirst come," and the streaming blood of Jesus cries, come, And whosoever will, let him take the water of life freely."

Thirdly, how strong may be the consolation of all such, who have laid hold on this covenant. Such have all the perfections of God pledged and engaged for their salvation; he

will support and bear them up through all the difficulties with which they may be surrounded. Tho' hell and earth should conspire against them, they have an almighty shield for their desence, an infinite Saviour for their security. He hath promised, that when they go through the fire, it shall not hurt them, and through the waters they shall not overslow them. In fix troubles he will be with them, and in seven he will not forsake them. God hath consirmed his promise by an oath, and ratisfied it in the blood of his Son, that by two immutable things in which it was impossible for God to lie, they might have strong consolation, who have sted for refuge to lay on the hope set before them.

Lastly, let all communicants approach this table to day, in brokenness of heart for your sins, in a firm faith in the blood of the covenant, and a fervent love to your precious Saviour. Behold the promises and the wonders of divine grace. Here is enough to heal all your maladies. Give yourselves to the Lord Jesus without reservation, and seal the gift in this holy ordinance. Remember there is a superabundance in the covenant of grace to supply all your wants and satisfy all your desires. Take the cup of salvation and sing praises to the Lord-Eat, O friends, drink, yea, drink abundantly, O beloved.

SERMON XXXII.

The nature of fainting in afflictions, and cautions against it.

Heb. 111. 5. Nor faint when thou art rebuked of him.

THE most proper light in which we can consider the prefent world, is that of a state of trial and discipline in respect to a suture one. This is an idea that ought constantly to be retained in our minds. There are sew reslections in our present situation, better calculated to direct our conduct, or regulate our pursuits and views in life. If our minds are not habitually awake to this sense of our condition, it is probable our present conduct will be a series of capital and statal errors.

As this is a state of trial, and intended as such, the whole administration of providence is adjusted to this view and design; adjusted with such wisdom and exactness as to give it the proper persection of such a state. So universally is it adapted in all its branches and periods to this design, that not only some more signal and eminent events are to be considered in this view, but every occurence and incident of our

lives is formed to answer this purpose. The intention of them is to discipline, instruct, and try us; to prove what is in our hearts, to show us to ourselves, and exhibit the divine character and government in a just and proper light. All this is done with an express regard to the solumnities of a future state, and the unchangeable decisions of a judgment to come; with the express design of being a mean of curing the viciousness of our natures, or prove that we are incurable vessels sitted to destruction.

When we confider our flats in this view, and ourselves under an adminstrataion of this fort, the present life must certainly appear to be a flate of existence of the highest importance and every condition, circumstance and event in it, extremely interesting. Living is a delicate and momentous business: with regard to which the utmost attention, the utmost wildom and vigilence are necessary to act with propriety and fuccess in reference to our future condition. To conduct in all fituations in fuch a manner, as not to defeat the falutary end of our present existence, and render ourselves unmeet for eternal life. If these considerations lay with due weight on our minds, what different creatures should we be? How holy, how circumfpect in all our conversation? But alas! how far are the most from looking on the present state in this folemn manner? How far from governing themselves in all their conduct and pursuits by these most important views? How inconsiderately, how much at random do they act, as if life was of no confequence, but was really a state in which they might act as they pleafed, without any hazard to their eternal interest? But my brethren. God forbid that we should act this foolish and unhappy part. Let those conduct themselves in fuch a form, and purfue carnal and prefent pleasures, who have made a covenant with death, and are at an agreement with hell. But let us choose a wifer conduct, and serious confider the nature of our present life, and its relation to one that is eternal.

[359]

The above state of discipline and trial is in a great measure and in an eminent degree, administered by afflictive dispensations in a thousand varient forms. Such dispensations therefore merit a special attention, and the nature and design of them ought to be continually realized and kept in view. This ought to be done in respect to the sufferings and afflictions of others. They are documents to us of a very striking nature, tho' we are not the immediate subjects of them. But when we ourselves are the subjects of afflictions, the call to this duty is then loud and solemn. Our reflections on their nature, tendency and end, ought to be very thorough and ferious. a day of advertity, fays the wife man, confider." Our fituation in this case calls our attention and solicitude, that these dispensations should have their proper effect, that by them and the bleffing of God upon them, we may be formed and adapted to the divine will and pleasure. We ought to imbibe such impressions by them, to exercise such sensations and feelings. as they are defigned to produce, so that they may be suitably improved for the glory of God and our own advancement in the christian life. We ought especially to guard and watch with the utmost care against every temper, feeling, and dispofition of heart in afflictions, or any effects of them, as tend to defeat or pervert their falutary purpose, and render them not only unavailing and useless, but even pernicious and fatal.

In afflictions there are two extremes which have this tendency, and too often produce most dangerous effects, both of which are mentioned in this verse. "Despite not thou the chastening of the Lord, nor faint when thou art rebuked of him." This latter will be more than sufficient for a single discourse.

Fainting under rebukes, is a common evil with the afflicted and ought to be considered, well understood and duly guarded against. The caution is not to faint when we are rebuked of

the Lord.—The word rebuke in the facred oracles is used to express various ideas. It is used to express reproof. "Thou "fhalt in any wife rebuke thy neighbour, and not fuffer fin "upon him." For restraint, when God is prayed to, to restrain "The Lord rebuke thee, O Satan, even the Lord "that hath chosen Jerusalem rebuke thee." For to silence perfons, or order them to hold their peace. "When the whole " multitude began to rejoice and praise God with a loud voice. "the Pharifees faid to Christ, Master, rebuke thy disciples." For convictions of fin and bringing persons to repentance, hence it was prophesied of Jesus, "That he should rebuke many "people,"-For healing diseases; our Lord stands over Simon's wife's mother, "And rebuked the fever;" and it is frequently employed to express chastisement and affliction, as in the words of our text, comprehending in it every species of trouble, pain, distress, disease and calamity.

The word faint is used likewise to express different things. That failure of the functions of animal life, which brings on the appearance of death—when "Esau returned from the field "he was faint." For timidity and fear, "All the inhabitants "of the land faint because of you." For ceasing from a business, "Faint not in well doing." For doubts and sears, and misgivings of mind, "Jacob's heart fainted, for he believed "them not." For desponding apprehensions, and dejecting thoughts tespecting the favour of God, and our own gracious state. In these two latter senses, we are cautioned against fainting in our text. "Nor faint when thou art rebuked of "him."

In confidering this divine exhortation, you will please to attend to the following observations.

First, that the exhortation in the text is addressed to true christians. To such who are in friendship with God, and

whom he peculiarly loves; whom he receives and treats as children: and whose troubles, calamities and afflictions, whatever they may think of them, are of the nature and intention, of parental chaftisements. These are afflictions peculiar to true believers. None but fuch have a right to confider their distresses in the light of fatherly corrections. With regard to persons who have no interest in Christ founded on a faving union to him, their troubles and calamities of every kind are branches of the curse of the law, and first fruits of that wrath and fiery indignation, which will be inflicted upon them forever if they die out of Christ: But as the apostle considers the afflictions of these christian Hebrews in a manner peculiar to true faints as evidence of their adoption and fonship. hence he can be understood to speak to none but such. This application of the words is necessary, from their whole connection; and the description which shall be given of this fainting in the fequel, will only be just and true in regard to real christians.

Secondly, the fainting here spoken of cannot be understood of any bodily or mere animal affection, but of that kind which respects the state of the soul, and is wholly of a spiritual nature. It regards the views, seelings, exercises and experiences of the heart towards God, the gospel of Christ, and towards itself, its own state and condition. The nervous spirits and and animal vigour may sink and fail under the weight of some grevious afflictions, when the strength of the mind remains comfortable and sirm. Or at least it is not affected in any considerable degree with that unhappy frame against which we are here exhorted. The fainting here referred to is not of a bodily kind.

Thirdly, when we are exhorted not to faint under the divine rebukes, it is not intended to warn us against a sensibility, of heart or a seeling of our afflictions, considered either as natural evils, or as instances of the discipline of heaven. Insensibility of afflictions in the sormer view, is stupidity and bru-

sishness: in the latter, it is gross profanity and irreligion. Such infensibility is a most complicated vice, and an argument of extreme depravity of heart. When therefore we are exhorted not to faint under rebukes, the meaning is not, that we should not feel the affliction, and be affected with it, be perfeelly easy and think little about it, or that we should not be grieved, and pained, and distressed with the same; it is designed to point out God's displeasure at sin, and to indicate to us, that there is something in our hearts and conduct amis, and offensive in his fight. In proportion to the degree of our calamities, we ought to be affected with and mourn under them, and be in bitterness as an ingenious child under the frowns and rod of a kind and indulgent parent. A fuitable measure of this fort of feeling and affection is not that fainting prohibited in our text, neither has it a tendency to produce this evil effect. But

Fourthly, It forbids a despondency and dejection of soul under trying and afflictive dispensations from God. "No " chakening, faith our context, for the present seemeth to be "joyous, but grievous," even to the faints themselves. The natural production of afflictions is grief, distress and pain. Sin gives poignancy to rebukes, and causes them to pierce the heart in the most sensible manner. " The sting of death is " fin;" so the sting of all afflictions is fin, as the true original source of them, and as the effect of God's holy displeasure and hatred of it, and an evidence of his inflexible resolution to punish it. Viewing afflictions therefore in their procuring cause, no comfort can flow therefrom, nothing but regret, forrow and repentance. Thus contemplating them in their fource, we ought to mourn and our hearts be broken for our transgressions. A different and a more special consideration both of troubles and of God as the author of them, is necessary to enable us to possess our souls in patience, and rejoice in tribulations. The foundation of a bleffed confideration of trials, and sweet support and consolation in them is laid in the mediation of Jesus Christ, and the dostrines of the glorious gospel. When God enables his people to view him in the glass of the gospel, and in the face of Jesus Christ and applies these views to their hearts, the unfailing effects are peace, sweetness, comfort and joy. From hence arise to true christians the greatest consolations and supports under the pressure of afflictions and in seasons of the severest trials. And thus troubles have been rich blessings to many.

But alas, there are too many instances of true christians fainting under rebukes, also of the same persons enduring them at one season and failing at another. In the gloominess, defpondency and dejection of their fouls, they have funk under their trials and not sustained them with decency, composure, firmness, and humble confidence in God, to which christianity is designed to raise its subjects, and to which every true christie an ought to aspire, that he may adorn the doctrine of God his Saviour. This finking and despair of heart which is mentioned as an instance of this evil fainting, is that state of mind in which the christian abandons his comfort, refuses hope, loses confidence in God, and trust in the promises through Jesus Christ, He does not in reality renounce God and deny the Saviour. this no real christian will ever be permitted to do, but his heart is filled with dreadful misgivings and fearful forebodings that God will renounce, and have nothing to do with fuch a finner as he is; and cast him from his hand into eternal burnings. as a man shakes a viper from his hand into the fire. In this apprehension of things his soul is cast down, he dares not to look up, and refuses to be comforted; God appears to him in the afflictions of his providence as cloathed with terrors; darkness is his pavilion and thick clouds are round about him. Hence the foul beholdeth him not; he thinks of him and is troubled. His dealings with him wear a dark and threatening afpect: his heart faints within him. He gives way to that unhappy frame of spirit which is here forbidden.—But let us enter a little more particularly into this gloomy condition, and observe,

Fifthly, this fainting under afflictions arises sometimes from ignorance, fometimes from wrong views respecting the nature of afflictions, their tendency and defign, and from wrong views of God as the author of them, and often from wrong conclufions which are drawn from these mistaken apprehensions of things. Sometimes the trials with which God visits his ownpeople are exceedingly grievous in their nature, and attended with circumstances that give them an exquisite keenness and edge. They come home to their hearts in the most sensible manner. From the greatness of them, their complicated nature, their accompanying dreadful peculiarities, they penetrate the foul, and wound the spirit. They see abundant cause and demerit enough in themselves and in their own conduct for much worse treatment from God, yet they cannot easily reconcile it with his special love to them. Their hearts misgive them and they become diffident as to their interest in that favour which God bears to his own. The impression takes hold on their mind that there is something singular in their calamities, therefore they cannot help fearing that all is wrong, they cannot resist the dark surmise, that God considers them not at friends but as enemies. When afflictions bring persons into fuch a state, they become despondent, they fink, they faint. 66 The spirit of a man will bear his infirmities, but a wounded " spirit, who can bear?" When God's favour and friendship, become questionable from the nature of his dispensations towards them, a chief ground of their support is removed, and more or less they faint.

The apostle appears to have a particular reference to this cause of fainting under rebukes in the ensuing verses, and he

enforces his caution by this comforting confideration. "For 46 whom the Lord loveth he chasteneth, and scourgeth every fon whom he receiveth. If ye endure chastenings, God deal-66 eth with you as with fons; for what fon is he whom the Father chasteneth not?" Fainting implies in it a distrust of God and fearful apprehensions that we are not in a state of grace; the apostle obviates this conclusion, and shows that it does not follow from being under great and grievous afflictions. Instead of this being just, christians ought to draw a different inference, that divine rebukes are rather an evidence of his love and fatherly care. He argues that chastisements are so far from being an argument that we are not his children, that we are related to him as fuch, and ought to expect them. Those he loves he chastens, therefore we ought not to faint under trials, but rather view this conduct on the part of heaven as a mark of his friendship and distinguishing affection. We have much greater reason to doubt, fear and faint, if we fare sumptuously every day, and continually float before gentle gales on the tide of prosperity. Hence let not christians faint in times of trouble, but rather improve them for their encouragement and comfort, for the quickening their graces, to induce them to draw nearer to God and more firmly to trust in their Saviour. They should ever remember. "That these who are without "chastisements are bastards and not sons." Hence then when we are afflicted, instead of fainting, we should receive it joyfully, and improve it to strengthen our hopes, and encrease our confolations.

But here some tender conscience, some pious creature may be ready to say, "My stroke is heavier than my groaning, I am surrounded with calamities on every side and all darkness within, never was sorrow like unto my sorrow, oppressed beyond measure and God has sorsaken me; he is testifying his wrath for my sins, and there is no hope, nor help, nor deliverance for me." But, O sainting christian, recollect the afflictions of

Job. No mere man ever suffered so much; and what gave a twinging edge to all his pains, God hid his face from him. Hence he pours forth that plaintive heart-affecting wish, "O "that it were with me as in days past!" Let all such imitate the example of the Psalmist in their distresses, and say with him, "Why art thou cast down, O my soul?—why art thou disquieted within me? Hope thou in God for I shall yet praise him for the help of his countenance. O my God, my soul "is cast down within me: I will cry unto God my rock, why hast thou forsaken me?—why go I mourning because of "oppression?"

But it is time I should close this mournful theme with a reflection or two.

First, this doctrine will afford no argument for any to conclude, merely because they meet with many troubles, losses, and disappointments, that therefore they are the children of God. As well might a man conclude himself to be a true christian, when reproached by the world, because a woe is denounced against those of whom every one speaks well. A person may be evily spoken of, and outrageously reviled and slandered, without a spice of religion in his heart; so persons may be the subjects of the most tormenting afflictions, and be made to gnash their teeth with anguish and excruciating pain, without any real piety in their fouls. Therefore to suppose ourselves the favorites of heaven merely from the extremity of our afflictions, is both stupid and absurd. No, my brethren, afflictions no less than the gespel may be a savour of death unto death. They may be the operations of an incenfed judge, and not the corrections of a merciful father. It is the fruits produced by them, which must determine whether they are of the one kind or the other. Hence we cannot decide upon our state Godward by all the good or evil which is before us; by all the prosperity we enjoy, or adversity we suffer. Therefore let none take comfort merely from troubles, that they are the friends of God. There are many other things effentially necessary to form a religious character besides tribulations. What those things are, neither time nor my present plan admit now of an enquiry.

Secondly, we are here taught that sanctified afflictions are to be numbered by the faints among their great bleffings. Hence fays the Psalmist, " It was good for me to have been afflic-"ted." He knew by experience they had been useful to him, and profitable to his spiritual interests. And the apostle affirms, that "They yield the peaceable fruits of righteouf-" ness to them that are tried thereby." Thus troubles properly considered and improved, exhibit the goodness, mercy and loving kindness of God to his people. Yes, says the poor dejected christian, " If I could know that my afflictions were fanctified to me, then could I rejoice in them and praise and bless God for them, but how shall I know this to be the case?" It is much easier to describe sanctified affliction, than to experience it, or for fainting fouls to derive cosolation therefrom. the present take this account hereof. Afflictions are sanctified or prove a bleffing, when they awaken us to a greater attention to God, to Jesus Christ, to divine things, to holy meditations, self examination; when they dispose us to the exercises of mourning for an, renewed acts of faith, self dedication, humility, patience, submission; when they show us the emptiness and unsatisfactory nature of the world, wean us from it, raise our hearts to things above, and cause us to long and breathe more after the celestial rest. Such things as these are sure evidences of sanctified troubles; hence the christian in affliction should call to mind the former years of the right hand of the Lord, to remember God from the land of Jordon and of the Hermonites, and the hill Mizar. Thus true grace may be improved and cultivated by chastisements and instead of fainting, christians ought to gain strength and grow hereby.

¶ 368]

They are employed by God for the curing of our fpiritual melodies, our pride, worldly mindedness, carnality &c. hence believers instead of saying, or thinking, the Lord hath written bitter things against them, should rejoice and be thankful for the severest dispensations of providence, that form them to more meekness and gentleness, more humility and self denial, duty and addictedness to God, in one word, to more meetness for his service and for glory.

Let these considerations comfort mourners in Zion. May the Lord hear them in the day of trouble. Always remember, O christian, not to fains when thou art rebuked of God.

SERMON XXXIII

How Death is the Wages of Sin.

Rom. vi. 23. For the wages of fin is Death.

WITHOUT the formality of an introduction to these words, we shall endeavour by divine assistance to consider,

First, what is intended by the term death-

Secondly, what the apostle means when he represents it the wages of sin.

First, we are to consider the use and intention of the term death.—How should our prayers ascend to heaven, that our contemplations may be suitably directed upon this solemn subject, so that we may all become prepared for this awful events.

Nothing is more common in the facred oracles, than to fet forth a state of calamity and misery, by the word death. When the effects and consequences of sin are spoken of, they are almost always signified by this term. Thus when God

sold Adam what would be the effects of his disobedience in eating the forbidden fruit, he says, "In the day thou eatest " thereof, thou shalt surely die." The event shows us, the loss of his then happy situation was one thing intended in the threatning; for banishment from Paradise immediately enfued. The event also shows, that he not only lost his happiness, but that he instantly became miserable; he felt himself full of consternation and distress, covered with shame ; he knew not what to do or where to fly; all horror within and terror without; afraid of God, he endeavoured to conceal himself. Thus when the apostle in the New-Yestament, mentions the consequences of sin, he usually employs the term death: " If ye live after the flesh, ye shall die. By one man's " offence death reigned; to be carnally minded is death; and " in our text the wages of fin is death." All will readily allow that a state of misery and wretchedness is signified by this term.

Death in the scriptures is used to express three things, hence it is commonly distinguished into three kinds, natural, spiritual, and eternal death. Natural death strictly considered, is the dissolution of the soul and body; so that the body returns to dust from whence it sprung, and the soul to God, as its more immediate author and final judge.

For understanding spiritual death the following remarks mult be observed.

When man was originally created by God, he was formed with two kinds of principles, effentially distinct the one from the other, which principles are stilled, natural and moral, or holy. Natural principles are such as belong to the very constitution of the soul, form its essence and cannot be separated from it. They cannot be extinguished but by the extinction of the soul itself, such as understanding, will, and affections. To

Ĺ 371 j

these were superadded another kind of principles, which may be called moral or holy. These do not belong to the foul for as to be a necessary result of its existence; these are separable from it without the destruction of its being. The sum of these principles is a supreme love to God, and a benevolent temper towards the whole family of mankind, a disposition to prefer God above all, and to promote the felicity of his fellow creatures. These do not effentially pertain to the nature of manbut man may, and does exist when they are become extinct. They feem as if they depended upon the immediate communications of God, and the inhabitation of the Holy Ghost. By these holy principles, an intercourse and communion is maintained between the creature and the Creator. the spirit of God dwells, there is communion with God, there is holinefs and a supreme affection to him. All his natural principles, his will, passions and appetites, are subordinated to the will and pleafure of God; and in these things confists man's spiritual life. While these retain their power and dominion, harmony, peace, order and happiness will prevail in the foul.

In these principles chiefly consists the image of God, knowledge, righteousness and holiness with which man was at first created. And in the loss of these consists spiritual death. As soon as unhappy man had committed the prohibited deed, and disobeyed, God torsook him, the spirit relinquished his habitation, and all these holy principles became extinct, and all the glory and excellency of man departed from him. hence no principles remained in the soul, save those which were natural, the others were utterly lost. Hence he became wholly deprayed; nothing in his heart but sin and corruption, and nothing in his life but vice and disorder. Thus man is lost and is spiritually dead. He is now dead in trespasses and sins.

This view of matters teaches precisely wherein confiss the corruption of human nature; informs us of the fource of all the immorality, wretchedness, ruin and unhappiness with which our guilty world is filled. This is the fountain from whenex flow all the wars, ficknesses, pains, confusions, desolation and destruction, all the outrages, robberies and murders, which a bound in all lands. This is now the character of milerable man by nature, and of all revolted beings. In this way we can account for all the envy, malice, hatred, and injuries of unnumbered forms which prevail among mankind, and the wickednels, rebellion and opposition every where manifested against God. There is no occasion to suppose bad principles infused into the foul, to folve all the appearances of iniquity, folly, error, delusion, superstition and madness, every where beheld-The absence of good principles, the withdrawment of the Spirit of God from the heart, will perfectly account for every species and degree of disorder and wickedness in earth and hell. Spi ritual death therefore confists in the loss of the image of God, and of those holy principles and dispositions in which man was originally created. But as God designed from all eternity to display his Godhead and persections in the salvation of many of the human race, there are wonderful manifestations of restraining grace abounding to all the children of men, to lews and Gentiles, Pagans and Christians; none are exempted from this influence; and this is the cause of the little regularity, order, government, morality, friendship, sociability, peace and comfort there is in the world. This restraining grace is of bigh importance while God is carrying on the salvation of his people. If God were to withhold all restraints of his grace, this earth would become a perfect hell; the world would be full of the same confusion, outrage and horror which reign-Besides God bestows innumerable blessings on mankind, even on the vessels of wrath fitted for destruction, which by means of his restraining, or what is often called common grace, the lives of the most reprob ate are rendered in a mea-

[373]

fure comfortable. Were it not for this, none could enjoy themselves or any of the blessings of life. They would roam through the earth like vagabonds and seinds, utterly destitute of every grain of comfort, and full of misery and wretchedness.

As to eternal death it is only the continuance and completion of spiritual death. It is not any thing different in kind, but the end and confummation of it. The leading difference is this, there is no restraining or common grace in hell. the natural principles and habits of fin are fuffered to operate to the utmost without limitation. A terrible and an awakened sense of the wrath of God is impressed on the soul. A perfect and absolute despair of any change in their condition attende them. Unspeakable anguish arising from reflections on their neglect of former feafons and opportunities of escaping that place of torment, gnaw like vultures upon their heart strings. And what unknown springs of misery, that hath not entered into the heart of man to conceive or imagine, remain behind, nothing but natural death can reveal .- Now when it is faid death is the wages of fin, the term must be taken in its utmost extent: and in this latitude it is clearly held forth to us in the holy Scriptures.

I hasten,

Secondly, to confider what the apossle means when he represents death the wages of sin.

There is an obvious allusion in this phrase to the reward which is due by contract to a person for a certain work or business personned by him. This sum or compensation is stilled wages, between which and the business personned there is reckoned some proportion; so that the wages are deemed an equivalent for the labour, time, and skill of the personner. Hence this sum is his right according the rules of equity and

commutative justice, as well as contrast between the parties, and agreeable to the laws and customs of the country in which they live. When it is here said, that death is the wages of sin, it evidently implies such things as the following:

First, that there is a connection between sin and death; so that the latter is the consequence of the former, as wages are of the work done. Where the one is the other surely will exist. If there be sin, there will certainly be death; it is its unfailing offspring and production. "Sin, when it hath conceived, it bringeth forth death." Where sin is we may be infallibly assured according to the established course of things, that death will certainly exist. And wherever we see death or any of its harbingers, we are perfectly sure there is sin. There is no connection between death and any thing in the universe but sin. Exclude sin, and death ceases to be. In whatever world there is no sin, death never appears.

Secondly, there is a fixed establishment or constitution. which makes death the issue of sin. When the apostle save, death is the wages of fin, there is an evident respect to some prior constitution or covenant, by which this comes to pass. Where there is no law there is no transgression; so where there is no established constitution between fin and death, the one could not properly be affirmed to be the wages of the other. Such a constitution there is, and it is of divine originthat which God made with our first parent, Adam, in his state of primitive innocence and reclitude. The contract or covenant was expressed in short, clear, and definite terms-" In "the day thou eatest thereof thou shalt surely die." Happy for man had he given credit to this plain declaration; but, alas, the foothing flatteries of the deceiver prevailed against the clear denunciation of the God of truth. Surely God did not act arbitrarily or capriciously in forming this constitution, and fixing the connexion of things, but agreeably to the most

T 375]

perfect wisdom and goodness. Hence the connection between sin and death is a law of nature. An unclouded sun does not more certainly diffuse light, than sin produces death.

Thirdly, besides death being the natural and never failing consequence of sin, it is also a proper punishment thereof. Some indeed have confidered natural death as a mere missortune, containing nothing of punishment in it. Yea, fome have gone so far as to affirm it a bleffing, and not a curse; rather a favour to man than a token of displeasure on the part of heaven. But will any so far contradict common feeling and common sense, as to say that excruciating pains, raging fevers, and the severest calamities, are proofs and evidences of God's good will and favour to man? furely not. But these are only harbingers and attendants of death, therefore inconsiderable evils in comparison of death itself. The fact is, the one can be described and told of in bitter complaints; many arise from fickness and pain to relate their anguish, but none comes from the dead to inform us of the agonies of dying. This is a bourne from whence none returns.

Fourthly, this phrase implies, that death in its utmost extent is only the just and righteous demerit of sin. Its proper punishment, reward and compensation, is death. The sinner has earned it he has laboured for it, and sometimes his work has been very hard; he merits it, and his wages he will infallibly receive; there can be no bankruptcy in the case to defraud or disappoint him. The sinner shall surely die. God will deprive him of his breath, and unless he finds by special grace an intervening Mediator, he shall suffer the pains of the second death, and be abandoned to the torments of damnation forever. This is what every sinner deserves, and a just God will certainly give him his deserts. If God had unalterably decreed, that this should be the portion of every sinner, he would have been righteous in all his ways, and holy in all his retributions.

There could be nothing hard or cruel in it on God's name no finner could have any just ground of complaint. He finned he laboured in finning, and receives only his wages, only what righteousness and justice requires be should have. Therefore. the infliction of eternal death upon the wicked and impenitent. who neglect or despile the remedy provided for them in the gospel, will be so far from being a blemish in the divine character, that it will appear in the eyes of the faints and holy angels a branch of transcendent excellency, and they will praise and bless him for all his judgment.--An unhumbled sinner cannot bear such a representation of things; tho' they love and practife fin, yet they think it cruel and unjust in God to give them their wages; they cannot brook the thought that God should cast them off forever. But they must be brought to a different apprehension and sense of things, if ever they become the subjects of his pardoning grace thro' Jesus Christ. They will feel and acknowledge their deferts without a murmuring or discontented word, and confess with the plaimist," " Against * thee, thee only have I finned, and done evil in thy fight, that "thou mightest be justified when thou speakest, and be clear "when thou judgest." The gospel method of salvation gives ground to say, that unless a sinner is brought to some such sense of things, as to acknowledge the justice of God, and that every fin deserves his wrath and curse, and relinquish his murmuring thoughts and lay down the weapons of his rebellion, and to place God on the throne of his righteousness and glory, and to accept of his free mercy as offered thro' the Mediator, he cannot be faved. Unless a suner comes to some proper views of the rectitude of the divine government, and fees that death in its utmost extension is the just wages of sin, he cannot behold the glory of the mercy and grace of the gospel, nor consequently be led to admire in humble raptures and gratitude the rich displays of divine goodness in the salvation of sinners. He who can dispute that it would be unreasonable and unjust in God to punish him for his fins must entertain an ill opinion of God's

suffice in his treatment of Jesus Christ, when he took upon him the iniquities of us all, and was punished in such an awful manmer for the sins of the world. He must hesitate at the wisdom and goodness, the love and grace of God, in the death of his dear and only begotten Son. For where is either the love, wisdom, grace, justice or goodness, in the infinite sufferings of Christ in order to save sinners from eternal death, if they do not merit it. Where was the righteousness of God in punishing the representative and surety, in all that awful tragedy acted at Golgotha or on Calvary's hill, if the principal had not deserved it. Let God be just tho' every man should be a liar. And let every one of us always bear upon our minds, that the wages of sin is death.

A few uses by way of improvement shall finish this lec-

First, If death be the wages of sin, then it follows clearer than any demonstration, that all are sinners without exception, old and young, the infant of days and the man of grey hairs. The reason of the inscrence is, that death reigns over all. Now death does not take place in any world, nor in any instance, only where sin is. It is the reward, wages and punishment of sin. It cannot be inslicted on any where sin is not. If there fore God be righteous in all his ways, and there be no darkness nor injustice with him, then from the evident fact that all die, the conclusion is undeniable that all are sinners.

Secondly, If the wages of fin be death in its whole extent, then God may as righteously inslict eternal death as natural. If God may not justly punish sinners with eternal death, he cannot with natural. If the former be cruel and unjust, so is the latter. He who doubts of, or disbelieves the one, to be consistent, he must doubt of and disbelieve the other. The reason of both acts is precisely the same. Eternal no less than

temporal death, is the just wages of sin. This inserence is made with a peculiar view to remove the reproaches which are cast upon the doctrine of original fin. The enemies of this truth represent its votaries as damning all infants dying in in-But nothing can be more unfounded, cenforious, and unjust. We say that infants as well as others are liable to the pains of hell forever, and they can be faved in no other way, and on no other plan, than thro' the covenant of grace by the atonement and righteousness of Christ. We are not afraid to affert that the maintainers of the contrary dostrine, render the case of all infants absolutely hopeless, by excluding them from the benefits of Christ's redemption. He came to fave the loft, the finful and guilty, and if infants fall not under this character, the compassionate Jesus, who took them in his arms and blessed them, is not their faviour. They must tax our Lord with great weak ness and folly in bleffing them, when they needed it not, neither could it be beneficial to them. We are assured from the scriptures, that all who are saved, are saved by Jesus Christ, and such who are not saved by him, must eternally perish. Who now exhibit the greatest charity for children, the believers of the doctrine of original fin, or the rejecters of it?

Thirdly, we here learn, how awful a thing it is to be a finner. The wages of fin is death, temporal, spiritual, and eternal. It is tremendous beyond expression, beyond conception. No person can have a just idea or an adequate sense of it, on this side of everlasting burnings. Many have had such tormenting apprehensions of their state, as have drunk up their spirits and consumed their strength; have roared thro' the unutnterable anguish and disquietude of their minds, on account of their sins. The grant of the world, with all its boasted friends of wealth and bliss, could not yield the slightest relief. How wounding have been the groans and cries of many under a piercing sense of their guilt? So awful a thing did it appear to

them to be a finner, so penetrating an evil was fin. Such persons do not overrate the malignancy of sin. If any indulge fuch a thought, they will find themselves mistaken here or hereafter. Behold the distress and misery of our innocent Lord who was only imputatively guilty; had no flings of conscience fuffering merely for the iniquities of others; " My foul, fays "he is exceeding forrowful, even unto death." His agony was such as dissolved the crasis of his blood, pressed it thro' every pore, and caused his sweat to be as great drops of blood falling to the ground. It may be faid, he bore the guilt of millions-True, but he was more able to fustain the guilt of the whole fallen race, than a man to hear the full fense of the evil of a fingle transgression. If God were to open the eyes of a person of the firmest nerves to see what it is to be a sinner, to impress on his conscience a suitable sense thereof, it would prove too much for him, and perhaps dissolve his frame, unless supported by divine aid in an extraordinary manner. And yet what a light thing is it with many; it hardly enters into their thoughts: they eat, and drink, and fleep, purfue their business or amusements, without the least irksome reflection upon their condition, tho' daily committing the abominable thing which God's heart hates, his law condemns, and his justice will certainly revenge. Pray, my brethren, is not this the case with numbers of you. that you are yet in your fins, no interest in the favour of God. no union to Christ? Your state is dreadful indeed, and your stupidity and insensibility renders it still more dangerous. Were God to open your eyes to see your condition as it is, all the angels in heaven could not give you peace were they to unite their utmost efforts. He only who wounds can heal. O sinners, remember that there is balm in Gilead, and that there is a physician there. Remember, that Christ came not to call the righteous, but sinners to repentance. And this day he is calling upon you by showing you that the wages of sin is death: Wherefore be warned, be entreated, be perfuaded to break off your fins by repentance, and turn unto the Lord with your whole heart, flee into the open arms of a bleeding Saviour who is wooing you by every moving and tender confideration; who is prefling you by all the felicities of heaven, and all the terrors of eternal death. I leave you to God with this frequent request, that you would confider your ways.

Allow me to close the subject in a sentence or two to those who hope thro' the riches of free grace: You have experienced a deliverance from the power and guilt of your sins. "Bless" set is man to whom the Lord imputeth not iniquity." O live to the honor of that Saviour who haspurchased you with his most precious blood. How unspeakable a blessing is the gift of Jesus Christ unto the world. Remember, O believer, he is your life, he is your deliverer from death in all its forms. Praise him, let all the people praise him.

SERMON XXXIV.

Eternal life the freest gift imaginable.

Rom. vi. 23. But the gift of God is eternal life thro' Jefus Christ cur Lord.

EVERY one observes at first blush, the opposition between the parts of this verse. "The wages of sin is death, but the "gift of God is eternal life thro' Jesus Christ our Lord." If a close attention be applied, it will easily be perceived, that this opposition is of a peculiar fort. Not what impaired and corrupted reason would suggest, nor what its votaries can well digest. The way of expressing things here is not agreeable to the notions of natural men, or a blinded understanding with respect to religion. It is perfectly agreeable to the nature of things, and the ideas of religion which christianity exhibits. With respect to acceptance with God and eternal life, the ideas which it gives us, form a strong opposition to every thing conceived by carnal reason. Hence is that strange counsel of the aposte to those who reject christianity, because its instructions in regard to acceptance with God, are so contrary to

those taught by darkened reason. " If any man among you " seemeth to be wise in this world, let him become a fool that "he may be wife." This is the most wonderful precept that can be conceived by an unenlightened mind. Therefore it is in the mouth of every infidel, that the gospel teaches, "To "be wife you must become a fool." However ridiculed and despised by the world this advice may be, there is not a more certain truth in all the bible. He who would become religious, must renounce his fleshy wisdom, his own pride, vain conceit and wickedness, which every where is justly stiled foolishness, in order to imbibe that wisdom which comes from above, or the religion of the gospel. Upon this principle it is faid, "The wisdom of the world is foolishness with God." It is the necessity of this facrifice, and the difficulty for men of the world to make it, that it is declared, " Not many wife men "after the flesh, not many mighty, not many noble are called." But let us not depart from our text.

. Had any one who understood christianity differently from the apostle been writing upon this subject, how widely different would the antithesis or the contrast be? The verse would run thus, " The wages of fin is death, but the wages of virtue " and righteousness is eternal life." It is hard for the pride of man to receive falvation as a free gift; they would much rather obtain it by their own imaginary virtue or supposed good works. Hence the world clamours against salvation by free and sovereign grace. They load it with reproaches as tending to licentiousness, and excluding personal religion and righteousness. They vainly fancy there can be no other spring of obedience to God only felf-love; so that in their opinion, if you weaken this principle by affuring the foul of falvation by the obedience of another, you destroy the foundations of all virtue and goodness. And this lies at the bottom of the heart of every secure sinner, if God will not allow a suitable consideration for his services, he will not perform any. And another

thing may be here observed, that the sinner claims a right to make both sides of the contract; he must have salvation for his service, and he estimates his service so highly valuable, that a little of it will answer. Thus it is very remarkable, that they who expect heaven for their works, commonly perform the least.

Some will pay fuch a deference to christianity, as to profess to receive the reward of eternal life through Jesus Christ. They think his mediation is necessary, that by it their obedience now becomes so excellent and worthy, as gives them a title to everlasting felicity. Their meaning seems to be, that by the humiliation and fufferings of the Son of God, a way is opened to obtain falvation by their own ferious endeavours, reformation and good lives. And these will grant that eternal life is fomething more than they strictly deserve, yet it would be hard and very upjust in God to exclude them from heaven, or cast them off at the last day. But I hope, my brethren, you have not in this manner learned the doctrines of Carift. You observe, that the apostolic affertion is, that eternal life is folely the gift of God, wholly and independently of free grace, through Jesus Christ our Lord .- It is evident the passage before us leads to three enquiries.

First, what is meant by eternal life.

Secondly, how it is the gift of God.

Thirdly, how it is the gift of God through Jesus Christ our Lord. As to the

First, eternal life is the counterpart of eternal death. They stand in direct opposition to each other. As we have already explained death as used in the facred oracles, and have sound

Digitized by Google

what eternal death intends a state of perfect milery, so we shall find that eternal life is descriptive of a state of perfect fellicity. This state consists of two great branches.

The first is a freedom from every thing that can create uneafnels, or give disturbance, either from within or from without. Some may be ready to imagine, that this condition is abundantly sufficient to place mankind in a state of complete happinels. It is true, that the removal of every thing, which produces uneafiness is a great deal. But freedom from pains misery, distress and wretchedness, is far from being an adequate foundation for felicity. The reason is that all mankind are empty and infufficient creatures in their own nature. They have no inherent, independent fund of bliss and enjoyment; hence they cannot be fatisfied from themselves. God is the only felf-fufficient being, his happiness is independent and felf-originate. He depends on none, either for his existence or felicity. The springs or funds hereof are inherent in his nature. They are infinite and inexhaustible. But the being and happiness of all creatures is very different herefrom. They are dependent and derived. They have neither fpring nor fountain hereof in themselves; but every thing they have and are, is communicated from another. That Being, whose goodness and excellency is from himself, his happiness is from himself also. He who is independent in so essential a respect as his goodness and virtue, must surely be independent in regard to his happiness.

A mere freedom therefore from pain, misery, uneasiness and distress, external and internal, is no ground of positive fesicity. This is the notion many entertain of the happiness of heaven. All their folicitude about salvation in their most serious moments, is only how they may escape hell. Could absolute assurance be given to the most, that they should not go to misery, that they should not be tormented in unquenchable fire forever, their hearts would be at perfect rest; they have

no other conception of falvation, only to escape everlasting burnings. Whereas this is the least part of that salvationthe gospel proposes to us, and confers upon all them who believe. It is the least branch of that happiness which is the defire, pursuit and hope, of real christians. The hope and defire of the true christian, is not merely the avoidance of misery, but the attainment of blifs; not only a deliverance from natural evil, but the possession of spiritual good. It is readily granted, that to avoid hell, is a proper concern of every one; but if it be the chief concern with us, we cannot be the subjects of the faith of God's elect. Faith directs the foul to the vision and enjoyment of the glory of God and Jeius Christ, as the highest objects of its habitual pursuits. The soul receives this: direction from a sense or take of the excellency and sweetness: of this vision and enjoyment. We never desire to enjoy that: for which we have no relish or taste.

Another condition of that flate in which eternal life confifts. is the acquisition of a full and unfailing good. And this can. be none other than God himself, God in Christ. The fruition of God is the felicity of the faints. The vision of Christ's glory, personal and mediatorial, is the perfection of the christian's heaven. That apprehension of heaven, which is most? dear and refreshing to his foul, consists in beholding the glory of God in Jesus Christ, and in a perfect correspondence of his heart and affections to every discovery of this glory. In the greatest nearness to and most intimate communion with himand entire devotedness to him, consists the blessedness of a true faint. If this be the fource of the happiness of heaven-if the vision and presence of God be its principal enjoyment, alas! how few will be faved ?-How very few are there to whoms communion with God is the chief bleffing of their lives?

L proceed to enquire,

Secondly, what is implied in this affection, eternal life is the gift of God.

First, it plainly implies that eternal life is not conferred on mankind as the reward or recompence of any acts or performances of their own. The notion of its being a reward or recompence, is so utterly excluded by this declaration, that little need be faid to illustrate it. In this case there would be no opposition between the parts of the apostle's discourse : eternal life would be as much the wages of men's righteonfacts, as eternal death of their unrighteousness. Whereas it is manifelt, that it is the apoliles intention to show, that things are directly otherwise. If eternal life be a reward or compenfation for any duties, works or fervices, furely it cannot befuled the gift of God. The scriptures never speak in this manner; they do not call that a gift which is a recompence of some virtuous performances or works of our own. If we acquire any thing by our obedience to the gospel, it is in consequence of the establishment of the covenant of grace, and: not for the value of the obedience in itself considered.

Secondly, it implies that eternal life is not conferred upon any finners, as a confideration for their works of righteousness. That God bestows eternal life on finners without any respect to their merits or worthiness, is not a doctrine easily admitted by a blind world. Many are ready to say of this, as the Jews said of another doctrine of christianity, "This is a hard say-"ing, who can bear it?" Many are averse to the method of salvation by free grace, or receiving it as a free gift of God; they cannot bear it, neither do they derive any enjoyment or pleasure from such a doctrine. This is the evil temper of many secure sinners. Some seem to think that the salvation of the gospel will afford them happiness in heaven, when they feel it neither gives them pleasure nor enjoyment apon earth. They dream of salvation with all imaginable coldness and in-

difference here, while delufively they hope, that hereafter it will raife them to heavenly transports. If falvation by grace through Jesus Christ has no effect to warm and animate our souls in love and gratitude to God; to afford us pleasure and delight now, it will produce no such effect hereafter. It is a true observation, that grace is glory begun, that the first fruits of heaven grow in the present state.

Thirdly, it implies, that God bestows eternal life of his own mere motion and grace. When it is affirmed to be the gift of God, less than this cannot be intended. The very idea of a gift is, that it is of pure grace and pleasure. If the person on whom the benefit is conferred, has acquired any right to the matter given—if he can demand it on any personal sooting whatever—if the withholding it would be unjust, hard, or improper treatment of him, then it ceaseth to be a gift, it is a debt. That can never be justly considered a gift to any, which he can claim as his proper due; which on account of any thing personned by him, he has a right to demand or expect. Wherever there is a personal pretension to a benefit, the bestowment of it cannot be of grace, and what is not of grace cannot be a gift.

But what above all things manifests that eternal life is the gift of God, bestowed upon all the subjects of it, is of perfectly free grace—is, that Jesus Christ is the gift of God. "He gave "his only begotten Son," he sent him into the world to be the Saviour of sinners, of his own mere grace and good pleasure. There can be no hesitation on this point. For men certainly could do nothing to procure a grant that was made before their existence. Now if God of his own mere motion and grace gave his Son to sinners, the bestowners of eternal life must be of his mere grace and pleasure also. The reason of this consequence lies here; that eternal life was wholly purchased by Christ for sinners. If not wholly purchased by him

then the remainder must be purchased by sinners themselves and thus it is not the gift of God, but a matter at least in part of their own procurement. But this is not only a flat contradiction of our text, but it runs in an opposite direction to the whole current of facred writ. Nothing can be more certain than that God gave Jesus Christ to sinners of his own mere motion and grace, for this very purpose to purchase eternal life for them, and he actually purchased it; then eternal life to them must be the sovereign gift of God.

Here it will be said that eternal life is conferred upon persons of peculiar qualifications, they are penitents, believers, lovers of God and holy persons. But are not these qualifications tempers, and dispositions, parts of that life and blessedness which are to be persected at death? They are not something of a different kind, but of the same essence and the very beginnings of it. They are what is stilled spiritual life. And spiritual and eternal life are of the same nature, only differing in degrees; the latter is the persection and consummation of the some. These qualifications, love, saith, holiness &c. which are necessary to all who shall inherit eternal life, are as much the gift of God, bestowed of his own mere motion and grace, as heaven, everlasting blessedness, or any branch of gospel salvation whatever.

The third enquiry is, how eternal life is the gift of God thro? Jesus Christ our Lord.

Jefus Christ did and suffered every thing necessary in order that sinners might be partakers of it. His mediation is the foundation and procuring cause of this blessedness. Had it not been for this, eternal life would have never been given to any of the fallen race of man. He purchased it for them.—But it is given through Christ in the following respects.

First, Jesus Christ by his humiliation and atonement redeemed sinners from eternal death. All were liable to this from the nature of the penalty affixed to the law violated by man. He redeemed them from the curse being made a curse for them. He suffered the punishment they had incurred. He drunk the cup of trembling, which divine justice would have put into their hands, and obliged them to have wrung out the bitter dregs thereof. He knew what an awful thing it was to bear the wrath of God for sin. His soul was so exceedingly affected herewith, that he earnessly prayed to his Father that if it were possible this cup might pass from him. O! what inestable love and grace are here, that the son of God should suffer for the sins of men?

Secondly, Jesus Christ sussibled the conditions of eternal life; those conditions which create a little to it according to the divine constitution. He sussibled them in the most complete and perfect manner. There is not one lest unsulfilled. Were there but one lest for us to sulfil, we might despair forever. Thus he is made of God unto sinners, wisdom, and righteousness, and sanctification, and redemption. He is all in all to them.

Thirdly, "It is through Jesus Christ our Lord," because God gives eternal life only for his sake. He has respect in this vouchsasement to nothing only what Jesus Christ hath done. Thus speak the scriptures, "He hath blessed us with "all spiritual blessings in Christ. He hath made us accepted "in the beloved." Yea, they are every where so sull and explicit on this head, that there would be no end of retailing the authorities in support of it.

A brief improvement will conclude this discourse.

The first inference from this doctrine is, that there is ground of hope for the most guilty and forlorn finner, that he may be the subject of eternal life. This hope is not founded upon any thing in himself, or any works or virtues of his own to recommend him to the divine favour. It does not arise from his being of a better temper and disposition than others, for all these qualifications are excluded by the declaration of its being the gift of God. It is a free and unmerited gift; a gift of mere grace; a gift through Christ and for his sake. This is sufficient to preserve the chief of sinners from despair; the finner who is most deeply penetrated with a fense of his aggravated finfulness and guilt, and this is the only destrine which can support or bring comfort to his foul. As to those who are at ease in Zion, any thing can afford them satisfaction. They can rest the issue of eternity upon a fanciful mercy in God of which they have no understanding; they can fupport their hope upon the foundation of their honest dealings their good purposes, their unblameable lives and their fair pro-But where the law comes home to their consciences and they feel themselves slain thereby, see with what a God they have to do, what an awful thing fin is, and what rotten rags their best righteousness are to appeale the wrath of Jehovah, and feel that they can do nothing towards their falvation, they will find all their present hopes delusion, and will be like the giving up of the ghost; and no doctrine will be able to keep them from absolute despair but this, that salvation is the mere gift of God through Jesus Christ. Sinners do, and will try a thousand schemes to save themselves, but all will prove as an Egyptian reed, fave this. O finners, look to the free gift of God through Christ Jesus for eternal life. This is also the only support of a believers hope; this is his encouragement, confolation, and ground of his rejoicing. It is the faith and feeling of this doctrine, that influences him to gird up the loins of his mind, to run and not be weary, to walk and

£ 392 3

not faint. Make eternal life to depend upon himself, or any of his own works, and you destroy all his hopes, his heart would faint, his joys would be no more. This doctrine is his delight; salvation by free grace sheds gladness into his soul; that it is the gift of God through Jesus Christ, fills his heart with joy, and this will be his rapturous enjoyment throughout eternity. Rejoice, O christian, that your salvation is wholly of grace.

Secondly, what cause of gratitude is here? How should our souls ascend to the Father, the Son and the Holy Ghost, in strains of the highest praise for the wonderful plan of saving lost men revealed in the gospel. This will be the theme of celestial song throughout the unwasting ages of eternity. Let us ever bless the Lord for the astonishing scheme of salvation by free grace, that eternal life is the gift of God through Jesus Christ. "Let christians sacrifice the sacrifices of thanksgiving, and declare his works with rejoicing. Blessed be the God and Father of our Lord Jesus Christ, who according to his abundant mercy, hath begotten us again to a lively hope by the resurrection of Jesus Christ from the dead; to an inheritance incorruptible, undefiled, and that sadeth not away. Praise the Lord, O Jerusalem, praise thy God, O Zion."

Let all the people of God be exhorted to live upon this grace; hold it fast and let it not go. Let your rejoicing in a free salvation appear by your godly living. Let your holy conversation put to silence gainsayers. "Therefore my belowed brethren, be ye stedsfast, immoveable, always abounding in the work of the Lord, forasmuch as ye know that your labour is not in vain in the Lord. Work out your own falvation with sear and trembling, for it is God who worketh in you, both to will and to do."

Let signers be exhorted to flee to the grace of the gospel.

B3

T 392 3

Renounce all dependence upon yourfelves and your own righteouiness, and humbly trust in the free mercy of God through Jesus Christ for the gift of eternal life. This is the precious and safe ground on which you may hope for everlasting blife.

SERMON XXXV.

Death Wearing a Sting,

1 Cor. xv. 56. The sling of death is fin-

THE thought of death, leaving our relatives, friends chileren, our dearest and bosom intimates, above all those adored and ornamented temples commonly called our bodies, produces the most sensible shock, and the sharpest touches of undescribed distress. Death is the greatest event known among the children of men, whether it be considered in respect to individuals, or a collection of multitudes falling at once- Behold nations overturned and destroyed by a single war; Sodom and Gomorrah were confumed in a morning; the whole earth, except Noah and his little family, drowned in an hour: but all these horrid assemblages of events, consisted only of the death of individuals. These awful catastrophes were no more than death to each person. The death of an individual carries fomething dreadful and folemn in it, especially if it be sudden or untimely; how incomprehenfibly terrible the idea, when millions become its victims at once. Let death then be regarded as a subject of the most important consideration by all the children of men.

It is no persons duty to make himself miserable by poring to distraction upon what he cannot prevent. No wise man could wish to seel the unavoidable poignancy of a certain calamity before it actually arrives; or the anxious pains of mind equal to the evils feared. But, when serious thoughtfulness, a due anticipation, and a proper conduct will contribute to turn a foreseen calamitous event to our advantage, reason declares we ought to consider, though the consideration should hurt our feelings and disturb our present ease. If we cannot wholly avert the evil, but only meliorate some of its most aggravating circumstances, this would be a sufficient motive to attention in other cases of inserior consequence, how much more in a business of infinite moment?

Reason and mature dictate that a common face ought to be a common concern. And death, without any tedious deductions from premities, or a long process of reasoning, informs us immediately what ought to be fully afcertained. Death cuts foort all laborious investigations, and fixes duty instantly by a natural anticipation. When in anguish and pain the mind directly applies itself to inventions for relief, and eagerly catches at every measure suggested for this intent. This difpolition which in itself is both natural and innocent, yet by a wrong direction often plunges into the worst of confequences. Through ignorance, impatience, blindness and superstition of mind, the never failing concomitants of diltress, what wild unhappy and ridiculous methods are frequently taken for relief? Counsels are heard, and measures adopted without attention to their fuitableness to the nature and causes of the troubles and confequent aptness to redress it. The origin of forrows must be understood, in order properly to apply the balm of confolation. And it is likewise wife, to learn how far the best application is capable of healing the malady, and how far not

Let us at present contemplate the evil, anguish and distress of death, which, viewed in all its circumstances, is the most grievous event in this world. It is here in our text represented under the painful image of wearing a sting. "The sting of death is sin." Death is awful in itself, and sin causes it to sting like a serpent and bite like an adder.

None can here suppose that death, simply considered, the mere dissolution of the soul and body, without any farther apprehensions, is the thing most awful; it is not this, but sin, which is here assumed to be the possonous and mortal thing. It is sin itself; sin insufes the incurable malady; arms death with his twinging pain, and anoints him the king of terrors.

Our text is a general aphorism, offering two things to our consideration; one as a matter of fact and experience, the other as the true reason and account of it. Death is exhibited in its nature and consequences, as the most afflictive event to the sons of men; and therefore the source and sum of all misery and distress. The melancholy effects which death produces, however dreadful, are all resolved into sin as their procuring cause, and only to be rationally accounted for in this way.

Let us at present consider death as here represented wearing a sling.

No refemblance could be better fitted to express the sensation of death to a soul under a realising apprehension and contemplation of it. How seelingly does it paint the touches of anguish, while the person restects upon the gloomy scene, meditates on his part folly, or anticipates his future doom. La apprehensions of the near approaches of death possess his mind; fears at once surround him; seriousness makes a sudden and

forcible entry into his foul, and a thouland dangers drinks his spirits.

There is indeed a folemn dread attending death, confidered fimply in itself, as a dislodgment from these earthly tabernacles, a breaking our nearest and tenderest connections, forsaking a known for an unknown world, and launching into a new and untried state of existence. The saints themselves often sear to die, when they wish they had shot the gulf and were already dead. Those who know that their Redeemer liveth and have the transporting assurance, that when their sless and their heart sail, God will be the strength of their heart and their portions forever; yet oftentimes the approaches of the king of terrors sail their minds with dread, and the gaping grave causes their souls to start back upon themselves.

Those who are exercised unto Godliness, and their hopes not so comforting and supporting, death causes them at seafons to tremble and makes them horribly assaid.—Others who are harrassed with doubts and sears, respecting whom sweet charity that hopeth all things, and interprets them in their savour, are frequently tormented upon a sick and dying bed.—Some again, thro' strong misgivings of heart, are all their life time subject to bondage thro' sear of death; yet the tenderness of their walk, and savoriness of their conversation, insluence others to hope better of them than they do of themselves. It is not always the christians who possess the greatest considence of their own good estate, and profess the highest assurance and hope, that stand foremost in the opinion, or enjoy the largest share of charity among their brethren-

Waving these matters found in the constant experience of the shithful, if we consider death in the most simple and abstract manner, a part from those circumstances which eminently constitute its sting, we shall find the effects such as fully authorise

the emphatical expression of the apostle here before us. Apprehensions of it are admitted with reluctance and even with horror by the generality of mankind. Many by fickness confined to their chambers, and death apparently making rapid advances towards them, yet this uncomfortable subject must not be mentioned to them for the world. The physician, who has charity and magnanimity enough to intimate to his patient his case is dangerous, his disease baffles the power of medicine. and it is necessary for him to prepare for his great change. runs the risk of being discarded by the family and employed no more. If the minister is sent for, after he enters the house, before he can reach the apartment of the fick, how many whifpers and cautions must be receive, not to mention the dreadful words death, judgment or eternity, for the person is seeble and weak, and to speak of these things may be hurtful to him. Thus many never feem to think of death when they are in health, and their friends will not fuffer them to hear of it when But if any unforeseen accident, or some impruthey are fich dent visitant suggests the cruel idea of dying, and the importance of preparation therefor, the thought shocks them beyond conception, it imbitters all their hopes and they cannot recover comfort, till their minds are diverted from the ferious theme, and the impression so far lost and overborne, that it appears as an imaginary and uncertain event. Many who are ready to acknowledge they must die, yet place it so far into suture time. that they can fay to their foul," Soul take thine ease and plea-"fure thon hast life and enjoyments secured for many 44 years."

The horror of death appears also in this that it disposes the mind to a kind of involuntary devotion and sanctity. Any occasion that awakens serious thoughts of eternity, immediately produces this effect. The heavy and the gay, the dull and the cheerful are alike in this matter. They betake themselves to devotion as the common resource. Let an object of morta-

Now he prefented, let an intimate or companion be suddenly Spatched away, how are they firuck, and how furprifing is the alteration? Especially if an epidemic reigns, and there be any sporchensions of the disease attacking themselves; it is not ex-Ty to describe the damp it gives to their spirits; it finks into their hearts, and unxiety and foreboding fears deftroy the tranquility of their minds. It oftentimes extends its influence to the features, throwing an air of pensiveness into their conn. senance, robbing both the heart of its gaiety and the face of in forightliness, and covering them with a heavy and forbidding gloom. Uneasy impressions displace their thoughts of mirth and pleasure, at least for a while, and they become monith and ferious. What does all this argue, but that the stingof death is very painful, and from its bitter effects none of the children of men can pretend to an exemption. Let fome inferfious dilease foread its baneful contagion, how many faces gather palenels and the resolution of the heroes of impiety fail them. Their hands cannot perform their enterprise, and their hearts loft their relish for their wonted delights. The daughters of masic appear to be brought low; the tabret and the dance rease; the cards and the dice must not be brought into view; their feats in the theatre and places of public amusement and pleafure are empty .-- What, O finners, is the reason of this sudden change? what is the canse of this reformation? does define fail? from whence these qualms of religion? Did you not formerly declare, that these things were madness, that ferious. nels was hypocrify and grimace, and that pleasure was the life and element of man. The unhappy wretch from the horror of his conscience replies, " I always thought there was something in religion, but I never before considered death as wearing a sting. I feel distressed. Death making such ravages around me has changed my fentiments; but when the present mortality is over, I hope I shall recover my spirits again."

The fears of death also, while the paroxism continues, often drive persons into a thousand superstitions. They will now pray more than others; go to church, that formerly unfrequented place, more than others; go to every religious society they hear of; but when the sweeping pestilence is past, and their fears subside, they generally emerge fr m their glooms, resume their former character, and frequently return to their womed courses.

This subject has been viewed in a general way, let us now attend to it more particularly, and investigate wherein the sting of death confilts, and describe those things which are supposed All things act at a distance with a feeble into constitute it. fluence in comparison of what they do when they are nigh. We can easily remove death to a vast distance indeed, yea inconsideration will perform this of itself beyond all conception. But let the mind be alarmed with the apprehension of its near approach, it sheds abroad consternation and horror like the approximation of a comet to the path of the earth's orbit. It is not perhaps the near approach of death simply in itself but the incalculable circumstances in its train, which produce this strange effect. These things unobserved before create appearances to the mind, to which it had not previously paid attention.

Do anguish and pain constitute the sting of death? how many have declared they would suffer greater degrees of pain to be delivered from torments of mind? The mind therefore is unquestionably the seat of this distress. If we attentively consider what we ourselves have experienced, or what others have more expressly declared, we shall find the ground of the trouble in some or all of the following things: a dread of the divine displeasure; an uncertainty with regard to their condition in a future state; and a fearful looking for, of wrath and siery indignation.

C3

Thus the circumstances and consequences of death raise certain apprehensions in the mind which form its sting. are none of us who have lived any confiderable time in the world but by fickness or some accident have had death brought near to us; and perhaps we have been filled with no small fear What was it made us afraid? Was it the natural pain we should suffer in the article of dissolution? Was it the mere horror of dying? Was it a dread of annihilation or falling into non existence? None of these things afflicted us .-But after death there was a judgment, and after judgment a tremendous eternity. These created misgivings of heart and termenting anticipations of a difmal futurity. A fecret dread lay smothered in our breast, that our good things were past, and that we wust now receive evil things from the hand of an offended God, and drink the dregs of the cup of his fury, and sustain all the fierceness of his wrath forever. What anguish and pain can be compared to this? What can create a more envenomed fting? To fee a fellow creature or a friend drawin g near to the agonies of diffolution, and professing great uncertainty, or no hope, and his past life ascertain to all around him the propriety of his profession, what inconceivable anguish must it cause in view of his dreadful doom?

What is the reason, that many who are bold and intrepid in life, who seem to sear neither God nor man, can outrage the laws of civil society, and the rules of decorum with a kind of matchless and impious heroism, grow timorous, weak and superstitious when they come to die? Persons who hated and avoided all religion and religious worship while in health, when dying they must have prayers made for them in abundance both public and private. What is the cause of this mighty change and remarkable reformation? It is plain however they despited God, devotion, and holy exercises in life, that they would now wish for the friendship of heaven and be found in devotional frames in death. I grant there are a sew who have not apostatised, or fallen into these religious

graims in a dying hour, but have hastily leaped the precipice, plunged into death, and have faved their surviving companions the mortifying blush, that they did not die with less impious bravery than they lived. But those stupid and hardy sons of iniquity and infidelity, who die as indevoutly as they lived, are as rare as blazing comets among the innumerable stars,

But what is the true origin of all that distress attending the diffolution of this mortal frame? Our apostle solves the problem by affuring us "That the sting of death is sin." Sin is the universal cause of all these afflicting appearances, of all we feel and fear, of all pains of body and diffress of mind. Now if all the agonies of body and horror of foul which usually attend this event arise from sin, we then see the propriety of the affertion in our text. Allow the scriptures a divine authority, and all disputation on this head must be silenced forever. They account for death and all its awful concomitants in the most certain and rational way. That we should be punished with the severest pains of body and agonies of mind by an infinitely good, just, merciful and holy God, who doth not afflict willingly nor grieve the children of men, must be points mysterious, and facts absolutely unaccountable, without the supposition of sin in us as laying the foundation of such treatment. Let the whole tribe of infidels come forward with their mighty and boafted reason, and account for these facts in any other way, and divine revelation shall be discarded. But if the scriptures and these alone give us a plain and easy solution of all these things, of all these appearances and effects; then letus acquiesce in their divinity, and apply the measures of recovery and salvation which they prescribe: Sin is the true and real cause of all. Sin is the sting of every pain and death itself. Sin, unforgiven, binds over to the penalty of that law, of whichit is a violation. A person's reflections on his past life, that his degenerated appetites and passions are unmortified, that alk his crimes stand charged against him in the book of God, and that he has never fied to Christ Jesus for refuge, must in the hour of death fill his soul with those tormenting feelings and amazingly keen twinges, which are in our text denominated the sting of death.

Allow me to close this subject in a brief address to inconsiderate, careless and secure sinners, to those who are devoted to the world, the gratification of their present desires, and are overwhelmed in carnal pleasures. Death will soon come and you must appear in judgment. What mean you then, O sinners, to sleep and triste in your present condition? Know ye not that ye must die? Is not death at the door in respect to many? What signifies a few months or years? They will be quickly past and irrecoverably gone. The honest hour of dying you cannot evade. To the bar of an incensed God you must come. You know your sins are unpardoned, and that you have not made your peace with heaven by faith in Jesus Christ, and peradventure your souls anticipate your suture destiny.

You are ready to say, "God forbid we do not feel any inward horror, or fling of fin; our consciences do not trouble us, and we hope in divine mercy." Remember your consciences may be stupisted with the cares, amusements and pleasures of the world, and your hopes of mercy may be ill founded and fallacious. You may be crying to yourselves peace, peace, when sudden destruction is ready to burst upon you. Many & time, the more easy and inapprehensive sinners have appeared, the more dangerous and alarming was their case. Consider what may ferve to keep you quiet now, may not be able to keep you so when you come to die. Your present freedom from diffress may be occasioned by your hurry of business, your expectations of more leiture, and a thousand imperiment frivolities. The comforts and concernments of life form themselves into a kind of supreme portion and felicity, and often absorb all serious consideration. But circumstances will change

at death, and the hurry of the world and its pleasures will not be able to divert you from reflecting on the state of your souls. Remember, God is holy and just as well as merciful, and your present palliations and excuses for sin, which render it easy for your inconsiderate hearts to retreat to divine mercy may then be displaced by impressions of divine wrath, by a consciousness of unpardoned guilt and fearful forebodings of angry indignation. Those hopes of mercy which many profess, and a dead faith, are statal things; they keep you from thinking; they lull your consciences to sleep, and will at at last pierce you through with many darts. How infinitely unhappy is such a condition!

Awake, O finners, before death approaches; before it be too late. Lay your ways feriously to heart. Begin to enquire in good earnest, "What shall we do to be faved?" Confess your fins, humble youselves for your transgressions; turn unto the Lord and his ways with your whole hearts. The arms of divine mercy are infinitely extended for the reception of the chief of finners, who are willing to return to God by faith in Christ Jesus. Be persuaded in this your day to consider the things which pertain to your eternal peace.

Are there any thoughtful, awakened, or concerned fouls in this affembly, let them attend to the fweet and endearing voice of the compafficate Redeemer. "Come unto me all ye that are weary and heavy laden, and I will give you rest."

If unpardoned fin be the sting of death, let true penitents and real believers magnify divine grace, live by faith on Christ Jesus, "Be not conformed to this world; but be ye trans"formed by the renewing of your mind, that ye may prove
what is that good and acceptable and perfect will of God."
See that you keep your consciences undefiled; keep consciences void of offence towards God and towards man.

SERMON XXXVI.

The last enemy destroyed.

i Cor. xv. 26. The last enemy that shell be destroyed is death.

MELANCHOLY death must again be the subject of our meditations. This gloomy theme should not be dwelt upon so long, but it is absolutely necessary we should soon enter the lists and hold a conslict with it, hence it is an instance of the highest wisdom to be in readiness for the combat. If there be an enemy who will surely attack us, whom we can neither appease nor avoid, it would be the extremity of folly to neglect preparation for the engagement. And would it not manifest a sound judgment and a good understanding, seeing his assault is not to be escaped, to enquire whether there be any method by which he may be overcome? I must now speak of that which will soon close my mouth in the prosoundest silence, and you must hea of that which will shortly stop your ears. And we shall neither speak nor hear any more till the last trumpet shall sound, and the bright morning of the resurrection open.—

. Was the dread pemp of a funeral presented besote us, the silent procession, the fad train of mourners, the berieved friends taking a final last look, groaning out a farewell, eyes and hearts intent upon the gasping grave, the hollow murmurs of the falling clods fending forth a doleful found, a discourse on death might then have a double force, and make the impressions deep. Altho' this painful appearance is not at present'passing in review, yet it is an object so frequent, that we must, methinks, always bear upon our minds the image. As by an immutable statute of heaven, it is appointed unto all men once to die, therefore a proper confideration of death can scarcely at any time be needless or impertinent. Are there any here who can object and fay, that reflections upon our mortality are vain, for men are naturally too sensible hereof and too much dread the name? If this were just, there would be no need of such a pious aspiration handed down to us in the divine oracles: "O that they were wife, that they understood this, 44 that they would consider their latter end." Notwithstanding death is certain, and preparation for it of the greatest importance, yet, alas! how few, how very few lay it seriously to heart; how few are engaged to have its power destroyed before it flay them? While it is the king of terrors to the world, many remain ignorant of its chief injury, thinking it hath done its utmost when the connection between the foul and body is dissolved, considering not that the everlasting separation of both from the fountain of bleffedness is still infinitely greater For what is temporal when compared with eternal death? To think of the separation of those near and dear companions, the foul and body, of the debasement and horrors of the grave, the bed all stench and putrefaction, the coverlit crawling worms -is fad and melancholy. They are very unwelcome and dismal thoughts to the minds of sinners, but what follows after is inconceivably more difinal, and inexpressibly more terrible.

But is there no escape from this destroying enemy? Must all become his prey? And shall be still triumph and pass unvanquished? Our text affords here an answer of sweet joy and the strongest consolation, that this universal destroyer shall be destroyed.—" The last enemy that shall be destroyed is death." Tho' he is an enemy, and the last enemy, yet his conquest and destruction is certain. This is a precious hope and a transporting consideration, that tho' he hath and will reign long, yet he will not reign always. This our glorious Saviour and all conquering king hath done, and will infallibly accomplish. Thus the captain of our falvation hath declared, "O death, I will be thy plague, O grave, I will be thy destruction." His arm is almighty, and he goes forth conquering and to conquer. And the last enemy he will vanquish and subdue is death. But in leading your attention particularly thro' this subject, we shall endeavor to show,

First, how death is an enemy.

ŧ

Secondly, establish this truth, that this enemy shall be destroyed.

First, let us consider this chief of all enemies. It is usual for the sacred volume to employ sensible images to communicate to our minds spiritual ideas. Hence our ruin by sin, and recovery by the redemption of Christ, are often exhibited to us in warlike or military terms. Thus Satan is said to lead us captive; Christ is stilled the captain of our salvation; sin is spoken of as bondage, chains, imprisonment; religion, as liberty, freedom, deliverance, victory, &c. Therefore all obstructions and impediments which interrupt our passage to everlasting blessed uses and felicity, are denominated enemies. Death is represented as the last of these enemies, because he is the last with which we have to engage in this world, and it is the last which will be destroyed. For he never will be compleatly and perfectly conquered until the resurrection, when he must surrender up all those he hath confined in his cold prison for

thousands of ages. He himself must then die and cease fore. ver, for after this event there will be no more death. But in this world he reigns and triumphs, and will hold his dominion as long as it endures. Death is an enemy to the whole human nature; an enemy to every individual of the race of man; an enemy to the body; an enemy to the soul; an enemy to the linner; and an enemy to the saint.

First, he is an enemy to the body. This curious machine. which was fearfully and wonderfully made, he renders it as though it had never been. He removes the pins of this grand sabernacle, and reduces it to its primitive dust. This glorious frame, which had been long in rearing, and on which the pains and labour of years had been expended to bring to maturity and perfection, is in an inflant tumbled into ruin. So that in which we much delighted, and from which we entertained the highest expectations, immediately is made so disagreeable to us, that our friends wish it buried out of their sight What care, attention and toil doth it take to rear such a creature as man? and when finished in our fond apprehensions and fitted for service and utefulness, then does death quickly blast our hopes, and destroy in a moment the labour of a number of years. Truly it may be faid, "All flesh is as grass, and " all the glory of man as the flower of grass, the grass wither. 46 eth and the flower thereof falleth away." How superior and. noble a creature doth death destroy? To day the body is beautiful, all the parts performing their feveral functions; the heart moving, the lungs playing, the blood circulating, the spirits fine, but to-morrow death comes, touches some muscle or nerve, disconcerts some wheel, casts an invisible particle of infection into the inspired air, and all stands still. We breathe, we speak, we think, we ast no more. Our pulse ceases to beat, and our eyes to behold the light. Our ears will hear the voice of melody no more; our strength is gone; our natural warmth is turned into an earthly cold, and our comeliness into ghastly deformity. This mighty change doth death perform. The

printe cannot refult him by his majefty, nor the strong by his might. Commanders must here obey, and conquerors are here conquered. The rich cannot bribe him, the learned orator with all the profusion of his eloquence cannot persuade him to pass him by, nor can the skilful physician save himself from the mortal stroke. All have sinned, all must die. "Dust we "are and to dust we must return."

. Secondly, Death is also an enemy to the foul. The body and foul in their original formation were defigued to dwell Therefore these intimates have the perpetually together. strongest inclination and attachment to each other. separation cannot be made but by the unnatural violence of a cruel enemy. Yea, the foul of the faint chings to the body. They, who possess the fullest assurance of a translation to glory, feel great defires that the body should be taken along. The apostle himself " Did not desire to be uncloathed, but rather to "be cloathed upon, that mortality might be swallowed up of "life." That is, be translated at once into the celestial flate without the horrid pains of a dissolution. A separation was terrible even to the human soul of Christ himself, hence he earneftly prayed that this cup might pass from him. Therefore we have perfect assurance that death, as death, must be unwelcome as it is unfriendly to every creature. It is a natural evil in itself, abhorred by soul and body. There is no principle in human nature, on which there can be grafted a reconciliation. The highest degree to which grace can raise the faint in this life is only a submission to the divine will, and to fay, "Not my will but thine be done." Death is still hated as an enemy, though there is a fweet acquiescence in the will of The faint most willing to die, wills not death; and all his willingness to die is merely as the reconciliation of a fick man to the hateful prescriptions of the physician that be may obtain health.

Thirdly, to the guilty, unpardoned, and unrenewed finner

death is an enemy indeed. He is to him the king of all imaginable terrors, terrible in itself, and more terrible in its confequences; it is here a mere passage from tolerable to intolerable misery. Could the unhappy soul be sure that there is no vengeance to seize it after death, that there is no more forrow or anguish to be felt only the expiring agony; that he hath nothing to suffer but the loss of existence, this would seem an evil that might be endured. But it is the living death, says one, the dying life, the endless woe, to which death leads the guilty soul, which makes it unspeakably terrible. The utterdarkness, the unquenchable sire, the living and gnawing worms, the eternal slames of Jehovah's wrath, these are the horror, these are the sting of death to the ungodly. Thus to impenitent sinners he is an enemy cloathed with inconseivable terrors.

Fourthly, he is an enemy to the faints themselves. Of those: who are truly fanctified the apostle is here principally speaking. and of the advantages which they receive by Christ, among these, this is one, that the enemy death shall be destroyed, which fully assures us that death is an enemy to them as well. as others. By accident it is rendered friendly to them, thro the conquest Christ has obtained over it, yet in its own nature. and in many respects, it is an enemy still. It is a monster full of horror, if we consider the ghastly paleness, the stiff cold, the forbidding vilage, distorted eyes and convulsed limbs of the dying; and afterwards if we think of the corruption of the grave, the putrefaction of the flesh, all things visible are expressions of enmity in the extreme. It is an enemy as it removes them from the conversation and intimacy of their agreeable friends, as it imprisons one part of them in the earth, and as it prevents their complete bleffedness and felicity. which they will not enjoy till after the refurrection. Thus it is death is an enemy to the whole nature and race of man-But, glory to God, this enemy shall destroyed; death itsels? shall die. Altho' it is the last enemy, yet it shall surely be conquered. "The last enemy that shall be destroyed is death."

This brings me to the

Second thing proposed, which was to establish this truth, that this enemy shall be destroyed. As we have seen the inimical vifage of death, let us contemplate the conquest of it by the all powerful love of the Redeemer. We have confidered what fin hath done, let us contemplate what grace will do. As we have noticed the strength of the enemy, we will now observe the irresistible power and victory of the Saviour, the glorious conqueror of death. The beginning of the victory is in this world, but the perfection of it will be in the refurrection, when death shall live and reign no more. mortal wound which the king of terrors received was by the death of Christ on the cross. Hereby it is rendered a tolerable evil to true believers, in the hopes of everlasting life. Its firength was hereby weakened and its fling was taken away. "The sting of death is sin, but thanks be to God who giveth "us the victory thro' our Lord Jesus." It never was the intention of Christ to deliver us from the stroke of death, only from its dominion and power, and finally to recover us from its fetters by a glorious refurrection. "For fince by man " came death, by man came also the resurrection from the " dead." As he merited life for all who believe, so he actually conquered death by his own refurrection from the tomb. On this important day, he led captivity captive, and triumphed glorioufly. It was then demonstrated to heaven, earth, and hell, that death was vanquished. By his arising from the dead he hath conquered the powers of darkness, so shall we rise thro' him and die no more. " For because he liveth, if " we believe inh-im, we shall live also."

The next faral stroke which this universal tyrant receives, is when we are sanctified by the influences of the Holy Ghost, and justified by divine grace. When faith is implanted in the soul, it then looks beyond the grave and beholds eternal life. And altho' death may injure him, it can never destroy him. The believing soul foresees the day, "when death shall be sallowed up of victory." So he may in the present time lift up his voice and sing that triumphant song, "O death, where is thy sting, O grave where is thy victory. For this cause we saint not, tho' our outward man perish, our inward man is renewed day by day, for our light affliction, tho' it extends to the grave, which is but for a moment, worketh for us a far more exceeding and eternal weight of glory."

But the last stroke that death will receive, and when the conquest shall be perfected, will be at the resurrection, and this is the victory referred to in our text, wherin it is affirmed the last enemy that shall be destroyed is death. Many a mortal wound it. received heretofore, but now it is completely vanquished. Death will be then given to death. The body lyeth under death, and under the penal effects of fin till the refurrection, and it is in a fort penal to the foul too, it is an allay to its perfect felicity, whilst in a state of separation from the body. even tho' it is in perfect glory with Jesus Christ, because it is deprived of the perfection or full completion of glory, which it shall receive after the resurrection, when the whole man, soul and body, will be introduced to and confirmed in all the blesfeducis of eternal life. The Mediator's work will then be fiwithed and accomplished. All things shall be completely reftored. "Then there shall be no more death, nor forrow, nor "crying, nor pain, for the former things are patied away." No terribic enemy between us and our God, to prevent the . emanations of his love, or feelude us from his presence. O! what a birth day will it be, when the grave shall bring forth so many millions of fons for glory? How joyful will the meeting of the foul and body be, who had been separated so living? Then sin and transgression will be finished and can do no more, "And death and hell will be cast into the lake of fire." Then Christ shall have accomplished all, and will have no more to perform as our Redeemer; he will have placed all in glory who were given to him before the foundation of the world. Then shall be deliver up the kingdom to the Father, and God shall be all in all.

The subject shall close with a few deductions.

First, from death's being so great an enemy in so many refpects we are taught the exceeding malignity of fin. Sin hathentered into the world, and death its never failing companion attends it, and thus death hath passed upon all men, inasmuch as all have finned. It is fin which gives death all his power and dominion. Without fin death could neither exist nor Hence we should use all possible means to destroy it, which has been so instrumental in our destruction. Let sinbe the enemy we shall chiefly oppole. By a proper opposition to him, we shall conquer death itself and disarm it of its sting ; let us fight neither against small nor great, but against this implacable foe. He is a foe, he is a murderer indeed, who would destroy both soul and body without any cause. Let us therefore carry on unceasing war against sin as our most deadly, unreasonable, and most dangerous enemy. Let us get it slain, by fanctifying grace derived from Christ Jesus, before it shall flay us. Sin must be slain or it will surely destroy us forever. It is fin which hath made fueh univerfal havec among mankind, which hath flain all the nations of the earth age after age, and hath made our world an Aceldama, a field of blood. It is he who hath hurried death upon our near relatives, upon our intimate friends and dear companions, and who will quickly destroy us, at least our bodies, also. Wherefore let us no longer, let us never be at peace with fuch an enemy, but let us

[413]

maintain an obstinate and continual war with every iniquity, trusting in Christ the captain of our salvation, under whose banner we shall come off conquerors and more than conquerors. When we weep and mourn over the corpse of a departed friend, shall we not think with abhorrence of the cause of the pale ruin and wounding separation? Let us hate and abhorsin, which has entailed such evil upon the world, is infinitely displeasing to God, and cost his eternal son so dear.

Secondly, we learn from this doctrine, from the victory obtained over this enemy, the great love and power of Jesus Christ, who condescended to enter the lists with this mighty combatant, and after an engagement beyond the comprehenfion of men, came off triumphant; "Who thro' death destroy-" ed him who had the power of death." Herein was the love of Christ manifested, that when we were taken captive by Satan, and were dead in trespasses and fins, Jesus the Saviour undertook for us and ranformed us from death and the grave. What returns shall we make for these wonders of love? Ought we not to return to him our whole hearts and lives? Herein is fafety, security and consolation that the second death, even death eternal, can never injure us. When the shafts of natural death are continually flying thick around us, ought we not folemnly to confider how we may be able to encounter the king of terrors? If we take Christ for our leader and captain, we shall furely prevail. For this purpose, let us furnish and gird ourselves for the war. "Put on the whole armour of "God, for we wrestle not against flesh and blood, but against " principalities, against powers, against the rulers of the dark-" ness of this world, against spiritual wickedness in high places. "Wherefore take unto you the whole armour of God, that ye " may be able to withstand in the evil day, and having done all 46 to fland. Stand therefore having your loins girt about with "truth, and having on the breast plate of right cousness, and

to your feet flood with the preparation of the gospel of peace a " above all taking the shield of faith, wherewith ye shall be able " to quench the fiery darts of the wicked, and take the helmet of falvation, and the fword of the Spirit, which is the " word of God. Finally, my brethren, be strong in the Lord " and in the power of his might." Now if we put on this chriftian armour and bravely use the same, the victory will surely be our own. Let us secure the one thing needful, for we daily Tee that neither young nor old, learned nor unlearned, but must enter the field of battle. Wherefore, " watch ye, stand " fast in the faith, quit you like men, be strong." Let us learn to live every day as if it were our last. When we enjoy one day, we have no certainty of another. We know no more that we shall behold another rising sun, than if we were now upon a dying bed, our physicians had given us over, and our friends flanding weeping around us at our expiring and agonising groams. Let us all be admonished to prepare for sickness and our dissolution. Let us be employed in the exercises of felf examination, repentance of and humiliation for finconfessing the same, renewing covenant with God, mortifying corruption, living by faith, denying ourselves and meditating on heaven. Let the counsel of our Lord ever abide upon our minds, " Be ye also ready."

SERMON XXXVII.

The doctrine of the Refurrection stated and proved.

Daniel xii. 2. And many of them that sleep in the dust of the earth shall awake, some to everlasting life, and some to shame and everlasting contempt.

THE doctrine of the refurrection of the dead, altho' in some respects it is both marvelous and mysterious, yet it is of the utmost certainty, and necessarily composes an article of the christian's creed. In these days of scepticism, it is denied by many, who tho' they do not entirely renounce the name of christian in profession, strangely allegorife away this as well as fome other diffinguithing truths of divine revelation. will always be the cafe with mankind when they exalt their own wildom and understanding above the plain declarations of They will continually be the subjects of error and deheaven. lusion. When perfons depart from the simple and obvious meaning of language, the plain relation of facts and things delivered in the oracles of truth, and begin to spiritualise and allegorife every matter that is spoken, they never sail of falling \mathbf{E}_{3}

into the groffest inconsistences and contradictions, and often the final iffue is the most blasphemous infidelity. The vain manwho wishes to be esteemed wife, frequently attempts to mar this glorious doctrine in our text, yet it is a doctrine which will fill be believed by all who adhere to the plain and literal intention of their bibles. It is a doctrine, notwithstanding there may be some difficulties attending it, yet blessed be God it contains neither absurdity nor impossibility. Some who are ready to fear if there should be a resurrection, they may be of the unhap. py number that shall arise to everlasting shame and contempt, would therefore invent objections against the truth, rather than entertain the tormenting thought. But whether they believe it or not, it is equally the same, the word of God remains true and stedfast, and what the Lord hath affirmed shall infallibly come to pass. This is a doctrine delivered both in the old Testament and the new, by the prophets and apostles and by Christ himself, by whom the dead shall be raised up, therefore those who will not believe it, when it enters so deeply into the whole christian system, it is not probable they would believe tho' one came from the dead. This doctrine tho' terrible to the wicked, yet it administers great joy and consolation to the people of God. In the verse preceding our text the prophet Daniel is evidently predicting the approach of the gospel state. When Michael the great prince, that is Jesus Christ, shall stand up for the people of God, then will be a time of great trouble to the wicked, to Satan and all the implacable enemies of his kingdom, but it will be a season of joy and gladness of heart to those whose names are written in the book of life; for deliverance and falvation shall come unto them. Then at the confummation of all things will be fulfilled this declaration, "Ma-"ny of them that fleep in the dust of the earth shall awake, " fome to everlasting life, and some to shame and everlasting " contempt." They who are fond of opposing the doctrine of the refurrection, and boldly urge that the old Testament is silent upon this head, are greatly perplexed with the argument

contained in this passage. They vainly pretend these wordsmust be taken not in a literal but in a metaphorical and figurative sense. They say, it signifies no more than the deliverance of the church from the grievous perfecutions of Antiochus the king of Syria, and fleeping in the dust of the earth, was the Jews hiding themselves in holes and caves, in order to avoid the fury of that cruel tyrant. But it is abundently evident Daniel had concluded his prophely respecting the persecution of Antiochus in the former chapter with these words, "He " shall come to his end and none shall help him." in the dust is a very unnatural figure to exhibit flying into caves and deferts; and a deliverance from this perfecutionwould be very aukwardly expressed by being raised to everfasting contempt; and could the happiness of such a deliverance be termed everlasting life, when at best it could only be atemporal falvation. But these words plainly and most certainly teach, that there will be a refurrection of the dead, and numerous are the other authorities in the scriptures for the establishment of this doctrine. The only difficulty in the text is the word many, "Many of them that sleep in the dust." This would feem at first view to imply an exception of some that should not awake or be raised. But the original word which is here rendered many, is very frequently and and more properly translated multitude, and being thus rendered here expresses the most perfect universality. "The multitude of them "that sleep in the dust of the earth shall awake," that is all the dead without the exception of a fingle inflance. This text is alluded to and explained by our Saviour when he fays, "All that are in their graves shall hear his voice and come " forth, they that have done good unto the refurrection of life "and they that have done evil unto the refurrection of damna-Hence the many or multitude of them that shall awake expresses all, or the most complete universality. By fleeping in the dust of the earth is meant the dead, whether busied in graves, laid in tombs, burnt to ashes, drowned in the seadevoured by wild beafts, or eaten by cannabals. Wherever their remains are or however disposed of, they skall all be gathered up at the last day. All their dust shall be collected and reanimated; and every soul be united to his former body, both good and bad. The former will be raised to everlasting life, or consummate felicity in the celestial world, and the latter to misery, shame and everlasting contempt and torment. This is the manifest meaning of this text.

In the first place we shall endeavour to establish the doctrine, which it contains, or prove that there will be a resurrection of the dead.

Secondly, confider femething of the manner in which the dead shall be raised.

First, we are to endeavour further to establish the doctione contained in the text that there shall be a refurrection of the dead. "The many or multitude of them that sleep in the dust "of the earth shall awake." It may be here observed this is a doctrine of pure revelation, which the light of nature could never discover, but when revealed, reason is pleased with it. When known, it clearly contains nothing irrational or inconsistent. Reason cannot suggest any thing against it, for God is infinite in power, wisdom and truth, therefore the refurrection of the dead may be infallibly established from the perfections of Jehovah. While God is almighty none can dispute but that he is able to raise the dead. He who could create worlds by the word of his mouth, and make man at first of the dust of the ground, and continues unchangeably the same, surely he must be able to raise him from the dust again.

We have it fully aftertained that God hath raifed many from the dead; such as the son of the widow of Sarepta,—the Shunamite's son,—The man cast into the sepulchre of Elisha,— fairu's daughter, the widow's son in Nain, Lazarus, Dorcas, &c.—The wistom and knowledge of the most high also confirms this doctrine. As with him all things are possible, so to him all things are known. He knows every particle of human dust and where it lies. Altho' these particles, which were once constituent parts of the body, have gone thro' ten thousand changes; although perhaps they may have grown up into grass, this grass eaten by the beasts of the field, and these again by men, a million of times over, yet he whose omniscience at once beholds every atom in the universe, that ever was or will be, in all its various positions and situations, it is infinitely easy with him to separate dust from dust, and replace every particle where it originally belonged.

The great and speculative objection offered against this doctrine is, there are whole nations of cannibals who feath and nourish themselves on human slesh, and the particles of one body become patrition and go to the constituting of another, or the particles of buried bodies grow up into herbs and are eaten. fo that by one means and another, the felf same particles may have gone to the formation and support of a thousand men-Now feeing this is the case, how can these thousand persons be raifed at one and the same time, since they never had but the particles of one body among them all? To this I would an-Iwer, first as Christ did to the Sadducees of old, who denied this doctrine, and proposed a case respecting a woman who had feven husbands successively, and pertly enquired whose wife she should be in the resurrection. "Ye do err fays he, not know-" ing the feriptures nor the power of God." Fully intimating that if they understood the scriptures or the power and wisdom of God, they could raife no fuch objection.

Again, let this objection be answered by St. Paul, for some had attempted to throw difficulties in his way on this head, "Some will say, how are the dead raised up? and with what

" body do they come? To this he replies, thou fool, that which "thou sowest is not quickened except it die, and that which " thou fowest, thou sowest not that shall be, but bare grain, it " may chance of wheat or fome other grain, but God giveth "it a body as it hath pleased him, and to every feed his own "body." Now in this argument the apostle plainly allows that it is by no means necessary to the resurrection of the same person, that every particle of which he was compesed thro life, and which constituted him at death, must be raised and collected into one heap to form the same man. No it is highly probable a part of that which was once the human body will be perfectly sufficient to constitute it the same. As the apostle instances of wheat being fown, it grows up into stalk, blade, ear, chaff and grain, all this large body, altho' it is not the fame with the bare grain that was fown, yet it arises from the same seed, and every seed has its own body; so also is the refurrection of the dead. There will be a great difference between the bodies raifed, and those which were laid in the dust-Yet every individual body will have so much of what it was formerly composed as is necessary to constitute it identically the fame.

Further it may be justly observed in answer to this objectionno man remains composed of the same numerical particles?
without addition or diminution, for any one hour of his lifeThe man who lies down to sleep, in the evening, when he
awakes has lost many thousands of particles during the night,
which are gone off by sweat, perspiration, &c. yet he is the
same person he was in the morning, tho' not composed of all
the same individual particles. A gross man that is seized with
sickness and reduced to a skeleton or to a state of great leanness, he is still the same person he formerly was, altho' perhaps
half his weight is wasted away; and when he recovers health
and his former bulk, l.c is still the same, al ho' sew particles
compose his body which did before. Thus by the constant

changes all bodies undergo, Methuselah must have been com-Bosed of very different particles when he was a youth and when he was nine hundred and fixty-nine years old; yet he was the same identical person when old that he was when young. Thus it will be in the refurrection, that many particles constituting the body at death whether added or not, sufficient will be raifed by infinite wisdom and power to constitute the person persectly the same, he will be conscious to himself that he is the same, and be fully recognised by all who formerly knew him. All that is necessary for us to be assured of is, that every particular body has certain appropriate and effential particles, that whenever united and animated, completely constitute the same person; and the essential particles of one body never become the effential particles of another body, therefore the same person can at no time pass away into different persons. Thus as God is omniscient and knows where all these essential particles are, whether they have been burnt to ashes or funk in the bottom of the ocean, and as he is infinitely ableto collect these particles, if scattered into and mingled with all the particles of the earth, and of them renew the same man; from hence it follows, that the refurrection is clearly demonstrated from the power and wisdom of God.

The last argument is drawn from the truth of God. If he is a being that cannot lie, and his word plainly reveals this doctrine, then it must furely be established beyond all contradiction. It was a truth believed by all the ancient faints. We find Hannah, that woman of eminent piety declaring it in her song; "The Lord killeth and maketh alive, he bringeth down to the grave and he bringeth up." Thus she gave her testimony, that God maketh alive and raiseth the dead from their graves.—The faith of Job is fully in favour of this truth, when he affirms, "I know that my redeemer liveth, and that he shall "stand at the latter day upon the earth, and tho' after my skin worms destroy this body, yet in my sleth shall I see God,

whom I shall see for myself, and my eyes shall behold and " not another. If a man die he shall live again. " down and rifeth not, until the heavens shall be no more? they a shall not awake, nor be raised out of sleep." firmly believed in the doctrine of a refurrection. tellified the same thing when he said; "Thou wilt not leave my foul in hell, that is in the ftate of the dead, neither " wilt thou fuffer thine holy one to fee corruption." The prophet Isaiah, when speaking of the Messiah, says, "That he "will swallow up death in victory." So speaks Hofeah. "I will ranfom them from the power of the grave." The apostle informs us of the faith of Abraham on this head, when offering his fon Isaac, "He accounted that God was able " to raife him up even from the dead." Our Saviour proves, the doctrine of the refurrection from Moles. " Now that the " dead are raifed, says he, even Moses shewed at the bush, when " he called the Lord, the God of Abraham, the God of Isaac, " and the God of Jacob, for he is not a God of the dead but " of the living." The scribes approved of this argument, and the Sadducces were put to filence; the one replied, " Master " thou hast well said; and the other after that durst not ask " him any question." The prophet Ezekiel beautifully illustrates this truth in his relation of his vision of the valley of dry hones, their reviving, bone uniting itself with its bone, their receiving flesh and breath and life. "The apostles taught the " people and preached thro' Christ the resurrection of the " dead." Paul faid, "I have hope toward God, that there shall " be a refurrection of the dead, both of the just and the unjust. "Why should it be thought a thing incredible with you that God It is often positively affirmed, " should raise the dead." "God quickeneth the dead, God raiseth the dead," &c. the authorities in support of this dostrine are so pointed and numerous, that time would fail in the recitation. It was taught by Moses and the prophets, by Christ and his aposles, to that the whole scriptures are full of proofs for this purpose. But it is more than time to direct your attention to the

Second thing proposed, which was to consider something of the manner in which the dead shall be raised, "Some to everlasting life, and some to shame and everlasting con"tempt."

With respect to the bodies of the saints which shall be raised to everlasting life, the scriptures every where make the most glorious representations of their excellency, of their beauty and their splendor. The great resurrection day will be ushered in with amazing grandeur and magnificence. Christ shall defcend in all the pomp of the celestial world, mighty hosts of angels, of cherubs and feraphs shall attend him, the trump of God shait fill heaven, earth and hell with its found, and they that sleep in the dust shall hear his voice and come forth. The godly shall be raised out of their graves by the spirit of Christ. " He that raised up Christ from the dead shall also " quicken your mortal bodies, by his spirit that dwelleth in "you." The wicked also shall be raised by the omnipotentarm, by the same power which had enclosed their souls in hell, and imprisoned their bodies in the earth; these must come forth all cloathed in deformity and horror to receive their irreversible doom.

In regard to the qualities with which the bodies of the faints shall be raised, the apostles informs us, they shall be incorruptable, glorious, powerful and spiritual. "It is sown in corruption, it is raised in corruption; it is sown in dishonor it is raised in glory; it is sown in weakness, it is raised in power; it is sown a natural body, it is raised a spiritual body."

First the body is sown in corruption but it is raised in incorruption. The saints are buried in the ground a mass of corruption and putresaction like others, but in the splended morning of the resurrection, they will arise incorruptible. They

will then have no more corruptible materials in their nature, no more subject to pain, sickness nor death. They shall-forever flourish in immortal youth, vigour and beauty. They shall then be presented to God without spot, or wrinkle, or any such thing. They will not be raised as they died, some decriped and deformed, some maimed and mutilated, some mortisted and covered with ulcers, some wasted by consumptions and some bloated to an enormous size by hydropical disorders, but they will arise every one in all the perfection of beauty, an exact symmetry of seatures and a just proportion of all their parts. In one word, they will be raised in all imaginable excellency.

Secondly, the body is fown in dishonor, but it is raised in glo.

ry. The body while here is often covered with a loathsome and for sidding desormity, and it is hurried into the grave a heap of stench and rottenness, but in the resurrection it shall appear a glorious body. They shall arise, in majesty, dignity, beauty and splendor. They shall then shine as the stars of heaven and as the sun in the simmament.

Thirdly, it is fown in weakness, but it is raised in power. It crawls thro' this world seeble, weary and saint; it falls into the dust absolute weakness. It cannot defend itself against worms and putresaction. But when it arises, it will be powerful and strong; it will be all life, vigor and activity. There will be no more weakness, weariness or satigue. There will be perfect strength and ability to sustain without the least uneasiness the eternal weight of glory, that shall be placed upon them. They will be then powerful indeed, perfectly able with a happy agility to execute all the purposes and defires of the foul.

Fourthly, it is fown a natural body, but it is raised a spiritual body. It descends to the grave an animal body, which had subsisted by food and drink, by sleep and air; but in the

refurrection it shall appear of a much more refined contexture; it will be endued with such spiritual qualities as to stand in no need of such animal refreshments; there will then be no more need of food or drink or raiment. The body will then subsist after a spiritual manner, for they shall be as the angels. But who can describe the glory, the beauty, power, incorruptibility spirituality and seraphic nature of the raised and glorised bodies? Blessed and happy are they who shall obtain a part in the sirst resurrection.

But the manner in which the bodies of the wicked shall be raised in that day will be perfectly the reverse of all this. They will be destitute of all glory, beauty and comelines. They will ascend from their graves in all the horrors of deformity, with ghastly visages, distorted countenances, writhing members, convulsed breasts, and all their looks terrible. Let us turn from the odious picture, and detestable sight. They come forth the abhorring of all stells, vessels of ugliness and dishonor, to comprehend all in one dreadful phrase, their resurrection will be the resurrection of damnation.

This lecture shall conclude with a few reflections.

First this doctrine should raise the souls of true christians in to raptures of consolation. How transporting the thought tho' you die, yet shall ye live; you shall greatly live in the regions of immortal bliss? How inestably glorious will the meeting of the soul and body be; your victory over sin, over death, over Satan and all your enemies will then be complete. Tho' your bodies here may be decriped, dismembered and deformed, yet hereafter they shall appear in all the persection of beauty. Tho' now wrecked with pain, saint with sickness, covered with loathsome forces, yet then you shall be strong powerful, alert and active. Tho' now despised and held in contempt by the world, yet then you shall be honored, cloather

ed in white robes, treswas of glory on your heads, and suptres of dominion in your hands.—What obligations, O what delightful obligations are believers under to render love, praise and thanksgiving to God and to Jesus Christ? That such life glory and felicity are procured for you, that death is vanquished, sin destroyed, the grave conquered, and all heaven is yours. What, O christians, ought your lives to be in this world? what fiith, what gratitude, zeal and holy living?

Secondly, this foleran doctrine speaks nothing but terror to the workers of iniquity. You will be dragged from your graves with shame and contempt. Your cries will be to the rocks and the mountains to fall on you and hide you from the awful scene. Your faces will gather blackness, and what pencil can paint the reluctant horrors, and the agonising struggles exerted both by soul and body against their reunion? How do they avoid and sty back from each other, yet by almighty force they are compelled into the abhorred conjunction? The soul and body hate to meet, and hatred will reign between them forever. And to close the scene, they pass away into misery which will never intermit or come to an end.

My dear brethren, let us all confider the folemnities of the great day before it comes; let the wicked repent and believe the gospel, and let saints rejoice in the riches of glory set before them.

SERMON XXXVIII.

A general and future Judgment proved.

2 Cor. v. 10. For we must all appear before the judgment
seat of Christ.

PRECIOUS was the experience, peace and comfort, which the apostle and many of the primitive christians enjoyed. They were favored with the sweet assurance of hope; they had heaven in their eye, and all their course tended thither. "We "know if that our earthly house of this tabernacle were dissolv-"ed, we have abuilding of God, an house not made with hands " eternal in the heavens." For this and all other graces he gives glory to God, and ascribes every blessing to his operation. "He who hath wrought us for the felf fame thing is "God, who hath also given unto us the earnest of the spirit." These views, expectations and consolations, had a quickening influence upon them in the exercises, duties, and all the parts of religion. The more christian assurance any person hath, the more he is engaged in the fervice of God, and feeking the happiness of his fellow men. Some are ready to think, if they had affurance of grace, they would trouble themselves no more

about religion. This is a certain evidence that they are both destitute of grace and of a proper understanding of the gospel. For the more godiness any person practises, and the more religion any one hath, the more ardent are his desires after greater acquisitions. Hence says our apostle, "We labour that we may be accepted of the Lord." And the reason why they are so persevering and abundant in their labours is given in our text. "For we must all appear before the judgment seat "of Christ." These words express the certainty and the universality of a suture and general judgment, as well as the designation of the person who shall execute this high office.

Wherefore in attending to this solemn and important subject, we shall endeavor to prove,

First, that there will be a future and general judgment.

Secondly, show the person who will be honored with the exalted character of being Judge—and,

Thirdly, confider the persons, who shall be judged.

First, we are to prove the folemn dostrine that there will be a future and general judgment. This is a truth as certain as that there is a providence, or that God has created and governs the world. Every intelligent creature, who is a subject of moral government, affords an argument in support of this dostrine. For if we were created by God, and he hath given us laws for the regulation of our conduct, is it not reasonable we should be accountable, in respect to our obedience or violation of the same. And is it not proper that God should marsh all our behaviour, and see whether we have obeyed or rebelled against him? This is manifest from the interest the glory of his own attributes has herein, and the promises and threatenings

annexed to his laws. God is omnificient and intimately acquainted with all our actions, there is not a hair of our heads which is not numbered, and it would be inconfiftent with his infinite justice, not to reward obedience and righteousness, and punish sin and iniquity. Therefore there will be a time in which he will display his glory in judging the world, and rewarding every man according to his works. "For God "shall bring every work into judgment."

There are indeed many displays of God's judicial hand in the present dispensations of his providence; hence he is said "To be known by the judgments he executeth." The visible tokens of his distinguishing regard to his faints in this world, as well as the public and dreadful displays of his vengeance towards his enemies, proclaim his glory as judge of all. What. flaughter of men and revolutions of the kingdoms of the earth. does he make by war? He scatters nations and buildeth them How have his judgments buried whole cities in up again. ruins by horrid shocks of the earth? How many nations whose faces have waxed pale with distressing famine? What noxious? and pestilential diseases are often sent abroad for the punish. ment of transgression? But all these dreadful calamities, were they rightly viewed, confidered and improved, might become dispensations of mercy rather than judgment. For they are folemn warnings to us and feafonable admonitions, that weshould prepare for the great and decilive day. much as fin demerits a much greater punishment than any inflicted here, and fince the divine dealings with the children of men in respect to outward and visible things cannot be fatiffactorily accounted for, while we behold the righteous oppreffed: and the wicked enjoying more than heart can with, these things plainly indicate that there is a feafon to come in which all there matters will be perfectly adjusted. Then in the language of the Pfalmist, "A man shall say verily there is a reward for "the righteous, verily he is a God that judgeth in the earth."

This doctrine is not only revealed in scripture, but we find from evidences of its being believed among the heathen na-Where the immortality of the foul is received, which is the case in most of the pagan tribes, there we find also: accountability and a judgment after this life; we find pleafures and happiness for the supposed virtuous and good, and a variety. of miseries and punishments for the supposed wicked. Whether his is a doctrine taught by the feeble light of nature, or whether it is the corrupted remains among them of a divine revelation. handed down from the first ages of the world, is not easy to determine. However this may be, they furely have some dark conceptions of it. Hence we read abundantly in the heathen authors of Eacus, Minon and Radamanthus, who pass judgment on every one after death. What strange punishments do they inform us of the wicked's fuffering in hell : Silvohus is condemned to roll a stone up a steep hill, which constantly returns upon him; Prometheus is bound to a rock. on whose ever-growing liver a vulture continually preys, and the furies are appointed tormentors for all kinds of wickedness. On the other hand, in what lively colours do they paint their Elysian fields, their imaginary heaven, and set forth the peace ful tranquillity, rapturous enjoyments and pleasures of thosewho had received the approbation of their judges for well doing; and a thousand fables of this kind, all which serve to show they had some notion of future retributions or of a judgment in another state of existence.

Moreover this doctrine appears to be impressed upon the consciences of men, and they cannot extinguish their dreadful apprehensions thereof. That sceret remorse which sinners seel in their own breasts, which make them very restless and uneasy, especially, when they conceive themselves drawing near to the confines of another world. The distress and anguish of mind which they exhibit, because they have postponed the concerns of eternity to so late an hour, all which are undeniable arga-

ments of a future judgment. What was it made Felix the heathen governor tremble, when Paul reasoned with him of righteousness, temperance, and a judgment to come. And when the same apostle disputed with the learned Athenians, tho' they mocked and treated what he had to say about the resurrection with ridicule, yet none of them objected to this doctrine, "That God would judge the world in righteousness."

With regard to the time when, and the length of its continuance, or the place where this judgment shall be, infinite wisdom has seen sit to conceal these things from us, and it could not promote your edification to retail the numerous and wild conjectures upon these matters, for it is surely best not to pretend to be wife above what is written. It is enough for us to have full evidence that this is a dostrine clearly revealed in the divine oracles. Of the texts on which it is founded I can now only felect a few. " It is appointed unto all men once to "die, but after this the judgment. God is judge; the judge of "the whole earth. He cometh to judge the earth. He shall " judge the world with righteoufness, and the people with his " truth. He hath appointed a day wherein he will judge the " world in righteousiress. God will bring every work into "judgment with every fecret thing, whether it be good or " whether it be evil. Every idle word that men shall speak, " they shall give account thereof in the day of judgment. I faw "a great white throne and him that fat on it, from whose face " the earth and the heaven fled away, and there was found no " place for them. And I saw the dead small and great stand " before God, and the books were opened; and another book ee was opened which is the book of life; and the dead were " judged out of those things which were written in the books " according to their works." But there would be no end in producing the authorities for the establishment of this truth that there will furely be a future and a general judgment. What claims our attention in the

Second place is to show, who the person is that will be he nored with the exalted character of being judge. matter of pure revelation. Reason and the light of nature. discover something concerning a judgment, but it is the holy scriptures alone which show us the person who is dignified with the high office of being judge. It is often declared that God shall judge the world. There are three persons in the godhead, and each has his respective part assigned him in the eco. nomy of man's salvation. And as the second person of the Trinity fultains among other important offices that of a king, and as a branch hereof it is devolved upon him to judge the universe, or to be president in that great day of general judgment. Therefore the person appointed in the eternal connsels to this great office is none other than the Lord Jesus Christ. "Father judgeth no man, but hath committed all judgment to "the Son. And it is also subjoined, that he hath given him " authority to execute judgment because he is the son of man." It is part of the work incumbent on him, in accomplishing the redemption of men, which will not be brought to persection till the day of judgment closes. Thus when he speaks concerning his coming in a cloud with power and glory, and bids his people to lift up their heads for their redemption draweth nigh, it evidently appears that he is to draw up the grand decision against which no bill of exceptions can be taken. It is reasonable his cause should have a second and public hearing before men, angels and devils; before his friends and enemies, to the comfort of the former, and the eternal confusion of the latter. They before whole bar he once stood and received scoffs, infults and contempt, thall now in their turn stand before his fair and impartial tribunal, where the process shall be reduced to specialty, and no false witnesses be suborned; but their own conscience thall approve of the testimony, be struck dumb, and not a word of apology or excuse be offered against the charge. His coming with clouds in the view of the universe, will cause them who pierced him, and all the kindreds of the

earth, who let themselves against him, to wail and lament because of him. It is proper, fit, reasonable and equitable, that he should judge the world for the open vindication of his people that had been unjully condemned and perfecuted by it. that they should be defended and openly acquitted in the most perfect and glorious manner. That the man Christ Jesus, who had been rejected and despised of men, who was worthy of the highest esteem and most universal love, who had been excluded heaven and earth, as if room for him in neither, should be restored to his place, again raised to the throne of his dignity. is infinitely fit and proper. This is the expression of wisdom itself; this God man will descend, and return to earth again infinitely different from his former appearance; he will appear robed in glory and majefty, attended with an innumerable train of angelic hofts, with the found of the heavenly trumpet and all nations shall stand before him and shake with horror, or be filled with joy, at his deciding fentence. This grand fentence concludes the scene of the most wonderful works of God, to wit, the pre-eminers work of redemption. Christ Iefus is the glorious personage, who will in persect rightousness fix the eternal destiny of men and angels. Hence we read. "The Lord Jesus Christ, shall judge the quick and the dead " at his appearing." St. Paul afferts once and again, "We " must all appear before the judgment seat of Christ." But that he will be judge in this great affizes, none deny who profels to believe the scriptures-Therefore I pass on to the

Third Iread of this discourse, which was to consider the objects of this mighty judgment, or the persons who shall be judged. Whether the holy angels, which sell not, are included in these objects, is matter of tedious and curious dispute. Somehave contended this will be the case, as they are rational creatures, subjects of moral government, therefore they must be accountable for their behaviour. They are abundantly employed by God in almost every business of providence and

grace, they are especially sent forth as ministering spirits, to minister to those who shall be heirs of salvation; hence it is deemed reasonable that they should appear in judgment at the last day, that their faithfulness in the discharge of their duty may be conspicuous in the presence of the universe, receive the open approbation of their fervices, and be with propriety introduced to those higher degrees of glory and happiness, which shall be awarded unto them. Bue others again suppose them not included among the objects of this judgment; because they are represented as the attendants of Christ's court in this wonderful scene, as persons never standing before his tribunal in order to be tried, and as long before this confirmed in felicity, beholding the face of God continually in heaven, and confequently not to be dealt with as those who are to undergo a scrutiny or trial in order to have a judicial sentence pasted upon them of approbation or reprobation. But as this is wholly a matter of curious speculation only, we pass on to the fallen angels, those rebellious spirits, who shall be brought as criminals before the bar of Christ, where their primary infurrection and apollacy, with all the guilt they have contracted fince they were ejected heaven, will be laid to their charge and supported against them; all that they have done against God and man fince the feduction of our first parents, with all these methods of revenge and subtitty, whereby they have opposed the kingdom of Christ, and have virulently attempted the ruin of his people, shall be tabled against them, as also the bold outrage committed on his own person, in during to defire him to fall down and worship them, and in bearing a high hand in his crucifixton. Thus the devils who were cast down to hell, and are now referved in chains of darkness unto the judgment, fear and tremble at the forethoughts of that tremendous day, when their anguith will become more intenfe, and their punishment wrought up to the highest degree of torment. Therefore it is faid with a peculiar emphasis, "That the devil shall be cast into the lake of fire and brimstone " and be tormented day and night, forever and ever."

that which is especially insisted upon in the scriptures, and wherein we are more intimately concerned, is what relates to men, who shall all be summoned before the judgment seat of Christ, all ranks, orders and conditions, small and great, rich and poor, quick and dead, that is, those who shall be found alive at the advent of Christ, and all the dead from the beginning of time. The affertion is in the most general terms, hence no flesh can escape the cognizance of that awful day. For the graves shall be opened, and the sea will yield up her dead, and death and hell shall deliver up the dead which are in them. Yea, they shall be gathered from the four winds of the earth; those who have lived under the law and under the gotpel, together with those who have had nothing to direct them but the light of nature. All who have ever been or will be, will constitute this assembly; an immense asfembly indeed, when the innumerable generations which have existed, and those which will exist, shall be collected together. The earth will not be fufficient to contain the multitudes. therefore it is probable the judgment will be held in the air or the great expanse. The images by which the proceedings of this grand featon are repretented, are taken from human courts of judicature. Accordingly the day is appointed in which causes are to be tried, the judge appears with his ensigns of authority, the perfors to be judged are brought before him. the law is known and the books are opened, and every charge will be supported by sufficient tellimony, and each person hereupon acquitted or condemned. Thus it is announced, "When of the fon of man facil come in his glory, then facil he fit upon "the throne of his glory, and before him shall be gathered all " nations, and he shall separate them one from another, as a . " the his fleep from the goats;" the righteous shall be divided from the wicked, and the proper witnesses will be produced, both against transgressors, and in favour of those who have wrought righteouspess. The former will be testified against by their fellow men, to whom their conduct was known, both good and bad; by the holy angels who have

been constantly employed in this world; by their own consciences; and the omniscience of God. Thus the witnesses in this court will be more than two or three. And the omniscience of God will be the completion of all testimony. Therefore he declares, "I will come near to you in judgment, I will be a swift witness against the forcerers, and against the adulterers, and against the sadulterers, and against the state oppress the hireling in his wages, the widow and the fatherless, and that turn aside the stranger from his right and fear not me, saith the lord of hosts." Hence the trial will be fair, the witnesses neither ignorant nor partial, and the adjudication perfectly just and good.

Different degrees of happiness and misery will be awarded? to all, exactly as their characters shall be found to be. As tothe godly all will be perfectly happy, yet some will possess more felicity than others according as their virtues and trials and works have been; some shall have ten portions of happiness, and others only five. Capacities will differ in the future state as well as the present. There are different grades of angels, and the greater possess more felicity than the less. So it is probable it will be with the faints in heaven, each one will be completely happy, and this happiness will be in proportion to his capacity. This will likewise be the case with the misérable; all will be tormented and perfectly wretched, yet some will be unspeakably more so than others. There are various grades among the devils, and each one fuffers according to his capacity. Thus it will be more tolerable for some of the wicked in hell than others. Hence we read of the men of Niniveh, the queen of the South, of the inhabitants of Tyre and Sidon, Sodom and Gommorah, as liable to a less degree of punishment than those who have enjayed greater advantages and finned against greater light and knowledge. Therefore it will be more tolerable in the future slate for the heathen than for the christian world, who shall have misimproved their privileges.

A few hints are all that can be given in a contracted difcourse upon so sublime, grand and extensive a subject; but we shall take different views of it in some future lectures, and conclude at present with a very brief improvement.

First, this doctrine of a future judgment admirasters reproof to the profane and unbelieving, who mock and fcoff at the coming of the Lord, who fay, "Where is the promise of his " coming, for fince the fathers fell afleep, all things continue "as they were from the beginning of the creation." Was this doctrine suitably impressed upon the minds of men, that one day or other they must be called to an account for all their conduct in the presence of the assembled universe, would they not be more watchful and circumfpect in their behaviour and conversation? More diligent in enquiring how they should approve themselves to God? How necessary is it that we should repent of all our fins, obtain an interest by faith in the meritorious righteousness of the Saviour, that we should be justified and fanclisied, seeing we must all stand in judgment? It also reproves all those who abuse the divine patience, because his coming is delayed, not confidering that he will, " Come in a "day, when they looked not for him, and shall cut them a-" funder, and appoint them their portion with hypocrites, there " shall be weeping and gnashing of teeth." Should we not often be placing ourseles in the presence of the heart searching, and rein trying God, and reflecting how we shall appear in judgment? This would have a mighty tendency to awaken our minds and command our fouls to make preparation for the great event. For he will come and he will not tarry.

Secondly, seeing Christ Jesus is the glorious personage who shall judge the world, and will appear with innumerable attendants of holy angels, how should this fill us with high and exalted thoughts of him, and low and abasing thoughts of ourselves? Since the angelic tribes account it their happiness and

highest honor to wait upon him as his ministering spirits, how should it awaken in us an holy ambition, that we might approve ourselves to him as his servants in all things, and to reckon it our greatest honour and chief blessing to be employed as such by him. Seeing he, with whom there is no shadow of partiality, shall sustain the office of being judge, this ought effectually to silence all murmuring thoughts against the unequal distributions of providence in this world.

We ought not impatiently to complain of poverty, fickness, bereavements or other calamitous circumstances, since the God of all the earth is doing and will always do that which is perfectly right. Can a child of God desire more than that he should do righteously. All these adverse dispensations will be perfectly adjusted, and when properly improved, they will encrease our felicity throughout eternity. Why should christians be anxiously distressed about friends, children, health, riches, honors and toys, seeing they are not to expect their heaven upon earth?—Let us cultivate the graces of faith, patience, submission and humility, in full assurance that all will be best in the great day of the Lord.

Thirdly, fince the perious who shall be judged are angels and men, since we, my brethren, will form a part of this grand assembly, should not this excite and command us to universal holiness both of heart and life. The sentiment that we shall all shand before the judgment seat of Christ, should cause us to break off our sins by righteousness, and our transgressions by shewing mercy to the poor; should influence us to deny ourselves, take up our cross, and become the faithful followers of Jesus; should engage us to deny all worldly lusts and affections, and become christians in reality. Let us, my dear friends, he christians and all shall be well, for time, for judgment, and eternit

SERMON XXXIX.

The difference of appearance before God here and hereafter.

Matt. 25. 33. And he shall set the sincep on his right hand, but the goats on his lest.

WE are all, my brethren, made for eternity. There are ve-Ty folemn scenes before us. It is hard to bring ourselves suitably to observe these things. How difficult to persuade our souls, that all the invisible realities of a future state, of which we read in the gospel, will be present. But so it must be. O my foul. a little while and thou shalt stand before thy judge, thy case shall be flated by the rules of perfection, and thy doom irreverfibly How deep, how awful is the thought? O what a difference will a few years make in our circumstances. Perhaps a few days or hours will bring it to pass. Instead of appearing before God in his fanduary and in his ordinances, we shall appear before his judgment feat to be tried for our fouls and eternity. How does the reflection affect our spirits! Shall we be brought into judgment to be tried! Our hearts faint within us at the profesch. We cannot fland the inferior trial of our rea H3

fon and conscience. Our hearts condemn us, and God is greater than our hearts. He is perfectly acquainted with all our sollies, infirmities and fins. We are apt to have a light idea of our guilt, a small and uncertain sensibility of our transgressionse we think ourfelves but little finners, because we take in and realife but a small portion of fin at a time. We cannot recollect the whole compass of our iniquities at once. When we are afflicted with the sense of any particular offence, our other crimes are in a back ground, dropped from our view, and loft in a general But what surprise will it awaken to have the whole confution. account collected and laid before us: and that in fo awful a place as at the bar of God: and that upon fo folemn a trial, as for our eternal destiny. It would now be possible to have these matters settled. Now setus Christ is exalted as a prince and a faviour to grant repentance and the remission of sins.

In a little while he will change this friendly and compaffion, ate character, and assume all the grave solemnities of a judge.—
Our appearance before his scat, is a striking consideration, and belongs equally to all men.

How great the diffinction that day will display among us! An infinitely more conspicuous one than the gospel or the church now makes. Some among mankind are begotten by the gospel to a lively hope and to faith unseigned. Their souls are formed to undissembled piety, a proper sense of God and their duty to him; while others remain unsanctified and unholy, without God, without love, without faith or hope. They continue strangers to the christian temper, and all the amiable and precious graces of the spirit. To some the gospel is the power of God to salvation, it proves a savour of life unto life; while others never seel its influence in any saving manner, and therefore to them it is a savour of death unto death. Great is the difference which here takes place among persons in their appear, ance before Christ in his holy ordinances; but much greater will be the difference which will be made between them, when

difference which originates from the difference that takes place in this world. It is now evident to God; but then it will be evident to the universe. Then they shall stand as clearly distinguished one from another as sheep from goats. These animals are of distinct kinds or species; so man will then be perfectly distinguished from man, as sheep are distinguished from goats. This subject is well adapted to awaken the same and encourage the saint. Therefore I shall take occasion from these words to set before you,

First, the difference between your present appearance before Christ; and the future appearance at the judgment.

Secondly, show the great difference this future appearance will make between the believer and the unbeliever.

First, I am to consider the difference between the appearances: which are here made before God and Christ, and that future appearance that we are in a short time to make. I beg leave to apply this branch of the discourse to those who are unconverted and in a state of sin. We have reason to believe there are some such among us. O that God would teach us to say some. thing that may be useful and acceptable. Lord, the residue of the spirit is with thee, let the power of thy word be felt. Let a convincing arrow reach the heart of the finner that he may no longer go on in his trespasses until iniquity shall be his ruin. O let the careless sinner who now stands before God in his sanctuary be advised to consider, he must ere long stand before him. in a very different manner and for very different purposes. Let the formal christian and the lukewarm professor be aroused; let him feriously consider with himself the difference between hispresent and future appearance before Christ, while it shall be represented in the following particulars.

First, sinners appear now before Christ as a tender Saviorand compassionate redeemer, but then they will stand before him as an awful, inexorable and inflexible judge. The present appearance is in a feafon of grace and mercy, but then it will be a time of trial, judgment and condemnation. Now when they come before Christ in the places where he records his name, they hear the sweet and inviting language of grace; and the voice of Jesus calling to them to come and accept of the pardon of their sins and they shall find rest to their souls. How precious, soft and perfualive are the gracious words proceeding out of his lips. "Ho every one that t irsteth come ye to the waters and drink. Come unto me all ve distressed, poor, weary, faint and heavy " ladened fouls and I will give you rest. If any man thirst, les "him come unto me and drink. He that heareth my voice, I "will sup with him and he with me; and whosoever will, how-4 ever great, numerous and aggravated his fins may be, the 64 fountain of grace is opened, let him come, make room for his approach, that he may take of the waters of life, and drink of the wells of falvation freely, without money and without price." You are now, O finners, standing within the pale and under the banners of mercy. But alas, when you will appear before Christ in judgment, there will be no more calls of mercy or overtures of grace. Then you must hear the heart rending sound "Your day of grace is past and the door of mercy is shut " forever." Christ is now by his word and Spirit knocking at the door of your hearts, but hereafter you will knock at his door, crying, "Lord, Lord open unto us." As the former was vain, so also will be the latter. No hing will be heard from within, but "depart from me ye workers of iniquity." Who can paint the anguish and confusion this declaration must throw the delaying, loft, and unhappy finner into? Now he stands before God in the church, and hears all the promifes persuasions and threatenings of the gospel with a perfectly cold indifference; they pass by him as the idle wind; but hereafter his cry will be, "A world for one of those hours." His

Antence will be pronounced, with his name affixed, "thou art the rebellious, thoughtless, disobedient and impenitent finner, and thou must die forever. Thou hast not obeyed the gospel, thou half not accepted the offers of mercy, thou half not believed in Christ, and thou must eternally perith." The sinner now Rand: before Christ in a season of hope, he may now obtain pardon and grace; but then he will stand under the sentence of death, under the dark and dolorous feelings of everlasting defpair. The finner now appears before the bleffed Saviour fitting upon a throne of love, entreating his reconciliation and friend. thip, and pouring forth the melting words of compation, " I " delight not in the death of a finner, turn ye, turn ye, for "why will ye die? I hold forth life and pardon in my hand " for your acceptance; your acceptance would be my highest " pleasure and your own everlasting felicity." Pity is now in his heart, and tears of love in his eyes. O finners, it is now with you a day of falvation. O that you were wife, that you understood this, that you would confider your future appearance before Christ! The time is fast advaucing, and perhaps at the very door with some, that this season of love will be over and gone, and your lamentation hereafter will be, "The " harvest is past, the summer is ended, and we are not faved." You now enjoy all the advantages and bleffings of the gospel. Christ is now weeping over you, and pouring out his compassionate heart in tears, uttering these tender expressions, "How " often would I have gathered you as a hen gathereth her "chickhens under her wings!" O let it not be added, " that "you would not." Let it not be said "That he came unto his " own and his own received him not." But in the future judg. ment, you will behold this lovely and precious Saviour, cloathed in terror, with frowns on his brow and anger in his heart, issuing the irreverfible sentence of your final destiny, "Depart from " me ye curfed into everlasting fire, prepared for the devil and "his angels." All his love will be turned into wrath, and your present case and security into damnation. Every soul in this great day found in his fins, falls under the eternal curfewithout repeal. Who among us can think of enduring theawful scene? Who can bear the fight of an angry judge, who is infinite in power, terrible in majesty, and who hath divested himself of all compassion? Who can think of the Son of God, cloathed with vengeance, putting on sury as a garment, to revenge the contempt of his milder character? The great day of the Lord is coming and who shall be able to stand? Christ hath come, O sinners, to request your hearts, your friendship and your love; but when he shall come again no such requests shall be made. You will never hear another soothing invitation. When he shall turn to the lest hand, nothing but terror, a clouds and darkness, and a horrible tempest, and nothing inhis voice but the dreadful found—" Depart." But,

Secondly, sinners appear now before Christ with cold hearts and careless and irreverent spirits. His tender addresses and movingexpostulations are neither heard with seriousness, nor attended to with folemnity. But at his appearance on the shining judgment feat, his presence will strike awe, and it will be imposfibleto be light, carcless, and inattentive. While they now hear the proposals of the gospel laid before them by his ambassadors, befeeching them in Christ's stead to be reconciled to God, they may perhaps notice how the ambaffador acts his part, whether he is of brilliant elocution, can perform as a grand orator, or in Eastern stile, can play well on an instrument; when they have decided upon this business, they retire with a self-approbation, and an inward felicity. But in their appearance at the last judgment, things will be infinitely different; the consideration of the speaker will be perfectly dropped. When they hear orders issued for the follown apparatus, and behold all matters disposing themselves to give the highest grandeur to the scene to hasten their depending fate, how will their souls be all tremblingly alive to the final fentence? In what a descrip. tive manner does St. John represent this momentous event?

It is as if we saw it with our eyes. "Behold, he cometh with "clouds and every eye shall see him, and they also which "pierced him, and all the kindreds of the earth shall wail be"cause of him." Then the sinner will hear the voice of the Son of God, and every word will pierce him thro' with a thousand terrors, and ten thousand torments will wreck his soul. But on the other hand, every preparation, every display, and every word, will be pleasure, comfort, transport, and extatic joy to the believer. Then will he rejoice with joy unspeakable and full of glory.

I have often shought that this appearance will be peculiarly affecting to the ministers of the gospel, both faithful and unfaithful. Those who have been faithful, and yet have not sueceeded as to a great part of their flock-Lord! how must it affect them to fee many of their dear charge, whom once with yearning bowels they befought to fecure their falvation, whom they. had persuaded with tears by those very terrors which they now behold and feel, but they would not, and they fee them depart. ing in the general outcry of lost and condemned souls. They behold them taking leave of Jesus, of their friends, of their ministers and happiness, and go with devils into everlasting punishment. As to such who must restect upon their unfaith. fulness, as the cause of their own and their heaters eternal destruction, who can tell the torments eternally occasioned hereby! Think of this, O my foul, and take the awful hint, to animate thee in thy work, to cry aloud and spare not, whatever may be the consequence on earth.

But I proceed.

Secondly, to show the great difference this future appearance will make between the believer and unbeliever.

First, the believer will be treated and distinguished with the highest instances of care and attention. Jesus will take a pe-

culiar and tender notice of him in this frightful feafon. When this day shall commence, the unbeliever must endure in himfelf all the terrors of the forming icene and judgment-will feel himself left amidst the crush of nature and the wreck of worlds. What tormenting fear, surprise and anxiety, will the very circomstances of the season occasion? We are told, there will be diffress of nature and perplexity; that the fun and moon will be darkened and all the powers of heaven shaken; the archangel's trumpet shall found to the extremities of the earth; the heavens shall pass away with a great noise; the elements shall melt with fervent heat, the earth also and all its works shall be burnt up. How dreadful will it be for the unbelieving sinner at this time ! How will it shock his inmost soul to descry from afar the awful appearances and figns of the times! To fee the azure veil of heaven rending and rolling aside to make way for the descent of the glorious and lofty judge,-to behold companies of mighty angels pour forth to line and guard the way,-to perceive the firmament of heaven in a general blaze,—the forked lightnings flash and the thunders roar,-and descending flames circulating round the earth and involving all in common and promiseuous ruin .-- To behold the universe thrown into the utmost hurry and confusion; all its connections broken and its motions disconcerted; hear earthquakes, various noise, deep disturbance; and all darkness and desolation. How indescribable must it be to feel the agonies of disloving nature; when all the diforderly elements free from their prefent laws and bearings thall ruth tumultuous into waran i confliid. How will the impenitent and unbelieving fland aghaft! how will his heart fink and die within him! even now perhaps a fudden tempelt of wind, rain and thunder, can throw his foul into confusion, and finite it through with pain and terror. alas, there will then be another fort of scene. The noise and horror of fuch a time is no more to be compared with that of the judgment day, than the shaking of a leaf with the report of the loudest thunder. What diffrefs and conflernathon will rack his foul, when he finds himself deserted in these circumstances and no where to escape; while he sees the true believer, one perhaps he formerly knew and despised as a weak and ignorant hypocrite, kindly attended with a heavenly guard, and safely conducted out of the general uproar. Jesus will send his angels to gather his saints, and to place them as the most glorious assembly ever beheld on his right hand.—Who can develope the comfort of having a kind angel near to support the timirous spirit and strengthen it by his presence, and sustain it by his mighty arm.—But,

Secondly, the believer will receive a fentence of acceptance and approbation, will be crowned with the honours of the gofpel, and all the promifes of grace will be fulfilled to him; while the unbeliever will have the final fentence of condemnation pasfed upon him, and be punished with all the calamities and curfes of a broken law and despised grace and mercy; all the threatnings of the facred volume will be executed upon him. great the difference which will then take place between the believer and the unbeliever. Your eyes, my brethren, shall behold it. You and I will be present at this grand solemnity. And is there not awful danger it may be a time of forrow with I tremble for myself; I fear for you. When this day shall open and come to pass, then we shall all know that this is the truth of God, and that though now you may refuse to hear, and be too callous to feel, then you shall both hear and feel forever; though your hearts will not foften and relent yet then you shall be broken upon a thousand wheels. What a different fensibility will then be awakened in every foul, when the last fentence shall be pronounced? How infinitely varient will your future from your prefent feelings be? How will the finner, who can now trifle with God, his foul, and all the foleninities of eternity, then ardently wish for one of those opportupities of mercy and feafons of grace, which he now enjoys and flights? Hear him pouring forth the lamentable and despairing

moan, "O that I had one Lord's day more in the divine fervice, one of those asternoons when I heard as tho' I heard not, behaved as tho' God saw me not, and the matter was no concern of my soul. How would I now improve the hour, how carefully would I hear, how servently would I pray, and implore the pardon of heaven and seek divine mercy and grace. But, alas, it is now too late; once I had good things, but now I must suffer evil things forever. I remember I was often admonished and told, this would be the case, but then I was careless, stupid and secure; but now I care, I seel, and am tormented. O that all my senses were locked up in everlasting insensibility; O that my being might be taken away; O that I was at once tormented out of existence, overborne and destroyed by a sudden crush of God's almighty arm."

But allow me to comfort the poor, feeble and affrighted believer. Be not alarmed and distressed, O christian, this shall never be your case. The Saviour is your judge, and God is your friend. You now go mourning, jealous of the divine favour, and often filled with misgivings of heart lest your fins are not pardoned. You weep, and floods of tears flow from your eyes in secret places, on this account. But let saints lift up their heads and look forward to the all important day, when every thing shall terminate in their favour, and they shall have all their desires, and be ever with the Lord. Your forrows will then cease, your sears will vanish away, your distress pass off like an afflicting dream of the night, your tears will be died up, and you shall find yourselves in the perfection of hap, pincis.

A word of exhortation will finish the present discourse:

Let finners tremble, and faints rejoice at the approaching prospect. To the former it will be the completion of your missery, and to the latter the consummation of your bliss. The difference between saints and sinners in this world is apparently

very inconfiderable, but in the great day it will be as manifeleas between heaven and hell. Let not the terrors of the awful fealon affright the fincere penitent and the true christian. not afraid with any aftonishment, only let it be recommended to you to watch and be fober. Continually be putting on the Lord Jesus Christ and make no provision for the flesh, to fulfil. the lusts thereof. " Seeing then that all these things shall be " dissolved, what manner of persons ought ye to be in all holy " conversation and godliness; looking for and hastening to the " coming of the day of God, when the heavens being on fire-" shall be dissolved, and the elements shall melt with perfect heat. "Little children, abide in Christ, that when he shall appear, ye " may have confidence, and not be ashamed at his coming.-66 Herein is our love made perfect, that we may have boldness. " in the day of judgment. Fear God and give glory to him, " for the hour of his judgment is come, and worship him that " made heaven and earth and the fountains of waters." But what shall I say unto you, O sinners. "Behold the day of the "Lord that shall burn as an oven, and all the proud, yea, and " all that do wickedly shall be stubble, and the day that com-"eth shall burn them up sa th the Lord of hosts. Who may " abide the dayof his coming, and who shall stand when he ap-" peareth, for he is like a refiner's fire and fuller's foap." Let us all, my hearers, prepare for the folemn day. Let the awful scene recommend to us a speedy retreat from the storms of divine vengeance under Immanuel's wings. Let us ever be influenced by this sentiment, "that we must all appear before " the judgment feat of Christ."

SERMON XL.

Every one in the general Judgment rewarded according to his works.

Rev. 20. xii. And the dead shall be judged out of those things which were written in the books, according to their works.

A FUTURE and general judgment after the refurrection has already been proved, as also the exceeding great difference in the views and feelings of mankind now and hereafter, and the wonderful distinction which will at that time appear between saints and sinners. We shall now attend to the subject in a different way, or rather consider another branch of it. The apostle John, after he had been led by the spirit of God to give a prophetic history of all the important affairs, which relate to the church militant, the destruction of the antichristian powers, the binding Satan a thousand years, the latter day glory, his being loosed again, his deceiving the autions and the great wickedness and perfecution which shall again prevail on the earth, by Gog and Magog, and then when there will be no religion, and scarcely faith to be found on the earth, opens

the general judgment fieldenly and unexpectedly. He informs us, that he law in his vition of futurity, a great white throne even the magnificent throne of judgment, the whiteness of which holds forth its spotless purity, and the perfectly righter ous and impartial judge who the thereon, even the Lord Jefus Christ, before whose resulgent glory, the earth and the heavens fled away, the elements diffolved and melted at his appearance, and the present stame of things so entirely vanished, that there was found no place for them. And then he beheld the affembled universe of angels and men, and the solemn process of the final judgment was inflituted. Hence he fays, "I faw the " dead small and great stand before God, and the books were " opened, and another book was opened, which is the book of Here he beheld all, both righteous and wicked, both high and low, young and old, all who have existed from the beginning to the end of time, collected in one immense assembly, which no man can number. And the books likewife were opened. By books is undoubtedly intended, the record of all the conduct of intelligent creatures, and the rules by which they are to be tried and judged. These two things are abso-Intely necessary to be produced in judgment, the facts, and the rule according to which these facts are to be tried.

The books are here mentioned in the plural number, which evidently teaches us that there will be more than one. There will be the book of divine omnifcience—the book of conscience,—and the book containing the rules of judgment.

The book of divine amnificience containing a perfect record of all the thoughts, words and actions of every intelligent creature that ever has existed. The book of conscience, which i, in the breast of every one, will perfectly answer to the entry. It will bear irressible testimony, that all the things recorded therein are accurate, just and true. Men in this life forget the greatest portion of their condust, yet in that grand day

when all things shall be brought into review before them, them their memories will be awfully refreshed, their recollection will be rendered dreadfully perfect, and their confciences will testify that the whole record is right, that there is not an iota added to or diminished from their thoughts, words or actions .-Then the next book will be opened, which contains the rules of judgment. All means, opportunities and advantages from the works of creation, the light of nature displayed therefrom, the revelation from heaven both verbal and written, whereby they might have known and ferved God, will be the laws by which they shall be judged. The works and light of nature are a standing rule to all, and in addition hereto, there has been an abundance of oral and written revelation given to the Those who lived from Adam to the flood, will be judged by the works of nature and the oral revelation which was granted to mankind during this period. And you will please to observe, their revelation was very sufficient for all the purposes of religion required. From the death of Adam, to whom the fum of all revelation was given, the promise of a Saviour, and no doubt was propagated through his posterity, to the birth of Nouh, the father of the new world after the flood, was little more than one hundred years. portion of the world was furnished with a full revelation, which will be the rule of judgment in their case. Those who lived from the flood to Moses, had not only the antideluvian revelation, but all that which was given to Noah, therefore this division of the world will be judged by the light afforded From Moses to Christ there was not only the former light in the world, but there was all the additional revelation given to mankind by Mofes and the prophets, and this reduced to writing, fo not liable to be corrupted like oral tradition or verbal revelation. This will be the rule of judgment for this great period of the world. From Christ to the end of time, the light of the gospel will be added as the rule of trial of all those who have enjoyed the same. And all who may be stiled heathens

or pagans, and never have been favoured with any kind of revelation, they shall be judged by the law of nature. To this St. Paul has an evident reference when he says, "As ma-" ny as have sinned without law, shall perish without law, and "as many as have sinned in the law, shall be judged by the "law:" Thus, these will be the rules by which all will be tried. Besides these, we are told there will be another book produced which is the book of life; in this all the names of the redeemed are enrolled. Then we are informed the books being thus opened, "That the dead were judged out of those things "which were written in the books, according to their works." We are not to understand what we literally mean by books, but only that all things shall be as plain and evident, as tho' they were recorded in solios and ledgers.

And when the whole process shall have been passed through, whether it will last a thousand years or one day, both of which are alike to God, and equally unknown to us, the judge will pronounce the final fentence of acquital and condemnation seconding as every one's works shall appear. Thus says Christ "Behold, I come quickly, and my reward is with me, to give " every man according as his works shall be." How often is this idea repeated in the accounts of the last judgment, that every man shall be rewarded according to his works. In this manner speaks the apostle Paul, "God will render to every " man according to his works; to them who by patient conti-" nuance in well doing, feek for glory and honor and immor-" tality, eternal life; but unto them that are contentious, and " do not obey the truth, but obey unrighteoufness, indignation " and "rath." It is abundantly taught throughout the facred oracles, that all who will be finally fayed, their falvation will be owing to pure, free and unmeritted grace, through the righteousness and atonement of Jesus Christ the Redeemer; and that the wicked shall be condemned for their works of iniquity. Yet it is univerfally afferted that in the last judgment

the jultified shall be tried and rewarded according to their deeds as well as the condemned. Here it is assirted in our text, that the good as well is bad shall be judged ecording to their works. Since this is the case, that mankind shall sinally be tried by their works, and those who are faved will be saved by absolute grace, it is of some importance that we should attend to and understand this matter.

The observation is evidently this; that in the final judgment, mankind will be exactly tried according to the evidence of their works, whether good or bad, and they will receive suture rewards precisely according to the nature and proportion of these works.

Perhaps the tender hearted thriftian may be here ready to fay, "If this be the case, I am undone, for of my best works I shall be ashamed in the presence of the universe, and all my hope and dependence for heaven has been upon sovereign grace and free mercy as revealed in the gospel. Farewel eternal life." But, O christian, allow me to be peak calmness and patience for a moment, until you shall hear the scriptural account of this matter.

But on the other hand, the felf confid not and prefumptuous finner, it may be is faying, "This definine perfectly pleafes my heart, for though I have been wicked. I have done many good things, which I know mult out talance my evil condust when weighed in equal feales, and I always was of the opinion that I should be judged and rewarded according to the nature and proportion of my works, therefore I am fully affired all will be; well with me at last." But let me also entreat you, not to draw the mistaken conclusions of comfert too hashily, till the matter is weighed in the balances of the fanduary, and the cause he decided by divine truth.

The doctrine of the text, however it may be wrongly im. proved or misapplied by saints or sinners, as is often the case; yet there is scarcely a truth more frequently repeated or more strongly inculcated than this. "Far be it from God, saith " Job, that he should do wickedness, for the work of a man " he will render unto him, and cause every man to find accord. "to his work." Thus speaks the Psalmist, "The Lord render-" eth to every man according to his work." Isaiah declares. "Say we to the righteous it shall be well with them, for they " shall eat the fruit of their doings; and we unto the wicked " it shall be ill with him, for the reward of his hands shall be " given him." Jeremiah records this truth, " I the Lords fearch the heart and try the reins, to give every man accord-"ing to his ways, and according to the fruit of his doings." St. Paul affirms, "God will render to every man according 44 to his works, and whatfoever good things any man doth, the " same shall be receive of the Lord." St. Peter gives his testimony, "That God without respect of persons judgeth ac-" cording to every man's work." Christ himself, who is the chief of witnesses, testifies the same thing, "The Son of Man " shall come in the glory of his Father, with his angels, and "then he shall reward every man according to his works." Here is a cloud of the inspired writers all uniting in the come affertion.

Here two important quellions arise.

First, what is the design and use of a general judgment?—And,

Secondly, What is the benefit and advantage of works in this final and folemn day?—In answer to the

First, let it be observed, that this great trial or general judgment is not for God's information, that he might hereby K3 come to the knowledge of men's characters. Human courts or trials are to investigate what men have been guilty of, what their conduct and characters are, that they may be acquitted and rewarded, or condemned and punished according to law and evidence. God knows every man's character and conduct as well before this general judgment as afterwards, therefore it is not that he should receive any information concerning them either good or bad. Neither is it the intention of this public judgment, to change the sentence which was passed on every one at his death. For every soul which departs from this world is in a private manner judged, and immediately sent to one or the other great receivers of departed spirits, agreeable to their characters as righteous or wicked, to wit, heaven or hell. And this public judgment will not alter the sentence which was then pronounced upon them.

But the delign of this great and general judgment is to dif. play and illustrate to the universe, the perfect righteousness and justice of God; and the fair and equal judgment, which has been passed upon every individual. Every wicked being in earth and hell thinks God to blame; they imagine that he does wrong, in some way or other, either in permitting fin to enter into the world, fuffering it to continue in it, or he acts wrong in shewing mercy to some and not to others, in grant. ing gospel light and privileges to some, while others are overwhelmed in the thick glooms of pagan darkness. For these and a thousand other reasons, they dislike God and his government and feel him to blame. But in the general judgment it will conspicuously appear to angels and devils, saints and sunners, that he is righteous in all his ways and perfectly just and holy in his being, perfections and government, and in all the administrations of his providence and in all his works. In that day the divine character will be cleared of all the false aspersions cast upon it, and the whole universe of beings will acknowledge that each one was dealt with and treated in the most fair. equal, canded and righteous manner. Therefore this judgment is stiled, "The day of the revelation of the righteous judg" ment of God." Every one will-have an open and public trial, before all his conduct and works will be laid to the rule, and the final adjudication will be accordingly. To him that hath done well, his fentence will be eternal life; but to him that hath obeyed unrighteousness, his sentence shall be indignation and wrath. The fairness and justice of the judicial proceedings will be unexceptionably evident to every one's confeience and judgment. So that the mouths of the wicked shall pronounce themselves guilty; and the righteous shall cry, "Holy and true, O Lord, art thou when thou judgest."

Also the final decision will be perfectly manifest to each individual. Though God needs no information respecting any one's real character, yet there must be evidence given to a perfons self, and to all others, in order to prove in an explicit manner, his character to be such as it really is. Wherefore works in this public judgment will be produced as the grand proof of any one's character, whether it be good or bad. And this leads to the

Second question arising upon this subject, to wit: What is the benefit and advantage of works in this final and solemn indgment? I must take it for granted, that we all understand what is meant by the term works. They are the productions, fruits and manifestations of the heart. They are every thing by which the heart is made known. God sees the heart intuitively without works, but this is not the case with either angels, devils or men. None can immediately behold the heart of another. Man cannot discern the heart of man, nor angel, of angel. This intuition is the prerogative of God, and is perhaps one of his incommunicable attributes. Wherefore to know the heart, the real character must be known, and this is

only discoverable by works. Man will be distinguished from man, and angel from angel, only by these means.

First, the real state of men will be tried by their works, whether it be a state of sin or holiness.—Then,

Secondly, their works will be proper manifestations of the progress they have made in their states.

First, works in the final judgment will be exhibited as the fole evidence to prove what flate a person is in, whether it be that of the righteous or the wicked. As the righteons will be judged first, so their good works will be produced in testimony of the fincerity of their love, faith, repentance, firiving against fin, holiness and godly living. Then will the sentence of the judge be, "Come ye bleffed of my Father, inherit the king-"dom prepared for you from the foundation of the world; for 1 was an hungered, and ye gave me meat. I was thirtly " and ye gave me drink, I was a thranger and ye took me in-" naked and ye cloathed me, I was fick and ye vifited me, I " was in prison and ye came unto me." On the other hand the evil works of the wicked will be exhibited as the undeniable proof of the badness of their hearts and state prove them workers of iniquity, impenitent, unbelieving, difobedient to the gospel, and transgressors against the light of na-And their sentence will be, " Depart from me, ve cur-" fed into everlasting fire, prepared for the devil and his angels; for I was an hungered and ye gave me no meat, I was thirsty " and ye gave me no drink, I was a stranger and ye took me 44 not in, naked and ye cloathed me not, fick and in prison and " ye visited me not." Thus all will be judged according to their works, and the characters of all whether good or bad will be manifested.

Secondly, another use and design of works in the last judg-

ment is, they will ferve to prove the advancements which perfons have made in their general states. As some are vastle more wicked than others, so some are more righteous and ho ly than others. Some have had great and diftinguished ral. ents, enjoyed higher degrees of light and knowledge, and more eminent advantages, and by their waste and misimprovement and abuse hereof, have exceedingly aggravated their sins, and therefore will be adjudged to a greater degree of suffering. Hence this public judgment will be more tolerable to fome than others. "The fervant who knew his mafter's will and " did it not shall be beaten with many stripes." So likewise it will be with the righteous; some have pre-eminently suffered for religion, and made abundantly greater advances in virtue piety and holiness than others, these will be promoted to superior degrees of happiness in glory. Therefore we read, that in the heavenly kingdom are many manfions, that the twelve apostles shall sit on twelve thrones, and to be exalted on Christ's right hand and on his left shall be given unto them for whom it is prepared of the Father. Now all these things will be determined in the exact proportion of men's works. Thus we fee the grand defign of the general judgment, the purpose and use of works in that day, and all these things illustrate the doctrine in our text, that every one will be judged according to his works.

This fubject shall be closed with a few reflections.

First, we are here taught the great importance and absolute necessity of good works. This is an effential article of the gospel, and must be preached by all the ministers of truth. Our Lord says, "Let your light so shine before men, that others beholding your good works, may glorify your Father which is in heaven." And St. Paul enjoins, "Walk wor- thy of the Lord, being fruitful in every good work." This be gives in charge to Titus, "That they who have believed in

et God, might be careful to maintain good works, for these things are good and profitable unto men. Every good tree will bring forth good fruits." And where there are not good fruits, or good works, it is an infallible evidence that the tree is not good. And thus it will appear in the future judgment when every one will be tried, acquitted or condemned, according to his works.

Secondly, we learn there will be different degrees of puniffment in hell. And no doubt, of all the miferable there, gospeldespising sinners will receive the fullest measure of torment. Christ declares, it will be more tolerable for Tyre
and Sidon than for Chorazin and Besaida, and that it will bemore tolerable for the land of Sodom than for the city of
Capernaum. Wherefore let sinners under the light of the gospel particularly consider, that above all others while you continue impenitent, you are treasuring up for yourselves wrath
against the day of wrath, and the revelation of the righteous
judgment of God. O that you would speedily awake from
your satal security and attend to the things of your peace.
"Awake, O sleeper, arise, call upon thy God, if so be he may
have mercy upon you, that you perish not."

Thirdly, we are here taught that there will be different degrees or measures of happiness among the blessed. "They "that are wise thall shine as the brightness of the sirmament," and they that turn many to righteousness as the stars forever and ever. As there is one glory of the sun, another glory of the moon, another glory of the stars, so also is the resurrection of the dead." Numerous passages of scripture teach us that there will be different degrees of glory among the happy according to their various capacities. As one star differs from another star in glory, so also will it be with the blessed.

Lastly, let this doctrine be improved by all who are christia

ans; to move them with an holy ambition to aspire after the highest degrees of this glory; and the way to obtain this honor is to be rich in good works, and to be exercising the highest degrees of love, faith, humility, and every grace.

Let us all be exhorted to bear upon our minds continually, that there is a judgment to come. Let us remember that the judge is at the door, that the Lord Jesus will come quickly, and that he will render to every one as his works shall be. Let us not be found in the state, ways, or practises, of which we shall then be assumed.

SERMON XLI.

The eternal torments of the damned proved.

Mat. 25, 21vi. And these shall go away into everlashing punishment.

THE eternity of the torments of hell, however plainly taught in the oracles of God, is, notwithstanding, denied by some and doubted of by many. There appears to be a growing difbelief of this article of our faith in these days of licentious principles and degenerate manners. It is a doctrine of great utility and high importance, and therefore to be contended for with earnestness, and not to be yielded to the enemies of truth as a matter of indifference or a thing of no moment. "Contend " earnestly for the faith once delivered to the faints," is an apostolic injunction. That this is an article to be held with firmness and stedfastness appears from its being so frequently inculcated in the word of God, from the use which is there made of it, to alarm finners to attend to the concerns of their fouls, and from its being the strongest natural motive to engage men to feek their falvation and to restrain them from open courses of vice. The doctrine of everlasting punishment

carries the business of natural motives to the highest possible degree of force.

It is true the effect produced by it upon mankind is far, very far from being answerable to the high nature of the argument. But, if this be the case under this mighty argument. what would be the consequence, if it were weaker? If the strongest possible motive that can be produced to excite men to feek their falvation proves ineffectual, furely were the motive weaker, the effect would be less in proportion. If a motive inconceivably strong and powerful in its own nature, which is now the case, has so little influence, it is plain an inferior motive, which would be the state of matters if the punishment of the wicked were only for a limited time, would have a very inconfiderable effect, if any at all. Were the sentiment to become common, it would remove in a great part the restraint npon men's consciences, and they would be more abandoned to the world and their lusts than they now are. Were this opinion given up, which never can be relinquished by the plain believers of the bible, the strongest considerations whereby the fouls of men can be touched, must be surrendeted also. peal to fact; only look into the places and focieties, which hold the univerfal principle, is there not, I do not say of religion, but a manifest failure of common virtue and common morals? The censure I grant is heavy, but it rests with them to exhibit the contrary.

All know and feel that fear is a powerful principle in the human conflictation, and those who renounce the eternity of hell's torments, reject the highest motive by which that principle can be moved or operated upon. These are some of the reasons which show the generally received doctrine to be important, and that it is necessary at proper times to advance the evidences whereon it depends. We shall endeavour to lay before you a

few of the arguments from reason and revelation whereby, it is supported.

As this discourse is intended to be of a practical nature, and aims at interesting the heart of every hearer, as well as administering light to the understanding and conviction to the judgment, I shall not go into the obstruse and more strict method of reasoning, which might be expedient upon a proper occasion, but contine myself to such easy and obvious observations as may render the docrine plain to the unprejudiced and seeblest understanding. I know it is a fruitless attempt to combat a weak mind under strong prepossessions.

First, that the punishment of souls in hell will be everlasting or eternal is evident from this, that from the nature of fin and their own nature, they deferve everlasting punishment. If they metit such a punishment, justice requires it should be inslicted. If finners ought to be punished according to their defert, the rules of law and justice oblige it to be done. We are assured from the word of God, that he will do in all cales that which is just and perfectly right, therefore if finally impenitent finners descrive eternal punishment, it will be inflicted upon them. All that remains to render this argument unanswer ble is to show that finners do justly deserve an eternal punishment. This appears from the nature of his continuing to be unrepented of that it is an exceedingly ill deferving thing. Every fin deferves the wrath and curse of God, or else it deserves no punishment at all, and it would be wrong to inflict any punishment upon a timer either in this world or in the next. To suppose or fuzged that fin deferves no punithment at all, is to furmife that fin is no fault, nor blame worthy. But this would be an express contradiction, and faying, that fin is not fin. the very notion and nature of fin is, that it is an evil, faulty thing, and worthy of blame. To fay it is blame worthy is the same as to says it is worthy of punishment. If it deserves no punishment, it is not an evil. The very nature of a morally

.svil action is that it merits punishment. If it be allowed there is any punishment inflicted on men either here or hereafter, it is either just or unjust; the latter would be to impute unright scousness to God, therefore the former is established.

The reason why fin deserves any punishment is because of its evil or faultiness, hence it deserves punishment in that degree in which it is evil or faulty. To fay, that the reason of its defert of punishment is the evil and faultiness of it, and vet to deny it deserves it in that degree in which it is evil or faulty, would be a palpable contradiction. As the faultiness of fin is the reason of its desert of punishment, hence it must merit it exactly according to the degree of its faultiness. Therefore an act which has one degree of blameableness in it, must have one degree of punishment; that which has two degrees. must for the same reason merit two degrees of punishment, and thus it will proceed to infinity, and if there be any evil which contains an infinite degree of faultiness, then such evil deserves a proportionable punishment or none at all. if a crime of a high degree of faultiness do not deserve a high degree of punishment, then furely a crime with only one or a fmall degree of faultiness can deserve no punishment at all, or next to none. Which amounts to the same as to say it is no crime, or the faultiness of an action is not the reason of its defert of punishment. The consequence of this is, there would be no fuch thing as fin, law, justice, or evil in the universe. And thus we are got to the end of all government and religion, virtue. and vice, right and wrong at once...

Moreover the degree of the evil of an action will always be in proportion to the worthiness and excellency of the object against which it is committed; but as God is an object of infinite excellency and worthiness, hence every sin as committed against him is an exceeding great evil, therefore in strict justice deserves the highest possible punishment. Sin considered exclusions

rely as committed against mankind, or a mere transgressors of the laws of human society, is always finite in its nature, and can never arise higher however hentous the ethne may be, and therefore it never does, nor can receive more than a sinite punishment. The punishment of man for offences committed against man are always of this nature. But as it is against God and the degree of its faultiness is according to the infinite dignity of the divine nature, hence the punishment must be the greatest possible, it must be in the highest degree and of the most unlimited duration.

The fin or faultiness of an action ales from and contiffs in the violation of some obligation the person is under. If a person be under no obligation he can commit no fault: for where there is no law there is no transgression. Now if sin confifts in and arises from the violation of an obligation, and if the obligation violated be infinite, then the act itself contains in its very nature an inconceivable degree of evil or faultiness : but God is a being to whom all rational creatures are under the highest possible obligation, therefore every sin against him is an evil beyond created conception, and hence it much receive the greatest measure of punishment, and the justice of God requires that the same should be inflicted. Therefore the torments of hell will furely be eternal. For God will deal with every one firifly according to his works; and finite creatures can in no other way be the subjects of the greatest possible punishment, or a punishment adequate to their demerit, but by suffering to the utmost extent of their capacities throughout the whole of their interminable existence.

Secondly, it is evident the future sufferings of the wicked will be everlasting or eternal from the nature of that state into which they pass at death. It is a state of the most perfect misery. It is designed of God for this very purpose, therefore all who were sentenced to that place must necessarily be miserable. Many have gone from our world to these

to year. And they are as full of milery as their fouls can hold, and as long as they continue in that flate they must be miserable from the very nature of it. If there be no other state to which they can pass, if this be the sinal and last condition of the wicked and there remains no further change or removal during their existence, and they must spend their existence here, and their existence will be eternal, then it is plain their punishment or missing must be eternal also.

It is evident from the scriptures that there are but two apartments in the eternal world, which are the receptacles of souls that go from this, to wit, heaven and hell. The latter is represented as the sinal state of those who die impenitent, unpardoned and in their sins. There is not the least hint of any other state, nor any reason or necessity to suppose another, these two answering to the two characters among mankind, the righteous and the wicked, therefore a third state would be whosly superfluous. And however this is believed in popish countries, it is altogether unsounded both in reason and revelation. Now as this is the case, that the state into which the wicked pass at death is their final condition, and there is no future change to take place, therefore their misery will be eternal.

Thirdly, it is certain that the torments of the wicked will be everlasting from their temper and character. Their tempers and dispositions are such that they can never be brought into a reconciliation to God, but by almighty power and divine grace creating in them a new heart. And it is absolutely certain God will never exert his gracious power to any such purpose; there is not the least intimation of any such thing in his word, but there are abundant declarations of a contrary nature. He has utterly abandoned them to their enmity, malice, and all the corruptions of their hearts. Their enmity and wickedness is the reason of their condemnation at first, and as long as the same temper and disposition continues, so long it is

perfectly proper they should be held under punishment. Fee the reason that makes any conduct on the part of God, or any fufferings on the part of finners just and righteous at any times will render them to at all times while the reason continues on which they are grounded. If therefore the dampation of the wicked was right, when they were first turned inauchell, it must remain equally so to all eternity; because the reason and ground of it will always be the fame, even perfect, increasing? and invincible enmity to God and all goodness. Natural evil will never cure moral evil; nothing can effect this but the gracious operations of the Spirit of God. Hence if it was right to condemn them to hell, it will be equally right they should be kept there forever. The damned who have been there from the beginning, have not grown better, but worle; therefore there can be no possible motive for their release. They continually employ themselves in new acts, exertions, and exercises of batred, malice and enmity to all that is good, hereby their guilt will be continually encreasing, and their desert of punishment in quality and weight as their moments do in number-Thus, according to all rules of justice and propriety, the terments of hell instead of abating, must increase, and never come to an end.

Fourthly, the sufferings of the damned can by no means-make any atonement for sin. Two things are essentially necessary in making an atonement; that all the sufferings be borne which the penalty of the law threatens and requires; and that they be borne from principles of perfect obedience to the law, and from love and duty to the lawgiver. If either of these conditions be wanting, the sufferings can contain nothing of the nature of atonement. He may suffer myriads of ages, and these myriads multiplied into themselves myriads of times, the case will still be the same, there will not be the least atoning essicacy in his sufferings. The certainty of these requisites in the atonement for sin, is capable of the strictest demonstration. To

Laffer the penalty which the law requires in order to thisfy ite demands is felf-evident, and the necessity of these sufferings being performed from love and obedience, feems equally clear and striking. An atonement must imply fomething in it acceptable to the lawgiver, and all acceptableness to God arises from obedience, and none will pretend there is either love or obedieace in the sufferings of hell; therefore their panishment, however long endured, can make no atonement for fin. sufferings in that world are from invincible constraint and necessity. They are bound down under them by the almighty power of God against their wills. They would break out of hell, destroy God, usurp his throne, and murder all his faithful subjects were it in their power. But all the devils and damned in the infernal regions, in the most violent exertions of their rage and malice, are as nothing in the hands of the Most High; they have fuch an awful fense and assurance hereof as fills them with distraction and despair. All these things serve to demonstrate there can be no period to their sufferings, but that they must be everlasting. This doctrine might be strongly argued from the confideration of the ends of divine government in the infliction of punishments,—and from the nature and infinitely valuable sufferings of Christ for the redemption of men,-and from the qualities, virtues and principles contained in his atone ment for fin; but these arguments are too extensive and so lemn to treat in a short and defultory way, in which the nature of a contracted pulpit discourse obliges me to consider things.

Wherefore I proceed to the

Last argument I propose at present to offer in support of our doctrine. And it is a consideration not only conclusive and decisive in itself, but it gives additional weight and ratifying force to all the preceding. It is this:

The holy feriptures do abundantly, repeatedly and in express

terms, declare and affirm, that the punishment of the wicked in hell will be eternal. The first passage I would produce it from the prophecy of ffaiah-" And they, that is the faved of " the Lord, thall go forth and look upon the carcales of the men "that have transgressed against me; for their worm shall not " die, neither shall their fire be quenched." No words can be more express than these in afferting the perfect, compleat and everlasting destruction of transgressors; nor any declaration of this doctrine be plainer in prophetic language. It is the genius of the prophetic stile to express spiritual and eternal things in bold figures, and by fenfible and material images. affords another authority in point: -" And many of them " that sleep in the dust of the earth shall awake, some to ever. " lasting life, and some to shame and everlasting contempt." Here the affertion is explicit, that the shame and contempt of some who shall be raised at the last day, will be everlasting or eternal. The next authority is in Malachi:- "Behold the "day cometh that shall burn as an oven, and all the proud, " yea, and all that do wickedly, shall be stubble; and the day "that cometh shall burn them up, faith the Lord of hosts, that "it shall leave them neither root nor branch." The declaration here is descriptive and strong. It exhibits the greatness of God's juil indignation against the proud and all that do wickedly. God will bring total and absolute destruction upon They shall be burnt up root and branch. shall be perfect and compleat as of that which is wholly confumed. Now contemplate the nature of this ruin, root and branch, and the subjects of it, who are deligned for an eternal duration, and it affords an undeniable proof of the doctrine, that the miseries of the damned will be unmixed and everlasting.

The new Testament abounds with authorities to the same purpose. How particular is our Lord's assirmation in this matter. Three times he repeatedly declares, "The worm di-"eth not, and the fire is not quenched." He stiles their tor

[401]

ment unquenchable fire, and describes their anguish by weeping, wailing and gnashing of teeth. And the final sentence he pronounces on the wicked is, "Depart from me ye cursed into everlasting fire prepared for the devil and his angels." To which may be added the solemn resection he makes in our text, "and these shall go away into everlasting punishment." Can any words more expressly hold forth the endless duration of the miseries of the sinally impenitent.

Various are the objections brought forward against this doctrine, such as that God is too good and merciful a being to punish his creatures with eternal misery. Such persons may be asked, is not God too good and merciful to punish his crea. tures at all? Is it not cruel to afflict them with pain, misery and death? This we see constantly before our eyes; and there is certainly no cruelty in the one case more than in the other-Gruelty cannot be attributed to God. All the punishment which he inflicts both in this world and the next is perfectly fust. Justice and cruelty never dwell together. Therefore there can be no injustice with God in the everlasting sufferings of the wicked - But it is also objected that the word everlasting is used to express a limited duration, as also the words forever and ever, &c. This is true, but in all those places, it is obvious to the feeblest mind, that the nature of the subjects spoken of evidently show, that they are temporary, changeable, and their continuance limited. But is this the case in any one instance when they are used to express matters of an unlimitted duration? Surely not. Is this the case, when they are employed to express the duration of God, his perfections, governments dominion, heaven and the happiness thereof? If not, why should they be limited when applied to the duration of hell and its torments? If they express a limited duration in the latter instances so likewise in the former? If hell be temporary so also is heaven and the divine existence itself, for the very same terms are used to express the one as the other. And they are often М3

I 470 I

contrasted and the one set over against the other, to teach use the equal duration of both. This verse containing our text is an instance of this contrast as well as many others. "These shall go away into everlasting punishment, but the righteous into life eternal." Here the word everlasting and eternal is precisely the same in the original; and its evident intention is to instruct us in the equal duration of both. If the one be eternal so also is the other. These things show us that the eternity of hell is as absolutely certain as the eternity of heaven. Wherefore let all beware how they believe and depend upon the dangerous principle, that the sufferings of the suture state will come to an end.

But to the authorities already mentioned, it might be easy to adduce a multitude of others; as, "They shall be punished "with everlaking destruction from the presence of the Lord, and the glory of his power. They shall be tormented day and night for ever and ever. And the smoke of their torment shall ascend for ever and ever," &c. Let what has been said suffice for the present. If these things will not convince the serious and attentive mind, there is reason to fear their conviction will some too late.—

The subject shall be finished in a few reflections.

First, we are here taught to magnify the love and grace of God displayed by Jesus Christ in contriving, and executing a plan of salvation, whereby guilty sinners may thro' faith in the blood of the lamb, escape from all this endless wee. This doctrine sets the mercy of God and the compassion of the Saviour in a most conspicuous light. Oh, let us praise the Lord for the offers of eternal life in the gospel. Let the love of God the Father and the Son constrain us to relinquish the old apost tacy, to forsake our sins, and turn unto him with our whole heart, so that we may live and not eternally perish.

Secondly, we here learn the preciousness and inestable valueof the immortal foul. It is capable of and defigned for aneternal existence. The body must soon drop into the dust, and all the beauties and glories of the world will be no more. But then the foul enters into an everlasting and unchangeable Rate of happiness or misery. If penitent and united to Christ, it enters into that grand apartment in eternity, called heaven. Here is the throne of God and the lamb. This whole region is perfect light, love, grace and glory, and the foul entering into it, its capacity will be compleatly filled with the most continuate felicity. Bleffed and happy are all they who have entered into the state of glory, for heaven will never come to an end-This works up the pleasure to extacy that it will be everlafting. -But on the other hand, if the foul be unconverted, im. penitent and unsighteous at death, as foon as it is diflodged from the body, it plunges into that gloomy and tormenting division of eternity, where it is instantly filled in every part and faculty with all the fulness of the wrath of Jehovah. Here they will blaspheme God, and rend and tear one another, and foam and gnash their teeth, and bound thro' the burning surges. for ever and ever. Whose heart does not tremble at the thought! Let the horrors of the scene be wrought up by the firongest imagination, they fall infinitely short of what every unholy person is liable to every moment. You stand-O sinners. on slippery places, and all beneath is hell. Let these things sound an alarm to the heart of every unconverted finner, and awake him out of his deep security before it be forever too late. O finners, awake to repentance and flee from the wrath that is to come; lay hold on the hope which is now offered in the gospel; that you may escape this direful misery, and be introduced into the joys of Paradife. And that this may be the glorious habitation of us all throughout the unwaking ages of eternity, may God of his infinite mercy grant, through Josus Christ our Lord, to whom be all glory, honor, dominion and praise, forever and ever. Amen and Amen.

SERMON XLIL

The nature and felicity of the Celestial State.

Matt. xxv. 34. Then shall the king say unto them as but right band, Come ye blessed of my Father, inherit the kingdom prepared for you from the soundation of the world.

AFTER the refurrection, in the close of the general judgment when the grand process shall have been sinished, then the sinal sentence will be pronounced upon all in perfect equity and righteousness, according as their characters shall be found to be. The proceedings of this great day are here in this chapter displayed before us. The glorious appearance of the judge, the splendor of his advent, and the magnificence of his attendants, are described in all the glowing beauties and strength of language. When you read, you seem as if you saw Jesus seated on the throne of his glory and all nations assembled in his prefence. You be hold him separating this promisenous throng one from another as a shephered divideth his sheep from the goats. This separation will be as exact as it will be just. The most in-

confiderable faint will not be lost in the croud of finners, nos the most plausible sinner concealed in the throng of saints. Every one will be brought forward, and have a particular, open and fair trial, so that all will be perfectly convinced, on which hand he must be placed. Thus speaks the prophet Ezekiel, " As for "you, O my flock, thus faith the Lord God, behold I judge Whetween cattle and cattle, between the rame and the he-A perfect scrutiny will be made, so that it " goats." will be accurately determined, who are sheep and who are goats. The separation being compleated, the two grand divitions of the universe will be situated, the one on the right, and the other on the left of the glorious judge. In this tramendous fituation, he will first address himself to those fixed in the most ironorable place. "Then shall the king fay unto them, " on his right hand, Come ye bleffed of my father, inherit the "kingdom prepared for you from the foundation of the world.", Thus when the process is finished, and the transporting sentence pronounced, all the heavenly arches will ring with joy, in the paffing of the righteous to everlasting life. Christ Jesus, when he came in the flesh, made a mean appearance in the eyes of a carnal world, was a liturabling block to the Jews, and to the Greeks foolishness, was as a root out of dry ground without form or comelinels, rejuded and despised of men; but now on the feat of judgment, he appears in all the shining splendor of a king, arrayed in all the regalia and effulgence of the celestial state, beaming forth in all the radiancy of him, who was cloathed with the fun and had the moon under his feet. Earth. ly kings appearing in the robes of their dignity, fhed a fpleador around them on the gaping multitudes, but when Jesus the king of kings appears, the transcendant brilliancy of his glory will infinitely more outshine earthly royalty, than royalty excels the rags and mien of the most abject slave. In all the grandeur of heavenly majefty the fentence will be uttered to the joy of all those who have made their peace with God. Their good works will be produced as the evidences of their appro-

T #76 3

bation: Thus the judge substress the reflitude of his decision "I was an hungered and ye gave me meat, I was thirfly and er ye gave me drink, I was a stranger and ye took me in, naked "and ye clothed me, I was fick and ye vilited me, I was in "prison and ye came unto me." And as a further evidence of their righteousness and that they had imbibed the spirit of the gospel, "Then shall the righteous answer, Lord when faw we " thee an hungered and fed thee? or thirty and gave thee drink?" "when faw we thee a stranger and took thee in? or maked and "cloathed thee? or when faw we thee fick, or is prifon and " came unto thee?" The king will then reply to these rightsous and humble distates of their hearts, "Verily, I fay unto " you, insimuch as you have done it unto one of the least of " these my brethren, ye have done it unto me." The sentence contains in it the complete bleffedness and perfect felicity of all faints. Their happinels in all respects will be adequate to their holiness in this life, and their extensive and growing capacitiesin the next. They will then pass from glory to glory throughout eternity.

It may be observed, this important sentence contains twoprincipal things.

Infl, the acknowledging of the faints to be bleffed of the Lord. "Coroe ye bleffed of my Father."

Secondly, the happiness of that glorious state into which they are admitted. "Inherit the kingdom prepared for you, from the foundation of the world."—In this sentence is contained

First, the acknowledgment of the faints to be the bleffed of the Lord. "Come ye bleffed of my Father."

Christ pronounces them blossed and this declaration proves

them to be fo. They are the bleffed of the Father; tho' cur, sed and reproached by the world, yet they are blessed of God. The Holy Ghost glorifies the Son, and the Son glorifies the Fa. ther, and the Father bleffes and glorifies the redeemed and fanctified, and thus the eternal Trinity are all intimately concerned in the accomplishment of the everlasting blessedness of the heirs of felicity. When Christ calls them to come, this is no other than an hearty welcome to the glories prepared for them. formerly in this world called upon them by his word and by his spirit to come unto him, that they might be partakers of grace and life; then the eall was to felf denial, to mortification, to take up their cross and to follow him. The call in the estimation of the world was to shame, contempt, suffering and foolishness; but now it is to glory, immortality, and the full fruition of God and perfect felicity forever. They who formerly obeyed his call and followed him bearing the crofs, will now enjoy hig beatific presence, wearing a crown. Hearken to the extatic pleasure of the address. "Come ye blessed of my Father, ye " beloved of my foul, for whom I have travailed and been in ve pain, for whom I have endured toil, anxiety, fufferings and "oppression to the sweating of great drops of blood; for "whom I have trod the wine-press of divine wrath, and gone " through death and hell; come ye into my tenderest embrawe ces, ye who are highly favored of the Lord and whom the majeky of heaven delighteth to honor." O with what raptures of joy will this address fill the hearts of the righteous!-How will it cause them to sing the glorious riches of free grace, the wonders of redeeming love, the praises of God and the lamb? The faints in this pilgrimage and imperfect state may' with humble boldness approach to the throne of grace; but then they shall come boldly to the throne of glory. This word, "Come ye blessed of my father," holds out the golden Sceptre, with a full affurance that the defires of their hearts shall be satisfied, and the whole of a heaveniy kingdom shall be conferred upon them. The king addresses them from the

pricits in mansions of glory forever. All power in heaven and earth is given unto the Son, and he introduces all the rightcous into the heavenly Canasa, for none obtain entrance there but by his approbation; therefore they are such in whom the divine perfections were designed to be glorified from all elernity.— They are the saved according to the eternal purpose, blessed in the father's design, called in time, sanctified by the spirit, and now they receive all that perfection of blessedness, which they heretofore only had in promise and earnest at their first sanctification. Thus they are actually and completely hessed of the Father, the Son, and the Holy Ghost.—Proceed to the

Second confideration, to wit, the happiness of that glorious state into which they are admitted. "Inherit the kingdom prepared for you from the foundation of the world."

In regard to the nature of the happiness of heaven, we can know but little in this dark world, after our most careful at tention, painful findy and diligent researches. The most fall voured and the most advanced saints upon earth, see but darks ly as through a glass. "We know, says Sto Paul, but in party " and we prophely in part, but when that which is perfect it se come, then that which was in part shall be done away. "When I was a child, I spake as a child, I wonderstood on a e child, I thought as a child, but when I became a man, I " put away childish things. Eye hath not seen, nor ear heard. " neither hath it entered into the heart of man to understand. " the things which God hath prepared for them that love him." The glory and felicity prepared for the bleffed, we that have, a very imperfect idea of, while in this embodied frate. Affec we have contemplated all the descriptions of it is our biblest together with all the additions which fanoiful imagination can fuggelt, we may fill be affored, that they fell infinitely flore of a perfect picture. But as the facred oracles give us many descriptions of the celettial glory to quicken and comfort faints and to allure and persuade sinners, for the encouragement and confolation of those who hope to enjoy this inheritance, we hall briefly exhibit a few of them. A leading line in the bufinels is the transcendent felicity expressed in our text, " Inher-" it the kingdom prepared for you, from the foundation of the "world." To inherit a kingdom is the fullness of the ambition of the human mind. This is what the proud, the enterprising and the brave wade through seas of blood to obtain; for this heeatombs of mortals have been facrificed; for this all the exertions of human invention, good and bad, have been practifed. A kingdom is reekoned the most valuable acquisition by mor tals on earth. In their view it comprehends all honor, wealth and happinels. They, who possess a kingdom, wear the glories of a crown, fway the sceptre of dignity, possess the ensigns of royalty, enjoy the pleasures of a court, and command the treasures of their dominions. This is a seeble resemblance of the kingdom of heaven. The faints who are here pilgrims, frangers, prisoners, accounted the outcasts and offscourings of the earth, shall then, to the assonishment of all worlds, inherit a kingdom. Nebuchadnezzar divested of birds feathers, and his fingers of eagles claws, with adjusted hair, combed head, and dressed in royal robes, affords only a faint resemblance of an abject, hell deserving wretch who is raised to the glory of heaven. "God raiseth up the poor out of the dust, and lifteth of up the needy out of the dunghill, that he may fet him with of princes even with the princes of his people. He that overcometh thall inherit all things, to him will be given power "over the nations." The kingdom which christians will enjoy is a prepared kingdom, prepared at infinite expense of labour, pains and blood. That happiness must surely be indescribably great which is the production of divine counsels. The preparation for the reception of the faints mocks all the powers of description. Love originated the plan, wisdom and

power executed the greatness of the impalities. Col de la purchased the kingdom by his blood, and is assessed to neepare a place; " I go, says he to his disciples to prepare a place " for you, I will come again and receive you waso myself, that where I am, there ye may be alfo," The kingdom is preparing for them, and in this world, they are propering for the kingdom. The preparing the kingdom speaks forth the perfect happiness of all those who shall enter into it. Their intereft in it is hereby held forth to view, and it is adapted to the seture of the fandified; it is prepared for them by name, for they are personally and particularly chosen to falvation. The a kingdom of early original, for it was prepared for them from the foundation of the world. This is a place expression the fame idea as everlatting or eternity. This happinels was defigned for the faints, and they for it before time began, Thus ifbeaks St. Paul, "Bleffed be the Father of our Lord Jefin "Chrift, who hath bleffed us with all spiritual bleffings, in wheavenly places in Christ, according as he hath chosen us in "him before the foundation of the world, that we hould be " holy and without blame before him in love." Thus it is a kingdom prepared from eternity, which the faints shall enjoy a hence they shall be invested with royal authority, royal dignity and honor. For when they enter this kingdom, they shall ascend thrones, have seeptres put into their bands and crowns of gold, not like the changing diadems of this world, but crowns placed upon their heads that never change or fade They will be dreffed in royal robes more rich and refulgent than ermin and glittering gold. They will be arrayed in immaculate robes, which can never be foiled or flained, in white roles, robes made white by the blood of the Liamb. When thus adorned, their palace will be the royal city even the new The building of the wall of which is of falper, the lernialem. foundations are garaified with all manner of precious stones, its gates are pearl and its fireets of pure gold, as it were transparent glass. It is to widely different from every thing

poval on earth, and from every terrefirial city, that there is no need of the fun or moon there, for the glory of God doth lighten it and the lamb is the light thereof. In this plorious kingdom every thing is in a flate of perfection, peace, holinels, knowledge, righteouthers, happiners and joy. No errors, ignorance, collision of fentiments, party spirit or private interest, will be there. God and Christ will be there perfectly known, and the faints will be forever loft in admiration of the unrivalled beauties of Godhad, and the emanations of divine love. They will wander with heavenly pleafure, and raptures of delight thro' all the perfections and attributes of God. They themselves will there be perfect in the beauties of holiness, free from fin and every moral impurity; from every evil bias, wicked thought and perverse inclination. Nothing that is un. clean or defileth enters there. They will no more be troubled with the rifings of pride or corrupt passions; here will be a perfect conformity to the perfect image of God. Universal. Benevolence, unremiting harmony, and perfect love to God angels and one another will reign throughout the whole kingdom. All peace and joy of which holy beings are capable, will in complete fulnels be possessed there. The tabernacle of God is with men, he shall dwell with them, they shall be his people and he will be their God and portion forever. "All e tears shall be wiped away from their eyes, and there shall be ano more death, neither forrow nor crying, neither shall there "be any more pain, for the former things are palled away." There will be no fighing, complaining, nor mortification shame nor regret, in these happy regions. Every thing tending to enlarge and encrease their felicity they shall enjoy. In this bleffed world the faints shall have sweet fellowship and raptusous communion with God and Jesus Christ. They shall have free intercourse with the angels, and enjoy the uninterrupted friendship and blisful society one of another. There they shall hold happy converse with Gabriel, Michael, with Graphin and charubim, with Abraham, Ifaac and Jacob,

with Moles, Elias, Paul and John, with their former, chesition acquaintance, and with all the faints, who as a cloud had gone before them. All this bleffedness and felicity shall be eternal; it shall be growing and encreasing forever and ever. These are but a few remarks upon the various representations which the holy scriptures afford us. And these no doubt fall infinitely thort of the reality.

This discourse shall be concluded with a few reflections.

First, how should we be here led to admire the condescention love and goodness of God in ever entertaining the merciful; thought of advancing any of the apollete race of Adam to fuch honor and glory! How should we magnify and praise the exceeding greatness of his compassion in giving his only begotten Son to procure this felicity! How should we love and . adore the Son who trod the wine press of his Father's wrath. and yielded up his life on the accurfed tree, that we might be introduced into such glory? That we who are clode of earth should be made to shine as the stars in the sirmament? That we who are dust and ashes might become as angels of light; Yez, that we who are finners and heirs of hell might be formed into faints and constituted heirs of God? Who can comprehend the length and breadth, the depth and heighth of the love of Christ, which passeth all understanding? Can we bear of all this glory of the bleffed, and yet cleave to earth? Can we in. dulge a carnal temper, and be of a groveling worldly spirit, under the view of fuch celestial blessedness?

Secondly, seeing there is such a glorious kingdom set before us, we ought solemnly to enquire whether we have any title thereto. There will not be a promisenous admission of all into this happy world. In the great day of the Lord a separation will be made between the goats and the sheep. None will be admitted there but the righteous, true believers, and sm-

cere penitents. We must repent of our lins, accept of the golpet by faith, and be working the works of righteousness, or we will never frand in glory on the right hand of our judge, Wherefore let us examine ourselves to day whether we have any scriptural ground to hope that we shall be heirs of this kingdom. Have we ever been effectually convinced of the evil of fin? Have we ever feen and felt the plague of our own hearts, have we been reduced by the powerful operations of the Holy Spirit to renounce all dependence upon ourselves, and to lay hold on Christ Jesus by faith, the hope of glory? Have our fools taken up their everlasting rest in him, and is he above all things precious to us? Have we the laws of the kingdom written upon our hearts? Are we holy in heart and life? Is heaven our treasure, and are our hearts placed there? Have we prevailingly a fingle eye to the glory of God? In a word, are we honeftly and fincerely endeavoring to be holy in all manner of conversation.

Those who from these sew remarks entertain a blessed hope that you will be heirs of this kingdom, be ye exhorted to walk answerable to your profession and expectations. See that you be purifying yourselves as Christ is pure. Look constantly at the prize set before you. Let it command your diligence, zeal, activity, and every exertion. So run that you may obtain. O take heed, lest any should seem to come short of this glory.

Those of you, my unhappy hearers, who know you have no lot nor interest in this matter, who have neither faith nor repentance, neither fancissication nor justification, be exhorted to consider your miserable and dangerous situation. What, O what if you were to die in your present condition? The prospect of horror before you is too gloomy to mention. O sinners how long will you love the pleasures of sin, which last only for a season, and despite the pleasures of heaven which will

TAKE T

• But foreser? how long will you walk you precious time invanity and giddy amufements, when you know not the moment death will arrest you and boar you to the bar of God? Awake, O finner, and consider what you are doing, and to what mifery you are hastening. Paule, ponder, consider, turn and flee for your life to the city of refuge. Flee into the arms of Jesus that you may be placed on his right hand in the great day of his appearance, and may be addressed with the transporting sentence, "Come ye blessed of my Father inherit the kings a prepared for you from the foundation of the world."

END OF THE SECOND VOLUME.

LIST OF

SUBSCRIBERS' NAME'S.

	1	A.		
Rev. Archibald Alexa	inder, Vi	rginia.		
Charles Allen,	-	do.		
Benjamin Allen, sen.		do.	•	
Charles Avery, Cincin	nati.	Ē		
I faac Anderson, d	lo.			
Clement Acton, Efq.	Salem, N	. Jersey.	•	
Rev. James S. Adams			٠	
Thomas Anderson, Ne				
Maac Andruss, Esq. No				
Jonathan Andrass,	do.	do.		
Nathaniel Andruss,	do.	do.		
Timothy Andruss,	do.	do.		
Jacob Abramie,	do.	do.		
Richard Armestead, N	orth Car	olina.		
Thomas Armstrong, O	range, N	V. Carolina.		
General Allen, Hanov	_		•	
Isaac Allen, Newark 1			. •	
Rev. J. N. Abeel, New		, - ,	•	
Nathaniel Alexander, I		urgh. N. C	arolina:	
William Alexander, fer		do.		
Elijah Alexander,	do.	do.		
Dr. J. R. Alexander,	do.	do.		
Amos Alexander, jun.		do.		
Major Thomas Alexand		. do.		
Robert Allifon, Cabarus County, North Carolina.				
	E			
Hon. Elifha Boudinot.	_		ersev. 6 Copies.	
Hon. Elisha Boudinot, Esq. Newark, New Jersey, 6 Copies. Rev. Methusalah Baldwin, State of New York, 12 do.				
John Burnet, Esq. New			6 do.	
Jesse Baldwin, do		do.	6 do.	
Nathaniel Beach, Efq.	do.	do.	6 do.	
,	0			
		•		

Stephen Baldwin, No. John C. Burnet,	wark, N do.	lew Jerfe do.	ey, 2 Copies. 2 do.
Jeseph Brewn,	do.	do.	4 d●.
Joseph Beach,	do.	do.	3 do.
Jonathan Baldwin,	do.	do.	
Joana Burnet,	do.	do.	
Jeremiah Baldwin,	do.	do.	•
Eleazar Bruen,	do.	do.	
David Banks,	do.	do.	
Eleazar Brown,	de.	. do.	
Thomas Beach,	do.	do.	
Jabes Baldwin,	do.	do.	
Jotham Baldwin,	do.	40.	
Caleb W. Bruen,	do.	do.	
Moses Baldwin, Efq	-	do.	
Eli Budd, Morris R			
George Burgin, Bri	dgetown	, do.	
Jacob Burnet, Esq.	Cincinn	ati.	
Robert Badgly,	do.		
Dr. Francis G. Bru	ister, Sal	lem, Nev	v Jersey.
Jonathan Bordingto	n, E(q.	do.	do.
William Biddle, Ef	q.	do.	do.
Samuel Burden Eig	.	do.	do.
Abraham Boys,		do.	qo.
John Bayard, Esq.			
Zadock Baldwin, Caldwell, New Jersey.			
Jonathan Baldwin, Orangedale, New Jerfey.			
John Brewster, Westfield, New Jerley.			
Rev. George Brewst, D. D. Charleston, South Carolina.			
James Blair,		do.	do.
Rev. Noah Benedict, Woodbury, Connecticut.			
Rev. David Barclay, New Jersey.			
William Bingham, North Carolina.			
Thomas Brown,	d	0.	
Thomas J. Burgee,		0.	_
A. M. Burton,	d	o . .	·

Rev. James Bowman	, Orang	e, North Caro	lina.	
Thomas Bradshaw,	do	do.	•	
William Bethill,	do	. do.		
Jeremiah Besnet, jun.	Bridget	own, New Jer	fey.	
Caleb J. Baldwin, Bl			•,	
Nehemiah S. Baldwir	, do	do.		
Daniel Ball,	đo			
Abraham Bergen,	do			
Samuel B. Bruen, Ne				
	σ.		•	
Eleazar Burnet, a licer	ntiate. N	New Terfey.		
Samuel Bayard, New	York.	J anas, s		
James Powman, Cen		th Carolina.		
Thomas Beatty, Efq.	do.	do.		
Robert Erevard,	do.	don.		
Peter Brown,	do.	de.		
Robert Pyers,	do.	do.		
James Braley,	do.	dø.		
Rev. John Brown, Son	ath Care			
John Earcly, Thyatira			•	
Richard Barry, Meckl			ina.	
Joseph Biggar,	do.	do.		
Ican Prown,	do.	dô.		
Joseph Eowman,	do.	do.		
James A. Bradley,	do.	do.		
Captain Alexander Brevard, Lincoln, North Carolina.				
Benjamin Bell, Southampton, New Hampshire.				
•		C.		
Gen. J. N. Cumming,	Newarl	, New Jersey.	6 Copies.	
	0.	do	2 do.	
Laron D. Crane, d	ló.	do.	2 do.	
Stephen Crane, de	0.	do.		
7 1 11 2	lo.	do.		
	lo.	do.		
Benjamin Cleavland,	do.	do.		

Caleb Campbell, Newark, New-Jersey.			
Nathaniel Camp,	do.	do.	
Joseph Camp,	do.	do	
Sayres Coe,	do.	do.	
Elijah Crane,	do.	do.	
Nathaniel Canfield,	do.	do.	
Joseph Congar,	do.	do.	
Ifrael Curry,	do-	do.	
Joseph Crane,	do.	do.	
Jonathan Crane,	do.	do.	
John J. Crane,	do.	do	
David D. Crane,	do.	do.	
David Camfield,	do.	do.	
Jabes Camfield,	do.	do.	
Robert B. Campfiele	d, do.	do.	
Jotham Clark,	do.	do.	
Daniel Crane, Bloom	nfield, Ne	w-Jersey.	
Joseph Condit,	do.	do.	
Joseph Crane,	do.	do.	
Herman Cadmus,	do.	do.	
Thos. Cadmus,	do	do.	
Rev. Aaron Condit	, Hanover	, N. Jerscy.	
Maxwell Chambers,			larolina.
Wm. Chambers,		do.	do.
Henry Carson,	do	o.	
John Cooke, Center, N. Carolina.			
Rev. John Couset, S. Carolina.			
James Carethers, T	hyatira, 1	N. Carolina.	
Joseph Clark, Meck	linburgh,	do.	
Robert Crokell,	do.	do.	
Rev. Samuel C. Ca	ldwell, d	o· do.	
James Clark, Fairfield, N. Jersey.			
Thos. Clement, Esq. Salem, N. Carolina.			
John Congleton, E	q. do.	do.	

Rev. Jos. Clark, N. Brunswick, N. Jersey. Isaac W. Crane, Esq. do. Silas Condit, Orangedale do. Aaron Cogswell, do. dn. Rev. Aaron Chase, Connecticut. Rev. John Clark, State of N. York. Nath W. Cole, Burlington, N. Jerley. Joseph Caldwell, Chapel-Hill, N. Carolina. John Campbell, Orange, Rev. Ezekiel B. Curry, do. Jesse Carter, Esq. Caswel, do. Eph. B. Davidson, Charlotte, N. Corolina. 12 copies. 'Abiather Dodd, Newark, N. Jersey. 6 do. Amos Dodd, do. 2 do. David Doremus, do. do. Henry Desbury, Millstone, N. Jersey. David Dunseth, Cincinnati. Samuel Dick, Efg. Salem, N. Terfey. Ebenezer Dunn, Esq. Wm. S. Deare, Efg. New-Brunswick. Matthia Dunnam, Orangedale N. Jerse y. Caleb Dusenbury, Princeton. Timothy Dodd, State of N. York. Richard Dey, Esq. N. Jersey. Rev. J. L. Duryce, Society Dialectie, University, N. Carolina. Stephen Dupree, N. Carolina. Job S. Dodd, Bloomfield, N. Jersey. Samuel Dodd, do. do. F. Davenport, Woodbury, New Jersey. Peter B. Dumont, Raritan. David A. Demarest, Harington, do. Capt. John Dicky, Center, North Carolina. Samuel Dicky, do.

Major Ephraim Davidson, do.

do.

George Davidson, junz. Center, Rorth Carolina, Captain George L. Davidson, do. do. Rev. John B. Davies, South Carolina. John Davidson, Mecklinburgh, North Carolina. Joseph Douglas, Esq. do. do. Hezekiah Dewest, do. do.

E.
Rev. Joseph Eckley, D. D. Boston.
Jonathan Elmer, Esq. Bridgetown, New Jersey.
James Ewing, Cincinnati.
Henry Ewing, do.
Rev. David Edwards, Salem, New Jersey.
Theo. Essworth, Charleston, South Carolina.
Alex. Eagles, Newark.
Rev. Nathaniel Emmons, D. D. Franklin, Massachusetts.
F.

Joel Fithian, Roads Town, New-Jersey. Ezckiel Foster, Millville, Frederic Frelinghuysen, Esq. Somerset, Jonathan S. Findley, Cincinnati. Rev. L. Floyd, Charleston, South Carolina. Isaac Freeman, Newark. Andrew Fowler, A. M Shrewfoury. Anthony Foster, South Carolina. Rev. Andrew Flinn, Orange, North-Carolina. William Forrest, Caswell, North-Carolina. David Faccult, Orange, North-Carolina. Samuel Firrand, Bloomfield, New-Jersey Moses Farrand. do. do. Charlotte Farrand, Blooomfield, New Jersey. 1. Frelinghuysen. Somerville, New Jersey. Immes Frazer, Mecklinburgh, North Carolina.

James Giles, Bridgetown, New-Jerfey.
William Garrison, Deersteld, do.
David Grummon, Cincinnati.

Ebenezer Grant, New-Brunswick. Richard Gordon, Virginia. Zephaniah Grant, Newark. Robert Gibson. do. Rev. E. D. Griffin. do. 6 Copies John Gardner, do. Calvin Goble. do. Luther Goble. do. Agron Grummon. do. Rev. John Giles, Trumbull, Connecticut. James Gregorie, Charleston, South Carolina. William Griffith, Esq. Burlington. Edward Garborough, Center, North Carolina. do. do. George Gellespy, John Gilleland, Mecklinburgh, North Carolina. John Gardner, do. do. H. Newark, Colonel Samuel Hay, Esq. 6 Copies. Stephen Hayes Esq. do. 4 do. Gerard Haughwort, đo. 2 do. Samuel Hayes, Esq. do. David Hedden, do. do. Samuel Huntington, do. Tames Hedden, da. E. Hinsdale, do. Peter Hill. Sophia Harrison, do. do. David Hudson, do. Daniel Harrison. Richard Henderson, North-Carolina. Mr. Huderson. do. do. C. Hill. William P. Hall Hallifax, North-Carolina. Benjamin J. Hawkins, North Carolina.

Mr. Hunt, Lewisburg, North Carolina.

SURBERIERRS NAMES.

Joshua W. Hawkins, North Carolina. William Hamilton, Edington, North-Carolina. Edmond B. Harvey, North Carolina. J. R. Hardenbergh, Somerville, N. Jersey. Andrew Howell, do. do. John W. Hall, Bridgewater. Alpheus Hughes, N. Barbadocs. John Hulford, Bridgetown, N. Jersey. Benjamin Hedgeman, Six-Mile Run, New-Jersey. David Humfriville, Cincinnati. Joliah Harrison, Esq. Salem, New-Jersey. Dr. Francis Hover, do. do. John G. Holme. do. do. Miss Jane Husham, Charleston, South Carolina. Rev William Holinshead, D. D. do. ďa. Rev. Thomas J. Hall, do. do. Rev. James Hughes, Virginia. Rev. S. Hopkins, D. D. Newport. Rev. Holloway W. Hunt, New Jersey. Capt. James Houston, Center, North Carolina. Joseph Haynes, John Haynes, do. do. John Huggins, Efq. đo. do. Robert. Huggins, do. do. William Hampton, do. do. James Haynes, do. do. Henry Houston, Mecklinburgh, North Carolina. John Hunter, do. do. Robert Fiarris, Elg. do. do. Major Thomas Harris, . do. do. Elijah Harris, do. . do. Samuel Harris. do. do. Ames Huston, do. Rev. Asa Hillyer, Orangedale, 2 Copies. Amos Harrison, do:

T.

Robert. G. Johnson, Esq. Salem, N. Jersey. do.

Rev. H. Jones, do.

Thomas Johns, Virginia.

Henry Johnson, New-Jersey.

Thomas C. Jones, North Carolina.

Richard Johnson, do.

Theodorus Johnson, Newark, New-Jersey.

do.

Jonah James,

do. do.

Edward Jones, do.

do.

Aaron Johnson.

do.

Eliphalet Johnson, do. do-

Rev. Abel Jackson, Bloomsield, do-Abraham Joralman,

do. do.

Elizabeth Jetton, Center, North Carolina. Nathaniel Johnson, Thyatira,

K.

do.

do.

Rev. 1sac Keith, D. D. Charleston, South Carolina,

Anthony Keasby, Esq. Salem, New-Jersey.

Charles Kinfey, Orangedale,

Mr. Kirkpatrick, do. do.

Wm. King, North Carolina.

William Kirk, Orange, North-Carolina,

Joseph L. Kean, Newark, New-Jersey.

Benjamin Ketcham, do.

Thomas Kean, Bloomfield, do.

Stephen King, do. do.

Aaron King, do. do.

do. dot Aury King,

Thomas King, Thyatira, North Carolina.

Robert Kerr, Mecklinburgh,

L.

James Lee, Port Elizabeth, New Jersey. James Lyon, Cincinnati.

Pз

James Lauich, Newark, New-Jersey. Joseph Lees, Salem, New Jersey. William Lawfon, New Brunswick, do. Joshua League, Virginia. James Leagure, Charleston, South Carolina. Miss Mary Legare, do. do. Robert D. Lawrence, de. do. Bateman Lloyd, Esq. Salem, New Jersey. John Linn, Suffex County, Rev. Nicholas Lanfing, Tappan, State of New-York. Rev. William Linn, D. D. New-York. Abraham Lawrence, Thyatira, North Carolina. Joel Lawrence, do. do.

M

Rev. James M'Ree, Center, North-Garolina, 12 copies. Alex. Murphy, Caswell, do. do. Abraham Montanye, Cincinnati. Charles Moore. ďo. Eliazar Mayhew, Esq. Salem, New Jersey. Turman Mulford, Rev. Archibald M'Robert, Virginia. Daniel Matthews, Orangedale, New-Jersey. George McCully, Charleston, South Carolina. John Meir, Newport. Jacob Myers, Newark, New-Jersey. Uzal M'Gennis. do. do. M. Miller, N. Carolina. Spruce M'Caulley, do. D M'Dowel. James Me Gennis, Blomfield, New Jersey. Patrick Malon, Newark, do. do. 6 capise. A. C. Macwhorter, do. J. G Macwhorter, do. do. Archibald Mercer, do. do. 6 copies.

John Morris, Newark, New Jerfey. John Manning, do. do. Hugh M'Dougall, do. do. Peter Mead. do. do. Stephen Meeker. da. do. Ionathan Miller, do. do. Joseph Mufin, 3d. Cranetown, New-Jersey. Joseph Miller, Bloomsield." Alex. Murphy, Caswell, North Carolina. Rev. Samuel Miller, N. York. Ebenezer G. Marsh, N. Haven Robert Me Neely, Center, N. Carolina: John M. Clelland, Esq. Salisbury. Matthew M'Pherson, Center, Rev. James Minight, Coddle Creek, North Carolina. Robert, F. Minor, Williamsburgh, South Carolina. Rev. S E M'Corkle, D. D. Thyatira, North Carolina Abner MCorkle. do. do. do. do. Tohn M'Neely, dó. do. James M'Neely, do. Alex. M'Cibber, Mecklinbuhg ф: John Morrison, do. do. do. Tames M'Lughen do. do. I. M'Nitt Alexander, Elq. Dr. Wm. Maclean, Lincoln, North Carolina... James Morrison, Mecklinburgh do. Wm. M'Kee. do. Toel M'Corkle, Rowan, do Aaron Munn, Eiq. Orangedale, N. Jersey: N. John. Neilson, Esq. New Brunswick, New-Jersey.

John. Neilson, Esq. New Bruniwick, New-Jeriel Aaron Nutman, Newark, do. Rev. Asahel Norton, State of New-York. Thomas Neely, Mecklinburgh, N. Carolina. Margaret Nichols, Newark, New-Jersey,

Samuel Nutman, Newark, New Jersey. do. Isaac Nichols. David Nichols, do. do. Jedediah J. Nichols, do. do. 0. Joseph Ogden, Dearsield, N. Jersey. Robert Ogden, Efq. Suffex, Lewis M. Ogden, Newark, do. Rev. Uzal Ogden, D. D. do. do. John Ogden, do. do. Mary Ogden, do. Jacob Outwater, M. D. Tappan, State of New York. Col. Adlai Osborn, Esq. Center, North Carolina, 3 copies. Adlai Osborn, jun. do. do. do. Edwin Jay Osborn, Esq. do. James Osborn, Mecklinburgh, do. Orange Library Company, Orangedale, N. Jerfey. P. Rev. Leonard Prather, Orange, North Carolina. Rev. Wm. Paisley, do. do. 12 copies Wm. Philips, Efq. Bofton, 4 Copies. Ionathan Philips, do. Culberson Parke, Cincinnati. Andrew Parke, do. Hon. Wm. Paterson, Esq. N. Brunswick, N. Jersey. John Pool, do. Bethuel Pierson, Orangdale, N. Jersey. Rev. Eben, Porter, Connecticut. Wm. Patten, Newport. Society Philanthropie, University, N. Carolina. Caleb Parkhurft, Newark, New Jersey.

Henry S Parkhurst, do.

John Parkhurft.

Jabes Parkhurst,

do.

do.

do.

do.

do.

Thomas Pierson, N	lewark, N	ew Jerfey.	
Stephen Plum,	do.	do.	
Ann Plum,	do.	do.	
Dr. Cyrus Pierson.	do.	do.	
Jabes Pool,	do.	do.	
Wm. Price,	do.	do.	
Samuel Parkhurft,	do.	do.	
Caleb Pierson,	do.	do.	
Aaron Price,	do.	do.	
Jonas Philips, Mor			
Rev. Mathew L. I	Perine, S	Lanover, N.	Je;
Enoch Poor, Cente	er, N. Car	olina.	
Robert Potts,	do.	do.	
Joshua Parks, Mec	klinburgh,	N. Carolina	ı.
James Parks,	do.	do.	
Reefe Price, 🐪 -	d o.	$\mathbf{qo}\cdot$	
Jeseph Pierson, Or	angedale,	New Jersey.	
		R.	
John Riely, Cincin	pati.		
Samuel Robb,	lo.		
John Roll,	ło.		
Wm. Ruffen,	lo.		
Eenjamin Rice, V	irginia.		
Rev. Medad Roge		Ricut.	
Abraham Ryerfon			
William Rogers, 1			
Thomas Richards,		do.	
Jacob Runyan,	do.	do.	
Aaron-Roff,	do.	do.	
Rev. James Richa	rds, Morai	s Town.	
Rev. J. N C. Ron			
Rev. J. Rodgers,			
J. R. B. Rodgers,		do.	
Robert Ramfay, I			
Rev. James Robin			lina

George Ross, Cabarus, North Carolina.

S.

Samuel Salfbury, Efq. Boston, 2 copies-Peter Sythoff, Milistone, N. Jersey, 2 do-

P. Striker

do.

James Smith, Cincinnati.

Arthur St Clair,

Thomas Sinickson, Salem, New Jersey-

John Straton, Esq. do.

do.

James Sayre,

do-

Moses Scott, Esq. N. Brunswick, do-

Rev. George Smith, Virginia.

Joseph Smith,

William Smith,

do.

Charles Snowden, Efq. Charleston, S. Carolinaz

Jonah Smith.

do. do.

U. S. Stevens,

do. do.

George Smith,

Rev. Steven W. Stibene, Stratford, Connecticut.

Rev. J. W. Stevenson, Williamsburgh, S. Carolina.

Rev. Zepha Swift, Connecticut.

James Sneed, North-Carolina.

Cornelius Speer, Junr. Speer-Town, New Jersey.

Thomas Sydenham, Newark,

do. do.

Ebenezer Smith, Joseph Sayres,

do.

James Slott,

do. do. do. do.

Ifaac Sayres, do. do.

Ichabod Spinning, do. do.

Richard Stockton, Esq. Princeton,

do.

John Simonson, Bridgewater,

do.

Robert Sloan, Center, North Carolina.

William Stewart, do.

do.

Wm Sharp, Esq. de.

Ifaac Swann, Thyatira, North Carolina.

William Stewart, Mecklinburgh, North Carolina.
Robert Sloan, Lincoln, North-Carolina.
Lewis Setton, Mecklinburgh, do.
Major John Sharp, do. do.
James Sloan, do. do.
Philip I. Schuyler, New-Jerfey.

Rev. James Templeton, South-Carolina, 12 copies. Charles Tew, Charleston, S. Carolina, 8 do. George Torrence, Center, North-Carolina. Alex. Torrence, do. do. Albert Torrence, Salisbury, do. Richard Trotter, do. de. Hugh Torrence, Mecklinburgh do. John Tharp, Cincinnati. Henry Tirth, Esq. Salem, New-Jersey. John Tuft, Esq. do. John Taylor, Princeton, de. M. Troy, North Carolina. John D. Toomer, do. Daniel Thew, New-Jersey. Lewis Thibou, Newark, New Jersey. Daniel Tichenor, do. do. Garret Tunison, Somerville, do. Thomas Talmage, Somerfet, do. Henry Traphagen, Bergen, do.

Daniel Vanliers, Middlebush, New-Jersey.
Abraham J. Voorhis, Millstone.
Samuel Venable, Virginia.
Joseph Venable, do.
Joseph Vincent, Newark, New Jersey.
John Van Dyke, Bloomfield, do.
Peter D. Vroom, Raritan, do.
James, Van Derveer, Bedminster.

W

Samuel H. Walev. Pofton. Amos Woodruff, Bridgetown, I'ew Jersey. Feter Wycoff, Millftone. Rev. Matthew Wallace, Cincinnati. David E. Wade. do. do. William Woodward. Robert Wallace, Marietta. James Wright, Efg. Salem, New Jersey. Rev. George S. Woodhull, Cranbury, Few Jerley. Rev. John Woodhull, D. D. Monmouth: Ibner Ward, Newark. Joanna Wardell. do. Calcb Wheeler. do. John Ward, do. Joseph Ward, do. Samuel Whitaker. do. Lauc Ward. do. Etephen Wheeler, do. i buer Woodruff, James Whitlock, do. Joseph S. Ward, Bloomfield, New fersey. Jacob Ward, do. lefech Woodruff. do. do. Libn Winne, do. do. Rev. Win. Woodbridge, Newark, do. Calch Ward. do. do. Villiam White, Center, North-Carolina. Robert White. do. de. Dr. J. K. Witherspoon, Williamsburgh, South-Carolina. Robert Witherspoon, Esq. do. do. Thomas Witherspoon. do. do. Gavin Witherspoon, Efg. do. do. Samuel Willon. do. Rev. James V. allis, Mecklinburgh, North-Carolina.

John Wilie, Mecklinburgh, North Carolina.

James Wilie, do. do.

William Wallis, do. do.

Matthew Wallis, do. do.

James Wilson, do. do.

Rev. J. Willard, D. D. President of Cambridge University.

Jacob Woodson, Virginia.

Samuel Williams, Orangedale, New Jersey.

Morton Wearing, Charleston, South Carolina.

John Webb,

0.

do.

P. Wilson, L. L. D. New York.

Joshua M. Wallace, Esq. Burlington, New-Jersey.

Solomon B. Williams, North Carolina.

Roger Williams, New-Jerfey.

Y

Griffin Yeatman, Cincinnati.

James Young, Center, North Carolina.

Alexander Young, do. do.

Q3